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This prospectus has been filed under procedures in each of the provinces and territories of Canada that permit certain information about these securities to be 
determined after the prospectus has become final and that permit the omission of that information from this prospectus. The procedures require the delivery to 
purchasers of a supplemented PREP prospectus containing the omitted information within a specified period of time after agreeing to purchase any of these 
securities. All of the information contained in the supplemented PREP prospectus that is not contained in the base PREP prospectus will be incorporated by reference 
into the base PREP prospectus as of the date of the supplemented PREP prospectus. 

No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these securities and it is an offence to claim otherwise. These securities have not been and will 
not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “U.S. Securities Act”), or any state securities laws. Accordingly, these securities 
may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (within the meaning of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities 
Act) unless registered under the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws or except pursuant to exemptions from the registration requirements of the 
U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws in accordance with the Underwriting Agreement (as defined herein). This prospectus constitutes a public 
offering of these securities only in those jurisdictions where they may be lawfully offered for sale and only by persons permitted to sell these securities. See “Plan 
of Distribution”. 

Initial Public Offering February 24, 2021 

BASE PREP PROSPECTUS

C$100,100,000 

Common Shares”) of Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. (the “Company” or “ARR”). It is 
anticipated that the public offering price will be between C$9.50 and C$11.00 per Common Share (the “Offering Price”) (the “Offering”) pursuant to the terms of 
an underwriting agreement (the “Underwriting Agreement
Ltd., Cormark Securities Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., Laurentian Bank Securities Inc., National Bank Financial Inc. and Haywood Securities Inc. (collectively, 
the “Underwriters”). 

The Company is a renewable energy royalty company whose business is to invest in renewable power developers, originators and projects. ARR’s long-term strategy 
is to gain exposure to revenue underlying renewable energy operations by acquiring and managing a portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties including 
acquiring royalties and other interests directly from project originators, developers, operators, and third-party holders of existing royalties. The Company’s key 
investments to date will generate a contractual gross revenue royalty on a renewable power project upon the sale of such project to an operator or sponsor. These 
investments made by the Company are not allocated to any specific project but rather fund a developer’s project portfolio, including projects that are added to the 
portfolio after the investment agreement with the Company is entered into, thus positioning the developer to be able to ultimately bring more projects to market. 
The Company combines industry expertise with partner focused investment solutions to provide a long-term, cost-effective source of capital to the renewable energy 
sector. The Company has established financing relationships with certain top-tier developers providing ARR with exposure to a robust development pipeline of 
U.S.-based wind and solar projects. See “Business of the Company”.  

Price to the Public Underwriters’ Commission(1) Net Proceeds to the Company(2)

Per Common Share………………………… 
Total Offering(3)……………………………. C$100,100,000 C$6,006,000 C$94,094,000 

Notes: 
(1) Upon Closing (as defined herein), the Company will pay the Underwriters a cash commission of 6% of the gross proceeds of the Offering. See “Plan of 

Distribution”. 
(2) Before deducting the Company’s expenses of the Offering, estimated to be C$1,500,000, and which, together with the Underwriters’ commission payable 

pursuant to the Offering, will be paid by the Company out of the proceeds of the Offering. See “Use of Proceeds”. 
(3) The Company has granted to the Underwriters an option (the “Over-Allotment Option”), exercisable in whole or in part for a period of 30 days following 

cover over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the aggregate Offering Price to the 
Public, Underwriters’ Commission and Net Proceeds to the Company in respect of the Offering will be C$115,115,000, C$6,906,900 and C$108,208,100, 
respectively. This prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Common Shares pursuant to the exercise of 
the Over-Allotment Option. A purchaser who acquires Common Shares forming part of the Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires such Common 
Shares under this prospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or 
secondary market purchases. See “Plan of Distribution”. 
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The following table sets out the number of Common Shares that may be issued by the Company to the Underwriters pursuant to the Over-Allotment 
Option: 

Underwriters’ position Maximum size or number of securities available Exercise period Exercise price 

Over-Allotment Option Exercisable for a period of 30 days 
following Closing 

The terms of the Offering were determined by negotiation between Altius Minerals and the Company on the one hand, and TD Securities Inc. and Scotia Capital 
Inc. (the “Bookrunners”), on the other hand.  

In connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may over-allocate or effect transactions which stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the 
Common Shares at levels other than those which otherwise might prevail on the open market. The Underwriters may offer the Common Shares at a price lower 
than that stated above. Any such reduction in price will not affect the proceeds received by the Company. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

The Underwriters, as principals, conditionally offer the Common Shares qualified under this prospectus, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by the Company 
and accepted by the Underwriters in accordance with the conditions contained in the Underwriting Agreement and subject to the approval of certain legal matters 
on behalf of the Company by McCarthy Tétrault LLP and on behalf of the Underwriters by Stikeman Elliott LLP. 

Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the Underwriters reserve the right to close the subscription books at any time 

One or more certificates representing the Common Shares sold pursuant to the Offering will be issued in registered form to CDS Clearing and Depository Services 
Inc. (“CDS”), or to its nominee, and deposited with CDS on the date of Closing. A purchaser of Common Shares will receive only a customer confirmation from 
the registered dealer from or through which the Common Shares are purchased. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

There is currently no market through which the Common Shares may be sold and investors may not be able to resell Common Shares purchased under 
this prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the Common Shares in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the 
liquidity of the Common Shares and the extent of issuer regulation. An investment in the Common Shares is speculative and is subject to a number of risks 
that should be considered by a prospective purchaser. The Company’s business is subject to the risks normally encountered in the power generation 
industry and the risks associated with wind and solar power generation in particular, including but not limited to risks associated with the development of 
such assets, and the nascent stage of the royalty financing model in the renewable power industry. See the “Risk Factors” section in this prospectus, which 
describes the Company’s assessment of those risk factors as well as the potential consequences to a purchaser should a risk occur. 

The Company has applied and been granted conditional approval to list the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange via TSX Sandbox. TSX 
Sandbox is an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy the original listing requirements of TSX, but due to facts or situations unique 
to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX.  

As the Company does not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX as set out in Section 3.09(a) of the TSX Company Manual, the TSX has 
exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical pre-tax earnings and pre-tax cash flow in granting the Company conditional approval for listing 
pursuant to TSX Sandbox. Listing of the Common Shares is subject to (i) a minimum of 1,000,000 freely tradeable Common Shares having an aggregate market 
value of at least C$4 million, being held by at least 300 public holders each holding one board lot or more; (ii) compliance with the TSX security based compensation 
arrangements policies; (iii) completion of the Offering with the public raise resulting in minimum gross proceeds of C$75 million; (iv) the market capitalization of 
the Company being at least C$250 million upon completion of the Offering and listing on the TSX; (v) receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Company to 
make certain enhanced disclosures; and (vi) the Company fulfilling all of the requirements of the TSX on or before May 11, 2021. The Company will remain listed 
pursuant to the TSX Sandbox until the later of (a) the time it has deployed 50% of the proceeds raised pursuant to the Offering, and (b) 12 months from its original 
listing date, provided the Company has one year without significant compliance issues and the Company is in compliance with the provisions of Part VI of the TSX 
Company Manual. In connection with listing the Company has reserved the stock symbol “ARR”. See “Plan of Distribution”.   

Investors are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, 
continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. 
See “Enforcement of Judgments Against Foreign Persons”. 

The Company is incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the “ABCA”) and the head office of the Company is located at 38 Duffy 
Place, 2nd Floor, St. Johns, NL A1B 4M5 and the registered office of the Company is located at 4300 Bankers Hall West, 888-3rd Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 
5C5. 
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NOTICE TO INVESTORS 

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

An investor should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and should not rely on parts of the information 
contained in this prospectus to the exclusion of others. None of the Company, Altius Minerals (as hereinafter defined) or the 
Underwriters have authorized anyone to provide investors with additional or different information. None of the Company, Altius 
Minerals or the Underwriters are offering to sell the Common Shares in any jurisdictions where the offer or sale is not permitted. 
The information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of 
this prospectus or any sale of the Common Shares. The Company’s business and the financial condition, financial performance and 
prospects of the Company may have changed since the date of this prospectus. 

INTERPRETATION

Unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, references in this prospectus to (i) the “Company” or “ARR” 
refer to Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. and its subsidiaries, including the GBR Joint Venture (as defined below); and (ii) “Altius 
Minerals” refers to Altius Minerals Corporation and its subsidiaries, other than the Company, in each case as constituted upon 
Closing. In addition, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, information contained in this prospectus assumes 
that the Over-Allotment Option has not been exercised. 

The Company presents its financial statements in U.S. dollars. In this prospectus, references to “US$” or “dollars” are to 
U.S. dollars and all amounts in this prospectus are stated in U.S. dollars unless otherwise indicated. References to C$ are to Canadian 
dollars. The financial statements included in this prospectus have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement principles of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). All references to years, unless otherwise noted, 
refer to the Company’s fiscal year, which ends on December 31. 

The closing, high, low and average exchange rates for the United States dollar in terms of Canadian dollars for each of the 
two years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and for the 9-months ended September 30, 2020 based on the indicative 
rate of exchange as reported by the Bank of Canada, were as follows:  

Year-Ended December 31 September 30 
2019 
(C$) 

2018 
(C$) 

2020 
(C$) 

Closing 1.3269 1.3642 1.3339 
High 1.3600 1.3642 1.4496 
Low 1.2988 1.2288 1.2970 
Average(1) 1.3269 1.2957 1.3541

Note: 
(1) Calculated as an average of the applicable daily rates for each period. 

On February 23, 2021, the indicative rate of exchange as reported by the Bank of Canada was US$1.00 = C$1.2603. 

Certain words and phrases used in this prospectus are defined in the “Glossary”, which begins on page 16 of this 
prospectus. 

MARKETING MATERIALS

A “template version” of the following  “marketing  materials”  (as each such term is defined in National  Instrument 41-
101 - General Prospectus Requirements)  has  been  filed  with  the  securities  commission  or  similar  authority  in  each  of  the  
provinces and territories  of Canada in connection with the Offering and is incorporated by reference into this prospectus: 

The investor presentation filed on SEDAR on January 20, 2021.   

The investor presentation filed on SEDAR on February 4, 2021.  

The term sheet filed on SEDAR on February 4, 2021.  
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Any template version of any other marketing materials filed with the securities commission or similar authority in each of 
the provinces or territories of Canada in connection with the Offering after the date  hereof  but  prior  to  the  termination  of  the  
distribution  of  the  securities  under  this  prospectus  is  deemed  to  be incorporated by reference into this prospectus. Any  
template  version  of  marketing materials utilized in connection with this Offering  are  not  part  of  this  prospectus  to  the  extent  
that  the  contents  of  the template  version  of  the  marketing materials  has  been  modified  or  superseded  by  a  statement  
contained  in  this prospectus. 

MARKET DATA

This prospectus contains statistical data, market research and industry forecasts that were obtained from government or 
other industry publications and reports or based on estimates derived from such publications and reports and Altius Mineral’s 
knowledge of, and experience in, the markets in which the Company operates. Government and industry publications and reports 
generally indicate that they have obtained their information from sources believed to be reliable, but do not guarantee the accuracy 
and completeness of their information. Often, such information is provided subject to specific terms and conditions limiting the 
liability of the provider, disclaiming any responsibility for such information, and/or limiting a third-party’s ability to rely on such 
information. None of the authors of such publications and reports has provided any form of consultation, advice or counsel regarding 
any aspect of, or is in any way whatsoever associated with, the Offering, the Company or Altius Minerals. Further, certain of these 
organizations are advisors to participants in the clean power generation industry, and may present information in a manner that is 
more favourable to that industry than would be presented by an independent source. Actual outcomes may vary materially from 
those forecast in such reports or publications and the prospect for material variation can be expected to increase as the length of the 
forecast period increases. While the Company believes this data to be reliable, market and industry data is subject to variations and 
cannot be verified due to limits on the availability and reliability of data inputs, the voluntary nature of the data gathering process 
and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any market or other survey. Accordingly, the accuracy, currency and completeness 
of this information cannot be guaranteed. None of the Company, Altius Minerals or the Underwriters has independently verified 
any of the data from third-party sources referred to in this prospectus or ascertained the underlying assumptions relied upon by such 
sources. 

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

Certain statements contained in this prospectus constitute forward-looking information. Such information relates to future 
events or the Company’s future performance. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking 
information. The use of any of the words “anticipate”, “plan”, “contemplate”, “continue”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “propose”, 
“might”, “may”, “will”, “shall”, “project”, “should”, “could”, “would”, “believe”, “predict”, “forecast”, “pursue”, “potential” and 
“capable” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking information. These statements involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in 
such forward-looking information. No assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such 
forward-looking information included in this prospectus should not be unduly relied upon. Forward-looking information speaks 
only as of the date of this prospectus. In addition, this prospectus may contain forward-looking information attributed to third-party 
industry sources. 

In particular, this prospectus contains forward-looking information pertaining to the following: 

expectations and plans for future growth, including expansion into existing and new markets and acquisitions of additional 
royalties and illustrative revenue; 

the need for additional capital and the expected sources of, and access to, such capital; 

expectations with respect to use of proceeds and the amount of GBR Deployable Capital; 

expectations with respect to returns, including the minimum return thresholds to be achieved on current and future 
investments or royalties; 

possible changes in the regulatory regimes of the jurisdictions in which the Company operates or intends to operate; 

expectations for the growth in demand for renewable power and anticipated decline of demand for fossil fuel and nuclear 
based powers in the U.S.; 

expectations relating to the expansion of the renewable energy industry;  
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expectations in relation to the effect of government regulation, incentives and taxation regimes on the Company’s future 
revenue potential; 

expectations in relation to the cost competitiveness of renewable power relative to other sources of power generation;  

expectations regarding the range of MW of capacity the Company anticipates receiving in return for its investments;  

expectations regarding the length of time the Company anticipates will be necessary or the number of projects required to 
be sold in order for the Company to receive sufficient royalties to meet its minimum return thresholds under each of the 
TGE Agreement and Apex Agreement; and  

expectations regarding Altius Minerals’ continued ownership of Common Shares. 

With respect to forward-looking information contained in this prospectus, assumptions have been made regarding, among 
other things, the matters referred to below: 

that the Company will be able to use the proceeds of the Offering as set out under the heading “Use of Proceeds” and 
identify and complete suitable investment and royalty opportunities on terms that are acceptable to the Company and 
consistent with the Company’s expectations regarding minimum returns;  

that the cost and availability of both materials and services used in the construction and development of renewable power 
facilities in the jurisdictions in which the Company conducts and intends to conduct its business will remain consistent in 
all material respects with the current environment for the cost and availability of such materials and services; 

that the production from the facilities on which the Company holds royalties will be consistent in all material respects with 
the Company’s expectations; 

that the management of the development and construction of the facilities on which the Company holds or will hold 
royalties will be consistent in all material respects with the Company’s expectations; 

that the timing of development and construction of facilities on which the Company holds or will hold royalties will be 
consistent in all material respects with the Company’s expectations; 

that the availability of financing funds including tax equity, sponsor equity, and debt for the facilities on which the 
Company holds or will hold royalties will be available in all material respects within the Company’s expectations; 

that there will be no material changes to existing legislation, including the regulatory framework governing electricity 
generation, transmission and distribution, taxation of renewable power producers, renewable power incentive programs or 
environmental matters that could adversely impact the renewable power sector including the operation, financing, and/or 
development of renewable assets as a whole or the applicable tariffs and incentives in any of the jurisdictions in which the 
operators, financing parties or developers of the renewable power projects that underlie the royalties of the Company 
conduct and will conduct their business; 

that there will be no material defaults by the counterparties to agreements with the Company and such agreements will not 
be terminated prior to their scheduled expiry; 

that government agencies, regional transmission operators, quasi-government agencies and other key counterparties are 
able to provide services in a timely and expected manner as anticipated by the Company for the development, financing, 
and operating of renewable assets; 

that the development, financing, or operations of power generation facilities underlying the Company’s current and future 
royalties in which the Company invests will not experience significant disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic or other 
acts of God;  

that general economic and industry conditions in the jurisdictions in which the Company conducts and will conduct its 
business will remain stable in relation to current general and industry conditions including but not limited to expected 
future commodity pricing; 

that the Company and its key counterparties continue to attract and retain knowledgeable staff in adequate number;  



7 

the Company’s governance structure will be adequate to address any conflicts; and  

the continued management and support of the Company by Altius Minerals. 

Actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking information as a result of the risk 
factors set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” and included elsewhere in this prospectus. 

Prospective investors should also read the disclosure under the heading “Risk Factors” in this prospectus. 

The forward-looking information included in this prospectus is expressly qualified by this cautionary statement 
and are made as of the date of this prospectus. The Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise 
any forward-looking information except as required by Canadian Securities Laws (as defined herein). 
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Offering and should be read in conjunction with the more 
detailed information, including financial data, contained elsewhere in this prospectus. For an explanation of certain terms 
(including capitalized terms) used in this prospectus, refer to the “Glossary” which begins on page 16 of this prospectus.  

THE COMPANY

ARR is a renewable energy royalty company whose business is to invest in renewable power developers and originators. 
ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to revenue underlying renewable energy operations by acquiring and managing a 
portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties, including acquiring royalties and other interests directly from project originators, 
developers, operators, and third-party holders of existing royalties. The Company’s key investments to date include the TGE 
Investment and the Apex Investment pursuant to which the Company, through the GBR Joint Venture, will be entitled to receive a 
contractual gross revenue royalty on renewable power projects upon the sale of such projects by TGE or Apex to an operator or 
sponsor. The investments made by the Company pursuant to the TGE or Apex Investments are not allocated to any specific project 
but rather fund such developer’s project portfolio, including projects that are added to the portfolio after the investment agreement 
with the Company was entered into, thus positioning the developer to be able to ultimately bring more projects to market. In addition 
to its current investment relationship with TGE and Apex, the Company continues to consider other investments. The Company 
combines industry expertise with partner focused investment solutions to provide a long-term, cost-effective source of capital to the 
renewable energy sector. The Company has established financing relationships with certain top-tier developers providing ARR with 
exposure to a robust development pipeline of U.S.-based wind and solar projects.  

The Company was incorporated under the ABCA on November 13, 2018 as “Blue Sky Renewable Royalties Corp.”. On 
February 7, 2019, the Company amended its articles, changing its name to “Altius Renewable Royalties Corp.”. On January 15, 
2021, ARR filed articles of amendment to consolidate its Common Shares on the basis of one post-consolidation Common Share 
for every four pre-consolidated Common Shares (the “Consolidation”). On February 12. 2021, ARR filed articles of amendment 
to update its constating documents to reflect those of a publicly listed company. The head office of the Company is located at 38 
Duffy Place, 2nd Floor, St. Johns, NL A1B 4M5. and the registered office of the Company is located at 4300 Bankers Hall West, 
888-3rd Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 5C5. 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

The following diagram illustrates the organizational structure of the Company.  

Unless otherwise indicated in this Prospectus, any references to the “Company” refer to ARR and its subsidiaries, including 
the GBR Joint Venture.  
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Notes: 
Upon Closing of the Offering and assuming the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, Altius Minerals will indirectly hold approximately % of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares of ARR with GBR management, existing shareholders of ARR and public shareholders holding the remaining approximately %. See 
“Use of Proceeds”. 

GBR JOINT VENTURE

On October 11, 2020, Altius GBR Holdings, a wholly owned subsidiary of ARR, and Apollo Fund, together with certain 
Class B unit holders of GBR Holdings, entered into the A&R LLC Agreement to provide for the terms of the relationship between 
Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund. Pursuant and subject to the A&R LLC Agreement, Apollo Fund has the right to earn a 50% 
interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80 million in approved investment opportunities in GBR following 
the entering into of the A&R LLC Agreement. The US$80 million in approved investment opportunities includes amounts Apollo 
Fund has funded to date. Apollo Fund’s interest in the GBR Joint Venture is based on the amount of capital contributions made by 
Apollo Fund to GBR Holdings. To date, Apollo Fund has funded an aggregate of US$9.9 million and holds 11% of the Class A 
Units in GBR Holdings.  

For a description of the GBR Joint Venture, see “GBR Joint Venture”. 

100%

% %

100% 

Apollo Fund 
Altius GBR Holdings, Inc. 

(Delaware) 

Altius Renewable Royalties 
Corp.

(Alberta)

Great Bay Renewables 
Holdings, LLC 

(Delaware) 

GBR Management 

GBR MemberCo., LLC 
(Delaware) 

Great Bay 
Renewables LLC 

(Delaware) 

11% 
Class A Units 

Class B-1 Units 
non-voting 

89% 
Class A Units

99.99%

0.01%

Developer Investments 

Altius Minerals Corporation 
(Alberta) 

Altius Royalty Corporation 
(Alberta) Public Shareholders 

100%

100%

NEO Geothermal, LLC 
(Delaware) 
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INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS 

Exposure to High Growth Industry with Strong Investment Outlook. The renewable power industry has experienced 
significant growth over the last 10 years, with U.S. wind and solar installed capacity growing at an annual rate of 14% and 
65%, respectively. This scale of growth in the U.S. renewable power sector is expected to continue, with over US$630 
billion of capital expected to be invested in wind and solar power generation, and renewable power more than doubling its 
share of generation capacity to 38% by 2050. Over the next 10 years, renewable capacity is expected to increase by an 
additional 177 GW in the U.S., driving robust demand for development capital and growing the Company’s addressable 
market. 

Demonstrated Business Model with First Mover Advantage. Despite significant technological advancement in the 
renewable power industry over the past several decades, financing innovation has not kept pace and there remains a need 
for alternative financing solutions as the sources of financing for renewable power generation continue to change and 
evolve. The Company has developed an approach to address demand for royalty-based financing in the renewable power 
sector, with approximately US$95 million of capital invested or committed to royalty-based financing agreements. GBR 
has established itself as a preferred financing partner within the renewable energy industry, providing flexible financing 
solutions which are attractively positioned versus existing debt and equity alternatives. The Company believes that its 
established position as a leading renewable royalty company gives it an advantage in seeking additional investments by 
providing it with increased visibility and recognition amongst potential counterparties. 

Repeatable Growth from Established Partnerships with Top-Tier Developers. ARR has established strong relationships 
with top-tier renewable power developers in the United States, including Apex and TGE, who have commercialized 6.5 
GW and 1.9 GW, respectively, of renewable power projects since inception. These relationships currently provide the 
Company with exposure to a development pipeline of approximately 24.5 GW at various stages, which is expected to 
generate new renewable power royalties for GBR as projects are developed, sold, and achieve NTP. In addition, the long-
term nature of these relationships provides opportunities for future follow-on investments as Apex and TGE continue to 
replenish their respective development portfolios. Further adoption of royalty financing by other developers and industry 
participants is expected to drive additional growth as the Company forges new relationships with other developers within 
the renewable power sector. 

Portfolio Investment Approach Mitigates Risk and Fuels Growth. The Company’s portfolio approach with developers is 
designed to mitigate development risk by encompassing the developer’s current and future project pipeline. As projects 
are sold to operators or sponsors, the Company will accumulate a royalty portfolio diversified across projects types, 
operators, and geographies. Additionally, the Company’s non-operating, gross revenue royalty interest is designed to 
mitigate operational risk while maintaining exposure to project upside without a corresponding obligation for injection of 
incremental capital. The Company anticipates royalty agreements to generate high single digit to low double-digit 
unlevered, pre-tax returns. Additional project specific growth or upside may further allow it to enhance such returns. Once 
the minimum return threshold is achieved, the Company and developer can agree to inject additional capital to fund the 
developer’s remaining and replenished portfolio with minimal transaction costs due to the GBR Joint Venture structure. 
See “GBR Joint Venture”. 

Royalties Capture Embedded Upside at No Incremental Cost. Once a gross revenue royalty has been assigned to a project, 
the royalty remains on the project over its entirety and encompasses any potential upside associated with the project. 
Examples of potential project upside are discussed under the heading “Business of the Company – Embedded Value”. The 
Company has no commitment or obligation to provide funding for such projects but will receive a proportionate share of 
any associated revenue growth. 

Experienced Management Team with Strong Corporate Sponsorship and Institutional Endorsement. GBR’s 
management team has a collective 50+ years of experience in the renewable power industry and is underpinned by 
experienced, like-minded corporate sponsors in ARR (which is further supported by Altius Minerals) and investment funds 
managed by affiliates of AGM, a global alternative investment manager with AUM of US$433B and US$2.7B in 
renewable energy. Altius Minerals has a 20-year track record of executing innovative royalty investments and AGM is 
sophisticated in transaction structuring and capital formation for renewable power projects. 

EMBEDDED VALUE  

The unique characteristics of royalty investments provide royalty holders exposure to the embedded upside potential of a 
project with no incremental costs and relatively minimal associated risks. Under the Company’s contractual royalty agreements 



11 

such as those created pursuant to the agreements with TGE and Apex (as discussed below), any expansion to, enhancement of, or 
additional source of revenue for a project will be captured in the gross royalty revenue calculation, as the royalty agreements are 
designed to provide the Company with a proportionate share of all revenue generated on a project, for the duration of commercial 
operations of such project (subject to certain prescribed exceptions). Several potential sources of additional project embedded value 
include: 

Project Life Extensions. Renewable energy project life estimates have continually evolved since the early 2000s as 
operation and maintenance practices and technology have improved. Particularly, the use of turbine control regimes for 
wind projects that monitor production, manage fatigue loads and ensure turbines remain within their design envelope have 
become increasingly commonplace. Incorporating improved O&M practices and technologies with partial repowering, 
whereby certain components are replaced or upgraded, has resulted in the ability to significantly extend project useful lives 
beyond their initial design capacity. According to the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, wind project useful life 
estimates now range up to 40 years, with an average of 29.6 years. A similar trend can be seen in solar projects, as useful 
life assumptions have grown from 21.5 years in 2007 to an average of 32.5 years in 2019.  

Repowering. Repowering involves replacement or refurbishment of components to increase energy production, reduce 
O&M costs, increase grid service capabilities, and improve project reliability. Furthermore, repowering can be 
supplemented with expansion of the project’s grid interconnections, resulting in better integration of variable wind energy 
into power grids. It also has the potential to increase energy production, reduce overhead and maintenance costs and 
improve project reliability. The long-term outlook on repowering remains robust, with National Renewable Energy 
Laboratory forecasts suggesting total U.S. wind repowering investment could reach US$25 billion by 2030. Repowering 
can be pursued as early as 8-10 years into operations.  

On-Site Battery Storage. Given the intermittent nature of renewable power generation, utilizing on-site storage facilities 
enables operators to store energy produced during periods of low prices and demand, and sell the harnessed electricity at 
a higher price during peak demand. On-site storage continues to grow in popularity; as per EIA forecasts, the number of 
projects with co-located battery storage are expected to double by 2023.

Co-Location. Co-location refers to combining multiple renewable resources, such as wind and solar, on the same project 
site. Operators are able to leverage existing infrastructure, interconnection agreements, and community relations to increase 
production, reduce costs, and optimize operations.

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES 

ARR believes there is significant demand for royalty-based financing in the renewable power sector. The structural 
flexibility represented by what the Company offers enables ARR to pursue various avenues of growth to be able to meet this 
demand. To date, the Company has completed investments with renewable power project developers to generate new royalties at 
the point of sale of a project to a final project sponsor and operator. ARR believes there is significant growth, scalability, and 
repeatability in this market, as the Company is able to establish new relationships with other developers as well as originators and
is positioned to extend its investment financing agreements with its existing partners as they replenish their development pipelines. 
The Company has also identified additional markets to grow its renewable power royalty portfolio that demonstrate similar 
scalability and repeatability, including direct investments in later stage projects, energy storage solutions, offshore wind projects, 
projects that do not have access to established grid-based power and hopes to identify opportunities to expand beyond the North 
American market. See “Growth Opportunities”.  
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As per BNEF, 124 GW of renewable capacity was commissioned in the U.S. over the past ten years, with independent 
renewable developers comprising 40 GW of the total market size. Given renewable capacity is expected to increase by an additional 
177 GW in the U.S. over the next ten years, there exists a potentially large investment opportunity for ARR.  

Historical and Forecasted U.S. Renewables Development 

Source: EIA, BNEF, Developer League Tables and Rankings Interactive Dataset, 2010-2019; includes only companies that have commissioned >50 MW from 2010-
2019.  
1. Assumes capacity weighted average renewable capital cost of US$1.4B / GW; source: EIA, Capital Cost and Performance Characteristic Estimates for Utility 
Scale Electric Power Generating Technologies, February 2020. 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Upon Closing, it is expected that the Board will be comprised of five Directors, none of whom are members of management 
of the Company, two of whom are nominees of Altius Minerals and each of whom is independent (as such term is defined in NI 52-
110) of the Company and Altius Minerals. The executive officers of the Company are Brian Dalton, Chief Executive Officer and 
Ben Lewis, Chief Financial Officer, each of whom will be providing services to ARR pursuant to the Altius Minerals Services 
Agreement. See “Agreement with Altius Minerals – Altius Minerals Services Agreement”, “Directors and Executive Officers”. 

GBR AND ARR SERVICES AGREEMENT 

GBR and ARR entered into a services agreement (the “GBR-ARR Services Agreement”) pursuant to which GBR has 
agreed to provide certain services to ARR on an interim basis in connection with this initial public offering and providing post 
initial public offering support services, including communications with shareholders and stakeholders of ARR, review of public 
disclosure documents, assistance with the preparation of reports to the Board, attendance at Board meetings and such other services 
reasonably requested by ARR. As consideration for the services, ARR shall pay GBR a daily rate ranging from US$800 to US$2,000 
for each individual providing services to ARR under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. The GBR-ARR Services Agreement also 
stipulates the maximum amount of time per employee that may be spent on various services under the GBR-ARR Services 
Agreement. The GBR-ARR Services Agreement will terminate (i) on the date on which GBR has no continuing obligation to 
perform any services as a result of each services’ expiration or termination and all fees for such services (including out of pocket 
costs) have been paid in full, (ii) at the election of GBR on the date that is nine months following written notice from GBR to ARR 
or (iii) in the event of an insolvency event of either party upon written notice of the other party. See “GBR-ARR Services 
Agreement”.  

ALTIUS MINERALS SERVICES AGREEMENT

ARR and Altius Minerals entered into a services agreement dated January 15, 2021 pursuant to which Altius Minerals will 
provide office space, management, and administrative services, including the services of the CEO (Brian Dalton), CFO (Ben Lewis) 
and corporate secretary (Flora Wood) to ARR for a monthly fee of C$50,000 plus applicable taxes beginning on February 1, 2021, 
which amount was calculated on a cost recovery basis, and will be reviewed and adjusted by agreement of the parties, if necessary, 
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after three months. Following the initial review, the fees will be subject to a yearly review by the independent directors of ARR. 
Altius Minerals is also entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket costs it incurs directly for ARR. Either ARR or Altius 
Minerals may terminate the Altius Minerals Services Agreement on 60 days’ written notice to the other and in other prescribed 
circumstances, including in certain events of insolvency and if there is a violation of the confidentiality and non-use obligations set 
forth in the agreement. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals – Altius Minerals Services Agreement”. 

GBR SERVICES AGREEMENT

GBR and Altius Minerals entered into a management, administrative and operational services agreement (the “GBR
Services Agreement”) on October 11, 2020 pursuant to which Altius Minerals agreed to provide GBR with certain back office 
services for which Altius Minerals will be fairly compensated by GBR for such services, including bookkeeping, accounting and 
treasury services as well as other services previously provided to GBR following Altius Minerals’ acquisition of GBR in February 
2019. Under the terms of the GBR Services Agreement, all bookkeeping, accounting and financial reporting services were to be 
provided by Altius Minerals to GBR through 2020, with services provided into 2021 to be limited solely to finalizing 2020 
accounting and financial reporting. Altius Minerals will also invoice GBR for the provision of directors and officers insurance to 
GBR under Altius Minerals’ policy on an interim basis, until GBR is able to secure its own. The GBR Services Agreement will 
terminate on the date Altius Minerals has no continuing obligation to perform any services under the GBR Services Agreement as 
a result of such services’ expiration or termination. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals - GBR Services Agreement”.   

INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

On or before closing of the Offering Altius Minerals and the Company will enter into the Investor Rights Agreement which 
will govern various aspects of their relationship. Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement the board of directors of the Company 
(the “Board”) will be comprised of five individuals, two of whom shall be appointed by Altius Minerals. See “Directors and 
Executive Officers – Directors”. Following Closing and thereafter Altius Minerals will be entitled to nominate two directors 
provided that it and its affiliates hold 40% or more of the outstanding Common Shares and one director provided that it and its 
affiliates hold between 10-40% of the outstanding Common Shares. Under the Investor Rights Agreement the Company will also 
grant Altius Minerals certain anti-dilution and piggyback registration rights, provided that Altius Minerals and its affiliates 
beneficially own not less than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares. Altius Minerals has also agreed that it will not vote against, 
and will cause voting securities owned by its affiliates not to be voted against, any resolution that a majority of the Board of ARR 
has approved to be recommended to securityholders of the Company, subject to certain exceptions. See “Agreements with Altius 
Minerals - Investor Rights Agreement”.

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following selected historical consolidated financial information has been derived from the audited financial statements 
of GBR for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the 52-days ended December 31, 2017, the audited financial statements of the 
Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the unaudited interim financial statements of the Company as of 
September 30, 2020 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, contained elsewhere in this prospectus.  

Company 
Dec 31, 2019

(US$) 

GBR 
Dec 31, 2018

(US$) 

GBR 
52-days ended 
Dec 31, 2017 

(US$) 
Revenue and Other Income 239,300 165,300 - 
Costs and Expenses 1,750,200 245,100 - 
Net Loss (1,510,900) (79,800) - 
Total Assets 15,025,700 2,141,000 1,601,000 
Total Liabilities 347,900 - - 

Company 
three months 

ended Sept 30, 
2020

(US$) 

Company 
three months 

ended Sept 30, 
2019

(US$) 

Company 
Nine months 

ended Sept 30, 
2020

(US$) 

Company 
Nine months ended 

Sept 30, 2019
(US$) 

Revenue and Other Income 40,200 49,700 180,200 173,300 
Costs and Expenses 496,300 435,700 3,733,700 1,239,400 
Net Loss (349,700) (386,000) (2,879,500) (1,066,100) 
Total Assets 69,341,700 12,407,900 69,341,700 12,407,900 
Total Liabilities 1,020,900 245,000 1,020,900 245,000 
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Investors should read the selected historical financial information together with the sections in this prospectus entitled 
“Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Company”, 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of the Great Bay Renewables, Inc.” and 
the historical financial statements of GBR and the Company, including the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. See 
“Selected Historical Financial Information”.  

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company, after giving effect to the Consolidation, as 
at September 30, 2020, and as at September 30, 2020 after giving effect to the Offering. This table should be read in conjunction 
with the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the 
Company’s consolidated historical financial statements contained elsewhere in this prospectus. 

Other than as described below, there have not been any material changes in the capitalization of the Company, on a 
consolidated basis, since September 30, 2020. 

As at Sept 30, 2020 
As at Sept 30, 2020 after giving effect to 

the Offering 

As at Sept 30, 2020 after giving effect 
to the Offering and exercise in full of 

the Over-Allotment Option 
Debt 

Loans payable(1) US$92,300 US$92,300 US$92,300 
Shareholders’ equity 

Common Shares US$66,813,200 US$139,962,260 US$151,112,399 
(authorized – unlimited) 16,719,889 Common Share 
Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 

Notes: (1) This figure excludes all related party debt.  
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THE OFFERING 

Issuer Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. 

Common Shares Offered 
See “Plan of Distribution”. 

There are currently 16,719,889 Common Shares issued and outstanding. 

Gross Proceeds C$100,100,000 

Over-Allotment Option  The Company has granted to the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable at 
the Underwriters’ sole discretion at any time, in whole or in part, from time to time, for a 

Common Shares (representing 15% of the Common Shares offered under this prospectus) 
to cover over-allotments, if any and for market stabilization purposes. See “Plan of 
Distribution”. 

Use of Proceeds The net proceeds of the Offering are expected to be approximately C$92,594,000, after 
deducting the Underwriters’ commission of C$6,006,000  and the Company’s expenses 
related to the Offering estimated to be C$1,500,000. If the Over-Allotment Option is 
exercised in full the net proceeds are expected to be C$106,708,100, after deducting the 
Underwriters’ commission of C$6,906,900   and the Company’s expenses related to the 
Offering estimated to be C$1,500,000.  

The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offering to fund additional 
renewable energy focused investments to continue to support the growth of its renewable 
energy royalty business and for general corporate purposes. In particular, the proceeds of 
the offering are intended to enable the Company to fund its participation in new investments 
that are sourced through its operating subsidiary GBR Holdings LLC,  following 
completion of an expected US$80 million investment by Apollo Funds in order to earn a 
50% interest in GBR. 

See “Use of Proceeds” and “Plan of Distribution”. 

Retained Interest 
the outstanding Common Shares, assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and 

See “Principal Securityholder”.  

Dividend Policy Since its incorporation the Company has not directly or indirectly declared or paid any 
dividend or declared or made any other distribution on any of its Common Shares. The 
Company currently has negative cash flow from its operating activities as most investments 
have been in relation to development stage assets and, accordingly, it has not implemented 
a policy regarding the declaration or payment of dividends. Any determination to implement 
a dividend policy, if and when appropriate, will be made having regard to, among other 
things, results of operations; financial condition; expected future levels of earnings; future 
operating cash flow; liquidity requirements; market opportunities; income taxes; debt 
repayments; legal, regulatory and contractual constraints; working capital requirements; tax 
laws, the approval of the Board and compliance with applicable law and TSX rules. See 
“Dividend Policy” and “Risk Factors – Future Dividend Payments are not Guaranteed”. 

Voting rights The Common Shares will entitle the holders thereof to one vote per share at meetings of 
shareholders. See “Description of Share Capital”. 
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Standstill  The Company has agreed that it will not, without the prior consent of the Bookrunners, 
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, offer, issue or sell, or announce any 
intention to do so, any Common Shares or any securities convertible or exchangeable into 
Common Shares, except (i) issuances of options or other incentive securities to the directors 
and officers of the Company; (ii) Common Shares issued in connection with any employee 
option or purchase plans, or (iii) Common Shares offered hereby, including upon the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, for a period of 180 days subsequent to the closing 
of the Offering. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Lock-up Each of the Directors and executive officers of the Company, Altius Minerals and the other 
existing shareholders of the Company prior to the Offering have agreed that they will not, 
without the prior consent of the Bookrunners, which consent shall not be unreasonably 
withheld, sell, or announce any intention to do so, any Common Shares or any securities 
convertible or exchangeable into Common Shares, for a period of 180 days subsequent to 
the closing of the Offering. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Risk Factors An investment in Common Shares is subject to a number of risk factors that should be 
considered carefully by a prospective purchaser. Cash distributions by the Company are not 
guaranteed and will be based, in part, upon the financial performance of the Company’s 
assets, which is susceptible to a number of risks. These risks and other risks associated with 
an investment in Common Shares, include but are not limited to those related with the 
renewable power industry, the Company and its business, the Company’s relationship with 
Altius Minerals and the Offering. Prospective purchasers of the Common Shares should 
carefully consider the information set forth under the heading “Risk Factors” and the other 
information included in this prospectus before deciding to invest in the Common Shares. 

The number of Common Shares to be outstanding immediately after the consummation of this Offering is based on 16,719,889  

Share would decrease (increase) the number of Common Shares issued as part of the Offering by approximately  Common 
Shares.  
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GLOSSARY 

In this prospectus, unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the meanings 
set forth below. 

“A&R LLC Agreement” means the amended and restated limited liability company agreement of GBR Holdings dated 
October 11, 2020. 

“ABCA” means the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), RSA 2000, c. B-9, as amended, including the regulations 
promulgated thereunder. 

“affiliate” means, in respect of any Person, any Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, 
controls or is controlled by or is under common control with such Person. 

“AGM” means Apollo Global Management, Inc. 

“allowable capital loss” means one-half of any capital loss. 

“Altius GBR Holdings” means Altius GBR Holdings, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.  

“Altius Group” means Altius GBR Holdings and its affiliates (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement), but 
excluding management, Apollo Fund, GBR Holdings or any of its subsidiaries. 

“Altius Minerals” means Altius Minerals Corporation. 

“Altius Minerals Services Agreement” means a services agreement between Altius Minerals and ARR dated January 15, 
2021. 

“Apex” means Apex Clean Energy Holdings, LLC and if the context requires, its subsidiary Apex GBR, LLC. 

“Apex GBR” means Apex GBR, LLC.  

“Apex Agreement” means the Apex GBR, LLC operating agreement dated March 10, 2020.  

“Apex Investment” means the strategic investment made on March 10, 2020 by ARR, indirectly through GBR, of US$35 
million to fund the development of Apex’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects.  

“Apollo Fund” means AIOF II Vanir Aggregator, L.P., with respect to Series I. 

“ARC” means Altius Royalty Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals. 

“ARR” means Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. 

“AWEA” means the American Wind Energy Association.  

“BayCorp” means BayCorp Holdings, Ltd.  

“BEV” means battery-powered electric vehicles.  

“BNEF” means Bloomberg New Energy Finance. 

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company. 

“Bookrunners” means TD Securities Inc. and Scotia Capital Inc.

“CAGR” means compound annual growth rate. 

“Canadian Securities Laws” means the securities legislation or ordinance and regulations thereunder of each province 
and territory of Canada and the rules, instruments, policies and orders of each Canadian securities regulator made 
thereunder. 
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“CCGT” means combined cycle gas turbines.  

“CDS” means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. 

“CDS Participants” means participants in the CDS depository service which include securities brokers and dealers, banks 
and trust companies. 

“CES” means clean energy standards mandated by state legislation in certain U.S. states requiring a certain percentage of 
retail electricity sales to be sourced from non- or low-emitting sources. 

“Class A Units” means the Class A-1 Units and the Class A-2 Units, collectively. 

“Class A-1 Units” means the Units classified as Class A-1 Units in the A&R LLC Agreement, and initially held by Altius 
GBR Holdings. 

“Class A-2 Units” means the Units classified as Class A-2 Units in the A&R LLC Agreement and initially held by Apollo 
Fund.  

“Class B Units” means the Units classified as Class B Units in the A&R LLC Agreement and initially held by certain 
members of management of GBR Holdings.  

“Closing” means the closing of the Offering. 

“Code of Conduct” means the written code of conduct and ethics that the Board is expected to adopt.  

“COD” means commercial operation date, being the first date on which a facility is considered substantially complete and 
selling power. 

“Common Shares” means common shares in the capital of ARR, on a post-consolidated basis. 

“Company” means ARR, and unless the context otherwise requires, includes ARR’s subsidiaries. 

“Consolidation” means the consolidation of ARR’s common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation Common Share 
for every four pre-consolidation common shares. 

“Director” means a member of the Board. 

“Distribution” means any distribution of the assets of the Company upon liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy or winding 
up of the Company or any other distribution of its assets among the shareholders of the Company for the purpose of 
winding up its affairs. 

“DPSP” means a deferred profit-sharing plan.  

“EIA” means the United States Energy Information Administration. 

“ESG” means environmental, social and governance factors as it pertains to corporate and investment making decision.  

“EVs” means electric vehicles. 

“GBR” means Great Bay Renewables, LLC until February 4, 2019, Great Bay Renewables Inc. from February 5, 2020 
until October 9, 2020 and Great Bay Renewables, LLC following such date. 

“GBR Holdings” means Great Bay Renewables Holdings, LLC. 

“GBR Joint Venture” means the joint venture established by Apollo Fund and Altius GBR Holdings in connection with 
the GBR business; 

“GBR Services Agreement” means the services agreement between GBR and Altius Minerals entered into on October 
11, 2020.  

“GREEN Act” means the Growing Renewable Energy and Efficiency Now Act of 2020.  
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“GW” means gigawatt, or 1,000 MW. 

“IEA” means the International Energy Agency. 

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards.  

“interconnection agreement” refers to an agreement between a buyer and a seller, specific to the interconnection of a 
power generating facility to the buyer’s distribution system. 

“Investor Rights Agreement” means the investor rights agreement between the Company and Altius Minerals to be 
entered into on or before Closing.  

“IRS” means Internal Revenue Service - the U.S. government agency responsible for the collection of taxes and 
enforcement of tax laws.  

“ITC” means the Investment Tax Credit established under the U.S. Energy Policy Act of 2005. 

“kW” means kilowatt, or 1,000 watts. 

“kWh” means an amount of energy equivalent to one kW delivered continuously for one hour. 

“LCOE” means the levelized cost of energy representing the per unit of generation cost of building and operating a power 
project, annualized over the useful life of the project.  

“LTIP” means the Company’s long-term incentive plan.  

“MW” means megawatt, or 1,000 kW. 

“MWh” means an amount of energy equivalent to one MW delivered continuously for one hour. 

“Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Form 51-102 F6 – Statement of Executive 
Compensation.

“NEO Geothermal” means NEO Geothermal, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GBR.  

“NI 52-109” means National Instrument 52-109 Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 Audit Committees. 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices. 

“NP 58-201” means National Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

“NTP” means notice to proceed with construction.  

“O&M” means operations and maintenance services.  

“Offering” means the distribution of Common Shares qualified by this prospectus. 

“Option” means an option to acquire a Common Share of the Company as more particularly set out under the heading 
“Options to Purchase Securities”.  

“Over-Allotment Option” means the option of the Underwriters, exercisable in whole or in part for a period of 30 days 

“Paris Climate Agreement” means an agreement within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change 
effective November 4, 2016.  

“Person” means any individual, company (including any limited liability company), partnership, joint venture, association, 
trust, unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof. 
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“PHEV” means plug-in hybrid electric vehicles.  

“PPA” means a power purchase and sale agreement between a power generator and a third-party acquiror of electricity. 

“PTC” means Production Tax Credit established under the U.S. Energy Policy Act of 1992.  

“RPS” means renewable portfolio standards mandated by state legislation in certain U.S. states requiring retail electricity 
providers to source a certain share of electricity supply from qualified renewable sources. 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval. 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), R.S.C. 1985, c. 1 (5th Supp.) and the regulations promulgated thereunder, 
each as amended. 

“taxable capital gain” means one-half of any capital gain.  

“TGE” means Tri Global Energy, LLC and if the context requires, its subsidiary Tri Global Holdings, LLC. 

“TGE Agreement” means the amended and restated operating agreement of Tri Global Holdings, LLC dated February 6, 
2019 as amended and replaced by the first amendment to the amended and restated operating agreement of Tri Global 
Holdings LLC dated March 23, 2020 and as further amended and replaced by the second amended and restated operating 
agreement of Tri Global Holdings LLC dated October 11, 2020, as amended on December 7, 2020. 

“TGE Investment” means the investment (payable in installments) in TGH, a subsidiary of TGE, to fund the development 
of and gain access to future royalties on its wind and solar energy portfolio, which investment was committed to on 
February 6, 2019.  

“TGH” means Tri Global Holdings, LLC, a subsidiary of TGE.  

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange. 

“TW” means terawatt, or 1,000,000 MW. 

“TWh” means an amount of energy equivalent to one TW delivered continuously for one hour. 

“Underwriters” means the Bookrunners, Raymond James Ltd., Cormark Securities Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., 
Laurentian Bank Securities Inc., National Bank Financial Inc. and Haywood Securities Inc. 

“Unit” means a member interest in GBR Holdings representing a fractional part of the limited liability company interests 
in GBR Holdings and includes the Class A Units and Class B Units. 

“U.K.” means the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.  

“U.S.” means the United States of America. 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

“Warrant” means the Common Share purchase warrants in the capital of the Company, exercisable to purchase one 
Common Share until July 31, 2030, at a price of US$4.00 per Common Share. 
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INDUSTRY 

Renewable power is derived from natural processes that are constantly replenished and represent low or non-carbon 
emitting sources of power. There are various forms of renewable power originating directly or indirectly from wind, hydroelectric, 
solar, biomass, and geothermal sources: 

Wind: Wind power is generated using wind turbines. The turbines rotate as wind flows over the blades creating lift, causing 
the blades to turn. A shaft is connected to the blades, which turns an electric generator and produces electricity. 

Solar: Solar systems convert radiation from the sun and solar electric cells into electricity. The solar electric cells are 
arranged into modules of varying electricity-producing capacities, which absorb sunlight and use that power to produce 
electricity.  

Hydroelectric: Hydroelectric power is generated from the force of flowing water. Conventional hydroelectric power uses 
water in dams, (i.e. storage systems) or flowing in streams and rivers (i.e. run-of-river) to spin a turbine, which turns an 
electric generator and produces electricity.  

Biomass: Biomass is organic material derived from plants and animals, including wood and wood waste, agricultural 
crops, and municipal solid waste. The most common form of biomass power is a direct combustion system, whereby 
biomass is burned in a combustor or furnace to generate steam, and then expanded through a steam turbine or engine to 
produce electricity.

Geothermal: Geothermal power is generated from heat sourced from beneath the earth’s surface. Water or steam heated 
by geothermal energy rises to the surface of the earth, either naturally through hot springs and geysers or through man-
made wells, which is used to power steam turbines and produce electricity.

HISTORICAL RENEWABLE POWER MARKET 

Evolution of the U.S. Power Market 

Since the middle of the twentieth century, the power industry in the United States of America has enjoyed significant 
growth both in scale and diversity of production. This historical growth has mirrored the broad economic growth and rapid consumer 
expansion that occurred within the U.S. over this period. According to data from the United States Energy Information 
Administration (“EIA”), between 1950 and 2019 total electricity generated in the U.S. grew by over 12 times. Today the U.S. has 
among the highest annual per capita electricity consumption globally, averaging approximately 13 megawatt hours (“MWh”) of 
power usage per person, per the International Energy Agency (the “IEA”).  

While growth in electricity usage in the U.S. slowed significantly between 2010 and 2019 to a compound annual growth 
rate (“CAGR”) of 0.2%1 as a result of improvements in demand management and energy efficiency policies, accelerating 
electrification trends across the transportation and commercial sectors are expected to stimulate overall growth trends in electricity 
usage over the medium-to-long term.  

1 EIA, Electric Power Annual 2019, Table 2.2. Sales and Direct Use of Electricity to Ultimate Customers, October 2020. 
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Figure 1: Electricity Use Growth Rate (1990 – 2050) 

Source: EIA, Annual Energy Outlook 2020, January 2020 

Beyond overall growth in the power industry over this period, the production of electricity has also continued to evolve by 
source and technology. As depicted in Figure 2, fossil fuels have been the primary fuel source for power generation since the early 
twentieth century; and while renewable power has also played a meaningful role, it has done so over that time primarily via 
hydroelectric power, and to a lesser extent biomass power. With the advent of nuclear energy in the 1970s and with significant 
advancements in renewable power technologies in the mid-2000s (particularly as they relate to wind and solar), renewable power 
technologies have taken on a more prominent role. Today, there are three major energy sources in the production of electricity in 
the U.S.: fossil fuels (coal, natural gas, and petroleum), nuclear energy, and renewable power. In 2019, power generation sourced 
from fossil fuels represented approximately 63% of total electricity generated in the U.S., compared to 20% for nuclear energy, and 
17% for renewable power.  

Figure 2: U.S. Power Generation by Fuel Source (1950 – 2019) 

Source: EIA, Monthly Energy Review, Table 7.2a, March 2020 and Electric Power Monthly, February 2020, preliminary data for 2019 
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The following chart further segments renewable power into its various sub-component fuel types, illustrating the stability 
of power generation from hydroelectric, biomass and geothermal sources over the last several decades. Recent growth of wind and 
solar power generation has also supported the overall expansion of renewable power sources. In the U.S., between 2010 and 2019 
wind generation grew at a CAGR of 14% from 95 terawatt hours (“TWh”) to 300 TWh, while solar generation grew at a CAGR of 
65% from 1 TWh to 107 TWh.  

Figure 3: U.S. Electricity Generation from Renewable Fuel Sources (1950 – 2019) 

Source: EIA, Monthly Energy Review, Table 7.2a, March 2020 and Electric Power Monthly, February 2020, preliminary data for 2019 

Market Share of U.S. Renewable Power 

While fossil fuels are the predominant fuel source for power produced in the U.S., the role of renewable power has 
increased significantly over the last decade. As of 2019, total U.S. renewable power generation and capacity stood at 750 TWh and 
263 gigawatts (“GW”), up from 422 TWh and 156 GW in 2010, respectively. As a share of U.S. total power capacity, renewable 
power has increased from 14% to 22% over that same timeframe, with much of this growth being attributable to increasing wind 
and solar resources. As per Bloomberg New Energy Finance (“BNEF”), in 2019 the U.S. represented the second and third largest 
global markets for wind and solar capacity additions respectively. 

In certain jurisdictions within the U.S., renewable power generation has achieved significantly higher penetration due to a 
combination of aggressive decarbonization targets and/or favorable regional resource potential. Such examples include California, 
where renewables represented 46% of the state’s total capacity in 2019, an increase from 29% in 2010; and Texas, where renewables 
represented 23% of the state’s total capacity in 2019, an increase from 9% in 2010, as per the EIA. 

FORECASTED RENEWABLE POWER GROWTH

U.S. Renewable Power Growth 

Renewable power is expected by BNEF to continue to represent an increasing share of both power capacity and generation 
in the U.S, driven primarily by sustained investment growth in the sector driven by a sharp decline in the levelized cost of energy 
from wind and solar relative to other generation modalities. As illustrated in Figure 4, approximately US$633 billion is expected to 
be invested in wind and solar power generation by 2050. Comparatively, over this same time period, total investment in renewable 
power is expected to be approximately two times higher than the amount invested in fossil fuel-based power sources. 



24 

Figure 4: Projected Investments in New Wind and Solar Capacity (2021 – 2050) 

Source: BNEF, New Energy Outlook 2019, published June 18, 2019 

Over the medium to long-term, the EIA estimates that the share of U.S. renewable power generation will double to 38% 
by 2050, and ultimately exceed natural gas power generation by 2045. Solar and wind power are expected to account for a majority 
of this growth, representing 79% of all renewable power generation by 2050. Between 2020 and 2023, the EIA forecasts that an 
additional 117 GW of new wind and solar capacity will be brought online as developers commence construction of new projects to 
meet eligibility provisions for expiring federal tax incentives (see “Federal Tax Incentives”). Although natural gas power generation 
and nuclear power generation are anticipated to decline through the mid-2020s as a result of facility retirements, power generation 
from these sources is forecasted to stabilize over the long term, as the more economically viable facilities remain in service. In 
addition, the total share of power generated by coal in the U.S. is expected to decline from 24% in 2019 to 13% by 2050 due to 
environmental concerns and increasing operating and compliance costs making coal less competitive. Continued acceleration of 
environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) related investment mandates may also ultimately result in lower contributions from 
natural gas power generation in the future. 

Figure 5: U.S. Capacity Additions and Retirements by Fuel Type (2005 – 2050) 

Source: EIA, Annual Energy Outlook, published January 29, 2020 
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Figure 6: U.S. Net Electricity Generation by Fuel Type (2010 – 2050)(1)

Source: EIA, Annual Energy Outlook, published January 29, 2020 
Notes: (1) the 2019 data is a forecasted figure.  

Global Renewable Power Growth

Similar to the growth of renewable power generation expected in the U.S., global growth is expected to outpace that of 
fossil fuel-based power. According to BNEF, a cumulative total of approximately US$11 trillion is expected to be invested in new 
renewable power capacity between 2020-2050 globally, compared to approximately US$3 trillion for nuclear, coal and gas 
combined. Based on EIA forecasts, and as shown in Figure 7, renewable power sources are expected to surpass coal as the world’s 
primary source of generation by 2025, and account for close to half of total global electricity generation by 2050, of which 70% is 
expected to come solely from solar and wind technologies. Between 2020 and 2050, worldwide renewable power generation is 
expected to increase by an annual growth rate of 3.3% per year, significantly above that of natural gas, the fastest growing fossil 
fuel source during that same period at 1.5% per year. 

Figure 7: Global Net Electricity Generation by Fuel Type (2010 – 2050) 

Source: EIA, International Energy Outlook, published September 24, 2019 
Note: Liquids refers to all petroleum including crude oil and products of petroleum refining, natural gas liquids, biofuels, and liquids derived from other hydrocarbon 
sources (including coal to liquids and gas to liquids). Excludes liquefied natural gas and liquid hydrogen.
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INCREASING DEMAND FOR RENEWABLE POWER DUE TO ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL, AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS

In recent years, ESG considerations have become a key corporate focus for energy, power & utility companies, their 
customers, and investors globally. Integrating ESG into corporate strategy seeks to enhance long-term financial returns while 
generating positive impacts on company stakeholders, the environment, and the wider community. The development and 
procurement of renewable power has historically been viewed as a focus area within ESG. 

Investor-Owned Utilities’ Decarbonization Targets 

ESG considerations are gaining influence among vertically-integrated investor owned utilities (“IOUs”), as customers, 
shareholders and certain regulators increasingly demand that utilities source power from renewable sources. IOUs comprise the 
largest utility ownership type in the U.S. and serve three out of four electric utility customers nationwide. As the cost of renewable 
energy relative to other forms of generation continues to improve, IOUs are committing to aggressive decarbonization targets, even 
in the absence of renewable portfolio standards (“RPS”) mandates in their service regions. IOUs’ commitment to decarbonization 
targets provides a hedge against future power market uncertainty, allows IOUs to grow their businesses, and satisfies the concerns 
of various stakeholders. According to the Smart Electric Power Alliance, there are currently 61 utilities across the U.S. that have 
publicly stated carbon or emission reduction goals, while 36 have net-zero or carbon-free electricity goals by the year 2050. 
Accordingly, 68% of utility customer accounts in the U.S. are served by a utility with a carbon or emission reduction goal. 

Figure 8: U.S. Large, Vertically-Integrated IOU Decarbonization Targets 

Source: TD Securities 

Corporate Power Purchase Agreements for Renewable Power

The increasing focus businesses have on ESG considerations and sustainability has translated into increasing levels of 
power procured directly from renewable power producers via corporate power purchase agreements between a power generator and 
a third-party acquiror of electricity (“PPAs”). In the U.S. there was 13.6 GW of new solar and wind resource capacity contracted 
through corporate PPAs in 2019. This represents a 49% annual increase from 379 megawatts (“MW”) in 2010. Despite recent 
growth, only a fraction of U.S. companies have entered into the corporate PPA market. A 2019 study by Wood Mackenzie estimates 
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that Fortune 1000 companies expect to procure 85 GW of renewable power through 2030. Three-quarters of business respondents 
to Deloitte’s 2020 Resource Study stated that their end customers demand that a certain percentage of electricity be procured from 
renewable sources, up from approximately 60% only three years prior. 

Figure 9: U.S. Corporate PPAs by Fuel Type (2010 – 2019) 

Source: BNEF

ESG Investment Growth Trends 

Beyond end-users of power, investors are similarly increasing their reliance on ESG criteria as a means to inform 
investment decisions. Investors have favored investing in companies that demonstrate a commitment to investment in low carbon 
emitting technologies as compared to companies that do not. The U.S. represents the second largest market for global sustainable 
investing assets, trailing only Europe. Figure 10 illustrates growth in sustainable investing assets in the U.S. between 2012 and 
2018, whereby U.S.-domiciled assets under management using sustainable strategies grew at a CAGR of 21% from US$3.7 trillion 
to US$12.0 trillion. Assets managed with sustainable investing strategies now represent 26% of total assets under management in 
the U.S., up from 11% in 2012. 

Figure 10: Historical U.S. Sustainable Investing Assets (2012 – 2018) 

U.S. Sustainable Investing Assets Proportion of Sustainable Investing Assets Relative to 
Total Managed Assets 

Source: Global Sustainable Investment Alliance, Global Sustainable Investment Review, 2012-2018 

As per the 2018 Global Sustainable Investment Review, the leading motivation for sustainable investing strategies in the 
U.S. is client demand. However, over half of respondents also cited other reasons such as to improve returns over time, fulfill 
mission or values, pursue social or environmental benefits, minimize risks, or to make decisions consistent with their fiduciary duty. 

Electrification of the Transportation Industry 

As consumers have become more conscious of making purchasing decisions that are better aligned with environmental 
preservation, many seek products that utilize alternative energy sources as a means to minimize their personal carbon footprint. One 
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such notable area is passenger vehicles. Currently, transportation represents the largest source of greenhouse gas emissions, with 
petroleum comprising approximately 91% of the sector’s fuel source2. In recent years, alternative passenger vehicle technologies 
that rely on alternative fuel sources have gained popularity, including battery-powered electric vehicles (“BEV”) and plug-in hybrid 
electric vehicles (“PHEV”, and together with BEVs, “EVs”). In the U.S., BEV and PHEV sales have grown at a 30% CAGR, from 
0.17 million units in 2016 to 0.37 million units in 20193.  

Purchases of BEVs and PHEVs are expected to increase significantly through 2050. Electricity is expected to represent 
the fastest-growing fuel source in the transportation sector, increasing at a 7.4% CAGR through 2050 as a result of increased demand 
for electric light-duty vehicles (such as passenger cars), as per the EIA. Expansion of the EV market is expected to further accelerate 
due to improvements in battery technology, and expansion in charging infrastructure. In addition, increased regulation for 
combustion engine vehicles is expected to further encourage purchasing of EVs. As per the International ZEV Alliance 
Announcement, dated December 3, 2015, to date ten U.S. states (California, Connecticut, Maryland, Massachusetts, New Jersey, 
New York, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington) have announced a target for all new passenger vehicle sales to be zero-
emission vehicles by 2050.  

Although U.S. EV market penetration continues to remain low at approximately 2% of total light-duty vehicle fleet in 
20194, improved familiarity and market acceptance of EVs and the associated technology, as well as transition automaker production 
plans, are expected to drive growth going forward. In a 2019 McKinsey Consumer Survey on the EV market, over 90% of U.S. 
respondents were aware of EVs, and 43% were familiar and knowledgeable about EV technology. When making their most recent 
vehicle purchase 39% of consumers in the U.S. would consider an EV, however this figure is highest among young consumers in 
urban areas at approximately 65%. Regarding their next vehicle purchase, 52% of U.S. consumers are expected to consider an EV.  

The transition from gas-powered vehicles to EVs has the potential to significantly reduce oil demand and well-to-wheel 
greenhouse gas emissions, while increasing electricity demand. Per the IEA, on a global basis electricity demand from light-duty 
EVs is expected to reach 377 TWh by 2030, an 18 times increase from 2019 levels of 21 TWh, assuming existing policy frameworks 
remain in place. In order for the associated benefits of emissions reductions to be realized, additional EV electricity demand will 
require the buildout of incremental renewable power generation resources. 

Figure 11: Forecast Global Electricity Demand from Light-duty EVs 

Source: IEA, Electricity demand from the electric vehicle fleet by mode, 2019 and 2030 

KEY DRIVERS IN THE GROWTH OF U.S. RENEWABLE POWER SUPPLY

In addition to consumer demand for renewable power, as discussed in the sections above, key drivers of long-term U.S. 
renewable power growth include: 

1. Improving cost-competitiveness of renewable power;  
2. Co-location of renewable generation with energy storage;  
3. State and Federal policies supporting investment in renewable power; and  
4. Demand from consumers and investors for cleaner power.  

2 Source: EIA, Monthly Energy Review, Tables 2.5, 3.8c, and 10.2b, May 2020. 
3 Source: McKinsey Center for Future Mobility, The Road Ahead for E-mobility, January 2020. 
4 Source: McKinsey Center for Future Mobility, The Road Ahead for E-mobility, January 2020. 
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1. Improving Cost-Competitiveness of Renewable Power 

A significant driver in the development of renewable power has been a declining cost profile relative to fossil fuel-based 
power. The levelized cost of energy (“LCOE”) for wind and solar power in many jurisdictions is now below that of fossil fuel-
based power on an unsubsidized basis, and represents the lowest cost source of new power generation.  

LCOE represents the per unit generation cost of building and operating a power project, annualized over the useful life of 
the project. The analysis of LCOEs allows for a fair cost comparison of projects with varying attributes including fuel type, size, 
location, and useful life. Key inputs to calculating LCOE include capital costs, capacity factors, fuel costs, fixed and variable 
operations and maintenance (“O&M”) costs, and financing costs. 

The global weighted average LCOE for renewable power has decreased significantly over the last decade. According to 
BNEF, the LCOE for U.S. utility-scale solar technologies has decreased from a range of US$135-233/MWh in 2014 to a range of 
US$37-56/MWh in the first half of 2020, a reduction of 69%.5 Similarly, the LCOE for onshore wind has decreased from a range 
of US$75-152/MWh in 2014 to a range of US$26-59/MWh: a reduction of 67%.5 At these ranges, both utility-scale solar and 
onshore wind are competitive with fossil fuel-based power, with combined cycle gas turbine (“CCGT”) LCOEs ranging between 
US$33-59/MWh. Significant factors in the reduction of the LCOE for solar facilities have included increased module efficiency, 
greater manufacturing scale, and improved manufacturing processes. Larger rotor diameters, swept blade areas and hub-heights, 
remote sensing and computing, better site selection and optimized turbine layouts have been key contributors to the reduction of 
the LCOE for onshore wind facilities. 

The LCOE of renewable power is expected to continue to decrease over the coming decades, further improving its 
competitive positioning versus fossil fuel-based power. By 2050, BNEF forecasts that the LCOE for utility-scale solar technologies 
will have declined a further 65%5 to US$13-20/MWh, and the LCOE for onshore wind will have declined 38%1 to US$16-29/MWh. 
This compares favorably to the LCOE of CCGTs, which is expected to increase to a range of US$39-59/MWh over a similar time 
frame. Renewable power enjoys underlying advantages over fossil fuel-based generation given the lack of fuel costs and the 
associated volatility of underlying commodity prices. Coupled with a greater proportion of its overall cost profile being based on 
upfront capital outlays, renewable power can often provide greater cost visibility. Similarly, future carbon pricing and restrictions 
on carbon emissions have the potential to further improve the relative cost competitiveness of renewable power versus fossil fuel-
based power. Although U.S. federal action on carbon pricing has achieved limited momentum to date, there continues to be proposed 
legislation that would establish a federal carbon pricing program in the future (see “Federal Targets for Carbon Emissions”). Certain 
jurisdictions in the U.S. have already advanced carbon pricing measures through cap-and-trade programs in order to meet 
decarbonization targets.  

Figure 12: Historical U.S. Fixed-axis Solar Photovoltaics, 
Onshore Wind and CCGT LCOE (2014-2020)

Source: BNEF, 1H 2020 Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE) Update, 
published April 28, 2020 

Figure 13: Forecast of U.S. Fixed-axis Solar Photovoltaics, 
Onshore Wind and CCGT LCOE (2020-2050) 

Source: BNEF, 1H 2020 Levelized Cost of Electricity (LCOE) Update, 
published April 28, 2020 

2. Co-location of Renewable Generation with Battery Storage 

An important trend in the deployment of renewable power is the co-location of battery storage assets with renewable power 
generating facilities. Co-located battery storage provides the ability to store renewable-generated power during periods of low 
electricity prices and low demand, and later supply that stored power to the grid when demand and electricity prices are higher. Of 

5 Percentage reduction based on midpoint of range. 
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the renewable power technologies, solar and wind technologies benefit most from battery storage due to their intermittent nature 
(see Figure 14 for an illustrative example). Benefits stemming from the adoption of battery storage include: the utilization of 
common onsite infrastructure, provision of additional ancillary services to the grid, frequency regulation, mitigation of transmission 
upgrades, and increased power access to rural areas. As such, co-located battery storage is expected to encourage greater 
development of renewable power and facilitate an increased share of the overall power generation mix. 

Figure 14: Battery Storage Reducing Daily Intermittency of Solar and Wind Power Resources 

Source: BNEF, New Energy Outlook 2020, October 2020 

According to the EIA, between 2003 and 2018 a total of 922 MW of large-scale battery storage power capacity across 134 
systems was installed in the U.S., with three-quarters of this capacity installed between 2015 and 2018. As of 2019, 25% of all 
operating battery storage capacity in the U.S. was installed in systems paired with power generating facilities. As shown in Figure 
15, project developers expect a total of 3.6 GW of near-term large-scale battery projects will be brought online between 2020 and 
2023, with 47% of these planned storage additions to be paired onsite with renewable generation. Over the long-term, the EIA 
forecasts that total large-scale battery storage capacity in the U.S. will grow from approximately 1 GW in 2019 to 17 GW by 2050.  
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Figure 15: Large-scale Battery Storage Cumulative Power Capacity (2010 – 2023)

Source: EIA, Battery Storage in the United States: An Update on Market Trends, published July 2020 

3. State and Federal Policies Supporting Renewable Power 

Policies at both the state and federal level have been important drivers of renewable technology deployment in the U.S. 
Many states have taken divergent policy paths with respect to renewable power; however, those states with ambitious renewable 
policies, most notably California and many northeastern states, have been influential in facilitating increased renewable power 
penetration in electricity markets. Similarly, the U.S. Federal Government has also provided regulatory direction, tax incentives, 
and direct assistance in order to incentivize the commercial development of renewable power generating facilities and alternative 
power technologies. 

State Renewable Portfolio Standards (“RPS”) and Clean Energy Standards (“CES”) 

In order to encourage the development of renewable power, 306 states and three territories have enacted RPS policies, 
requiring retail electricity providers to source a certain share of supply from qualified renewable power sources. RPS policies vary 
widely between states, with differing renewable targets, carve-outs for specific technologies, cost caps, and rules governing the 
trading of renewable power credits. Most states administer their RPS targets on the basis of a percentage of retail electricity sales, 
however certain states measure their RPS targets based on explicit quantities of renewable power capacity, or as a share of peak 
demand. In addition to RPS policies, some states have pursued CES or clean energy goals. CES or clean energy goals can allow 
technologies beyond traditional renewable power - such as nuclear energy, or natural gas with carbon capture and storage - to count 
toward clean energy policy targets. Despite the lack of homogeneity in policies across the U.S., RPS and CES requirements have 
been highly effective in mandating buildouts of renewable power generation. According to the Lawrence Berkeley National 
Laboratory, RPS requirements are responsible for approximately half of the total increase in U.S. renewable power generation and 
capacity since the year 2000. In recent years, several states have further increased RPS requirements with a view to entirely 
removing carbon emitting resources from the electrical grid long term. Figure 16 represents an overview of current RPS 
requirements in the U.S. 

6 Source: National Conference of State Legislators. 
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Figure 16: Renewable Portfolio Standards by State 

Source: Database of State Incentives for Renewables & Efficiency, Renewable & Clean Energy Standards, September 2020 

Federal Tax Incentives  

Of the federal programs available to the renewable power industry, the most notable include tax incentives through the 
Production Tax Credit (“PTC”) and Investment Tax Credit (“ITC”) programs. 

The PTC has been one of the primary policy support programs for the development of onshore wind projects in the U.S. 
Originally created under the Energy Policy Act of 1992, the PTC is a ten-year, inflation adjusted U.S. federal income tax credit for 
each kilowatt hour (“kWh”) of electricity generated by certain types of renewable power projects. As of 2019, the full PTC credit 
represented US$0.025 kWh, however projects are eligible for a percentage of the full PTC credit based on a definition set by the 
Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) for the start of construction. The PTC will expire for facilities that commence construction 
on or after January 1, 2022, however for those projects that have secured necessary project components and demonstrated continuous 
facility development prior to this date they remain able to claim tax credits. Since the PTC is available for the first 10 years of 
production at a qualified facility, PTCs will continue to be claimed following the program’s expiration.

The ITC allows qualifying projects to claim a tax credit for a portion of the project’s capital cost. Established under the 
Energy Policy Act of 2005, qualifying projects can claim up to 30% of the project’s capital costs over a five-year period. Similar to 
the PTC, eligible solar and small-scale onshore wind projects are able to claim the credit based on an IRS-set definition of the start 
of construction, with the percentage of construction cost able to be claimed falling over time. Based on the most recent extension 
of the ITC, a project beginning construction past 2025 will only be eligible for an ITC on 10% of the project’s cost. 

In 2009, the ITC was expanded to allow the owners of renewable power projects that qualify for the PTC to make an 
election to claim the ITC instead. As a result of this expansion, the ITC became available for projects that were not originally 
eligible (such as biomass and wind projects larger than 100 kilowatts (“kW”)). Despite the expansion of the ITC to cover additional 
renewable power projects, election to claim the ITC over the PTC is dependent on a variety of factors, such as the capital costs and 
the amount of generation expected from the project once operational. Generally, the higher the capital cost and lower the amount 
of electricity expected from the project, the more attractive it is for the developer to claim the ITC over the PTC.  

The PTC and ITC programs have been extended multiple times since being introduced, most recently in December 2020 
as part of the U.S. Federal Government’s stimulus package in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite multiple extensions 
both programs are scheduled to expire or decrease over the next several years. 
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Federal Targets for Carbon Emissions 

On January 20, 2021, President Joe Biden announced that the U.S. had rejoined Paris Climate Agreement, a nonbinding 
agreement signed among approximately 194 nations to reduce emissions and keep the increase in global temperatures well below 
3.6 degrees Fahrenheit compared with preindustrial levels. Entry into the Paris Climate Agreement requires the U.S. to set voluntary 
targets to reduce domestic emissions. As the U.S. is the world’s second-largest emitter of greenhouse gases, government action to 
limit the greenhouse gases may result in further acceleration of renewable power as a primary energy source. 

RENEWABLE PROJECT POWER DEVELOPMENT PROCESS

Renewable Power Development Project Timeline  

Development of a renewable power project typically occurs through the following four phases:  

Origination and Early Development Phase (typically approximately 6-24 months): The main objective of the 
origination and early development phase is to create a value proposition that allows for a project to be constructed with 
suitable returns. During this phase, projects are screened for a variety of factors, including the quality of its renewable 
power resource; social, political, regulatory, and market risks; ability to secure interconnection, transmission, land, permits 
and revenue agreements; and constructability. Projects can be identified as unfeasible or uneconomical in this phase, and 
may not proceed to the advanced development phase.  

Advanced Development Phase (typically approximately 12 months): Once a distinct value proposition has been 
identified, a project proceeds to the advanced development phase. During this phase, the developer manages changes to 
the parameters established in the value proposition. During the advanced development phase, pre-construction and 
financing activities commence, which include finalizing all aspects of the origination and early development phase 
workstreams, applying for and executing an agreement between a buyer and a seller specific to the interconnection of a 
power generation facility to the buyer’s distribution system (“interconnection agreement”), preparing to close 
construction financing, including third-party tax equity if required, and completing detailed engineering and site design. 
At this stage, the risks to completion are related to specific execution risk items that are generally relatively well defined. 
An important milestone of the advanced development phase, and often a pre-requisite for project financing, is the securing 
of an off-take and revenue agreement. A number of factors are typically taken into account when assessing the quality of 
off-take and revenue agreements, including: the price of power, amount of generation and/or capacity covered by the 
agreement, term, and the off-taker’s creditworthiness. 

Construction Phase (typically approximately 12-24 months): Upon a developer approving notice to proceed with 
construction (“NTP”) at the end of the advanced development phase, a project will advance into the construction phase. 
Managing construction of a renewable power project can range from being fully coordinated in-house by the project 
sponsor, to delivery of a completed project under a fixed-price turnkey arrangement with an engineering, procurement, 
and construction contractor. At this stage, generally the risk that the project will not be completed is minimized, with most 
of the risk concentrated on the ability of the parties to carry out their contractual obligations.  

Operational Phase: The project has achieved its commercial operation date (“COD”) (being the first date on which a 
facility is considered substantially complete and selling power) once the facility has been commissioned and interconnected 
to the grid. The operational phase is considered the lowest risk phase, given that the asset has all of the necessary contracts 
in place to begin operating and generating cash flow. 

As a renewable power project transitions through the four development phases, the risk profile typically decreases. The 
execution of major contractual arrangements in the advanced development phase represents an important milestone in the project 
development lifecycle and results in a significantly decreased risk profile. As a project becomes “de-risked”, the expected cost of 
capital similarly decreases.  
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Figure 17: Renewable Power Development Project Lifecycle 

Source: Company filings 

In contrast, the capital deployment of a project generally has an inverse relationship to the progress of a project, and 
increases as a project approaches completion. Evaluation of project feasibility in the origination and early development phase often 
requires a relatively low amount of capital as a percentage of total project cost. As the project progresses, capital deployment 
increases with the peak occurring during project construction. When compared to fossil fuel-based power, renewable power assets 
typically have a higher proportion of their lifecycle costs incurred as an initial capital outlay, as renewable power assets do not have 
on-going fuel costs.  

Renewable Power Developer Market 

Renewable power project developers are companies who advance renewable power projects from origination and into the 
construction phases of development. Given the complexity of renewable power projects, successful developers of renewable power 
assets require highly skilled and experienced teams with strong origination, negotiation, and technical and strategic analysis 
capabilities, coupled with regional expertise and a focus on development risk management. Renewable power project developers 
seek to establish and maintain effective relationships with key contractors, financial institutions and off-take counterparties.  

Today, the development of renewable power projects in the U.S. is viewed as tested and methodical, with hundreds of 
active developers in the U.S. renewable power market. As per BNEF data, over the past ten years the top 20 developers of renewable 
power assets have commissioned 72 GW of renewable power projects in the U.S., accounting for an approximately 58% share of 
total capacity build.  

Ownership of development stage renewable power projects in the U.S. is highly diversified. Developers of renewable 
power assets can typically be classified into two groups: (1) vertically integrated companies; and (2) independent renewable power 
developers. Vertically integrated companies often operate in more than one aspect of the power value chain including 
manufacturing, construction, O&M services, operations, and/or electricity distribution and transmission. In contrast, independent 
renewable power developers are typically focused on the renewable power project origination to construction phase. Strong demand 
for renewable power in the U.S. market has allowed many independent renewable power developers to be successful under an 
“originate-to-sell” business model in which they divest of projects prior to or upon start of construction. This model enables 
developers to recycle capital and reinvest in new greenfield projects.  
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As per BNEF, 124 GW of renewable capacity was commissioned over the past ten years, with independent renewable 
developers comprising 40 GW of the total market size. Given renewable capacity is expected to increase by an additional 177 GW 
over the next ten years, there exists a potentially large investment opportunity for ARR.  

Figure 18: Historical and Forecasted U.S. Renewables Development 

Source: EIA, BNEF, Developer League Tables and Rankings Interactive Dataset, 2010-2019; includes only companies that have commissioned >50 MW from 2010-
2019  
1. Assumes capacity weighted average renewable capital cost of US$1.4B / GW; source: EIA, Capital Cost and Performance Characteristic Estimates for Utility 
Scale Electric Power Generating Technologies, February 2020. 

Financing Alternatives 

During each phase of a renewable power development project, different financing alternatives may be employed based on 
the risk profile of the project and resulting investor appetite for particular financing instruments.  

In the origination and early development phase, although the percentage of total project cost can be low, a developer 
requires capital for development overhead and to evaluate multiple projects in tandem. Due to the risk associated with development 
cash flows, and limited available asset security, debt financing is often unavailable for project development at this stage. 
Development is typically financed through equity investments, made either into the development business or at the project level. 
Other financing solutions that fund development, such as renewable power royalty structures, can be used in place of equity capital. 

In general, debt financing is primarily available to larger-scale developers with a proven track record and sizeable 
development pipeline and is structured in order to provide security for the lender, given the asset still has a moderate level of 
associated risk.  

Tax equity is an additional financing source for renewable power projects primarily at COD. A tax equity investment 
involves the formation of a partnership between a tax equity provider and project sponsor, in which the tax equity provider provides 
equity. The partnership allocates the majority of tax credits and losses to the tax equity provider along with a portion of cash 
typically until a desired return, at which point the allocations are adjusted to minimize the tax equity providers economic interest in 
the project. In cases where the project owner does not have enough tax liabilities to utilize federal tax incentives efficiently (which 
is the case in most utility scale renewable power projects), tax equity is a required financing source for the development of such 
renewable power projects. Based on the current expiry schedules for the PTC and ITC tax incentive programs, tax equity is expected 
to be a smaller component of the capital stack for future renewable power projects and if not otherwise extended, will eventually 
be eliminated. 
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FORMATION OF THE COMPANY 

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

ARR was incorporated under the ABCA on November 13, 2018 as “Blue Sky Renewable Royalties Corp.” as a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals. On February 7, 2019, ARR amended its articles, changing its name to “Altius Renewable 
Royalties Corp.”.  On January 15, 2021, ARR filed articles of amendment to consolidate its Common Shares on the basis of one 
post-Consolidation Common Share for every four pre-Consolidation Common Shares. On February 12, 2021, ARR filed articles of 
amendment to update its constating documents to reflect those of a publicly listed company.  Unless otherwise stated, Common 
Share information contained in this prospectus is presented on a post-Consolidation basis. The head office of ARR is located at 38 
Duffy Place, 2nd Floor, St. Johns, NL A1B 4M5 and the registered office of ARR is located at 4300 Bankers Hall West, 888-3rd 
Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 5C5. 

ARR was formed to acquire Great Bay Renewables, LLC (“GBR”) as part of Altius Minerals’ strategy to diversify its 
legacy thermal coal royalty exposure and focus its strategy on providing royalty financing to further the development of sustainable 
resources. On February 4, 2019, ARR acquired Great Bay Renewables, Inc., the predecessor of GBR, for total consideration of 
US$5 million. In connection with such acquisition, GBR management also acquired Common Shares of ARR. As of the date hereof, 
and prior to giving effect to the Offering, Altius Minerals, indirectly holds 93.5% of ARR and third parties, including GBR 
management collectively hold 6.5% of the Common Shares of ARR.  

On October 11, 2020, Altius GBR Holdings, a wholly owned subsidiary of ARR, and AIOF II Vanir Aggregator, L.P., 
with respect to Series I (“Apollo Fund”), together with certain Class B Unit holders, who are members of management of GBR, 
entered into the amended and restated limited liability company agreement of Great Bay Renewables Holdings, LLC (“GBR 
Holdings”) dated October 11, 2020 (the “A&R LLC Agreement”) to provide for the terms of the joint venture established by 
Apollo Fund and Altius GBR Holdings in connection with the GBR business (the “GBR Joint Venture”) in an effort to accelerate 
the growth of its innovative renewable power royalty business. Pursuant and subject to the A&R LLC Agreement, Apollo Fund has 
the right to earn a 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80 million (including amounts funded to 
date) in approved investment opportunities in GBR. Apollo Fund’s interest in the GBR Joint Venture is based on the amount of 
capital contributions made by Apollo Fund to GBR Holdings. To date, Apollo Fund has funded an aggregate of US$9.9 million and 
holds an 11% interest in the GBR Joint Venture. The GBR Joint Venture is currently governed by a board of directors consisting 
of five members, comprised of Earl Ludlow and Brian Dalton (the Altius GBR Holdings designees) Geoffrey Strong and Corinne 
Still (the Apollo Fund designees) and Frank W. Getman, the CEO of GBR Holdings, who is a non-voting member. See “GBR Joint 
Venture”.  

The following diagram illustrates the organizational structure of the Company. Unless otherwise indicated in this 
Prospectus, any references to the “Company” refer to ARR and its subsidiaries, including the GBR Joint Venture.
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Notes: 
Upon Closing of the Offering and assuming the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, Altius Minerals will indirectly hold approximately % of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares of ARR with GBR management, existing shareholders of ARR and public shareholders holding the remaining approximately %. See 
“Use of Proceeds”.  

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

INVESTMENT HIGHLIGHTS

Exposure to High Growth Industry with Strong Investment Outlook. The renewable power industry has experienced 
significant growth over the last 10 years, with U.S. wind and solar installed capacity growing at an annual rate of 14% and 
65%, respectively. This scale of growth in the U.S. renewable power sector is expected to continue, with over US$630 
billion of capital expected to be invested in wind and solar power generation, and renewable power more than doubling its 
share of generation capacity to 38% by 2050. Over the next 10 years, renewable capacity is expected to increase by an 
additional 177 GW in the U.S., driving robust demand for development capital and growing the Company’s addressable 
market. 

Demonstrated Business Model with First Mover Advantage. Despite significant technological advancement in the 
renewable power industry over the past several decades, financing innovation has not kept pace and there remains a need 
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for alternative financing solutions as the sources of financing for renewable power generation continue to change and 
evolve. The Company has developed an approach to address demand for royalty-based financing in the renewable power 
sector, with approximately US$95 million of capital invested or committed to royalty-based financing agreements. GBR 
has established itself as a preferred financing partner within the renewable energy industry, providing flexible financing 
solutions which are attractively positioned versus existing debt and equity alternatives. The Company believes that its 
established position as a leading renewable royalty company gives it an advantage in seeking additional investments by 
providing it with increased visibility and recognition amongst potential counterparties. 

Repeatable Growth from Established Partnerships with Top-Tier Developers. ARR has established strong relationships 
with top-tier renewable power developers in the United States, including Apex and TGE, who have commercialized 6.5 
GW and 1.9 GW, respectively, of renewable power projects since inception. These relationships currently provide the 
Company with exposure to a development pipeline of approximately 24.5 GW at various stages, which is expected to 
generate new renewable power royalties for GBR as projects are developed, sold, and achieve NTP. In addition, the long-
term nature of these relationships provides opportunities for future follow-on investments as Apex and TGE continue to 
replenish their respective development portfolios. Further adoption of royalty financing by other developers and industry 
participants is expected to drive additional growth as the Company forges new relationships with other developers within 
the renewable power sector. 

Portfolio Investment Approach Mitigates Risk and Fuels Growth. The Company’s portfolio approach with developers is 
designed to mitigate development risk by encompassing the developer’s current and future project pipeline. As projects 
are sold to operators or sponsors, the Company will accumulate a royalty portfolio diversified across projects types, 
operators, and geographies. Additionally, the Company’s non-operating, gross revenue royalty interest is designed to 
mitigate operational risk while maintaining exposure to project upside without a corresponding obligation for injection of 
incremental capital. The Company anticipates royalty agreements to generate high single digit to low double-digit 
unlevered, pre-tax returns. Additional project specific growth or upside may further allow it to enhance such returns. Once 
the minimum return threshold is achieved, the Company and developer can agree to inject additional capital to fund the 
developer’s remaining and replenished portfolio with minimal transaction costs due to the GBR Joint Venture structure. 
See “GBR Joint Venture”. 

Royalties Capture Embedded Upside at No Incremental Cost. Once a gross revenue royalty has been assigned to a project, 
the royalty remains on the project over its entirety and encompasses any potential upside associated with the project. 
Examples of potential project upside are discussed under the heading “Business of the Company – Embedded Value”. The 
Company has no commitment or obligation to provide funding for such projects but will receive a proportionate share of 
any associated revenue growth. 

Experienced Management Team with Strong Corporate Sponsorship and Institutional Endorsement. GBR’s 
management team has a collective 50+ years of experience in the renewable power industry and is underpinned by 
experienced, like-minded corporate sponsors in ARR (which is further supported by Altius Minerals) and investment funds 
managed by affiliates of AGM. AGM is a leading global alternative investment manager with AUM of US$433B and 
US$2.7B in renewable energy. Altius Minerals has a 20-year track record of executing innovative royalty investments and 
AGM is sophisticated in transaction structuring and capital formation for renewable power projects. 

ARR OVERVIEW 

General 

The Company is a renewable energy royalty company whose business is to invest in renewable power developers and 
originators. ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to revenue underlying renewable energy operations by acquiring and 
managing a portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties, including acquiring royalties and other interests directly from project 
originators, developers, operators, and third-party holders of existing royalties. The Company’s key investments to date include the 
TGE Investment (as defined below) and the Apex Investment (as defined below) pursuant to which the Company, through the GBR 
Joint Venture, will be entitled to receive a contractual gross revenue royalty on renewable power projects upon the sale of such 
projects by TGE or Apex to an operator or sponsor. The investments made by the Company pursuant to the TGE or Apex 
Investments are not allocated to any specific project but rather fund such developer’s project portfolio, including projects that are 
added to the portfolio after the investment agreement with the Company was entered into, thus positioning the developer to be able 
to ultimately bring more projects to market. The Company combines industry expertise with partner focused investment solutions 
to provide a long-term, cost-effective source of capital to the renewable energy sector. The Company has established financing 
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relationships with certain top-tier developers providing ARR with exposure to a robust development pipeline of U.S.-based wind 
and solar projects.  

Company History 

ARR was formed in November 2018 to acquire GBR as part of Altius Minerals’ strategy to diversify its legacy thermal 
coal royalty exposure and focus its strategy on providing royalty financing to further the development of sustainable renewable 
power projects. On February 4, 2019, ARR completed the acquisition of GBR for total consideration of US$5 million, which was 
financed indirectly by Altius Minerals by way of an equity investment in ARR. In connection with the acquisition of GBR, GBR 
management also collectively acquired Common Shares of ARR. As of the date hereof, and prior to giving effect to the Offering, 
Altius Minerals, indirectly holds 93.5% of ARR and third parties, including GBR management collectively hold 6.5% of the 
Common Shares of ARR.  

In November 2017, GBR was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of BayCorp Holdings, Ltd. (“BayCorp”), a holding 
company with investments and operations in the energy sector in North America ranging from oil & gas to renewable power. Prior 
to its acquisition by ARR, GBR acquired two renewable power interests comprised of (i) a 10% gross revenue royalty on Great Bay 
Hydro Corporation’s (“Great Bay Hydro”) renewable power assets for US$1.6 million, which acquisition was completed on 
December 1, 2017, and (ii) a 100% equity interest in NEO Geothermal, LLC, (“NEO Geothermal”) (which owns a geothermal 
wellfield in Portsmouth, New Hampshire), which was assigned by BayCorp to GBR on July 3, 2018. The Company does not 
consider the NEO Geothermal asset as material. 

The current management of GBR is comprised of Frank Getman as President and CEO and Raymond Faust as CFO. Frank 
Getman is an energy executive with over 25 years of experience in the energy industry. Prior to his current role at GBR, he acted 
as President and CEO of BayCorp Holdings, Ltd. since 1998. Raymond Faust has more than 20 years of experience in the energy 
industry. Prior to assuming his current duties at GBR, Mr. Faust acted as Chief Operations Officer at BayCorp Holdings. He 
previously worked for Waste Management, where he was a key member of the team responsible for the development and financing 
for energy-from-waste facilities in the U.K. GBR has entered into customary employment contracts with members of management 
of GBR which include among other things, standard confidentiality, non-competition and non-solicitation restrictions.  

Following the acquisition of GBR, ARR completed two significant renewable royalty investments through GBR comprised 
of (i) a US$30 million investment (payable in installments) in Tri Global Holdings, LLC (“TGH”), a subsidiary of TGE to fund the 
development of and gain access to future royalties on its wind and solar energy portfolio, which investment was committed to on 
February 6, 2019 (the “TGE Investment”) and (ii) a US$35 million investment in Apex GBR LLC (“Apex GBR”), a subsidiary 
of Apex to fund the development of and gain access to future royalties on Apex GBR’s wind and solar energy portfolio, which 
investment was fully funded on March 10, 2020 (the “Apex Investment”). Each of these initial investments have been financed 
indirectly by Altius Minerals by way of equity investments in ARR.  

Pursuant to the amended and restated operating agreement of TGH dated February 6, 2019 as amended by the first 
amendment to the amended and restated operating agreement of TGH dated March 23, 2020 and as further amended and replaced 
by the second amended and restated operating agreement of TGH dated October 11, 2020 as amended on December 7, 2020 (the 
“TGE Agreement”), TGE recommitted its then current portfolio of development projects (approximately 1,835 MW) to the TGE 
Investment together with any additional projects added in the future, but excluding projects that had already been sold by TGE at 
such date. Under the terms of the TGE Agreement, GBR has the right to receive a 3% gross revenue royalty on each wind project 
and a 1.5% gross revenue royalty on each solar project sold by TGE until the estimated value of such royalties at the time of their 
assignment achieve a minimum return threshold on GBR’s investment. In connection with a project being sold to a third-party 
operator or sponsor or a TGE affiliate, the contractual royalty is to be created and is then assigned to GBR no later than when such 
project achieves NTP. See “TGE Investment”.

To date, three projects have been sold pursuant to the TGE Agreement on which a royalty has been created, including a 
3% gross revenue royalty on the Canyon Wind project, a 3% gross revenue royalty on the Panther Grove project, and a 1.5% gross 
revenue royalty on the Flatland Solar project. See “Existing Royalty Portfolio and Investments”. 

Pursuant to the Apex GBR operating agreement dated March 10, 2020 (the “Apex Agreement”), Apex GBR committed 
a portion of its then current portfolio of development projects to the Apex Investment together with any additional projects added 
in the future, but excluding certain identified projects that were sold, financed, in construction, or other projects determined not 
appropriate for the Apex Investment at the time of the investment. Similar to the TGE Agreement, GBR has the right to a contractual 
royalty that is to be created on each project in connection with an individual project being sold to a third-party or an Apex affiliate 
and such contractual royalty will be assigned to GBR no later than when such project achieves NTP. GBR will receive a contractual 
2.5% gross revenue royalty on each wind project and a 1.5% gross revenue royalty on each solar project, until a minimum return 
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threshold is achieved. At the time of the investment, projects included in the portfolio of development projects on which GBR held 
these rights to totaled approximately 15 GW. See “Apex Investment”.  

On October 11, 2020, ARR, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Altius GBR Holdings, entered into a joint venture with 
Apollo Fund with respect to the GBR business. Pursuant and subject to the A&R LLC Agreement, Apollo Fund has the right to 
earn a 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80 million (inclusive of amounts funded to date) of 
approved investment opportunities in GBR. Apollo Fund’s interest in the GBR Joint Venture is based on the amount of capital 
contributions made by Apollo Fund to GBR Holdings. To date, Apollo Fund has funded an aggregate of US$9.9 million and holds 
an 11% interest in the GBR Joint Venture. See “GBR Joint Venture”. 

On October 15, 2020, GBR committed to a follow-on investment to fund TGE’s renewable power development projects 
for an additional US$25 million, resulting in a total capital commitment by GBR to TGE of US$55 million (of which, US$31 
million has been funded to date). The follow-on investment provides GBR with access to additional royalties on TGE’s portfolio 
of development projects on the same terms and conditions as the initial TGE investment. At the time of the follow-on investment, 
TGE’s portfolio pipeline of development projects comprised approximately 2,600 MW which is approximately 40% larger than the 
development pipeline at the time of the initial TGE Investment, after giving effect to 940 MW having been sold from the original 
pipeline.  

Figure 19: Company Milestones 

(1) Apollo has a contractual right to earn a 50% ownership interest in the GBR Joint Venture by contributing US$80M, subject to the terms of the agreement 
(2) Source: Electric Reliability Council of Texas, Generator Interconnection Status Report, January 1, 2020.  
(3) Source: Renews Ltd., CIP to deliver 400MW to AEP from Panther Grove, July 1, 2020.   

ARR’S BUSINESS MODEL

ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to renewable power assets by owning and managing a portfolio of diversified 
renewable power royalties. The Company’s primary focus is to generate royalty interests by providing tailored financing solutions 
to renewable power project originators and developers. Royalties may also be acquired directly from project originators, developers, 
operators, as well as third-party holders of existing royalties, across the spectrum of project stages where ARR’s capital may be 
subordinated to other capital. The Company may also source and structure investments it believes have potential to, or are conducive 
to, convert into royalties, or similar interests. From time to time, such investments may be in the form of debt or equity. In addition, 
ARR may consider alternative investment opportunities on a strategic basis that do not result in a royalty interest being generated. 

In executing this strategy, the Company, through GBR, seeks interests that provide it direct exposure to revenues tied to 
renewable power assets, without the direct operating costs and risks that are associated with the development and construction of 
renewable power projects. 
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ARR has identified demand for tailored financing solutions within the renewable power market in the form of royalty-
based financing. Royalty financing is a non-dilutive, customizable investment that can provide flexible terms at a comparatively 
attractive cost of capital. Traditional royalty-based financing has been used extensively in other industries, such as finite natural 
resource, industrial manufacturing, healthcare, and music. Furthermore, the adoption of royalty based financing has been a major 
catalyst for certain industries. Specifically, within the precious metals sector, royalty-based financing provided an alternative to 
traditional sources of capital, increased the overall supply of capital, and ultimately financed project development. The widespread 
acceptance of royalties within the precious metals sector fueled demand for royalty-based financing, which led to the exponential 
growth of the precious metals royalty sector itself. The Company believes there is significant room within the capital structure in 
the renewable power sector for royalty financing. The Company may also source and structure investments it believes have potential 
to, or are conducive to, converting into royalties, or similar interests.   

While ARR’s investment approach is project stage agnostic, ARR seeks to optimize the risk adjusted return of its 
investments. To date, the Company has structured its investments using a portfolio approach, mitigating the development and 
construction risk of any specific project, while ensuring the agreements are structured to meet a minimum return threshold. The 
Company is targeting a minimum return threshold of 8-12% on a pre-tax unlevered basis on investments in the portfolios of 
renewable energy developers. This return target is based upon negotiated terms with respective developers that are reflective of the 
cost of competing sources of capital at the time of the investment as well as risk assessment factors determined by ARR that include 
the size of the investment relative to the overall size and quality of the developer’s project portfolio, historical track record of project 
sales and capital structure amongst other factors. The actual realized return over the duration of the investment may vary from the 
minimum return threshold. See “Risk Factors”.  

The minimum return threshold is a function of the Company's portfolio investment approach and should be viewed on the 
basis of its cumulative return expectations relative to the amount invested with a developer. There are two key elements to the 
minimum return threshold calculation: the size of the investment and the net present value of the individual project royalties. The 
developer is required to provide GBR with royalties in an aggregate amount whose estimated net present value equals at least the 
original investment plus a compounded return over the period from the date of investment to the date that royalties sufficient to 
achieve the minimum return threshold are conveyed. The developer then ceases to be a royalty investment counterparty and has no 
further obligation to convey additional royalties. GBR does not know nor can it estimate at the outset of its investment which 
projects within the developer’s overall portfolio will become projects subject to its royalties nor does it know the regions, individual 
project sizes or mix of technologies that will become subject to royalty. The assignment of royalties is chronological. The method 
of estimating the net present value of the individual project royalties is calculated using the project metrics six months after the 
project achieves COD using the discounted cash flow methodology as the power price and power output can be determined with 
more certainty. The result of the valuation model is then credited to the developer to be applied against the minimum return 
threshold. 

In addition to development stage projects, ARR may also consider royalty investments into later stage projects where 
capital would be injected between late-stage development and into operations, as a key component of its addressable market. With 
respect to these potential later stage investments the targeted return may vary from the indicated minimum return threshold for 
development stage investments based upon project and sponsor based risk assessments, agreement structures and other factors.  

As part of its decision making process, the Company undertakes a detailed review of the developer entity and its portfolio 
of projects, including reviewing the developer entity’s track record, historical financial information, the economic profile of typical 
projects, technical aspects of the projects as well as holds discussions with the developers’ senior management and technical 
personal following which the Company completes an evaluation and assessment of the investment and its likelihood of success and 
risk profile. 

Other than with respect to NEO Geothermal, which the Company does not consider to be a material asset, the Company 
does not operate renewable power assets or develop projects. ARR’s business model is focused on financing development or later 
stage projects in order to manage and grow a portfolio of renewable power royalties. The Company believes that the advantages of 
this business model includes the following: 

Focus and Scalability. As the Company’s management does not handle operational decisions or tasks relating to the 
development of operation of renewable power projects, they are able to focus their resources on carrying out the 
Company’s growth strategy of identifying and executing on renewable royalty-based investment opportunities. As such, 
ARR’s business model allows it to be able to acquire and manage more renewable power interests than an operating 
company could generally effectively manage.
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Exposure to Redevelopment Upside without Project Costs and Overhead. The Company believes that its royalty model 
provides exposure to project upside. ARR may benefit from any useful life extension, re-powering, and co-location of 
projects under its royalty agreements, without incurring the additional operating, development, and sustaining costs 
typically associated with these enhancements. See “Business of the Company – Embedded Value”. The Company is not 
required to satisfy any cash calls or provide future construction, sustaining, or expansion capital in order to maintain its 
interests in such projects.

Asset Diversification. The Company is able to invest and create royalty interests in a broad portfolio of renewable power 
assets across a spectrum of geographic regions and operators, reducing its dependency on any one asset, project, location, 
or counterparty.  

High Pace of Reinvestment. The Company’s investment model is conducive to continued reinvestment and the Company 
believes that it can continue to leverage its established relationships to inject additional capital to a specific developer with 
whom it has an established relationship in order to gain additional exposure to such developers, continually expanding and 
replenishing its development portfolio.   

ARR represents an innovative way to invest in the renewable energy. Royalty investments provide exposure to the 
renewable power sector, while avoiding associated operating costs, construction capital, and sustaining capital. The Company’s 
management team has the advantage of focusing on growth, as well as monitoring investments with developers and maintaining a 
regular dialogue with them, as it is not responsible for day-to-day project operations or development decisions with respect to the 
projects underlying GBR’s interests, which it believes allows for rapid scaling. The following table sets forth the benefits of ARR’s 
royalty model versus renewable independent power producers (“Renewable IPPs”).  

Figure 20: Benefits of ARR’s Royalty Model vs. Renewable IPPs 

Renewable Royalty Structure: Portfolio Approach  

ARR is focused on providing tailored royalty-based financing solutions to the renewable power market. The Company has 
established financing partnerships with developers providing ARR, through the GBR Joint Venture, exposure to a robust 
development pipeline of U.S.-based wind and solar projects. Capital provided by ARR helps fund development efforts, not only for 
a developer’s current portfolio of projects, but also for an expanded portfolio of future projects, thus positioning the developer to 
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be able to ultimately bring more projects to market. As developers sell projects to operators or sponsors, a contractual gross revenue 
royalty is created on such project until a minimum return threshold is achieved by the Company. By investing in a larger range of 
projects in the developer’s portfolio rather than specific individual projects, the Company mitigates individual project development 
risk as the creation of a contractual royalty is not dependent on any specific project being developed. Through this strategy, the 
Company expects to accumulate a portfolio of cash-flowing royalties which are diversified across technology, region, and project 
sponsors.  

Figure 21 is an illustrative depiction of ARR’s portfolio investment approach, utilizing ARR’s TGE Investment as an 
example, which demonstrates how new royalties are created as projects are developed and sold to project operators or sponsors. 

Figure 21: Case Study: TGE Portfolio Investment Approach 

Note: The diagram above is purely illustrative. The number of projects which must be converted to royalties and the ratio of select projects which are sold in order 
to meet minimum return threshold vary, as they are subject to individual negotiations with each renewable project developer.  
(1) Source: Electric Reliability Council of Texas, Generator Interconnection Status Report, January 1, 2020.  
(2) Source: Renews Ltd., CIP to deliver 400MW to AEP from Panther Grove, July 1, 2020.   

The Company believes that its portfolio approach and financing structure is attractive to renewable project developers 
when compared to other financing alternatives for the following reasons: 

Financing at an Attractive Cost of Capital. The Company’s royalty-based financing structure provides developers access 
to capital at attractive and competitive rates relative to other sources of financing, and is better aligned with developers’ 
goals than debt instruments. 

Customizable Structure. The Company offers tailored financing solutions to meet each individual developer’s unique 
needs. The resulting royalty agreements are covenant-lite, quick to implement, and complement traditional financing 
alternatives allowing developers to maintain capital structure flexibility. 

Non-Dilutive Financing Enhances Returns. The Company’s royalty-based financing is a viable alternative to traditional 
equity financing, which developers have historically relied upon, enabling developers to pursue more projects while 
allowing for enhanced returns to equity investors. 

Developers Maintain Full Operational Autonomy and Managerial Control. The Company does not take an oversight 
role, allowing developers to maintain full control of operational and managerial responsibilities. Developers also maintain 
discretion on use of proceeds under the investment agreements. 

EXISTING ROYALTY PORTFOLIO AND INVESTMENTS 
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Royalty Portfolio and Assets  

Subject to project achieving NTP and commercial operations, GBR’s royalty portfolio is comprised of the royalties set 
forth in the table below. Pursuant to the GBR Joint Venture, the Company has an 89% interest in such portfolio, and following 
Apollo Fund completing its capital contribution of US$80 million, the Company will have a 50% interest in such portfolio. Subject 
to projects achieving NTP and commercial operations, GBR will receive revenue under the royalties upon the achievement of COD 
by the relevant renewable power project. 

Project Type of 
Royalty(2)

Owner/Sponsor Fuel Type Estimated 
COD 

Location Capacity 

TGE(1)

Canyon Wind Project 3% gross 
revenue royalty 

Silverpeak Strategic Partners 
LP 

Wind Q2 2022(3) Texas, USA 360 MW(5)

Panther Grove Wind 
Project 

3% gross 
revenue royalty 

Copenhagen Infrastructure 
Partners II P/S 

Wind Q4 2022(3) Illinois, USA 400 MW 

Flatland Solar Project 1.5% gross 
revenue royalty 

Silverpeak Strategic Partners 
LP 

Solar Q2 2022(4) Texas, USA 180 MW 

Other 

Clyde River Hydro and 
Solar Projects 

10% gross 
revenue royalty 

Gravity Renewables, Inc.  Hydro & 
Solar 

Operational  Vermont, USA 5 MW 

Notes: 
(1) The TGE royalties have been created in connection with the sale of such projects to the operators or sponsors listed above. GBR has the right to have such 
contractual royalties assigned to it no later than upon the achievement of NTP.  
(2) Gross revenue royalty is calculated based on the gross revenue of the project at the point of sale multiplied by the relevant royalty rate. 
(3) Source: Electric Reliability Council of Texas, Generator Interconnection Status Report, January 1, 2020.  
(4) Source: Renews Ltd., CIP to deliver 400MW to AEP from Panther Grove, July 1, 2020.   
(5) Assumes completion of all phases. First phase will have a capacity of approximately 230 MW 

In addition, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, NEO Geothermal, the Company owns geothermal well fields in 
Portsmouth in New Hampshire, USA. The Company does not consider this asset to be material. 

GBR has a royalty on one operating renewable energy project and royalty contracts on three projects in late-stage 
development. The operating project is the Clyde River Hydro and Solar Project in Vermont, USA (the “Clyde River Project”) and 
connected to the ISO New England power region. GBR owns a 10% gross revenue royalty on a 4.7MW hydroelectric project and 
a 150KW co-located solar project.  The facility is expected to operate under its FERC license that is valid through October 2043, 
the facility owner may or may not choose to seek to relicense the facility.   

The royalty contracts on the three late-stage development projects are the Canyon Wind Project, Panther Grove Wind 
Project and Flatland Solar Project. All projects were developed by TGE. Canyon Wind and Flatland Solar were acquired from TGE 
by Silverpeak Strategic Partners, LP (“Silverpeak”) and Panther Grove was acquired by Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners 
(“CIP”). 

Canyon Wind is a 360MW wind project located in Scurry County, Texas, USA and will be connected to the Energy 
Reliability Council of Texas (“ERCOT”) power region. GBR has a 3% gross revenue royalty on the project. It is expected to be 
built in stages, with the first stage being 230 MW. Silverpeak, in conjunction with TGE and others, is conducting late-stage 
development activities, including, but not limited to, determining the offtake strategy, finalizing and optimizing project size, costs, 
equipment and layout, finalizing interconnection approvals and costs, and seeking tax equity and other investors. The project still 
needs to achieve financial close, construction and commercial operation, currently estimated to occur in Q2 2022, before GBR 
would start receiving royalty revenue from the project. The project has an estimated life of at least 25 years. There can be no 
assurances that Canyon Wind will ultimately achieve commercial operation or that GBR will receive any royalty revenue from the 
project. 

Flatland Solar is a 180 MW solar project located in Scurry Country, Texas, USA and will be connected to the ERCOT 
power region. Flatland Solar is located near the Canyon Wind project and is expected to utilize some of the infrastructure associated 
with Canyon Wind. GBR has a 1.5% gross revenue royalty on Flatland Solar. Silverpeak, in conjunction with TGE and others, is 
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conducting late-stage development activities, including, but not limited to, determining the offtake strategy, finalizing and 
optimizing project size, costs, equipment and layout, finalizing interconnection approvals and costs, and seeking tax equity and 
other investors. The project still needs to achieve financial close, construction and commercial operation, currently estimated to 
occur in Q2 2022, before GBR would start receiving royalty revenue from the project. The project has an estimated life of at least 
25 years. There can be no assurances that Flatland Solar will ultimately achieve commercial operation or that GBR will receive any 
royalty revenue from the project. 

Panther Grove is a 400 MW wind project located in Woodford County, Illinois, USA and will be connected to the PJM 
power region. GBR has a 3.0% gross revenue royalty on Panther Grove. American Electric Power has signed a long-term power 
purchase agreement with an affiliate of CIP for the output from Panther Grove. CIP, in conjunction with TGE and others, is 
conducting late-stage development activities, including, but not limited to, finalizing and optimizing project size, costs, equipment 
and layout, finalizing interconnection approvals and costs, and seeking tax equity and other investors. The project still needs to 
achieve financial close, construction and commercial operation, currently estimated to occur in Q4 2022, before GBR would start 
receiving royalty revenue from the project. The project has an estimated life of at least 25 years. There can be no assurances that 
Panther Grove will ultimately achieve commercial operation or that GBR will receive any royalty revenue from the project. 

 Portfolio Pipeline: Investments 

ARR’s unique royalty-based investment model is anchored to date by strong relationship with two top-tier U.S.-based 
renewable power developers, TGE and Apex. The TGE Investment and the Apex Investment provide the Company with access to 
future potential royalties on a diverse portfolio of renewable power projects as the projects are sold and achieve NTP. As the 
renewable power project pipeline of each of TGE and Apex continues to grow, the Company will consider additional follow-on 
investments to gain access to additional royalties as more projects are sold and achieve NTP. To date, the Company has committed 
US$55 million pursuant to the TGE Agreement (of which US$31 million has been funded to date) and has completed a US$35 
million investment pursuant to the Apex Agreement (See “TGE Investment” and “Apex Investment”). Under each of the TGE 
Agreement and Apex Agreement, TGE and Apex manage the respective development portfolios which are subject to certain 
contractual protections in favour of GBR. 

Figure 22: Established Partnerships with Top-Tier Developers 

1. Source: Analysis based on BNEF, Developer League Tables and Rankings Interactive Dataset, 2010-2019. 
2. Includes 5 GW of ineligible projects to GBR under Apex’s royalty agreement. 
3. Estimated midpoint. 

See “TGE Investment” and “Apex Investment”. 

TGE INVESTMENT 
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TGE Overview and Track Record 

Founded in 2009, TGE is a top-tier developer of U.S. wind energy according to BNEF (see “Figure 22”) based out of 
Dallas, Texas, with a current development portfolio of over 3,550 MW focused in Texas, Illinois, Indiana, Pennsylvania, Virginia 
and Nebraska. Its wind energy projects are traditionally sold to various renewable power operators, which allows TGE to focus its 
expertise on development initiatives. As per the AWEA, TGE was the fifth largest wind energy developer in the U.S. in 2019 with 
636 MW of new capacity installed. 

As part of its investment considerations, the Company has conducted extensive due diligence on TGE, including its 
financial viability and track record. The Company believes that TGE has a strong track record of developing and financing utility-
scale wind energy projects and is a reputable developer to partner with. Since inception, TGE has commercialized approximately 
1,900 MW of renewable power projects and has vended development projects to major industry participants, including Copenhagen 
Infrastructure Partners, NextEra Energy Resources, Invenergy, First Wind and Terna Energy. The following table lists TGE’s past 
ten projects sold to buyers. 

Figure 23: Prior TGE Project Sales(1)

Project Name Capacity 
(MW) Sale Date Project Buyer

Flatland Solar (2) 180 Mar-20 Silverpeak Strategic Partners 

Panther Grove (2) 400 Dec-19 Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners 

Canyon Wind (2) 360 Oct-19 Silverpeak Strategic Partners 

Changing Winds Renewable 
Energy Project 231 Sep-19 Invenergy 

Fiber Winds Energy Project 80 Jun-17 NextEra Energy Resources 

Blue Cloud Renewable Energy 
Project 150 Jul-16 Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners 

BearKat Renewable Energy Project 366 Jul-16 Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners 

Fluvanna Wind Energy Project 380 Nov-15 Terna Energy 

Hale Community Energy Project 
Portfolio 1,200+ Sep-15 NextEra Energy Resources 

Floyd County Wind Farm 500 Jun-14 First Wind 
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(1) Historical project sales do not necessarily predict the likelihood of future project sales or future performance of the Shares. See “Risk Factors - 
Dependency on Sale of Renewable Power Projects to Third Parties.”
(2) Projects sold with embedded GBR royalty. 

TGE currently has a development portfolio of 17 projects totaling 3,550 MW. Of these projects, GBR currently has certain 
rights over 11 wind projects totaling 2,570 MW and six solar projects totaling 980 MW (see “TGE Investment – Agreement 
Overview”). The vast majority of TGE’s pipeline projects are in the mid- to late-stage of development. In addition, TGE manages 
certain remaining development activities for five additional wind projects totaling 1,490 MW, which have been sold to other project 
sponsors. GBR does not anticipate having access to royalties for all of the 17 projects as it is likely that the minimum return threshold 
will be achieved prior to all 17 projects being sold.    

As of the date of this prospectus, TGE’s development portfolio is comprised of the following projects:  

Figure 24: TGE’s Development Portfolio 

Project(1)(2) Estimated 
COD 

Stage of the 
Project 

Capacity Fuel Type Location  

Cone w/CCWF 
II 

- - 300 MW Wind Texas 

Easter - - 300 MW Wind Texas 

Water Valley December 2021 - 150 MW Wind Texas 

Appaloosa Run - - 150 MW Wind Texas 

Sugarloaf - - 100 MW Wind Texas 

Woodford - - 400 MW Wind Texas 

Vermilion  Wind Texas 

Ogle  - - - Wind  Texas 

Blackford  - Early Stage  300 MW Wind  Texas 

Blackford  Early Stage  150MW Solar Texas 

Gloucester  - Early Stage  100MW Solar Virginia 

Notes:  
(1) All information listed was sourced from publicly available information on either TGE’s website or the website created for each respective project. 
Any information not included in the chart is not currently publicly available. GBR does however gain confidential access to this information as part of 
its investment due diligence process. 
(2) There are four additional projects within the TGE portfolio which have not been included in the above list, as no information concerning these 
projects is available publicly at this time.

Agreement Overview 

On February 6, 2019, ARR, indirectly through GBR, committed to an investment of US$30 million into TGH, to assist 
with funding the development of TGE’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects, pursuant to which TGH committed 
its then current portfolio of approximately 1,835 MW of development projects to the transaction together with any additional 
projects added in the future, but excluding certain identified projects that had already been sold by TGE or were subject to ongoing 
negotiation at such date. Once a renewable power project is developed and in connection with it being sold to a third-party operator 
or sponsor or a TGE affiliate, a contractual gross revenue royalty is to be created on such project as part of the sale (subject to 
certain prescribed exemptions). The contractual gross revenue royalty is assigned to GBR no later than when a project achieves 
NTP. Under the terms of the TGE Agreement, GBR has the right to a 3% gross revenue royalty on each wind project and a 1.5% 
gross revenue royalty on each solar project. The contractual gross revenue royalty is secured but may be subordinated to certain 
other types of project financing. The creation of royalties under the TGE Agreement is not dependent on any specific project being 
developed and sold, but rather new project royalties will continue to be created until a minimum return threshold is achieved. The 
return credited towards the minimum return threshold is based upon a calculation of fair market value of each royalty, which will 
be calculated six months post-COD and accrues from the initial deployment of the investment tranche. Given that this calculation 
is determined post-COD, this provides a high degree of visibility on future cash flows. The minimum return threshold under the 
TGE Agreement is within the Company target of 8-12% and it is expected that this threshold will be met based upon a portion of 
the committed TGE development projects reaching operational status, and assuming the contractual minimum return threshold and 
expected project development timelines are met, the Company anticipates receiving royalties in the range of 2,000 to 2,500MW of 
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capacity in return for its aggregate US$55 million investment (which includes an additional US$25 million commitment, as 
described further below), depending on the regional market and the mix of solar and wind royalties (see “Risk Factors”). In 
estimating the anticipated capacity that is expected to be necessary to achieve the minimum return threshold for the TGE 
investments, the Company broadly considered the current portfolio of TGE and made assumptions for the mix of wind and solar 
projects (assumption was 70% wind and 30% solar) with a net capacity factor for wind of 40% and for solar of 26%. In determining 
power price, the Company used third party forecasting for contracted and merchant power pricing based on regional location. The 
first year of cash flows assumes a contracted power price of $33/MWh, with an assumed PPA term of 15 years for 100% of facility's 
output with the PPA pricing based on the project’s regional locations and energy source (wind or solar) and pricing from a 3rd party 
source (leveltenenergy.com) quarterly estimates for regional PPA pricing.  The project regional locations were in the Regional 
Transmission Organizations of ERCOT or PJM. As the estimate is based on many assumptions and given the variable nature of the 
inputs considered, the Company determined that a range for the estimates was more suitable. Based on TGE’s track record of project 
sales, the Company anticipates that the cumulative amount of project sales subject to royalties required to meet the minimum return 
threshold will be achieved within approximately 12-24 months from the date of this prospectus. In the event of any delays in such 
sales or eventual operations of the projects, additional royalties will be required to be provided to the Company for the minimum 
return threshold to be achieved.  In addition, TGE must achieve certain success milestones for the release of the remaining 
committed capital.   The Company’s right to obtain royalties is subject to a limited buy-out right which includes a significant 
premium to GBR.  Individual project royalties will remain in place for the life of the respective projects, including any extensions 
of or enhancements to such projects.   

The Company has taken various steps to protect its investment in TGE, including through the negotiation of certain 
contractual provisions in the limited liability company agreement of TGH.  The TGE Investment is heavily negotiated by both 
parties to provide the Company with protections designed to ensure that TGH and the underlying projects and investment will be 
managed properly, in an effort to protect and ensure profitability of the TGE Investment, while also allowing TGH the ability to 
manage the day-to-day project development tasks.   

The contractual protections fall into four broad categories: 

1. In connection with the making of the TGE Investment, TGE made certain representations and warranties regarding 
the status of the company and the projects portfolio.  To the extent those representations and warranties prove to be 
materially inaccurate, GBR has certain indemnification rights.   

2. TGH is managed by its parent company, TGE.  As manager, TGE has various contractual obligations, including but 
not limited to developing projects in accordance with applicable laws and good utility practice, restricting 
distributions, maintaining qualified personnel and management, and only selling projects under certain conditions, 
e.g., subject to royalty rights in favor of the Company. In addition to the possibility of collecting damages for the 
breach of those obligations, in the case of certain material breaches, the Company has the ability to remove the 
manager and appoint a new manager. 

3. GBR has consent/approval rights over certain major decisions taken at TGH.  For example, the Company has certain 
consent rights over sales of material assets, admission of additional members, borrowing of funds, loaning of funds 
and, among others, the use of proceeds in a manner other than development of projects.  

4. In the case of certain material defaults by TGH, or its manager under the terms of the TGH limited liability company 
agreement, GBR has the right to call a “Redemption Event” under which GBR’s interest in TGH must be redeemed 
at a premium.  These redemption events function in ways that are similar to events of default in loan transactions, and 
include material breaches of the agreements, bankruptcy and, among others, failure to provide royalty contracts on 
project sales.    

In addition, the Company structured the TGE investment as a milestone based investment in an effort to manage the risk 
profile of the investment. Relevant milestones include the sale of projects subject to royalties and the addition of new projects to 
the remaining portfolio.  

Since the date of the TGE Investment, TGE’s pipeline of wind and solar energy development projects has continued to 
grow. Given this increase in the portfolio pipeline, on October 15, 2020 GBR committed to a follow-on investment into TGH for 
an additional US$25 million, resulting in a total capital commitment by GBR into TGE of US$55 million. It is expected that the 
US$25 million investment will be solely funded by Apollo Fund provided that the timing for such investment occurs prior to Apollo 
Fund completing its initial US$80 million capital contribution to the GBR Joint Venture. In the event that the investment is funded 
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after Apollo Fund has completed funding its US$80 million capital contribution, such amount will be funded on a 50/50 basis by 
Apollo Fund and Altius GBR Holdings, in accordance with the terms of the GBR Joint Venture.  

As of the date hereof, TGE has sold three wind and solar energy projects that are subject to royalty agreements, being the 
Canyon Wind project and the Flatland Solar project, which were sold to Silverpeak Strategic Partners LP; and the Panther Grove 
Wind project, which was sold to Copenhagen Infrastructure Partners II P/S.  

New project sponsors have the option during a limited time period to buy-out a royalty from GBR at a premium to the fair 
market value of such royalty. However, the Company believes that the buy-out option will generally not be an attractive alternative 
for new project sponsors given the significant premium that is required to be paid to GBR. In addition, TGE may sell a project 
without a royalty being created in connection with such sale provided that it makes a payment to GBR at a premium to the fair 
market value of such royalty. Neither TGE has nor any project sponsors have exercised their buy-out options on any projects sold 
to date under the TGE Agreement.  

To date, GBR has funded a total of US$31 million pursuant to the TGE Investment and follow-on investment with the 
remainder expected to be funded over the next year. The Company committed to investing in tranches totaling US$30,000,000 over 
five years as TGE achieves certain advancement milestones. As the Company’s timeline for the investments pursuant to the TGE 
Agreement is milestone based, the investment amounts may vary year to year. Under the terms of the TGE Agreement, the Company 
may be subject to penalties if future tranches are requested but not funded after milestones have been met, and TGE may elect not 
to receive a tranche. 

The Company evaluates the performance and risks of its investments on a continuous basis.  Reviews are undertaken on a 
quarterly basis and include monitoring and evaluation of developer progress on each project; evaluation of periodic developer 
financial reports including detailed project expenditure analysis; and assessment of the adequacy of developer cash flows and 
liquidity.  On a quarterly basis, the  Company reviews its investments in TGE and Apex for impairment indicators. In accordance 
with IFRS the Corporation also determines the fair value of these investments at each reporting date, with any changes in the value 
recorded in other comprehensive earnings. The valuation and assessment is based on the most recent confidential information 
available as described below.  

The Company meets with TGE senior management and team members on a quarterly basis and reviews the progress of 
development of each project and the investment.  Prior to the quarterly meeting, TGE provides updated information on each project, 
including the current expected key dates for each project (expected sale, start of construction, and start of commercial operations), 
along with the expected project megawatt capacity and associated energy production, interconnection status, site control, and 
resource measurement. In addition, TGE provides the Company with its quarterly financial statements and provides detailed project 
expenditure breakdowns for each project within the portfolio on a quarterly basis. The information is deemed confidential and is 
used by the Company in assessing the financial condition of TGE, the adequacy of cash flows to complete their pipeline of projects 
and in seeking to confirm that no indicators of impairment exist. The Company also reviews publicly available information on a 
regular basis to evaluate the financial condition of TGE.   

APEX INVESTMENT 

Apex Overview and Track Record 

Apex develops, constructs, and operates utility-scale wind and solar facilities across North America. Founded in 2009, 
Apex is recognized as a top-tier developer of wind power projects in the U.S. according to BNEF (see Figure 22), with a current 
aggregate development portfolio of over 26,000 MW (11,747 MW wind, 10,143 MW solar, 4,120 MW storage).  

As part of its investment considerations, the Company has conducted extensive due diligence on Apex, including its 
financial viability and track record. The Company believes that Apex has a strong track record of developing and financing utility-
scale wind energy projects and is a reputable developer to partner with. Since its founding in 2009, Apex has developed and vended 
6,500 MW of renewable power projects (primarily wind energy) to renewable power operating companies, including Algonquin 
Power & Utilities Corporation, Xcel Energy, Southern Company, and Engie SA. Apex currently manages a portfolio of 26,000 MW 
of renewable power development projects.  

In addition to its strong history of vending projects to renewable energy operators Apex is a leader in facilitating the 
procurement of clean energy to Commercial and Industrial (C&I) customers with more than 1.9 GW contracted to date.  These 
customers have included Facebook, Apple, Walmart, Starbucks, McDonald’s, Ford and General Motors amongst several others. 
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According to the AWEA, Apex was the fourth largest wind energy developer in the U.S. in 2019 with 688 MW of new capacity 
installed. 

Apex has also demonstrated a successful track record of attracting significant capital investment from leading clean energy 
focused investors.  Recently announced financing commitments have included a $75 million letter of credit facility from Germany’s 
Heleba Group, a leading global renewable energy bank and a $200 million senior secured loan facility led by Zoma Capital and 
Plexus Capital on behalf of several sustainability focused family office investors. 

The following table lists Apex’s past ten projects sold to buyers. 

Figure 25: Prior Apex Project Sales(1)(2)

Project Name Capacity 
(MW) Sale Date Project Buyer

Lincoln Land Wind 302 Feb-21  Ares Management Corporation 

Caddo Wind Project 303    Mar-20 ALLETE Clean Energy 

Isabella Wind I and II Projects 385    Jul-19 DTE Energy 

Diamond Spring Wind Farm 303    May-19 ALLETE Clean Energy 

Sugar Creek Wind Project 202    Dec-18 Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. 

Dakota Range Wind III Project 151    Dec-18 ENGIE North America 

Midway Wind Project 163    Jan-18 Sammons Renewable Energy 

Dakota Range Wind I & II Projects 300    Sep-17 Xcel Energy 

Upland Prairie Wind Project 300    Sep-17 Interstate Power and Light Company

Grant Plains Wind Facility 147 Aug-16 Southern Power 

(1) Historical project sales do not necessarily predict the likelihood of future project sales or future performance of the Shares. See “Risk Factors - 
Dependency on Sale of Renewable Power Projects to Third Parties.
(2) GBR has no embedded royalty rights on any of the above listed projects.

Agreement Overview 
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On March 10, 2020, ARR, indirectly through GBR, completed a strategic investment of US$35 million in Apex GBR to 
assist with funding the development of Apex’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects, pursuant to which Apex 
GBR committed its then current portfolio of approximately 15 GW of development projects (which figure excludes projects that 
were excluded from the Apex Investment under the Apex Agreement) to the transaction together with any additional projects added 
in the future, but excluding certain later stage projects that were already sold, financed, in construction, or other projects determined 
at that time to not be appropriate for the investment. Once a renewable power project is developed and in connection with it being 
sold to a third-party or an Apex affiliate, a contractual gross revenue royalty is to be created on such project as part of the sale. The 
contractual gross revenue royalty is secured but subordinated to Apex’s current senior debt and it may also be subordinated to 
certain other types of project financing. No later than when a project achieves NTP, the contractual gross revenue royalty is assigned 
to GBR. Under the terms of the Apex Agreement, GBR has a right to a 2.5% gross revenue royalty on each wind project and a 1.5% 
gross revenue royalty on each solar project (or a blended royalty percentage as agreed between the parties if the project utilizes a 
combination of wind, solar or energy technologies). The creation of royalties under the Apex Agreement is not dependent on any 
specific project being developed and sold, but rather new project royalties will continue to be created until a minimum return 
threshold is achieved. The return credited towards the minimum return threshold is based upon a calculation of fair market value of 
each royalty, which will be calculated six months post-COD and accrues from the initial deployment of the investment. Given this 
calculation is determined post-COD, this provides a high degree of visibility on future cash flows. The minimum return threshold 
under the TGE Agreement is within the Company target of 8-12% and it is expected that this threshold will be met based upon a 
portion of the committed Apex development projects reaching operational status, and assuming the contractual minimum return 
threshold and expected project development timelines are met, the Company anticipates receiving royalties in the range of 1,400 to 
1,900 MW of capacity in return for its initial investment, depending on the regional market and the mix of solar and wind royalties 
(see “Risk Factors”). In estimating the range of MWs that are expected to be necessary to achieve the minimum return threshold 
for the Apex Investment, the Company broadly considered the current portfolio of Apex and made assumptions for the following 
on the mix of wind and solar projects (assumption was 72% wind and 28% solar) and a net capacity factor for wind of 47% and for 
solar of 26%.   The initial first year price of contracted revenue of $25/MWh with an assumed contracted period of 15 years for 
100% of facility output with the PPA pricing based on the project’s regional locations and energy source (wind or solar)  and pricing 
from a 3rd party source’s (leveltenenergy.com) quarterly estimates for regional PPA pricing.  The project regional locations were 
in multiple Regional Transmission Organizations including ERCOT, SPP, and MISO.  The Company used third party forecasting 
for uncontracted power pricing based on regional location. As the estimate is based on many assumptions and given the variable 
nature of the inputs considered, the Company determined that a range for the estimates was more suitable. Based on Apex’s track 
records of project sales in 2020, the Company anticipates that the cumulative amount of project sales subject to royalties required 
to meet the minimum return threshold will be achieved within approximately 12-24 months from the date of this prospectus. In the 
event of any delay in such sales or eventual operation of the relevant projects, additional royalties will be required to be provided 
to the Company for the minimum return threshold to be achieved.   The Company’s right to obtain royalties is subject to a limited 
buy-out right which includes a significant premium to GBR. Individual project royalties will remain in place for the full life of the 
respective projects, including any extensions of or enhancements to such projects. 

The Company has taken various steps to protect its investment in Apex, including through the negotiation of certain 
contractual provisions in the limited liability company agreement of Apex GBR.  The Apex Investment is heavily negotiated by 
both parties to provide the Company with protections designed to ensure that Apex GBR and the underlying projects and investment 
will be managed properly, in an effort to protect and ensure profitability of the Apex Investment, while also allowing Apex GBR 
the ability to manage the day-to-day project development tasks.   

These contractual protections fall into four broad categories: 

1. In connection with the making of the Apex Investment, Apex GBR made certain representations and warranties 
regarding the status of the company and the projects portfolio.  To the extent those representations and warranties 
prove to be materially inaccurate, GBR has certain indemnification rights.   

2. Apex GBR is managed by its parent company, Apex.  As manager, Apex has various contractual obligations, including 
but not limited to developing projects in accordance with applicable laws and good utility practice, restricting 
distributions, maintaining qualified personnel and management, and only selling projects under certain conditions, 
e.g., subject to royalty rights in favor of the Company. In addition to the possibility of collecting damages for the 
breach of those obligations, in the case of certain material breaches, the Company has the ability to remove the 
manager and appoint a new manager. 
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3. GBR has consent/approval rights over certain major decisions taken at Apex GBR.  For example, GBR has certain 
consent rights over sales of material assets, admission of additional members, loaning of funds and, among others, the 
use of proceeds in a manner other than development of projects.  

4. In the case of certain material defaults by Apex GBR, or its manager under the terms of the Apex GBR limited liability 
company agreement, GBR has the right to call a “redemption event” under which GBR’s interest in Apex GBR must 
be redeemed at a premium to its investment.  These redemption events function in ways that  are similar to events of 
default in loan transactions, and include material breaches of the agreements, bankruptcy and, among others, failure 
to provide royalty contracts on project sales.    

The entirety of the US$35 million royalty investment was funded on closing of the Apex Investment. The Apex Agreement 
also provides that upon the request of Apex, GBR has the option, but not the obligation, to make two additional US$10 million 
incremental investments upon the achievement of certain milestones related to the successful construction or sale of the Apex 
projects subject to the Apex Agreement.  

New project sponsors have the option during a limited time period to buy-out royalties which would otherwise be created 
upon the sale of a project under the Apex Agreement. However, the Company believes that this is unlikely given the significant 
buy-out premium required. Upon the occurrence of certain events, Apex also has the option to buy out GBR’s investment in Apex 
at an amount that will result in GBR achieving the minimum return threshold under the Apex Agreement.   

As at the date of this prospectus, Apex’s development portfolio is comprised of the following projects. The Company does 
not anticipate having access to royalties for all of the projects listed below as it is likely that the minimum return threshold will be 
achieved prior to all projects being sold.     

Figure 26: Apex’s Development Portfolio 

Project(1) Estimated COD Stage of the Project Capacity Fuel 
Type 

Expected Life 
of the Project 

Location 

Big Bend Wind November 2022 Development 300 MW Wind - Minnesota 

Kalamink 
Wind 

September 2024 Development 300 MW Wind - Michigan 

Red Rock Solar October 2022 Development 60 MW Solar - Minnesota 

Emerson Creek 
Wind 

October 2021 Development 298.2 MW Wind 30 years Ohio 

Emerson West 
Wind 

December 2024 Development 100 MW Wind - Ohio 

Ford Ridge 
Wind 

October 2023 Development 120 MW Wind 30 years Illinois  

Goose Creek 
Wind 

October 2022 Development 300 MW Wind 30 years Illinois 

Great 
Pathfinder 

Wind 

October 2022 Development 224.25 
MW 

Wind - Iowa 

Honey Creek 
Wind 

October 2023 Development 360 MW Wind - Ohio 

Lotus Wind October 2023 Development 200 MW Wind - Illinois 

Montpelier 
Solar 

October 2022 Development 49 MW Solar - Ohio 

Mulligan Solar October 2022 Development 70 MW Wind - Illinois 

Republic Wind August 2021 Development 198 MW Wind - Ohio  

Wheatsborough 
Solar 

October 2022 Development 125 MW Solar 30-35 years Ohio 
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Project(1) Estimated COD Stage of the Project Capacity Fuel 
Type 

Expected Life 
of the Project 

Location 

Alder Creek 
Solar 

October 2023 Development 200 MW Solar 30 years New York 

Downeast Wind December 2022 Development 129 MW Wind 30 years Maine 

Heritage Wind December 2022 Development 185 MW Wind 25 years New York 

Lighthouse 
Wind 

October 2021 Development 196.65 
MW 

Wind 30 years New York 

Stockbridge 
Wind 

December 2022 Development 71.4 MW Wind - New York 

Swiftwater 
Solar 

October 2022 Development 80 MW Solar - Pennsylvania 

Big Allis Solar September 2022 Development 305 MW Solar 35 years Nebraska 

Big Stone Solar October 2023 Development 100 MW Solar - South Dakota 

Bowman Wind October 2022 Development 200 MW Wind 30 years North Dakota 

Caddo Wind November 2021 Development 302.5 MW Wind 25 years Oklahoma 

Cornhusker 
Harvest Wind 

December 2022 Development 301 MW Wind - Nebraska  

Dakota Range 
Wind I & II 

November 2021 Development 302 MW Wind - South Dakota 

Dakota Range 
Wind III 

December 2020 Development 151.2 MW Sind - South Dakota  

Flat Ridge III March 2021 Operation 128 MW Wind - Kansas 

Homestead 
Wind 

October 2023 Development 300 MW Wind - North Dakota  

Jayhawk Wind August 2021 Development 193.2 MW Wind - Kansas 

Pass Creek 
Wind 

October 2024 Development 120 MW Wind - South Dakota 

Ta’teh Topah October 2024 Development 450 MW Wind - South Dakota  

Angelo Solar August 2022 Development 195 MW Solar - Texas 

Black Angus 
Wind 

November 2023 Development 250 MW Wind - Texas 

El Sauz Ranch 
Wind 

December 2021 Development 300 MW Wind - Texas 

White Mesa 
Wind 

February 2021 Development 500 MW Wind - Texas 

Young Wind October 2022 Development 400 MW Wind - Texas 

Antelope Creek 
Wind 

June 2023 Development 300 MW Wind - Colorado  

Grady Martin 
Wind 

August 2023 Development 295.2 MW Wind - New Mexico 

Singing Grass 
Wind 

October 2022 Development 200 MW Wind - Colorado  

Altavista Solar March 2021 Development and 
Operations 

80 MW Solar - Virginia 

Carvers Creek 
Solar 

October 2021 Development and 
Operations 

150 MW Solar - Virginia 
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Project(1) Estimated COD Stage of the Project Capacity Fuel 
Type 

Expected Life 
of the Project 

Location 

Moody Creek 
Solar 

October 2022 Development 150 MW Solar - Virginia 

Pinewood Wind November 2022 Development 150 MW Wind - Virginia 

Red Brick 
Solar 

October 2022 Development 130 MW Solar - Virginia 

Rivanna Solar October 2022 Development 12.5 MW Solar - Virginia 

Rocky Forge 
Wind 

October 2021 Development 75.6 MW Wind - Virginia 

Timbermill 
Wind 

December 2024 Development 176.4 MW Wind 30 years North Carolina  

Siete Wind  October 2022 Development 375 MW Wind Texas 

 (1) All information sourced from publicly available information on either Apex’s website or the website created for each respective project. Any 
information not included in the chart is not currently publicly available. GBR does however gain confidential access to this information as part of its 
investment due diligence process. 

The Company evaluates the performance and risks of its investments on a continuous basis.  Reviews are undertaken on a 
quarterly basis and include monitoring and evaluation of developer progress on each project; evaluation of periodic developer 
financial reports including detailed project expenditure analysis; and assessment of the adequacy of developer cash flows and 
liquidity.  On a quarterly basis, the  Company reviews its investments in TGE and Apex for impairment indicators . In accordance 
with IFRS the Company also determines the fair value of these investments on at each reporting date, with any changes in the value 
recorded in other comprehensive earnings. The valuation and assessment is based on the most recent confidential information 
available as described below.   

The Company meets with Apex’s senior management on a quarterly basis and reviews the progress of project development 
and its investment. Apex’s portfolio of projects is significantly larger than that of TGE, as such the meeting typically focuses on 
those projects expected to be sold in the next twelve months.   Prior to the quarterly meeting, Apex provides updated information 
with respect to all project under the Company’s investment including the expected project megawatt capacity and associated energy 
production, interconnection status, site control, resource measurement, and project spend. Apex is also required to provide the 
Company with annual financial statements on a confidential basis. The Company also reviews publicly available information on 
Apex on a regular basis and uses all of this information to assess the financial condition of Apex, the adequacy of cash flows to 
complete their pipeline of projects and to seek to confirm that no indicators of impairment exist.  

EMBEDDED VALUE

The unique characteristics of royalty investments provide royalty holders exposure to the embedded upside potential of a 
project with no incremental costs and relatively minimal associated risks. Under the Company’s contractual royalty agreements that 
are created pursuant to the agreements with TGE and Apex, any expansion to, enhancement of, or additional source of revenue for 
a project will be captured in the gross royalty revenue calculation as the royalty agreements are designed to provide the Company 
with a proportionate share of all revenue generated on a project, for the duration of commercial operations of such project (subject 
to certain prescribed exceptions). Several potential sources of additional project embedded value include: 

Project Life Extensions. Renewable energy project life estimates have continually evolved since the early 2000s as 
operation and maintenance practices and technology have improved. Particularly, the use of turbine control regimes for 
wind projects that monitor production, manage fatigue loads and ensure turbines remain within their design envelope have 
become increasingly commonplace. Incorporating improved O&M practices and technologies with partial repowering, 
whereby certain components are replaced or upgraded, has resulted in the ability to significantly extend project useful lives 
beyond their initial design capacity. According to the Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, wind project useful life 
estimates now range up to 40 years, with an average of 29.6 years. A similar trend can be seen in solar projects, as useful 
life assumptions have grown from 21.5 years in 2007 to an average of 32.5 years in 2019.  

Repowering. Repowering involves replacement or refurbishment of components to increase energy production, reduce 
O&M costs, increase grid service capabilities, and improve project reliability. Furthermore, repowering can be 
supplemented with expansion of the project’s grid interconnections, resulting in better integration of variable wind energy 
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into power grids. It also has the potential to increase energy production, reduce overhead and maintenance costs and 
improve project reliability. The long-term outlook on repowering remains robust, with National Renewable Energy 
Laboratory forecasts suggesting total U.S. wind repowering investment could reach US$25 billion by 2030. Repowering 
can be pursued as early as 8-10 years into operations.  

On-Site Battery Storage. Given the intermittent nature of renewable power generation, utilizing on-site storage facilities 
enables operators to store energy produced during periods of low prices and demand, and sell the harnessed electricity at 
a higher price during peak demand. On-site storage continues to grow in popularity; as per EIA forecasts, the number of 
projects with co-located battery storage are expected to double by 2023.

Co-Location. Co-location refers to combining multiple renewable resources, such as wind and solar, on the same project 
site. Operators are able to leverage existing infrastructure, interconnection agreements, and community relations to increase 
production, reduce costs, and optimize operations.

The following Figure illustrates the additional revenue sources and upside potential of a specific asset across its project 
life, which are representative of the embedded value of ARR’s contractual royalties. 

Figure 25: Illustrative Example of Embedded Value Across Single Project Life 

Note: the above graphic is purely illustrative, and not to scale of magnitude of revenue contribution.  

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES

ARR believes there is significant demand for royalty-based financing in the renewable power sector. The structural 
flexibility represented by what the Company offers enables ARR to pursue various avenues of growth to be able to meet this 
demand. To date, the Company has completed investments with renewable power project developers to generate new royalties at 
the point of sale of a project to a final project sponsor and operator. ARR believes there is significant growth, scalability, and 
repeatability in this market, as the Company has the capability to establish new relationships with other developers as well as 
originators and is positioned to extend its investment financing agreements with its existing partners as they replenish their 
development pipelines. The Company has also identified additional markets to grow its renewable power royalty portfolio that 
demonstrate similar scalability and repeatability, including: 

Direct Investment in Projects. An opportunity to invest in later stage projects from late development into construction 
or operations. This structure would generally involve an investment which would be paid based on the project’s revenue 
but subordinated to tax equity and limited amounts of project debt. The Company believes that this type of structure 
provides developers and sponsors with a means to maintain greater ownership in a project and enhance equity level returns 
over the long-term. 

Storage. There is a rapidly increasing trend towards the addition of energy storage solutions to new renewable power 
facilities, as well as to existing sites, in order to offset intermittency challenges and optimize the timing of sales to better 
reflect daily supply and demand factors. The ongoing price declines for storage are expected to accelerate the integration 
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of storage with renewable power projects in order to address intermittency issues. ARR believes that its customized royalty 
financing solutions are well suited to accretively support such incremental capital investments by operators. 

Project Dedicated Renewable Power. There is a rapidly growing trend among operators of extractive natural resource 
projects that do not have access to established grid-based power to develop dedicated renewable power solutions for their 
power needs. These projects have traditionally relied upon fossil fuel based generating plants but are now increasingly 
seeking renewable sourced energy in an effort to reduce both power costs and emission profiles. Effective financing for 
these renewable power solutions typically requires an ability to deeply understand the risks and opportunities associated 
with the underlying extractive natural resource project profiles and to provide tailored solutions. ARR believes that it is 
uniquely positioned to serve this growing market, providing cost effective power to remote industrial locations given the 
related experience of its management and partners.  

Offshore Wind. Technological advancements continue to increase efficiencies and lower costs for offshore wind projects, 
which are progressing on a similar trajectory to the advancements made in onshore wind and solar over the last several 
decades in the U.S. The Company believes there will be significant investment and growth in offshore renewable power 
in the coming years and has the potential to be another area of growth for renewable royalty financings.  

Other Global Markets. While ARR has evaluated investment opportunities globally, the size and opportunity of the 
addressable market in the U.S. and Canada remain the focus in the near-term. However, ARR believes that in the long-
term, it will be well positioned to pursue growth opportunities on a global scale by leveraging its successful integration of 
its renewable royalty financing solution in North America. 

INFORMATION CONCERNING GBR  

CORPORATE STRUCTURE

GBR was formed on November 9, 2017 and is a privately held company, incorporated and domiciled in Delaware, United States. 
On February 5, 2019, in connection with the purchase of GBR by ARR, GBR converted to a corporation under Delaware Law as “Great 
Bay Renewables Inc.”. On October 9, 2020 in connection with the GBR Joint Venture transaction, GBR was converted back into a limited 
liability company as “Great Bay Renewables, LLC”.   

The head office and registered office of GBR is located at Suite 22 - 953 Islington Street, Portsmouth, NH, 03801. See the 
corporate structure chart provided under the heading “Corporate Structure” for the intercorporate relationships of GBR.   

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS

Three Year History  

On July 3, 2018, BayCorp assigned its 100% equity interest in NEO Geothermal (which owns a geothermal wellfield in 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire) to GBR. 

On February 4, 2019, GBR was acquired by ARR for US$5,000,000, net of cash assumed on acquisition of US$316,300 
for a total of US$4,683,700. 

On February 6, 2019, GBR made a US$30 million investment (payable in installments) in TGH, a subsidiary of TGE to 
fund the development of and gain access to future royalties on its wind and solar energy portfolio. See “TGE Investment”.  

On March 10, 2020, GBR made a US$35 million investment in Apex GBR, a subsidiary of Apex to fund the development 
of and gain access to future royalties on Apex GBR’s wind and solar energy portfolio. See “Apex Investment”. 

On October 15, 2020, GBR committed to a follow-on investment to fund TGE’s renewable power development projects 
for an additional US$25 million, resulting in a total capital commitment by GBR to TGE of US$55 million (of which, US$31 
million has been funded to date). 

DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS

GBR has not, since the date of its incorporation, declared or paid any dividends and does not currently have a policy with respect 
to the payment of dividends.  Any distributions by GBR are to be made pro rata among GBR Holdings and GBR MemberCo.  
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

Great Bay Renewables Holdings, LLC, owns 99.99% of the membership interests of GBR, and GBR MemberCo, LLC, 
owns .01% of the membership interests of GBR. 

OFFICERS AND MANAGERS OF GBR 

The following table sets forth certain summary information in respect of the executive officers of GBR. 

Name, Province/State and 
Country of Residence Position with GBR Principal Occupation 

Frank Getman 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire 

President and Chief Executive 
Officer, Manager 

President and Chief Executive Officer of GBR  

Raymond Faust 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

Chief Financial Officer, 
Manager 

Chief Financial Officer of GBR  

As at the date hereof, the executive officers of GBR, as a group, beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or exercised 
control over, a total of 132,500 Common Shares, representing approximately 0.79% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.  

GBR JOINT VENTURE 

Corporate Structure 

The GBR Joint Venture was formed on October 7, 2020 as a limited liability company under the Delaware Limited Liability 
Company Act by filing a certificate of formation with the Secretary of Stage of the State of Delaware on October 7, 2020 under the name 
“Great Bay Renewable Holdings, LLC.   

The head office and registered office of the GBR Joint Venture is located at Suite 22 - 953 Islington Street, Portsmouth, NH, 
03801. See the corporate structure chart provided under the heading “Corporate Structure” for the intercorporate relationships of the GBR 
Joint Venture.   

Recent Developments 

On October 11, 2020, Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund, together with certain Class B unit holders of the GBR Joint 
Venture, entered into the A&R LLC Agreement to provide for the terms of the relationship between Altius GBR Holdings and 
Apollo Fund. Pursuant and subject to the A&R LLC Agreement, Apollo Fund has the right to earn a 50% interest in the GBR  Joint 
Venture by solely funding the next US$80 million in approved investment opportunities in GBR following the entering into of the 
A&R LLC Agreement. The US$80 million in approved investment opportunities includes amounts Apollo Fund has funded to date. 
Apollo Fund’s interest in the GBR Joint Venture is based on the amount of capital contributions made by Apollo Fund to the GBR 
Joint Venture. To date, Apollo Fund has funded an aggregate of US$9.9 million and holds 11% of the Class A Units in the GBR 
Joint Venture.  

Dividend History 

The GBR Joint Venture has not, since the date of its formation, declared or paid any dividends and does not currently have a 
policy with respect to the payment of dividends.  

Description of Capital Structure  

The capital of the GBR Joint Venture is divided into two classes of units, being “Class A Units” and “Class B Units”.  

Class A Units  

The board of the Joint Venture has the authority to issue an unlimited number of Class A Units which may be designated 
as Class A-1 Units and Class A-2 Units. Class A Units may only be issued in accordance with a transfer expressly permitted by the 
A&R LLC Agreement and after such transferee executes an adoption agreement and in the case of a management member, any 
other agreement or instrument deemed necessary by the board of the Joint Venture. The Class A Units are not convertible into any 
other class of securities of the Joint Venture. 

As of the date of this prospectus, Apollo Fund hold 11% of the Class A Units with Altius GBR Holdings, a subsidiary of 
ARR, holding the remaining 89%.   

Class B Units  
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The board of the Joint Venture has the authority to issue up to 1,000,000 Class B Units, of which 800,000 have been issued 
to date. Additional Class B Units and additional series of Class B Units may be approved by the board of the Joint Venture from 
time to time. Class B Units may only be issued to employees of the Joint Venture and may not be issued to any Apollo Fund or 
ARR designee. Issuances can only be made following the approval of the board of the Joint Venture and upon each such additional 
Class B Member executing an (i) adoption agreement, (ii) award agreement, (iii) as determined by the Board of the Joint Venture, 
a non-competition, non-solicitation and confidentiality agreement and (iv) any other agreement or instrument required by the board. 
The Class B Shares are not convertible into any other class of securities of the Joint Venture. 

Management of the GBR Joint Venture is vested in its board, which is comprised of the five individuals listed under the 
heading “Directors and Officers of the GBR Joint Venture”.  The majority of holders of Class A-1 Units and Class A-2 Units each 
have the right to appoint two directors, respectively.  The chief executive officer of the GBR Joint Venture will also serve as a 
director, but does not have any voting rights.  In certain circumstances in which Apollo Funds fails to contribute at least $80 million 
by a date certain, the votes of the Class A-2 directors may be reduced. The Class B Units are not voting and carry no approval or 
consent rights other than certain actions disproportionately affecting the Class B Units. 

On liquidation of the GBR Joint Venture, after providing for payment of creditors, assets of the company are to be 
distributed to the members.  First, to the Class A members until certain targets are met, and thereafter among the Class A members 
and Class B Members pursuant to designated sharing percentages.     

Distributions 

Pursuant to the A&R LLC Agreement, cash is distributed to the holders of the Class A Units in proportion to their interest in the 
GBR Joint Venture.  Once Apollo earns its 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture, equal distributions will be made to each of Apollo and 
ARR with neither Apollo Fund nor ARR having any preferential distribution rights relative to the other. Following the achievement of 
certain yield hurdle targets, cash distributions are then shared among the holders of the Class A Units and the Class B Units. The yield 
hurdle target amounts are structured such that ARR’s proportionate share of distributions will not be diluted below the minimum return 
threshold range as disclosed in greater detail under the heading “ARR’ Business Model” in this prospectus. The exact percentage amounts 
payable to Class B Unit Holders upon the achievement of these yield hurdle targets, while considered by the GBR Joint Venture as 
commercially sensitive information, are within ranges that it believes are commercially reasonable when considering factors such as 
competitive market conditions, incentivization and retention.  

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF THE GBR JOINT VENTURE

The following table sets forth certain summary information in respect of the directors and executive officers of the GBR 
Joint Venture. 

Name, Province/State and 
Country of Residence 

Position with the GBR Joint 
Venture Principal Occupation 

Earl Ludlow  
Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Canada 

Director Corporate Director 

Brian Dalton 
Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Canada

Director President and Chief Executive Officer of Altius Minerals and ARR 

Geoffrey Strong 
New York, New York 

Director Senior Partner, Co-Head Infrastructure and Natural Resources, Apollo Global 
Management 

Corinne Still  
New York, New York 

Director Principal at Apollo Global Management LLC 

Frank Getman 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

Director and Chief Executive 
Officer 

President and Chief Executive Officer of GBR 

Raymond Faust 
Portsmouth, New Hampshire

Chief Financial Officer Chief Financial Officer of GBR 

As at the date hereof, the directors and executive officers of the GBR Joint Venture, as a group, beneficially owned, directly or 
indirectly, or exercised control over, a total of 132,500 Common Shares, representing approximately 0.79% of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares.  
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AMENDED AND RESTATED GBR LLC AGREEMENT

On October 11, 2020, ARR (through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Altius GBR Holdings) and Apollo Fund, together with 
certain Class B Unit holders of GBR Holdings, entered into the A&R LLC Agreement governing GBR Holdings to provide for the 
terms of a joint venture of the GBR business in an effort to accelerate the growth of its innovative renewable power royalty business. 
In connection with the joint venture, ARR agreed to a pre-closing reorganization to facilitate the joint venture transaction, pursuant 
to which ARR contributed its equity in GBR to the joint venture and Apollo Fund agreed to fund the next US$80 million of approved 
investment opportunities in GBR following the entering into of the A&R LLC Agreement, as more particularly set forth below. The 
US$80 million in approved investment opportunities includes amounts Apollo Fund has funded to date. The following is a summary 
of the A&R LLC Agreement and does not purport to be a complete summary. For a complete description of the terms of the A&R 
LLC Agreement see the full text of the agreement which is available under the Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Apollo Fund is an investment vehicle managed by affiliates of AGM. According to its public disclosure, AGM is a leading 
global alternative investment management firm with assets under management of approximately US$433 billion as of September 
30, 2020 across credit, private equity, and real estate strategies. Investment funds affiliated with AGM invest across a core group 
of nine industries where the firm has considerable knowledge and resources, with approximately US$2.75 billion deployed in the 
power and renewable sector across 25 investments, as disclosed by AGM. Select renewable power investments include U.S. Wind, 
AV Solar, Sunpower, and EnfraGen. 

Capital Calls and Funding 

Pursuant and subject to the A&R LLC Agreement, Apollo Fund has the right to earn a 50% interest in the joint venture by 
funding the next US$80 million (inclusive of amounts funded to date) in approved investment opportunities in GBR. Apollo Fund’s 
interest in the joint venture is based on the amount of capital contributions made by Apollo Fund to GBR Holdings, the joint venture 
entity. To date, Apollo Fund has funded an aggregate of US$9.9 million and holds 11% of the Class A Units in GBR Holdings. 
After October 11, 2021 and prior to October 11, 2023, if Apollo Fund has not contributed an aggregate of US$80 million to GBR 
Holdings or certain related entities, Apollo Fund shall have the right to, either (i) make a capital contribution to GBR Holdings in 
amount of any shortfall to earn its 50% interest, or (ii) with the approval of Altius GBR Holdings, make a capital contribution to 
GBR Holdings in an amount equal to 50% of the shortfall of US$80 million (“Catch-Up Contribution”) which amount shall be 
distributed by GBR Holdings to Altius GBR Holdings, thereby resetting the targeted overall initial capital to be committed by 
Apollo Fund at an amount less than US$80 million, but creating a 50/50 split in the overall capital of the joint venture. Following 
the funding of US$80 million or the Catch-Up Contribution by Apollo Fund, all capital contributions are to be made on a pro rata 
basis.  

In the event that Apollo Fund does not make an initial capital contribution of US$80 million or, alternatively, the Catch 
Up Contribution, by October 11, 2023, a step-down event will occur (a “Step-Down Trigger Event”) and its board voting rights 
with respect to the board of directors of GBR Holdings will be adjusted down proportionately to reflect the representative proportion 
of the amount of capital contributions made by Apollo Fund prior to such date. See “Powers of Management and the Board of 
Directors of GBR Holdings” and “Appointment of Directors.” 

Powers of Management and the Board of Directors of GBR Holdings 

The business and affairs of GBR Holdings and GBR are managed under the direction of the board of directors of GBR 
Holdings, as a board of directors of a limited liability company formed under the laws of Delaware. Each member of the board of 
directors of GBR Holdings is entitled to act or omit to act at the direction of the member (in the case of the Company, through its 
wholly-owned subsidiary, Altius GBR Holdings) that designated such person to serve on the board of directors, including the 
separate interest of such Member.  

Approval of any action by the board of directors of GBR Holdings requires approval by a majority of the votes of directors 
at a properly constituted meeting (and must include at least one vote by an Altius GBR Holdings designee director, and unless a 
Step-Down Trigger Event occurs, at least one Apollo Fund designee director) or approval by the requisite votes of directors by an 
instrument in writing. The board of directors of GBR Holdings may delegate day–to-day operational powers and duties to the senior 
management team of GBR Holdings. The senior management team of GBR Holdings will be appointed or removed in the sole 
discretion of the board of directors of GBR Holdings, subject to the terms of the applicable employment or consulting agreements 
in respect of such officers, if any. To the extent that any of the subsidiaries of GBR Holdings require a board of directors, board of 
managers or equivalent governing body, such board shall consist of an equal number of the Altius GBR Holdings designees and 
Apollo Fund designees. 
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Appointment of Directors 

Pursuant to the A&R LLC Agreement, each of Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund have the right to appoint two voting 
members to the board of GBR Holdings, and have agreed that the CEO of GBR Holdings will be the fifth (but non-voting) member 
of the board of GBR Holdings. Each voting director has one vote, provided that if a Step-Down Trigger Event occurs, then the votes 
to be held by the directors shall be adjusted to reflect the proportionate Class A Unit ownership interest of Altius GBR Holdings 
and Apollo Fund, respectively. 

The board of directors of GBR Holdings is currently comprised of five directors, being Earl Ludlow and Brian Dalton (the 
Altius GBR Holdings designees) Geoffrey Strong and Corinne Still (the Apollo Fund designees) and Frank W. Getman, the CEO 
of GBR Holdings.

Future Opportunities 

The Company and Altius Minerals have each agreed that all future opportunities in renewable power royalties made 
available to the Company, Altius Minerals or their respective affiliates will be presented to the GBR Joint Venture. To the extent 
that the board of directors of GBR Holdings does not approve the proposed opportunity, the member whose designees did approve 
the opportunity at the board level may pursue such opportunity separately as a sidecar to the joint venture. If so requested by a 
holder of Class A Units, GBR Holdings shall provide management, administrative and general services to such sidecar entity 
pursuant to a services agreement subject to certain exceptions. Following the achievement of certain minimum internal rate of return 
(IRR) and multiple of invested capital (MoIC) (as such terms are defined in the A&R LLC Agreement) on the capital contributions 
made to the sidecar by the Class A Unit holder that approved the proposed opportunity, GBR Holdings shall be entitled to a 
percentage of the distributions made by any such sidecar entity. The parties may also consider using a sidecar structure in certain 
other circumstances, including for tax reasons, in which case the economic benefits will be replicated for the parties, to the extent 
possible. 

Approval of Certain Matters following a Step-Down Trigger Event 

Following a Step-Down Trigger Event, the following actions will require the prior approval of the holders of a majority of 
the Class A-2 Units (currently the Class A-2 Units are held by Apollo Fund): (a) issuing capital calls for capital contributions from 
any member holding Class A-2 Units, (b) effecting any public offering, (c) amending or modifying the LLC certificate of GBR 
Holdings, (d) changing the tax characterization of GBR Holdings or any of its subsidiaries; (e) commencing a bankruptcy, winding 
up, insolvency or organization proceeding involving GBR Holdings or any of its subsidiaries; (f) repurchasing any Class A Units 
that is not made pro rata among all Class A members; (g) any transaction between GBR Holdings or its subsidiaries with any 
member of the Altius Group (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement), or (h) dissolving or liquidating GBR Holdings 
other than in connection with an approved liquidity event or Approved Sale (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement) 
under the A&R LLC Agreement. 

Transfer Restrictions 

Subject to the terms of the A&R LLC Agreement, no member of GBR Holdings may directly or indirectly transfer (as 
such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement) any of its Units prior to a public offering of GBR Holdings. At any time, Altius 
GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund may transfer Units to their respective affiliates (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC 
Agreement). Following October 11, 2022 but prior to October 11, 2025, Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund may each transfer 
Units to persons who are not their respective affiliates (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement), subject to the Tag-
Along Rights and Right of First Offer described below. Following October 11, 2025, Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund may 
each transfer their respective Units to any person (other than certain prohibited transferees).  

A change of control (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement) of Altius GBR Holdings directly (or ARR 
indirectly) would trigger the transfer provisions under the A&R LLC Agreement. As a result, subject to certain exceptions, ARC is 
restricted from selling or otherwise disposing of its Common Shares in ARR prior to October 11, 2022 if such action would result 
in a change of control (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement). 

Approved Sale  

After October 11, 2022, either Altius GBR Holdings or Apollo Fund may force a transfer or sale by way of an Approved 
Sale (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement), provided that the proceeds of such sale (and any prior distributions) 
must be sufficient to achieve a MoIC of at least of 1.5 and such Approved Sale is first subject to the Right of First Offer described 
below. After October 11, 2025, either Altius GBR Holdings or Apollo Fund can force an Approved Sale. The board of directors of 
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GBR Holdings may, at any time, also effect an Approved Sale with the approval of a majority of each of the holders of Class A-1 
and Class A-2 Units (which are currently held by Altius GBR Holdings and Apollo Fund, respectively). 

Right of First Offer  

If any holder of Class A Units desires to (i) transfer any or all of such person’s Class A Units to a third-party (other than 
to an affiliate (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement)) prior to October 11, 2025, or (ii) cause an Approved Sale at 
any time (such person a “Selling ROFO Member”), the Selling ROFO Member must first, prior to entering into a non-binding 
letter of intent or similar document, give written notice (“ROFO Notice”) to the other subclass of Class A Units (the “ROFO 
Holder”) of the proposed sale. Within 30 days following receipt of the ROFO Notice, the ROFO Holder may provide written notice 
that it intends to purchase all of the Units or assets of GBR Holdings being offered. If the ROFO Holder does not elect to purchase 
the Units or assets being offered, then the Selling ROFO Member shall have six months to complete the proposed sale, provided 
such sale is not on terms that are materially more favourable than those set out in the ROFO Notice.  

Tag-Along Rights 

Prior to October 11, 2025, subject to certain restrictions and the Right of First Offer set out above, if a holder of Class A 
Units (the “Tag Seller”) desires to effect a transfer (a “Tag Sale”) of any of its Units to a third-party that is not a member of GBR 
Holdings (or an affiliate thereof) (“Tag-Along Transferee”) and where the Tag Seller does not exercise its rights (if any) to cause 
a transfer as an Approved Sale, then at least 15 days prior to the closing of Tag Sale, the Tag Seller shall make a written offer 
(“Participation Offer”) to each other holder of Class A Units (a “Co-Seller”) to include in the Tag Sale a number of Class A Units 
owned and designated by each other holder of Class A Units. Each Co-Seller shall have the right within 10 days after delivery of 
Participation Offer to include in such Tag Sale up to the number of such Co-Seller’s Class A Units that equals the product of the 
total number of such Co–Seller’s Class A Units multiplied by the requested Tag Seller Percentage (being the percentage the number 
of Class A Units proposed to be sold by the Tag Seller represents of the total number of the Class A Units held by the Tag Seller). 
Promptly following the completion of such procedures, the Tag Seller shall notify the Tag-Along Transferee of the total number of 
Class A Units to be sold. If the Tag-Along Transferee is unwilling to purchase such total number of Class A Units, then the number 
of Requested Class A Units that otherwise would have been sold in the Tag Sale by the Tag Seller and each exercising Co-Seller 
shall be reduced on a pro rata basis so that the aggregate number of Class A Units sold in such Tag Sale equals the number of 
Requested Class A Units multiplied by the Purchased Percentage (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement).  

GBR-ARR SERVICES AGREEMENT  

GBR and ARR entered into a services agreement (the “GBR-ARR Services Agreement”) pursuant to which GBR has 
agreed to provide certain services to ARR on an interim basis in connection with this initial public offering and provide post initial 
public offering support services, including communications with shareholders and stakeholders of ARR, review of public disclosure 
documents, assistance with the preparation of reports to the Board, attendance at Board meetings and such other services reasonably 
requested by ARR. As consideration for the services, ARR shall pay GBR a daily rate ranging from US$800 to US$2,000 for each 
individual providing services to ARR under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. The GBR-ARR Services Agreement also stipulates 
the maximum amount of time per employee that may be spent on various services under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. The 
GBR-ARR Services Agreement will terminate (i) on the date on which GBR has no continuing obligation to perform any services 
as a result of each services’ expiration or termination and all fees for such services (including out of pocket costs) have been paid 
in full, (ii) at the election of GBR on the date that is nine months following written notice from GBR to ARR or (iii) in the event of 
an insolvency event of either party upon written notice of the other party.  

AGREEMENTS WITH ALTIUS MINERALS  

ALTIUS MINERALS SERVICES AGREEMENT

ARR and Altius Minerals entered into a services agreement dated January 15, 2021 pursuant to which Altius Minerals will 
provide office space, management, and administrative services, including the services of the CEO (Brian Dalton), CFO (Ben Lewis) 
and corporate secretary (Flora Wood) to ARR for a monthly fee of C$50,000 plus applicable taxes beginning on February 1, 2021, 
which amount was calculated on a cost recovery basis, and will be reviewed and adjusted by agreement of the parties, if necessary, 
after three months. Following the initial review, the fees will be subject to a yearly review by the independent directors of ARR. 
Altius Minerals is also entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket costs it incurs directly for ARR. Either ARR or Altius 
Minerals may terminate the Altius Minerals Services Agreement on 60 days’ written notice to the other and in other prescribed 
circumstances, including in certain events of insolvency and if there is a violation of the confidentiality and non-use obligations set 
forth in the agreement. 
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GBR SERVICES AGREEMENT

GBR and Altius Minerals entered into the GBR Services Agreement on October 11, 2020 pursuant to which Altius 
Minerals agreed to provide GBR with certain back office services for which Altius Minerals will be fairly compensated by GBR 
for such services including bookkeeping, accounting, treasury services as well as other services previously provided to GBR 
following Altius Minerals’ acquisition of GBR in February 2019. Under the terms of the GBR Services Agreement, all bookkeeping, 
accounting and financial reporting services will be provided by Altius Minerals to GBR through 2020, with services provided into 
2021 to be limited solely to finalizing 2020 accounting and financial reporting. Altius Minerals will also invoice GBR for the 
provision of directors and officers insurance to GBR under Altius Minerals’ policy on an interim basis, until GBR is able to secure 
its own. The GBR Services Agreement will terminate on the date Altius Minerals has no continuing obligation to perform any 
services under the GBR Services Agreement as a result of such services’ expiration or termination.  

INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

On or before closing of the Offering, Altius Minerals and the Company will enter into the Investor Rights Agreement 
which will govern various aspects of their relationship. Pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, the Board of ARR will be 
comprised of five individuals, two of whom shall be appointed by Altius Minerals. See “Directors and Executive Officers – 
Directors”. Altius Minerals shall be entitled to nominate one of the directors of ARR for so long as the percentage of outstanding 
Common Shares beneficially owned directly or indirectly by Altius Minerals or its affiliates is not less than 10% of the issued and 
outstanding Common Shares and two of the directors of ARR for so long as the percentage of outstanding Common Shares 
beneficially owned directly or indirectly by Altius Minerals or its affiliates is not less than 40% of the outstanding Common Shares. 
Subject to any requirements of the ABCA, Altius Minerals shall be entitled to nominate for appointment or election to the Board a 
replacement director for any nominee director of Altius Minerals who ceases for any reason to be a director of the Board, provided 
Altius Minerals remains, at that time, entitled to appoint such director.  

Under the Investor Rights Agreement, the Company will also grant to Altius Minerals certain equity financing rights to 
participate in future offerings of securities by the Company. Provided Altius Minerals and its affiliates beneficially own directly or 
indirectly not less than 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, if the Company proposes to issue any Common Shares 
or other equity securities or any option or other right to acquire equity securities or other securities convertible or exchangeable for 
equity securities (the “Offered Securities”), the Company will offer Altius Minerals the opportunity to subscribe for and acquire 
that number of Offered Securities or convertible securities equal in amount to Altius Minerals’ then outstanding proportionate 
interest in the Common Shares or any such lesser amount as Altius Minerals may elect to subscribe for on the same terms and 
conditions as offered to other potential purchasers of the Offered Securities. Similarly if the Company issues any Common Shares 
or other equity securities or any option or other right to acquire equity securities or other securities convertible or exchangeable for 
equity securities for non-cash consideration, or if the Company enters into a merger agreement or business combination agreement 
resulting in a combined company (a “Corporate Transaction”), the Investor will be entitled to maintain its interest in the Company 
pro rata following the completion of such Corporate Transaction. Further, the Company has also granted Altius Minerals certain 
piggyback registration rights on proposed distributions provided that Altius Minerals and its affiliates beneficially own directly or 
indirectly not less than 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares.  

Altius Minerals has also agreed that it will not vote against and will cause voting securities owned by its affiliates not to 
be voted against, any resolution that a majority of the Board of the Company has approved to be recommended to securityholders 
of the Company, subject to certain exceptions.  

SELECTED HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The following selected historical consolidated financial information has been derived from the audited financial statements 
of GBR for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the 52-days ended December 31, 2017, the audited financial statements of the 
Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the unaudited interim financial statements of the Company as of 
September 30, 2020 and the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, contained elsewhere in this prospectus.  

Company 
Dec 31, 2019 

(US$)

GBR 
Dec 31, 2018

(US$) 

GBR 
52-days ended 
Dec 31, 2017 

(US$) 

Revenue and Other Income 239,300 165,300 - 
Costs and Expenses 1,750,200 245,100 - 
Net Loss (1,510,900) (79,800) - 
Total Assets 15,025,700 2,141,000 1,601,000 
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Company 
Dec 31, 2019 

(US$)

GBR 
Dec 31, 2018

(US$) 

GBR 
52-days ended 
Dec 31, 2017 

(US$) 

Total Liabilities 347,900 - - 

Company 
three months 

ended Sept 30, 
2020

(US$) 

Company 
three months 

ended Sept 30, 
2019

(US$) 

Company 
Nine months 

ended Sept 30, 
2020

(US$) 

Company 
Nine months ended 

Sept 30, 2019
(US$) 

Revenue and Other Income 40,200 49,700 180,200 173,300 
Costs and Expenses 496,300 435,700 3,733,700 1,239,400 
Net Loss (349,700) (386,000) (2,879,500) (1,066,100) 
Total Assets 69,341,700 12,407,900 69,341,700 12,407,900 
Total Liabilities 1,020,900 245,000 1,020,900 245,000 

Investors should read the selected historical financial information together with the sections in this prospectus entitled 
“Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the historical 
financial statements of GBR and the Company, including the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus.  

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company, after giving effect to the Consolidation, as 
at September 30, 2020, and as at September 30, 2020 after giving effect to the Offering. This table should be read in conjunction 
with the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the 
Company’s historical financial statements contained elsewhere in this prospectus. 

Other than as described below, there have not been any material changes in the capitalization of the Company, on a 
consolidated basis, since September 30, 2020. 

As at Sept 30, 2020 
As at Sept 30, 2020 after giving effect to 

the Offering 

As at Sept 30, 2020 after giving effect 
to the Offering and exercise in full of 

the Over-Allotment Option 
Debt 

Loans payable(1) US$92,300 US$92,300 US$92,300 
Shareholder’s equity 

Common Shares US$66,813,200 US$139,962,260 US$151,112,399 
(authorized – unlimited) 16,719,889 Common Share 
Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 3,093,835 Warrants 

Notes: (1) This figure excludes all related party debt.  

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the Offering are expected to be approximately C$92,594,000, after deducting the Underwriters’ 
commission of C$6,006,000 and the Company’s expenses related to the Offering estimated to be C$1,500,000. If the 
Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the net proceeds are expected to be C$106,708,100, after deducting the Underwriters’ 
commission of C$6,906,900  and the Company’s expenses related to the Offering estimated to be C$1,500,000. See “Plan of 
Distribution”.  

The following table sets out the proceeds to be received by the Company upon Closing and the intended use of those 
proceeds: 

Use of Proceeds: No exercise of Over-Allotment Option Over-Allotment Option exercised in full
Future investments and royalty acquisitions C$89,594,000 C$103,708,100 

General corporate purposes 

Total: 

C$3,000,000 

C$92,594,000 

C$3,000,000 

C$106,708,100 
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The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offering to fund additional renewable energy focused investments 
to continue to support the growth of its renewable energy royalty business and for general corporate purposes. In particular, the 
proceeds of the offering are intended to enable the Company to fund its participation in new investments that are sourced through 
the GBR Joint Venture following completion of an expected US$80 million investment by Apollo Funds in order to earn a 50% 
interest in GBR (see “GBR Joint Venture”). In the ordinary course, the Company continues to seek out and assess various royalty 
investment and acquisition opportunities. As at the date of this prospectus, no such potential opportunities are sufficiently advanced 
to be identified. In addition, the Company may also use a portion of the net proceeds to acquire existing royalties directly from 
project originators, developers, operators, as well as third-party holders. Until utilized, some or all of the net proceeds may be held 
in cash balances in the Company’s bank account or invested at the discretion of the Board, in short term, high quality, interest 
bearing corporate, government-issued or government-guaranteed securities.  

To date, the Company has (i) spent US$5 million on the GBR acquisition, (ii) committed an aggregate of US$55 million 
to the TGE Investment (of which, an aggregate of US$31 million has been funded to date) pursuant to the TGE Investment and the 
TGE follow-on investment, and (iii) funded an aggregate of US$35 million pursuant to the Apex Investment. Pursuant to the GBR 
Joint Venture, Apollo Fund has the right to earn a 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80 million 
in approved investment opportunities in GBR. To date, Apollo Fund has funded approximately US9.9 million in capital 
contributions with a balance of US$70.1 million which may be funded. Once Apollo Fund has funded US$80 million in capital 
contributions, future approved investments in GBR will be funded by Apollo Fund and the Company on a 50/50 basis. The Company 
expects to use C$89,594,000 (US$71,092,839) of the net proceeds of the Offering (without giving effect to the Over-Allotment 
Option) to fund its 50% of future approved investment opportunities in GBR. 

Following completion of the Offering (but without giving effect to the Over-Allotment Option) it is anticipated that GBR 
will have an aggregate of approximately C$267.5 million (approximately US$212.3 million) in deployable capital (the “GBR 
Deployable Capital”) for future approved GBR investments assuming that Apollo Fund will complete the remaining US$70.1 
million capital contribution and also contribute on a 50/50 basis with respect to any future approved investments in GBR in an 
amount equal to the net proceeds of the Offering allocated by ARR for future investments and acquisitions. 

The Company will continue to seek to invest the GBR Deployable Capital in renewable royalty investments at attractive 
risk-adjusted minimum return thresholds. Assuming the Company is able to achieve a consistent minimum return threshold of 8-
12% on a pre-tax unlevered basis on investments in the portfolios of renewable developers, GBR could generate revenue of 
approximately US$30 million per annum, 50% of which (US$15 million) would be attributable to ARR under the GBR Joint 
Venture. This illustration does not factor for potential longer-term upside realization events as outlined under the heading “Growth 
Opportunities”. 

To the extent that royalty level investments are identified or innovated to apply to other parts of the origination through 
operational spectrum that comprises the renewable energy sector, returns could vary over a wider range depending on evolving 
market conditions and structuring considerations.  

the Company, as set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remains the same and after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee and 
estimated expenses of the Offering. Similarly, each increase (decrease) of one million Common Shares would increase (decrease) 

the same and after deducting the Underwriters’ Fee and estimated expenses of the Offering. 

The Company had negative cash flow from its operating activities for the period ended September 30, 2020 and for the 
year ended December 31, 2019. The Company expects that it will have negative operating cash flow in the immediate future. The 
net proceeds raised under the Offering and other available funds are expected to fund operations for a period of at least 24 months, 
based on estimated total operating costs during that period of US$2 million. 

The Company intends to spend the net proceeds of the Offering available as stated above. However, there may be 
circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be deemed prudent or necessary, in which case, the 
Company may spend the net proceeds of the Offering on such reallocated basis. Accordingly, management of the Company will 
have broad discretion in the application of the proceeds of the Offering. See “Risk Factors”. 
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UNDERTAKINGS 

ALTIUS MINERALS 

the Over-Allotment Option), has provided an undertaking to the securities regulators in each of the provinces and territories of 
Canada that it will not  sell, or announce any intention to sell, any Common Shares of the Company or any securities convertible or 
exchangeable into Common Shares of the Company until such time that Great Bay Renewables, LLC has been assigned or acquired 
royalty contracts for renewable energy projects that have an indicated capacity of at least 3,400MW. 

To the extent that royalty contracts for projects with an indicated capacity amount of less than 3.400 MW have been 
executed as a result of higher royalty rates being negotiated on projects or otherwise and Altius Minerals in good faith believes that 
the substance of the undertaking has been satisfied, the OSC (as principal regulator) has agreed to give due consideration to the 
release of this undertaking upon request of Altius Minerals. 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF GBR 

In connection with the Offering, the Company has provided an undertaking to the securities regulators in each of the 
provinces and territories of Canada that should the Company’s interest in GBR no longer require consolidation under IFRS, the 
Company will: 

(a) provide the disclosure required by IFRS 12 in its annual financial statements and interim financial reports relating to Great 
Bay Renewables LLC (“GBR”) and the GBR Joint Venture;  

(b) provide the quantitative and qualitative disclosure in its annual financial statements and interim financial reports as required 
by IFRS 13 for any material investments held by GBR and GBR Joint Venture, including the significant inputs and 
assumptions used in determining the fair value and the valuation techniques applied, similar to the quantitative and 
qualitative disclosure that would have been required under IFRS should these material investments have been consolidated 
in the Company’s financial statements. The applicable disclosure should identify each material investment, and include an 
aggregated total for all other investments;  

(c) provide disclosure in its annual financial statements and interim financial reports as required by IAS 24 for any related 
party transactions of GBR and GBR Joint Venture similar to the disclosure that would have been required under IFRS 
should GBR and GBR Joint Venture have been consolidated in the Company’s financial statements; 

(d) provide the quantitative and qualitative disclosure in its annual financial statements and interim financial reports as required 
by IFRS 9,  IAS 36, or IAS 38 for any material royalty interests similar to the quantitative and qualitative disclosure that 
would have been required if these royalty interests have been consolidated in the Company’s financial statements. The 
applicable disclosure should identify each material royalty, and include an aggregated total for all other royalties; 

(e) provide disclosure in its annual financial statements and interim financial reports on the material cashflow items for GBR 
and GBR Joint Venture, including but not limited to, material cash flows pertaining to the material investments and royalty 
interests identified in (b) and (d); and 

(f) include in its interim and annual MD&A an analysis of the performance and financial position of GBR and GBR Joint 
Venture. The Company will complement such disclosures with non-IFRS financial measures, in compliance with Staff 
Notice 52-306 (or such securities regulatory guidance as then in effect), in its interim and annual MD&A to provide 
additional summarized financial information regarding GBR and GBR Joint Venture, coupled with discussion and analysis 
on those non-IFRS measures.  

INSIDER REPORTING

In connection with the Offering, the Company has provided an undertaking to the securities commissions an undertaking 
to the securities regulators in each of the provinces and territories of Canada that for so long as the Company is a Reporting Issuer, 
the Company will take appropriate measure to require: 
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(a) each person who would be an “insider” of GBR Joint Venture or a “person or company in a special relationship” (as defined 
in the Securities Act (Ontario)) with GBR Joint Venture, if GBR Joint Venture was a reporting issuer, to comply with 
statutory prohibitions against insider trading under applicable securities laws; and 

(b) each person who would be a “reporting insider” (as defined in NI 55-104) of the Issuer, if GBR Joint Venture and GBR 
were each a “major subsidiary” of the Issuer, to file insider reports about trades in the securities of the Issuer.     

CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE

Following completion of the Offering and having regard to any confidentiality obligations imposed upon the Company, 
the Company will,  on at least a quarterly basis, disclose information in respect of the following:  

Disclosure with respect to developers where the Company’s investment is material 

A minimum return threshold range with respect to any material contract; 

Methodology to calculate the minimum return threshold; 

The development projects included under the material contract and the energy capacity relating thereto; 

Other material terms of the contract, including without limitation, events of default and terms relating to termination, 
significant representations and warranties, conditions and covenants. other terms necessary to understand the impact of 
the agreement on the Company’s business;  

A detailed description of the investment in the developer including a description of the material features of the investment 
structure, including without limitation if the investment is secured against any assets, whether it is subordinated, the 
rights and obligations of GBR or the Company under the investment structure, a description of holding entities used to 
facilitate this investment and whether there are any other agreements affecting the rights of securityholders in such 
holding entity; 

An overview of the steps the Company has taken and the information the Company has reviewed and continues to review 
in order to evaluate the performance and risks of its material investments and a description as to how the Company has 
determined the fair value of these investments at each reporting date.   

Project level disclosure for each project once royalty contract is executed 

Project name, operator, location, type of energy, expected operational date, project stage, expected life of project and 
capacity, where each is determinable.  

With respect to projects material to the Company, information including the stage of the project, development milestones 
achieved, requirements to make the project operational, how the developer/operator is expected to advance the project, 
a detailed description of the project; 

A description of how the gross revenue royalty is calculated.   

Where possible, the Company has committed to using its commercially reasonable efforts to negotiate consent to providing such 
disclosure from its developer partners and royalty operators. 

DIVIDEND POLICY 

Since its incorporation, the Company has not directly or indirectly declared or paid any dividend or declared or made any 
other distribution on any of its Common Shares. The Company currently has negative cash flow from its operating activities as 
most investments have been in relation to development stage assets and, accordingly, it has not implemented a policy regarding the 
declaration or payment of dividends. Any determination to implement a dividend policy, if and when appropriate, will be made 
having regard to, among other things: results of operations; financial condition; expected future levels of earnings; future operating 
cash flow; liquidity requirements; market opportunities; income taxes; debt repayments; legal, regulatory and contractual 
constraints; working capital requirements; tax laws, the approval of the Board and compliance with applicable laws and TSX rules.  



67 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULT OF OPERATION OPERATIONS OF THE COMPANY  

The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) has been 
prepared as of the date of the prospectus, and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 49 day period ended December 31, 2018 (the “annual financial 
statements”) and the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements as of September 30, 2020 and for the three 
and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, including the related notes thereto (the “interim financial statements” and 
together with the annual financial statements, the “consolidated financial statements”).  

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and are presented in U.S. 
dollars unless otherwise indicated. The Company manages its business on the basis of one operating and reportable segment. 

This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information that involves risks and uncertainties, including but not limited 
to those described in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus. See “Forward-Looking Information” and “Risk Factors” for a 
discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements. Actual results may differ materially from 
those indicated or implied by such forward-looking information as a result of various factors, including those described in “Risk 
Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus.  

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

The Company’s overall performance is dependent on the industry and economy in which it operates. Renewable power is 
derived from natural processes that are constantly replenished and represent low or non-carbon emitting sources of power. There 
are various forms of renewable power originating directly or indirectly from wind, hydroelectric, solar, biomass and geothermal 
sources. The power industry in the U.S. has enjoyed significant growth both in scale and diversity of production. 

Strategy 

ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to renewable power assets by owning and managing a portfolio of diversified 
renewable power royalties. The Company’s primary focus is to generate royalty interests by providing tailored financing solutions 
to renewable power project originators and developers. Royalties may also be acquired directly from project originators, developers, 
operators, as well as third-party holders of existing royalties, across the spectrum of project stages where ARR’s capital may be 
subordinated to other capital. The Company may also source and structure investments it believes have potential to, or are conducive 
to, convert into royalties, or similar interests. From time to time, such investments may be in the form of debt or equity. In addition, 
ARR may consider alternative investment opportunities on a strategic basis that do not result in a royalty interest being generated. 

In executing this strategy, the Company, through GBR, seeks interests that provide it direct exposure to revenue tied to 
renewable power assets, without the direct operating costs and risks that are associated with the development and construction of 
renewable power projects. 

ARR has identified demand for tailored financing solutions within the renewable power market in the form of royalty-
based financing. Royalty financing is a non-dilutive, customizable investment that can provide flexible terms at a comparatively 
attractive cost of capital. Traditional royalty-based financing has been used extensively in other industries, such as finite natural 
resource, industrial manufacturing, healthcare, and music. Furthermore, the adoption of royalty based financing has been a major 
catalyst for certain industries. Specifically, within the precious metals sector, royalty-based financing provided an alternative to 
traditional sources of capital, increased the overall supply of capital, and ultimately financed project development. The widespread 
acceptance of royalties within the precious metals sector fueled demand for royalty-based financing, which led to the exponential 
growth of the precious metals royalty sector itself. The Company believes there is significant room within the capital structure in 
the renewable power sector for royalty financing. The Company may also source and structure investments it believes have potential 
to, or are conducive to, converting into royalties, or similar interests. From time to time, such investments may be in the form of 
debt or equity. 

Outlook  

While ARR’s investment approach is project stage agnostic, ARR seeks to optimize the risk adjusted return of its 
investments. To date, the Company has structured its investments using a portfolio approach, mitigating the development and 
construction risk of any specific project, while ensuring the agreements are structured to meet a minimum return threshold. In 
addition to development stage projects, ARR may also consider royalty investments into later stage projects where capital would 
be injected between late-stage development and into operations, as a key component of its addressable market.  
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Other than with respect to NEO Geothermal, which the Company does not consider to be a material asset, the Company 
does not operate renewable power assets or develop projects. ARR’s business model is focused on financing development or later 
stage projects in order to manage and grow a portfolio of renewable power royalties. The Company believes that the advantages of 
this business model includes the following: 

Focus and Scalability. As the Company’s management does not handle operational decisions or tasks relating to the 
development of operation of renewable power projects, they are able to focus their resources on carrying out the 
Company’s growth strategy of identifying and executing on renewable royalty-based investment opportunities. As such, 
ARR’s business model allows it to be able to acquire and manage more renewable power interests than an operating 
company could generally effectively manage.

Exposure to Redevelopment Upside without Project Costs and Overhead. The Company believes that its royalty model 
provides exposure to project upside. ARR may benefit from any useful life extension, re-powering, and co-location of 
projects under its royalty agreements, without incurring the additional operating, development, and sustaining costs 
typically associated with these enhancements. See “Business of the Company – Embedded Value”. The Company is not 
required to satisfy any cash calls or provide future construction, sustaining, or expansion capital in order to maintain its 
interests in such projects.

Asset Diversification. The Company is able to invest and create royalty interests in a broad portfolio of renewable power 
assets across a spectrum of geographic regions and operators, reducing its dependency on any one asset, project, location, 
or counterparty.  

High Pace of Reinvestment. The Company’s investment model is conducive to continued reinvestment and the Company 
believes that it can continue to leverage its established relationships to inject additional capital to a specific developer with 
whom it has an established relationship in order to gain additional exposure to such developers, continually expanding and 
replenishing its development portfolio.   

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Acquisition of Renewable Energy Business 

On February 4, 2019, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares and obtained control of Great Bay Renewables, 
LLC, the predecessor of GBR, from its shareholders for total cash consideration of US$5,000,000. The acquisition included a paying 
royalty on the 4.7 MW Clyde River hydroelectric/solar facility located in Vermont (the “Clyde River royalty”), NEO Geothermal, 
LLC and some working capital.  

Renewable Royalties – TGE  

On February 7, 2019, the Company announced its first renewable energy royalty transaction with TGE, through its 
subsidiary TGH. Pursuant to the TGE Agreement (see “Business of the Company – TGE Investment”), the Company, through GBR, 
has the right to a 3% gross revenue royalty on each wind project created and a 1.5% gross revenue royalty on each solar project 
(subject to certain prescribed exceptions) until a target minimum royalty threshold is achieved. The Company committed to 
investing in tranches totaling US$30,000,000 over five years as TGE achieves certain advancement milestones. Under the terms of 
the TGE Agreement, the Company may be subject to penalties if future tranches are requested but not funded after milestones have 
been met and TGE may elect not to receive a tranche. 

An initial investment of US$7,500,000 was made in connection with the TGE Investment upon closing on February 6, 
2019, with such investment being the first tranche under the TGE Agreement. In October 2019, TGE achieved certain milestones, 
making available to TGE a portion of the second tranche of funding of which the Company funded US$3,000,000. TGE had 12 
months to request the remaining US$3,500,000 of the second tranche which the Company is obligated to fund, per the agreement. 
This was funded by the Company in 2020 as set out below.  

During the nine month period ended September 30, 2020, the Company funded an additional US$11,500,000 (inclusive of 
the US$3,500,000 noted in the preceding paragraph) in connection with the TGE Investment, which was based on milestone 
achievements in accordance with the terms of the TGE Agreement for a total of US$22,000,000 of the US$30,000,000 committed 
at such time. An additional US$2,000,000 was funded in early October, 2020. On October 15, 2020, GBR committed to an additional 
US$25,000,000 in TGE’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects, pursuant to the TGE Agreement, bringing the 
total royalty capital commitment to US$55,000,000. On October 28, 2020, such additional US$25,000,000 commitment was 
announced as the first investment under the GBR Joint Venture (see “GBR Joint Venture”). As TGE develops and sells individual 
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projects, GBR receives a gross revenue royalty on each project for the full life of the project, subject to certain prescribed exceptions. 
To date, TGE has sold nearly 1 GW of renewable energy projects subject to GBR agreements and currently has over 2 GW in its 
development pipeline. To date, Apollo Fund has invested US$9.9 million, with the total amount funded to TGE pursuant to the 
TGE Agreement being US$31,000,000. 

TGE sold the 360 MW Canyon Wind project and the 400 MW Panther Grove project to two private investment companies 
in separate transactions during the latter half of 2019. Under the terms of the TGE Agreement and royalty contracts with each of 
the owners of these projects, the Company, through GBR, holds a 3% gross revenue royalty on these projects. In early 2020, TGE 
sold the 180 MW Flatland Solar project, which includes a 1.5% gross revenue royalty contract with GBR. This marked the 
Company’s third renewable energy royalty, and the first related to a solar energy project, under the TGE Investment. These royalties 
are subject to a limited buy-out right which includes a significant premium to GBR. Individual project royalties will remain in place 
for the life of the respective projects, including any extensions of or enhancements to such projects.   

Renewable Royalties – Apex 

On March 10, 2020, pursuant to the Apex Investment, the Company, through GBR, entered into a US$35,000,000 
investment agreement with Apex, through its subsidiary Apex GBR to obtain future royalties related to a broad portfolio of wind 
and solar energy development projects located across North America. Pursuant to the Apex Agreement, the Company, through 
GBR, has the right to a 2.5% gross revenue royalty on each wind project created and a 1.5% gross revenue royalty on each solar 
project (subject to certain prescribed exceptions) until a target minimum royalty threshold is achieved (see “Business of the Company 
– Apex Investment”). Upon achieving certain milestones related to the vending of projects in Apex’s development pipeline, mutual 
options become exercisable to provide additional US$10,000,000 tranches of royalty investment.  

Apex’s current portfolio includes approximately 26 GW (11.7GW wind, 10.1GW solar, 4.1 GW storage) of development 
projects. Apex typically sells these projects to utilities, infrastructure funds and other institutional investors prior to construction. 
The royalty financing provided by the Company will enable Apex to accelerate the advancement and ultimate sale of wind and solar 
energy projects existing in the portfolio and to add new projects to its portfolio. 

Pursuant to the Apex Agreement, Apex has committed its current portfolio of renewable energy development projects, and 
any newly acquired projects that it develops, to this new royalty investment structure with the Company, excluding certain later 
stage portfolio projects that are already subject to sale, financing or construction commitments. As individual projects from within 
the development portfolio reach NTP, the Company will be granted gross revenue royalties for wind energy and solar energy 
projects until the target minimum royalty threshold is achieved. Each individual project royalty, once created and assigned, will 
encompass the full life of the project including any extensions or enhancements that might occur, subject to certain prescribed 
exceptions. These royalties are subject to a limited buy-out right which includes a significant premium to GBR. Individual project 
royalties will remain in place for the full life of the respective projects, including any extensions of or enhancements to such projects.  

CAPITAL ALLOCATION

Capital allocation priorities included investments in royalties expected to benefit from the growth of renewable energy 
sources. The Company issued shares to its parent and minority shareholders for cash and used the funds to invest in the acquisition 
of GBR and to partially fund the TGE Investment and fully fund the Apex Investment, as described above.  

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company issued Common Shares for cash proceeds of US$16,188,600. 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company issued Common Shares for cash proceeds of US$50,070,000 and 
US$13,188,600 during the nine month period ended September 30, 2019. During the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 
2019, the Company issued Common Shares for cash proceeds of US$3,000,000 and $0 respectively.  

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Apollo 

On October 11, 2020, the Company, through a newly created subsidiary Altius GBR Holdings, entered into the A&R LLC 
Agreement governing GBR Holdings, to provide for the terms of a joint venture on the GBR business in an effort to accelerate the 
growth of its innovative renewable power royalty business joint venture with Apollo Fund. Under the agreement structure, Apollo 
Fund will have the right to earn a 50% ownership interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80,000,000 in 
approved investment opportunities in GBR (inclusive of amounts funded to date) subject to the terms and conditions of the A&R 
LLC Agreement. After the 50% ownership interest in the GBR Joint Venture has been earned by Apollo Fund, opportunities 
thereafter are required to be funded equally by Apollo Fund and ARR (through Altius GBR Holdings). The board of directors 
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governing the GBR Joint Venture is equally controlled by the Company and Apollo Fund. (see “GBR Joint Venture” elsewhere in 
this prospectus).  

Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan  

Subsequent to September 30, 2020, the Company repaid its PPP loan of US$92,300 related to U.S. federal funding received 
by GBR. The loan was part of the COVD-19 relief offered to certain businesses to ensure that employees remain working throughout 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  

GBR Services Agreement  

On October 11, 2020, the Company, through GBR, and Altius Minerals entered into the GBR Services Agreement, 
pursuant to which Altius Minerals agreed to provide GBR with certain back office services including bookkeeping, accounting and 
treasury services as well as other services. Under the terms of the GBR Services Agreement, all bookkeeping, accounting and 
financial reporting services will be provided by Altius Minerals to GBR through 2020, with services provided into 2021 to be 
limited solely to finalizing 2020 accounting and financial reporting. The flat fee for such services is US$7,500 per month. Back 
office treasury and cash management services for GBR will be provided until January 31, 2021 for a flat fee of US$2,500 per month. 
Any additional out of pocket costs incurred by Altius Minerals (including director and officer insurance fees incurred on behalf of 
GBR prior to GBR obtaining its own director and officer insurance) will be invoiced to GBR monthly. See “Agreements with Altius 
Minerals - GBR Services Agreement” elsewhere in this prospectus.  

Altius Minerals Services Agreement 

ARR and Altius Minerals entered into a services agreement dated January 15, 2021 pursuant to which Altius Minerals will 
provide office space, management, and administrative services, including the services of the CEO (Brian Dalton), CFO (Ben Lewis) 
and corporate secretary (Flora Wood) to ARR for a monthly fee of C$50,000 plus applicable taxes beginning on February 1, 2021, 
which amount was calculated on a cost recovery basis, and will be reviewed and adjusted by agreement of the parties, if necessary, 
after three months. Following the initial review, the fees will be subject to a yearly review by the independent directors of ARR. 
Altius Minerals is also entitled to be reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket costs it incurs directly for ARR. Either ARR or Altius 
Minerals may terminate the Altius Minerals Services Agreement on 60 days’ written notice to the other and in other prescribed 
circumstances, including in certain events of insolvency and if there is a violation of the confidentiality and non-use obligations set 
forth in the agreement.  

GBR-ARR Services Agreement 

GBR and ARR entered into the GBR-ARR Services Agreement pursuant to which GBR has agreed to provide certain 
services to ARR on an interim basis in connection with this initial public offering and providing post initial public offering support 
services, including communications with shareholders and stakeholders of ARR, review of public disclosure documents, assistance 
with the preparation of reports to the Board, attendance at Board meetings and such other services reasonably requested by ARR. 
As consideration for the services, ARR shall pay GBR a daily rate ranging from US$800 to US$2,000 for each individual providing 
services to ARR under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. The GBR-ARR Services Agreement also stipulates the maximum 
amount of time per employee that may be spent on various services under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. The GBR-ARR 
Services Agreement will terminate (i) on the date on which GBR has no continuing obligation to perform any services as a result 
of each services’ expiration or termination and all fees for such services (including out of pocket costs) have been paid in full, (ii) 
at the election of GBR on the date that is nine months following written notice from GBR to ARR or (iii) in the event of an 
insolvency event of either party upon written notice of the other party.  
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Year ended 49 day period ended

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Revenue and other income 40,200$                      49,700$                      180,200$                    173,300$                    239,300$                    -$                            

Costs and expenses 496,300 435,700 3,733,600 1,239,400 1,750,200 -

Net loss (349,700) (386,000) (2,879,500) (1,066,100) (1,510,900) -

Net loss per share - basic and diluted (0.02)$                         (0.12)$                         (0.23)$                         (0.39)$                         (0.49)$                         -$                            

Total assets 69,341,700$               12,367,700$               69,341,700$               12,367,700$               15,025,700$               100$                           

Total liabilities 1,020,900 245,000 1,020,900 245,000 347,900 -

Nine months endedThree months ended

The Corporation had no results of operations during the 49-day period ended December 31, 2018 and therefore is not 
referenced in the below discussion. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, and the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, royalty income was 
generated from two royalties and remained consistent period over period. Costs and expenses reflect the growth of the business and 
have increased over these periods. The growth of assets and liabilities reflects the underlying growth within the business including 
acquisition of royalty interests and investments in renewable royalties. See the discussion in Operational Highlights above and 
further below for activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 and the nine months ended September 30, 2020.   

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue and Other Income 

Revenue and other income is primarily generated from royalty income on the Clyde River royalty, and on geothermal wells 
through NEO Geothermal as well as interest income and management fees. Pursuant to the TGE Investment and the Apex 
Investment, the Company is entitled to royalties for the life of renewable energy projects as they reach commercial operations. The 
Company will continue to be granted royalties until a certain return threshold is met, as prescribed in the relevant royalty agreements 
and in the TGE Agreement and Apex Agreement, respectively. These significant investments have not yet generated revenue for 
the Company as the projects are still in various early stages of development and evaluation.  

Ultimately, the Company must raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate sufficient revenue, the timing 
of which is dependent on project lead times as development stage investments mature into royalty revenue. The Company believes 
it will have adequate liquidity to support its operations and meet its financial obligations for the next twelve months. The Company 
entered into a joint venture with Apollo Fund, which granted Apollo Fund the right to earn a 50% ownership interest in GBR by 
solely funding the next US$80,000,000 in approved investment opportunities in GBR. The Company also has continued support 
from its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals. 

The Company’s revenues may be impacted by electricity prices and as such a fluctuation in those prices could have a 
material effect on the Company’s revenues and resulting profit or loss. Additionally, costs and the viability of renewable power 
projects are crucial to the Company’s operations. Any factor affecting costs of developing a project or affecting the generation 
output of projects could significantly impact the Company’s revenues. 

Three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 & 2019 

The Company’s royalty income on Clyde River was US$23,000 during the three-month period ended September 30, 2020 
as compared to US$33,100 recorded in the same period in 2019 on account of less production and lower water flow. There was 
slightly lower pricing  pertaining to the geothermal wells in the three-month period ended September 30, 2020. Management fees, 
from a third party related to the provision of office and administrative support, were consistent quarter over quarter whereas interest 
increased during the same three month period as a result of increased cash balances.  

The nine months ended September 30, 2020 reflects royalties from Clyde River of US$127,600 compared to US$130,600 
for the nine month period ended September 30, 2019. The decrease can be attributed to slightly lower production. Royalty revenue 
relating to geothermal wells was higher by US$5,700 as a result of pricing improvements during the nine month period ended 
September 30, 2020. Management fees of $18,000 in the year to date period in 2020 were higher than same period in 2019 as a 
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result of the acquisition of GBR, which did not occurred until February 2019. Interest increased during the nine month period ended 
September 30, 2020 as a result of increased cash balances. 

Year ended December 31, 2019 

The Company’s royalty income of US$179,500 is related to the Clyde River royalty and US$36,500 is related to NEO 
Geothermal assets. The Company had management fee revenue of US$22,000 and interest of US$1,300.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 & 2019 

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 Variance September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 Variance

Share-based compensation -$                         -$                         -$                    2,301,800$               -$                         2,301,800$            

Salaries and wages 226,200 222,200 4,000 694,000 607,200 86,800

Amortization of intangible asset 131,800 131,800 - 395,500 351,600 43,900

Professional fees 88,100 27,700 60,400 165,300 121,500 43,800

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 27,800 27,700 100 83,300 74,000 9,300

Office and administrative 21,300 21,000 300 66,600 53,900 12,700

Travel and accomodations 300 5,400 (5,100) 26,400 24,000 2,400

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 800 (100) 900 700 7,200 (6,500)

496,300$                  435,700$                  60,600$               3,733,600$               1,239,400$               2,494,200$            

Income tax (recovery) expense (106,400)$                 -$                         (106,400)$            (673,900)$                 -$                         (673,900)$              

Costs and Expenses
Three months ended Nine months ended

The Company’s share based compensation expense of US$2,301,800 during the nine-month period ended September 30, 
2020 is a result of the issuance of stock options to founding employees and a director for a value of US$1,346,500 and the issuance 
of warrants for management services provided by Altius Minerals of US$955,300. Stock options were issued to the operating 
management team of GBR after the successful closing of the two renewable royalty acquisitions – TGE and Apex (as discussed 
above). These options and warrants are exercisable into Common Shares of the Company. There were no stock options issued 
during the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2019. Warrants were issued to Altius Royalty Corporation for 
management services provided, and these were fair valued using an option pricing model in the nine months ended September 30, 
2020. There were no such warrants issued in 2019.  

Salary and wages for the three-month period ended September 2020 are comparable to the same period in 2019. Salary 
and wages for the nine month period ended September 30, 2020 were higher than the comparable period in 2019. This increase is 
based on the timing of employment of the team as in 2019 there are only eight months of salary expenses versus nine months in 
2020. The incurrence of wages for employees followed the acquisition of GBR occurred, which occurred in February 2019. There 
was also an increase of directors’ fees included in the nine month period ended September 30, 2020 as compared to the same period 
in 2019.   

Amortization of intangible asset relates to the amortization of non-compete agreements resulting from the acquisition of 
GBR. The non-compete agreement is being amortized over its useful life of 4 years and was consistent for the three months ended 
September 30, 2020 and 2019. The nine-month period ended September 30, 2020 is higher than the comparable nine month period 
as the acquisition of Great Bay Renewables Inc. occurred in February 2019.  

Professional fees incurred during the three and nine month period ended September 30, 2020 are higher than the same 
periods in 2019 as a result of ongoing corporate development efforts. 

Amortization of renewable royalty interests are for royalty interests acquired through the purchase of GBR. These assets 
are being amortized over useful lives of 17 and 25 years and the expense was consistent for the three months ended September 30, 
2020 and 2019. The nine month period ended September 30, 2020 is higher than the comparable nine month period as the acquisition 
of GBR occurred in February 2019.  



73 

Office and administrative costs are comparable for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 and were higher 
in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 when compared to the same period in 2019 as the acquisition of GBR occurred in 
February 2019.  

Foreign exchange differences for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 reflects changes 
in the value of foreign currencies held in bank accounts (Canadian dollars) and exchange rate differences relating to foreign currency 
amounts paid.  

Income tax recoveries were recorded in the three and nine month periods relating to certain deferred tax assets which were 
not recognized during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019. 

Travel and accommodation expenses were lower than for the three month period ended September 30, 2020 due to travel 
restrictions as a result of COVID-19. The nine month period ended September 30, 2020 was comparable to the same period in 2019 
as the majority of travel was incurred in the first quarter of 2020, before COVID-19 travel restrictions were in place. 

Year ended December 31, 2019 

Year ended 49 day period ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Salaries and wages 824,700$                                                   -$                                                           

Amortization of intangible asset 483,400 -

Professional fees 224,400 -

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 101,800 -

Office and administrative 76,100 -

Travel and accomodations 33,200 -

Foreign exchange loss 6,600 -

1,750,200$                                               -$                                                           

Costs and Expenses

Salary and wages of US$824,700 consisted of director fees and compensation of GBR management and employees of 
which there were four GBR employees and one independent director.  

Amortization of intangible asset of US$483,400 relates to the amortization of non-compete agreements which were 
assigned to the Company on the acquisition of GBR. This asset is being amortized over its useful life of 4 years.  

Professional fees incurred of US$224,400 during the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted of legal, accounting, and 
consulting fees reflective of ongoing corporate development efforts.  

Amortization of renewable royalty interests of US$101,800 are for royalty interests and geothermal wells acquired through 
the acquisition of GBR. These assets are being amortized over useful lives of 17 and 25 years.  

Office and administrative costs of US$76,100 during the year ended December 31, 2019 consisted mainly of office rent of 
US$19,800, software licensing fees of US$22,400, and conference registration fees of US$5,700, with the balance related to general 
office expenses.  

Travel and accommodations expenses of US$33,200 for the year ended December 31, 2019 are based on corporate 
development, conferences and business travel during the year.   

Foreign exchange loss of US$6,600 for year ended December 31, 2019 is reflective of changes in the value of Canadian 
dollar currency held or paid. 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table below outlines select financial information related to the Company’s most recent quarters. The financial 
information is extracted from the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and should be read in 
conjunction with those statements and the annual audited consolidated financial statements. For the quarters presented below, 
including September 30, 2020, December 31, 2019 and September 30, 2019, royalty and other income was generated from the 
Clyde River royalty and geothermal wells and is generally consistent on pricing, production and water flow. Net loss and net loss 
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per share reflects revenue and costs and expenses and the underlying growth of the business over these periods. See additional 
discussion in Financial Performance and Results of Operations above.  

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019 September 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

Revenue and other income 40,200$                              66,000$                              49,700$                              -$                              

Net loss (349,700) (444,800) (386,000) -

Net loss per share - basic and diluted (0.02)$                                (0.10)$                                (0.12)$                                -$                              
* There are no additional quarters availab le for disclosure

LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOWS

The Company has continued financial support from its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals, and continues to explore all 
available options to secure funding, including equity financing and strategic partnerships, in order to undertake transactions essential 
to operations. Support from Altius Minerals or outside investment is required for the Company to meet existing investment 
commitments, and for the continued growth of the business including future investments pursuant to the TGE Agreement and Apex 
Agreement and other potential royalties. The ongoing operating expenses and working capital requirements, including corporate 
development, would be nominal if growth was not anticipated, and there would be no known trends or expected fluctuations in 
capital requirements. Ultimately, the Company must raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate sufficient revenue 
to continue to meet its obligations and planned growth, the timing of which is dependent on project lead times as development stage 
investments mature into royalty revenue. The failure to obtain support from Altius Minerals, outside investment or to maintain 
sufficient revenue from royalty investments could individually or cumulatively impair the ability of the Company to undertake 
transactions essential to its operations.  

The Company believes it will have adequate liquidity to support its operations and meet its financial obligations for the 
next twelve months through the existing support from Altius Minerals, and support from Apollo Fund pursuant to the GBR Joint 
Venture. Subsequent to the third quarter of 2020, certain commitments relating to the GBR Joint Venture were funded by Apollo 
Fund to TGE in the amount of US$7,000,000. As at September 30, 2020, the Company had current assets of US$2,885,300 (as 
compared to - US$281,600 in December 31, 2019), including cash and cash equivalents of US$2,840,000 (as compared to 
US$196,100 in December 31, 2019) and current liabilities of US$224,500 (as compared to US$347,900 in December 31, 2019) 
including a balance payable to ARC of US$59,900 (as compared to US$290,700 in December 31, 2019). 

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 

At September 30, 2020, the Company had current assets of US$2,885,300, consisting of US$2,840,000 in cash and cash 
equivalents and US$45,300 in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses. At September 30, 2020 the Company had current liabilities 
of US$224,500 in accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and loans payable. At September 30, 2020 the Company had approximately 
US$2,660,800 in working capital.  

The Company’s sources of cash flow are from royalty and other income, specifically the Clyde River royalties, income 
from geothermal wells, and management fees relating to the provision of office and administrative support to a third-party and the 
issuance of shares.  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had current assets of US$281,600 consisting of US$196,100 in cash and cash 
equivalents and US$85,500 in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses. At December 31, 2019, the Company had current liabilities 
of US$347,900 including accounts payable and accrued liabilities and loans payable to related party. At December 31, 2019, the 
Company had a working capital deficiency and continued to receive support from its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals. See “Nine 
months ended September 30, 2020” for additional analysis related to 2020.
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Year ended 49 day period
September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Operating activities (717,500)$                      (638,100)$                      (913,300)$                      -$                              

Financing activities 50,486,000 13,416,300 16,479,300 -

Investing activities (47,124,600) (12,358,100) (15,369,900) -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,643,900 420,100 196,100 -

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 196,100 - - -

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 2,840,000$                     420,100$                       196,100$                       -$                              

Summary of Cash Flows
Nine months ended

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 

Use of cash to fund operations for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 is higher than the comparable nine-month 
period ended September 30, 2019, which is consistent with an increase in expenses as noted above in “Costs and Expenses”. The 
differences for the periods presented between operating cash flow and costs and expenses are impacted by non-cash items and 
working capital changes. 

Year ended December 31, 2019 

There was use of operating cash flow for the year ended December 31, 2019 of US$913,300. See “Costs and Expenses” 
above for additional information. The difference for the periods presented between operating cash flow and costs and expenses are 
impacted by non-cash items and working capital changes. 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company received proceeds from the issuance of Common Shares 
of US$50,070,000, as compared to US$13,188,600 during the same period in 2019. The Company also received a related party loan 
of US$323,700 compared to US$227,700 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 respectively. The Company’s 
subsidiary, GBR, received COVID-19 related PPP funding of US$92,300 compared to $0 in the prior year period.  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company received proceeds, net of issuance costs, from the issuance of 
Common Shares of US$16,188,600. The Company also received a related party loan of US$290,700 during the year ended 
December 31, 2019 which was subsequently settled in 2020. 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Nine months ended September 30, 2020 

The Company funded US$11,666,300 (which included US$166,300 of acquisition costs) and US$7,674,404 (which 
included US$174,404 of acquisition costs) pursuant to the TGE Agreement during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 
2019, respectively. During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, the Company invested US$35,458,300 pursuant to 
the Apex Agreement and $0 during the comparable period in 2019. During the period ended September 30, 2019, the Company 
acquired GBR for US$5,000,000 net of cash assumed on acquisition of US$316,300 for a total of US$4,683,700.  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company acquired GBR for US$5,000,000 net of cash assumed of 
US$316,300 for a total of US$4,683,700. During this period, the Company also invested US$10,686,200 (which included 
US$186,200 of acquisition costs) pursuant to the TGE Agreement. 
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CAPITAL RESOURCES 

The Company has continued financial support from its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals, and continues to explore all 
available options to secure funding, including equity financing and strategic partnerships in order to undertake transactions essential 
to operations. As previously mentioned, support from the Company’s ultimate parent, Altius Minerals, or outside investment is 
required for the Company to meet existing investment commitments, and for the continued growth of the business including future 
investments pursuant to the TGE Agreement and Apex Agreement, and other potential royalties (see “Commitments and 
Contractual Obligations” below). The ongoing operating expenses and working capital requirements, including corporate 
development, would be nominal if growth was not anticipated and there would be no known trends or expected fluctuations in 
capital requirements. Ultimately, the Company must raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate sufficient revenue, 
the timing of which is dependent on project lead times as development stage investments mature into royalty revenue. 

The Company has no outside sources of debt financing.  

Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

As at September 30, 2020 the following are the Company’s commitments and contractual obligations over the next 5 years:   

TGE Office lease
Mgmt services 

agreement Total

2021 21,190,000$        10,700$              55,000$              21,255,700$        

2022 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000

2023 - - - -

2024 - - -

2025 - - - -

24,190,000$        10,700$              55,000$              24,255,700$        

The Company has committed to investing in the TGE Investment, in tranches, a total of up to US$24,000,000 anticipated 
to be funded over the next two years as certain milestones are achieved under the TGE Investment. Since the Company’s timeline 
for the investments pursuant to the TGE Agreement is milestone based, the investment amounts may vary year to year and the 
amounts included in the above table are estimates.  

The Company is committed under a consulting agreement with CCA Capital LLC, an external financial services provider, 
to remit certain payments in relation to the TGE Investment and the Apex Investment and other new royalty investments facilitated. 
by CCA Capital LLC. The amounts payable under this agreement are based on the amounts funded and range between 1% to 2% 
of such funded amounts. 

The Company is committed under a lease for office space including operating costs until the lease expires in March 2021. 
As at September 30, 2020, six months of lease payments were remaining of US$10,700. The Company has not currently renegotiated 
a lease for office space however is expected to renew in 2021.

The Company is party to the GBR Services Agreement, pursuant to which all bookkeeping, accounting and financial 
reporting services will be provided by Altius Minerals to GBR through 2020, with services provided into 2021 to be limited solely 
to finalizing 2020 accounting and financial reporting. The flat fee for such services is US$7,500 per month. Back office treasury 
and cash management services for GBR will be provided until January 31, 2021 for a flat fee of US$2,500 per month. 

The Company is also party to the Altius Minerals Services Agreement pursuant to which Altius Minerals will provide 
office space, management, and administrative services, including the services of the CEO, CFO and corporate secretary to ARR for 
a monthly fee of C$50,000 plus applicable taxes beginning on February 1, 2021, which amount was calculated on a cost recovery 
basis, and will be reviewed and adjusted by agreement of the parties, if necessary, after three months. Following the initial review, 
the fees will be subject to a yearly review by the independent directors of ARR. Altius Minerals is also entitled to be reimbursed 
for reasonable out-of-pocket costs it incurs directly for ARR. 

ARR and GBR entered into the GBR – ARR Services Agreement pursuant to which GBR has agreed to provide certain 
services to ARR in connection with ARR’s initial public offering and providing post initial public offering support services, 
including communications with shareholders and stakeholders of ARR, review of public disclosure documents, assistance with the 
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preparation of reports to the Board, attendance at Board meetings and such other services reasonably requested by ARR. As 
consideration for the services, ARR shall pay GBR a daily rate ranging from US$800 to US$2,000 for each individual providing 
services to ARR under the GBR-ARR Services Agreement. 

The Company anticipates it will meet its obligations with the financial support of its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals, and 
any royalty income it receives. The Company anticipates it will meet its obligations under the TGE Agreement and Apex Agreement 
from support from Apollo Fund pursuant to the GBR Joint Venture. 

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Company does not have any off balance sheet arrangements.  

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 the Company received a loan of US$323,700 (December 31, 2019 - 
US$290,700) from its parent for general corporate purposes. During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2020, US$554,500 
was settled in Common Shares issued to ARC (see Note 7 in the interim financial statements) after the exercise of warrants. At 
September 30, 2020, US$59,900 remains owing to ARC. 

During the three month period ended September 30, 2020 the Company paid compensation to key management personnel 
and directors of US$60,900, compared to the three month period ended September 30, 2019 of US$61,300, related to salaries and 
benefits. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2020 the Company paid compensation to key management personnel 
and directors of GBR in the amount of US$202,800, compared to the nine month period ended September 30, 2019 of US$169,900, 
related to salaries and benefits and incurred US$1,346,500 in share-based compensation costs with no comparable costs in the prior 
year period.  

Year ended December 31, 2019 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company received a loan of US$290,700 (December 31, 2018 - $0) from 
ARC for general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2019, this amount remained owing to ARC. 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company paid compensation to key management personnel and directors 
of GBR in the amount of US$231,400 (December 31, 2018 - $0) related to salaries and benefits. 

These related party transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which 
is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. It is management’s estimation that these transactions 
were undertaken under the same terms and conditions as would apply to transactions with non-related parties. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to establish accounting policies and 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company’s significant accounting policies are 
described in Notes 2 and 3 to the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 as well as in Note 3 to the 
interim financial statements for the nine month period ended September 30, 2020. The Company’s significant accounting policies 
are as follows: 

Going Concern 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The ability to continue operations in 
the normal course of business is dependent on several factors, including the Company’s ability to secure funding.  

The Company has continued financial support from its ultimate parent, Altius Minerals, and management is exploring all 
available options to secure funding, including equity financing and strategic partnerships. Parent or outside investment is required 
to meet existing commitments primarily for continued growth of the business. The ongoing operating expenses and working capital 
requirements, including corporate development, would be nominal if growth was not anticipated. Ultimately, the Company must 
raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate sufficient revenue based on project lead times from development stage 
investments into royalties. The Company believes it will have adequate liquidity to support its operations and meet its financial 
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obligations for the next twelve months. The Company has entered into the GBR Joint Venture with Apollo Fund, pursuant to which 
Apollo Fund has the right to earn a 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture by solely funding the next US$80,000,000 in approved 
investment opportunities in GBR following the entering into of the A&R LLC Agreement. The US$80,000,000 million in approved 
investment opportunities includes amounts Apollo Fund has funded to date. Apollo Fund’s interest in the GBR Joint Venture is 
based on the amount of capital contributions made by Apollo Fund to GBR Holdings. The Company has applied judgement in 
assessing funding to be provided by Apollo Fund and its parent (from existing liquidity and cash flow from operations).     

The financial statements do not include any additional adjustments to the recoverability and classification of certain 
recorded asset amounts, classification of certain liabilities and changes to total comprehensive loss that might be necessary if the 
Company was unable to continue as a going concern.  

Investments 

Under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, on initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not 
permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business 
combination. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, 
they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive earnings. 
The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to the statement of earnings on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is 
transferred to retained earnings.  

Impairment of renewable royalty interests 

At each reporting date the carrying amounts of the Company’s royalties are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If an impairment indicator exists, the Company then must determine its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which is the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to 
the recoverable amount. Impairment is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. If an 
impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount but only to the 
extent that this does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined if no impairment had previously been 
recognized. A reversal is recognized as a reduction in impairment in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

Business combinations and goodwill 

Applying the acquisition method to business combinations requires each identifiable asset and liability to be measured at 
its acquisition-date fair value. The excess, if any, of the fair value of consideration over the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
acquired is recognized as goodwill. The determination of the acquisition-date fair values often requires management to make 
assumptions and estimates about future events. The assumptions and estimates with respect to determining the fair value of royalty 
interests and other intangible assets acquired generally require a high degree of judgment, and include estimates of expected 
production levels, future prices, useful lives and discount rates. Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining 
the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the amounts assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase 
price allocation. Acquisition related costs are recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the year of acquisition. 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the net 
of the acquisition-date fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill arising on an acquisition 
of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated goodwill impairment losses, 
if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Company's cash-generating units (or groups of 
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  

A cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU 
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and then to the other assets of the CGU pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for 
goodwill is recognised directly in total loss and comprehensive loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in 
subsequent periods. 

Intangible assets – renewable royalty interests 

Royalty interests acquired are recognized separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or 
legal rights. These intangible assets are also recognized when acquired individually or with a group of other assets. Royalty interests 
are initially recorded at their estimated fair value. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their 
useful economic lives of 17-25 years as appropriate with the amortization expense included in the consolidated statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss. Intangible assets that are not yet ready for use are not amortized until available for use. All intangible 
assets are reviewed for impairment indicators at each reporting period. The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period to 
ensure no adjustments are needed. The Company has no identifiable intangible assets for which the expected useful life is indefinite.

Intangible asset – other 

Other intangible assets are initially recorded at their estimated fair value based on consideration paid to acquire the asset 
or recognized separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights. These intangible assets 
have finite lives and are amortized over their useful economic lives on a straight-line basis over four years, the term of the non-
competition agreement. The amortization expense is included in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. All 
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment indicators at each reporting period. The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting 
period to ensure no adjustments are needed. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Areas requiring the use of management estimates include business combinations and related purchase price allocations, 
share based compensation including inputs to calculate such as interest rates and volatility, useful lives assessment for amortization 
and depletion of the renewable royalty interests and intangible assets, deferred income taxes and the consideration that deferred tax 
assets recorded meet the criteria for recognition, and the assumptions used in the determination of the fair value measurement and 
valuation process for investments in which there is no publicly traded market including key inputs, significant unobservable inputs 
and the relationship and sensitivity of those inputs to fair value. Details of the Company’s critical accounting estimates can be found 
in Note 3 of the annual financial statements. The Company’s critical accounting estimates are described further below.   

Business combinations 

For business combinations, the Company must make assumptions and estimates to determine the fair value of consideration 
paid and the purchase price allocation of the business being acquired. To do so, the Company must determine the acquisition-date 
fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed. Among other things, the 
determination of these fair market values involves the use of discounted cash flow analyses including key judgements such as 
discount rates and timing of cash flows. Goodwill, if any, is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred 
including the recognized amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree over the net recognized amount of the identifiable 
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured at the acquisition date. These assumptions and estimates have an impact on 
the asset and liability amounts recorded in the consolidated balance sheet on the acquisition date. In addition, the estimated useful 
lives of the acquired amortizable assets, the identification of intangible assets and the determination of the indefinite or finite useful 
lives of intangible assets acquired will have an impact on the Company’s future earnings. 

Income taxes 

The Company has available unused operating losses and temporary timing differences as disclosed in Note 8 to the annual 
financial statements. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that all or part of the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Royalty interests and other intangible assets 

The Company holds royalty interests on renewable energy projects as well as holding other intangible assets. The royalty 
interests and intangible assets are recorded using the estimated fair value assigned to the assets on acquisition and are being 
amortized using the estimated useful lives. These estimates affect amortization and the assessment of the recoverability of the 
carrying value of the royalty interests and other intangible assets. 
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Investments 

The Company holds investments in preferred shares convertible under certain conditions into royalty interests on 
renewable energy projects at a future date. These investments are recorded and measured using fair value. Fair value is determined 
using estimates based on anticipated project milestones, expected future cash flows and hurdle rates, and assumptions on discount 
rates. Due to the high degree of estimation required, these estimates may affect the underlying valuation. If an income approach is 
not possible, the Company utilizes cost as a proxy for fair value.  

Fair value measurements and valuation processes  

Some of the Company’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes and at each 
reporting date determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. The Company measures fair value 
by level using a fair value hierarchy.  

Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; inputs other 
than quoted prices used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; inputs that are derived principally from or 
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means; and estimates of expected volatility, expected life and 
expected risk-free rate of return; and 

Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs. Amounts allocated to level 3 consist of 
acquisitions during the year. 

Some of the Company’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financial reporting purposes and at each 
reporting date determines the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the fair value 
of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not 
available, the Company uses an income approach valuation methodology such as discounted cash flows and net present valuation 
calculations. The Company has recorded an unrealized gain of US$3,596,200 during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 
(December 31, 2019 - $0).  

Valuation technique and key inputs  

The Company applies an income approach methodology primarily modelled with risk adjusted discounted cash flows to 
capture the present value of expected future economic benefits to be derived from the ownership of the royalty contracts to be 
granted in exchange for the investments. The total number and value of royalty contracts to be ultimately awarded is subject to a 
minimum return threshold, which has the effect of muting the potential value impact of several of the unobservable inputs. If an 
income approach is not possible or the investment is recent, the Company utilizes cost as a proxy for fair value. The Company 
works with valuation specialists to establish valuation methodologies and techniques for Level 3 assets including approach, 
assumptions using publicly available and internally available information, updates for changes to inputs to the model and reconciling 
any changes in the fair value of the assets for each reporting date within its financial models. 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company is currently not required to comply with National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ 
Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”). As a publicly traded company, it will become subject to reporting and other obligations 
under applicable Canadian Securities Laws, including NI 52¬109, and the rules of the TSX. The Company will also be required to 
establish and maintain adequate internal controls over financial reporting, which is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with IFRS. These reporting and other obligations will place significant demands on the Company’s management, 
administrative, operational and accounting resources. In order to meet such requirements, the Company will be required to, among 
other things, establish systems, implement financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures. In anticipation of 
the closing of the Offering, the Company has established disclosure controls and procedures over financial reporting including 
systems and processes that have been designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and that the financial 
reporting is accurate and reliable. 

The Company does not expect that its disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial reporting will 
prevent all error or fraud. A control system, no matter how well-designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not 
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absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that 
there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to its costs. Due to the inherent limitations in 
all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues within an organization are 
detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty and that breakdowns can 
occur because of simple errors. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of certain persons, by collusion of two or 
more persons or by management override of controls. Due to the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, 
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely manner or at all. 

EVALUATION AND EFFECTIVENESS OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company is currently not required to comply with NI 52-109.  

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed to various risk factors that may affect the fair value 
presentation or the amount ultimately received or paid on settlement of its assets and liabilities. The Company manages these risks 
through prudent investment and business decisions, and, where the exposure is deemed too high, the Company may enter into 
derivative contracts to reduce this exposure. The Company does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative 
purposes.  

A summary of the major financial instrument risks and the Company’s approach to the management of these risks are 
included below.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third-party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial 
instrument. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and receivables. The Company closely monitors its financial assets, 
including the receivables from royalty operators who are responsible for remitting royalty income.  

The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held in fully segregated accounts and include only Canadian and U.S. dollar 
instruments. The Company does not expect any liquidity issues or credit losses on these instruments. 

Foreign currency risk  

Foreign currency rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows will fluctuate because of the changes in foreign 
exchange rates. The Company has a portion of its cash denominated in Canadian dollars for certain working capital items and 
corporate costs. The Company does not enter into any derivative contracts to reduce this exposure and maintains limited balances 
in other currencies. The foreign currency loss incurred was US$6,600 and US$700 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and nine 
months ended September 30, 2020, respectively.  

Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
receives continuing financial support from Altius Minerals, its ultimate parent, to ensure adequate working capital and future cash 
flows and continues to explore external funding options and believes that it is able to meet current and future obligations. This 
conclusion could change with a significant change in the operations of the Company or as a result of other developments including 
any unforeseen changes in the Company’s relationship with Apollo Fund. See discussion in Liquidity section above.  

Other price risk  

The value of the Company’s investments is exposed to fluctuations in price depending on a number of factors, including 
general market conditions, company-specific operating performance and the success of the sale of projects. The Company does not 
utilize any derivative contracts to reduce this exposure.  

OTHER RISK FACTORS AND KEY SUCCESS FACTORS 

An investment in securities of the Company involves a significant degree of risk that should be considered prior to making 
an investment decision. In addition to discussions of risk factors and business issues elsewhere in this Prospectus, the investor 
should consider the following risk factors (see also the discussion on “Risk Factors” elsewhere in this prospectus): 
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COVID-19 

The current outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID 19) declared by the World Health Organization in March 2020, 
and any future emergence and spread of similar pathogens, could have a material adverse effect on global and local economic and  
business conditions. In response to the outbreak, governmental authorities in Canada, the United States and other countries have 
introduced various recommendations and measures to try to limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, non-
essential business closures, quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The efforts to contain COVID-19 
have negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted manufacturing operations as well as global supply chains and created 
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. Moreover, COVID-19 may result in a global recession. Businesses in many 
countries around the globe, including in Canada and the United States, have been required to close, or materially alter their day-to-
day operations, which may prevent many businesses from operating. These containment measures are subject to change and the 
respective government authorities may tighten the restrictions at any time.  

The Company has been closely monitoring developments related to COVID-19. In response, the Company is following all 
applicable rules and regulations as set out by the relevant health authorities and when necessary, taking action. For example, the 
Company has implemented remote working policies and has increased cleaning and safety protocols. Given the nature of the 
Company’s business, the impacts of COVID-19 on the Company to date have not been material and the Company does not anticipate 
any future material disruptions in its ability to conduct its business as a result of COVID-19. Further the Company is not aware of 
any material impacts on the projects underlying the Company’s royalty assets or geothermal wells. However,  the extent to which 
COVID-19 will impact the Company’s operations and the operations of the power generation facilities in which the Company 
invests, will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including: actions 
that may be taken by governments and private businesses to attempt to contain COVID-19, the duration of the outbreak and new 
information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19, among others. In particular, while the impact of COVID-19 on 
the supply chain in the construction and development space has not yet resulted in any material widespread issues, the potential for 
future issues stemming from COVID-19 still exists. Any present or future impacts on the supply chain could influence the timing 
and cost of the renewable power projects under development and delay the development of future projects.  

The Company may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or as it determines are in the best 
interests of its business partners. There is no guarantee that the Company, or the power generation facilities in which the Company 
invests, will not experience significant disruptions in the future. For example, Facility Owners and their employees may be 
prevented from conducting business activities for an indefinite period due to the transmission of the disease or due to emergency 
measures or restrictions that may be requested by governmental authorities. COVID-19 may affect the financial viability of 
renewable power developers and originators, impact their and their staff’s availability ability to develop and construct renewable 
power facilities and could cause them to exit certain business lines, or change the terms on which they are willing to provide 
royalties. Further, the economic and business contraction that may occur as a result of restrictions imposed by governments has and 
may continue to affect the demand for power generation. A reduction in energy demand or changes in general economic or market 
conditions, which have an adverse impact on energy process could adversely affect the Company’s profitability, results of operation 
and financial conditions.  

Moreover, the spread of COVID-19 globally is expected to have a material adverse effect on global and regional economies 
and could negatively impact stock markets. These adverse effects on the economy, the stock market and potentially the Company’s 
share price could adversely impact the Company’s ability to raise capital. Any of these developments, and others, could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition, could delay its business 
development plans and could heighten many of the known risks described in the “Risk Factors” section. 

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA

On January 15, 2021, the Company filed articles of amendment and consolidated its Common Shares on the basis of one 
post-consolidation Common Share for every four pre-consolidation Common Shares. The consolidation was effected on January 
15, 2021.  The Company’s number of issued and outstanding Common Shares are retrospectively presented to reflect the 4:1 share 
consolidation including the weighted average number of outstanding Common Shares used in the net earnings (loss) per share 
calculations and the number and pricing of outstanding and exercisable options and warrants. 

At February 24, 2021 the Company had 16,719,889 Common Shares outstanding, 3,093,835 warrants outstanding and 
1,147,082 stock options outstanding.  
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
RESULT OF OPERATION OPERATIONS OF GREAT BAY RENEWABLES, LLC 

The following management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“GBR MD&A”) 
has been prepared as of the date of the prospectus and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of GBR for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017, including the related 
notes thereto (for the purposes of this GBR MD&A, the “consolidated financial statements”). This GBR MD&A has been 
prepared as of January 18, 2021.  

GBR’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS and are presented in U.S. dollars 
unless otherwise indicated. GBR manages its business on the basis of one operating and reportable segment. 

This GBR MD&A contains certain forward looking information that involves risks and uncertainties, including but not 
limited to, those described in the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus. See “Forward-Looking Information” and “Risk Factors” 
for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements. Actual results may differ materially 
from those indicated or underlying forward-looking information as a result of various factors, including those described in “Risk 
Factors” and elsewhere in this GBR MD&A. 

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

GBR, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, and formerly a subsidiary of BayCorp, is an entity with a strategic objective 
of adapting a royalty investment model traditionally used in the mining and fossil fuel industries. GBR provides capital to the 
renewable energy sector in exchange for royalties in renewable energy generating facilities at all states in their life cycle. GBR was 
created on November 9, 2017 and acquired two royalty assets, one in December 2017 and one in July 2018, as noted below in 
“Acquisitions”.  

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

GBR’s overall performance is dependent on the industry and economy in which it operates. Renewable power is derived 
from natural processes that are constantly replenished and represent low or non-carbon emitting sources of power. There are various 
forms of renewable power originating directly or indirectly from wind, hydroelectric, solar, biomass and geothermal sources. The 
power industry in the U.S. has enjoyed significant growth both in scale and diversity of production. This historical growth has 
mirrored the broad economic growth and rapid consumer expansion that occurred within the U.S. 

The long-term strategy of GBR is to gain exposure to renewable power projects and associated revenue by owning and 
managing a portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties. Royalties may also be acquired directly from project originators, 
developers and operators, as well as third-party holders of existing royalties, across the spectrum of project stages. 

In executing this strategy, GBR seeks interests that provide it direct exposure to revenues tied to renewable energy 
generation, without the direct operating costs and risks that are associated with the development and construction of renewable 
energy projects. 

GBR manages its business under one operating segment consisting of the acquisition and management of renewable energy 
royalties. Through the acquisition of royalties, GBR mitigates the development and construction risk that would be associated with 
specific projects as it does not operate renewable energy assets or develop projects. The industry and economic factors that would 
impact GBR’s performance are relatively sheltered in comparison to an operator. GBR would be exposed to changes in power prices 
which may increase or decrease the royalties generated.  
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION

Year ended 52 day period ended

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Royalty income 165,300$                                          -$                                                 

Costs and Expenses 245,100 -

Net loss (79,800) -

Total assets 2,141,000$                                       1,601,000$                                       

Total liabilities - -

Cash dividends declared & paid to sharesholders - -

* per share figures not applicable as no shares outstanding

During the year ended December 31, 2018, GBR’s revenue consisted of royalty income on the Clyde River royalty and on 
geothermal wells owned through NEO Geothermal commenced during the year. During the year ended December 31, 2018, GBR 
incurred expenses of US$245,100 and a net loss of US$79,800. Expenses consisted mainly of general and administrative expenses 
of US$176,800 incurred by BayCorp on behalf of GBR and amortization of US$66,300. GBR’s assets have increased in line with 
the acquisition of Clyde River royalty and the geothermal wells.  

Acquisitions 

Pursuant to a royalty agreement dated December 1, 2017, GBR acquired a 10% gross revenue royalty for US$1,600,000 
on Great Bay Hydro’s renewable assets. At the time of the acquisition, both GBR and Great Bay Hydro were wholly owned 
subsidiaries of BayCorp. The terms of the agreement provide that Great Bay Hydro shall pay the purchaser a royalty equal to 10% 
of the gross revenues on renewable electricity generation assets, including the Clyde River hydro and solar projects. This acquisition 
was determined to be an asset acquisition and the value of the royalty was agreed upon between two related parties. 

On July 3, 2018, BayCorp assigned its 100% interest in NEO Geothermal to GBR. Pursuant to the transaction, GBR 
acquired NEO Geothermal’s interest in a geothermal wellfield in Portsmouth, New Hampshire, at its carrying value of US$180,500. 
This acquisition was determined to be an asset acquisition and the value of the royalty was agreed upon between two related parties.

Subsequent events 

On February 4, 2019, GBR was acquired by ARR for US$5,000,000, net of cash assumed on acquisition of US$316,300 
for a total of US$4,683,700. ARR was formed to acquire GBR as part of Altius Minerals’ strategy to diversify its legacy coal 
exposure and focus its strategy on providing royalty financing to further the development of sustainable resource projects. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

GBR had no activities during the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017 other than the acquisition of the royalty 
agreement noted above and therefore such period is not referenced in the below discussion. 

Revenue and other income 

GBR generated royalty income of US$165,300 during the year ended December 31, 2018. These royalties were derived 
from the Clyde River royalty and the geothermal wells through NEO Geothermal. The Clyde River royalty commenced production 
in 2018 and income generated from the geothermal wells commenced following the acquisition of NEO Geothermal.  

Costs and Expenses 

Year ended

December 31, 2018

General and administrative 178,800$                          

Amortization 66,300

245,100$                          

Costs and Expenses
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During the year ended December 31, 2018, GBR incurred costs for general and administrative purposes of US$178,800 of 
which US$176,800 was paid to BayCorp for management services and legal and professional fees paid on behalf of GBR and 
amortization of US$66,300 related to the royalty interests.  

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

There is no quarterly financial information available for GBR. 

LIQUIDITY AND CASH FLOWS 

At December 31, 2018, GBR had current assets of US$426,800, consisting of US$385,000 in cash and cash equivalents 
and US$41,800 in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses. GBR had no current liabilities. GBR’s sources of cash flow are from 
royalty income and member contributions.  

At December 31, 2018, GBR has approximately US$426,800 in working capital. Subsequent to December 31, 2018, GBR 
was acquired by ARR for US$5,000,000 net of cash assumed on acquisition of US$316,300 for a total of US$4,683,700.  

Year ended
December 31, 2018

Operating activities -$                             

Financing activities 385,000

Investing activities -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 385,000

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period -

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 385,000$                      

Summary of Cash Flow s

GBR had no activities during the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017 and therefore such period is not referenced in 
the below discussion. 

Operating Activities 

Cash flows used for operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $0, reflecting net loss adjusted for 
non-cash member contributions and working capital changes.  

Financing Activities 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, GBR received member cash contributions of US$385,000.

Investing Activities 

GBR did not have any investing activities.  

CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

GBR had no commitments or contractual obligations. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

GBR acquired a 10% royalty during the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017 and 100% ownership in NEO Geothermal 
from BayCorp during the year ended December 31, 2018.  

BayCorp charged GBR US$176,800 during the year ended December 31, 2018 (as compared to $0 during the 52 day 
period ended December 31, 2017) for general and administrative costs and support. 
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These related party transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount, which 
is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties. It is management’s estimation that these transactions 
were undertaken under the same terms and conditions as would apply to transactions with non-related parties. 

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to establish accounting policies and 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent liabilities and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Areas requiring the use of management estimates 
include impairment of royalty interests. Details of GBR significant accounting policies and critical accounting estimates can be 
found in Notes 2 and 3 of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 and are noted below.  

Going concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. GBR reported a net loss and total 
comprehensive loss of US$79.800 for the year ended December 31, 2018, and $0 for the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017. 
The ability to continue operations in the normal course of business is dependent on several factors, including its ability to secure 
funding as required.  

Management is exploring all available options to secure funding, including equity financing and strategic partnerships. 
Third-party investment is required primarily for continued growth of the business. The ongoing operating expenses and working 
capital requirements including corporate development would be nominal if growth was not anticipated. GBR believes it will have 
adequate liquidity to support its operations and meet its financial obligations for the next twelve months. In February 2019, GBR 
was acquired by ARR thus allowing GBR to continue as a going concern. As at December 31, 2018, GBR had cash and cash 
equivalents of US$385,000 (December 31, 2017 - $0) and current liabilities of $0 (December 31, 2017 - $0).   

The consolidated financial statements do not include any additional adjustments to the recoverability and classification of 
certain recorded asset amounts, classification of certain liabilities and changes to statement of loss and comprehensive loss that 
might be necessary if GBR was unable to continue as a going concern.  

Impairment of renewable royalty interests 

At each reporting date the carrying amounts of GBR’s royalties are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets are impaired. If an impairment indicator exists, GBR then must determine its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which is the present value of future cash flows expected 
to be derived from the asset.  

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of 
future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to 
the recoverable amount. Impairment is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. If an 
impairment subsequently reverses, the carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount but only to the 
extent that this does not exceed the carrying value that would have been determined if no impairment had previously been 
recognized. A reversal is recognized as a reduction in impairment in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss.

Intangible assets – renewable royalty interests 

Royalty interests acquired are recognized separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or 
legal rights. These intangible assets are also recognized when acquired individually or with a group of other assets. Royalty interests 
are initially recorded at their estimated fair value. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their useful economic lives 
on a straight-line basis as appropriate with the amortization expense included in the statement of loss. Intangible assets that are not 
yet ready for use are not amortized until available for use. All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment indicators at each 
reporting period. The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure no adjustments are needed. GBR has no identifiable 
intangible assets for which the expected useful life is indefinite. GBR amortizes its renewable royalty interest over 25 years. 

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience, current and future economic 
conditions and other factors, including expectations of events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In 
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preparing these consolidated financial statements, the significant judgments made by management in applying GBR's accounting 
policies, basis of consolidation and the key sources of estimation uncertainty include but are not limited to the following: 

Intangible assets - royalty interests  

GBR holds royalty interests on renewable energy projects. The royalty interests and intangible assets are recorded using 
the estimated fair value assigned to the assets on acquisition and are being amortized using the estimated useful lives. These 
estimates affect amortization and the assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of the royalty interests and other 
intangible assets. 

OFF BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

GBR does not have any off balance sheet arrangements.  

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

GBR’s financial assets are exposed to various risk factors that may affect the fair value presentation or the amount 
ultimately received or paid on settlement of its assets and liabilities. GBR manages these risks through prudent investment and 
business decisions, and, where the exposure is deemed too high, GBR enters into derivative contracts to reduce this exposure. GBR 
does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  

A summary of the major financial instrument risks and GBR’s approach to the management of these risks are included 
below.  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third-party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial 
instrument. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and receivables. GBR closely monitors its financial assets, including 
the receivables from royalty operators who are responsible for remitting royalty income.  

GBR’s cash and cash equivalents are held in fully segregated accounts and include only Canadian and U.S. dollar 
instruments. GBR does not expect any liquidity issues or credit losses on these instruments. 

Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that GBR will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come due. GBR received 
financial support from its parent corporation, BayCorp to ensure adequate working capital and future cash flows and continues to 
explore external funding options and believes that it is able to meet current and future obligations. This conclusion could change 
with a significant change in the operations of GBR or as a result of other developments.  

Other Price Risk  

The value of GBR’s investments is exposed to fluctuations in price depending on a number of factors, including general 
market conditions, company-specific operating performance and the success of the sale of projects. GBR does not utilize any 
derivative contracts to reduce this exposure.  

OTHER RISK FACTORS AND KEY SUCCESS FACTORS 

An investment in securities involves a significant degree of risk that should be considered prior to making an investment 
decision. In addition to discussions of risk factors and business issues elsewhere in this Prospectus, the investor should consider the 
following risk factors (see also the discussion on “Risk Factors” elsewhere in the Prospectus):  

COVID-19 

and any future emergence and spread of similar pathogens, could have a material adverse effect on global and local economic and 
business conditions. In response to the outbreak, governmental authorities in Canada, the United States and other countries have 
introduced various recommendations and measures to try to limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, 
nonessential business closures, quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The efforts to contain COVID-
19 have negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted manufacturing operations as well as global supply chains and created 
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significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. Moreover, COVID-19 may result in a global recession. Businesses in many 
countries around the globe, including in Canada and the United States, have been required to close, or materially alter their day-to-
day operations, which may prevent many businesses from operating. These containment measures are subject to change and the 
respective government authorities may tighten the restrictions at any time. 

The Company has been closely monitoring developments related to COVID-19. In response to COVID-19, the Company 
is following all applicable rules and regulations as set out by the relevant health authorities. The extent to which the coronavirus 
impacts the Company’s operations, and the operations of the power generation facilities in which the Company invests, will depend 
on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including: actions that may be taken 
by governments and private businesses to attempt to contain COVID-19, the duration of the outbreak, and new information that 
may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus, among others. In particular, the impact of COVID-19 on the supply chain 
in the construction and development space is not yet fully understood. Any present or future impacts on the supply chain could 
influence the timing and cost of the renewable power projects under development and delay the development of future projects.  

The Company may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or as it determines are in the best 
interests of its business partners. There is no guarantee that the Company, or the power generation facilities in which the Company 
invests, will not experience significant disruptions in the future. For example, Facility Owners and their employees may be 
prevented from conducting business activities for an indefinite period due to the transmission of the disease or due to emergency 
measures or restrictions that may be requested by governmental authorities. COVID-19 may affect the financial viability of 
renewable power developers and originators, impact their ability to develop and construct renewable power facilities and could 
cause them to exit certain business lines, or change the terms on which they are willing to provide royalties. Further, the economic 
and business contraction that may occur as a result of restrictions imposed by governments has and may continue to affect the 
demand for power generation. A reduction in energy demand or changes in general economic or market conditions which have an 
adverse impact on energy process could adversely affect the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial conditions.  

Moreover, the spread of the coronavirus globally is expected to have a material adverse effect on global and regional 
economies and to continue to negatively impact stock markets. These adverse effects on the economy, the stock market could 
adversely impact the Company’s ability to raise capital. Any of these developments, and others, could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition, could delay its business development plans and could 
heighten many of the known risks described in the “Risk Factors” section.  
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets forth certain summary information in respect of the Directors of the Company.  

Name, Province/State and 
Country of Residence Principal Occupation  Director Since 

David Bronicheski(3)(4)

Ontario, Canada 
Corporate director December 7, 2020 

Judy Cotte(5)(6)

Ontario, Canada
CEO of ESG Global Advisors January 8, 2021 

André Gaumond(4)(8)

Quebec, Canada
Corporate director December 7, 2020 

Earl Ludlow(1)(2) (6)

Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Canada

Corporate director February 6, 2019 

Anna El-Erian(2)(7)(8)

British Columbia, Canada
Corporate director December 7, 2020 

Notes: 
(1) Chairman of the Board. 
(2) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(3) Chair of the Audit Committee. 
(4) Member of the Corporate Governance Committee  

(5) Chair of the Corporate Governance Committee  
(6) Member of the Compensation and Nominating Committee  
(7) Chair of the Compensation and Nominating Committee 
(8) Altius Minerals nominee.  

COMPANY DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The following are brief profiles of the Directors of the Company, including a description of each individual’s principal 
occupation within the past five years. 

David Bronicheski, age 61 

David Bronicheski is a Corporate Director currently serving on the board of Badger Daylighting Ltd., a publicly traded 
Canadian corporation. Mr. Bronicheski previously held the position of Chief Financial Officer of Algonquin Power & Utilities 
Corp. (successor corporation to Algonquin Power Income Fund) from 2007 to 2020 and Executive Vice President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Amtelecom Income Fund from 2003 to 2007. He also was Chief Financial Officer for a large public hospital 
in Ontario. Mr. Bronicheski holds a Bachelor of Arts in economics (cum laude), a Bachelor of Commerce degree and an MBA 
(University of Toronto, Rotman School of Management). He is also a Chartered Accountant and a Chartered Professional 
Accountant.  

Judy Cotte, age 51 

Judy Cotte is a globally recognized expert on ESG and responsible investment. She is currently Chief Executive Officer 
of ESG Global Advisors, a firm that bridges the gap between companies and investors on environmental, social and governance 
factors. Prior to forming ESG Global Advisors, from 2012 to 2019 Ms. Cotte was Vice President and Head of Corporate Governance 
and Responsible Investment for RBC Global Asset Management and was a member of the firm’s Executive Committee. From 2009 
to 2012, Ms. Cotte was the Director of Policy Development and Chief Operating Officer for the Canadian Coalition for Good 
Governance. Ms. Cotte has a law degree from the University of Toronto, a Master’s degree in securities law from Osgoode Hall 
Law School and practiced law in various capacities, including as enforcement counsel with the Ontario Securities Commission, 
litigation counsel with a large broker and as a partner in a Bay Street law firm. 

André Gaumond, age 59

André Gaumond was President, CEO and founder of Virginia Gold Mines from 1993 to 2006, which discovered the 
Éléonore deposit, and was later sold to Goldcorp Inc., and similarly CEO of successor company Virginia Mines Inc. from 2006 to 
2014 that was acquired by Osisko Gold Royalties Ltd in 2014. Mr. Gaumond served on the board of Osisko Gold Royalties Ltd 
from 2016 to 2019. Mr. Gaumond is currently a director of Harfang Exploration Inc. and advisor of Dore Copper Mining Inc. He 



90 

is also on the board of the Fonds Restor- Action Nunavik (2007 to present) and the Restor - Action Cree Fund (2019 to present), 
two clean up initiatives that Mr. Gaumond initiated to rehabilitate abandoned exploration mining sites. Mr. Gaumond holds a 
Bachelor of Geological Engineering from Universite Laval and a Master’s degree in Geological Engineering from École 
Polytechnique. 

Earl Ludlow, age 63

Earl Ludlow retired at the end of 2017 as Executive Vice President, Eastern Canadian and Caribbean Operations and 
Operational Advisor to the President and Chief Executive Officer of Fortis Inc. His career with the Fortis Group spanned nearly 40 
years and included executive roles at Fortis subsidiaries Maritime Electric, Newfoundland Power and Fortis Alberta and then CEO 
roles at subsidiaries Fortis Properties and Newfoundland Power. He has served on the boards of Canadian Electricity Association, 
Maritime Electric, Belize Electricity, Caribbean Utilities, Fortis Ontario, Fortis Turks and Caicos, and Newfoundland Power. Mr. 
Ludlow earned a Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical) in 1980 and a Masters of Business Administration from Memorial University, 
Newfoundland and Labrador in 1994. He is also a professional engineer. 

Anna El-Erian, age 55  

Anna El-Erian is a corporate lawyer with over 20 years of experience in the global capital markets having spent much of 
her career in investment banking, private equity, and corporate management and restructuring. She is currently a Director of Gabriel 
Resources Ltd, Entrée Gold, Sabina Gold & Silver and the Fraser Institute. Ms. El-Erian graduated with a Bachelor of Arts and a 
post graduate degree in Bachelor of Laws from University of Witwatersrand in Johannesburg, South Africa. 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets forth certain summary information in respect of the executive officers of the Company. Pursuant 
to the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, the executive officers will not devote all of their time to the business and affairs of the 
Company. 

Name, Province/State and 
Country of Residence Position with the Company Principal Occupation 

Brian Dalton 
Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Canada 

Chief Executive Officer President and Chief Executive Officer of Altius Minerals  

Ben Lewis 
Newfoundland and Labrador, 
Canada

Chief Financial Officer Chief Financial Officer of Altius Minerals 

COMPANY EXECUTIVE OFFICER BIOGRAPHIES

The following are brief profiles of the executive officers of the Company, including a description of each individual’s 
principal occupation within the past five years. 

Brian Dalton, age 48 – Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Brian Dalton co-founded Altius Minerals, the parent of ARR, as a junior mining company in 1997 and has served as its 
CEO and as a director since then helping to grow Altius Minerals to a company with an asset base in excess of US$500 million. 
Altius Minerals is now a leading global diversified mineral royalty company with revenue from 14 producing mines and is a member 
of the TSX/S&P Global Mining Index. He has also previously served as a director of Rambler Metals and Mining plc, Aurora 
Energy Resources Inc. and Alderon Iron Ore Corp., all of which were spun out from Altius Minerals generated projects. He is also 
the chair of Adventus Zinc Corp. Brian has overseen completion of numerous project-level agreements with a wide array of senior 
to junior mining and exploration companies and has had key involvement with the raising of several hundred millions of dollars in 
capital for resource projects.  

Brian will be providing services to ARR under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, which contains a non-disclosure 
provision in favour of ARR. Under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, Brian is expected to devote approximately 33% of his 
working time to the affairs of the Company. 
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Ben Lewis, age 52– Chief Financial Officer  

Ben Lewis joined Altius Minerals’ executive team as Chief Financial Officer in 2006. Prior to joining Altius Minerals, 
Ben held roles with increasing levels of responsibility with both private and public companies. His most recent former position was 
that of Corporate Controller for NYSE and TSX-listed CHC Helicopter Corporation. His responsibilities with Altius Minerals 
include overseeing its financial management and reporting as well as contributing valuation and structuring expertise to its royalty 
investment and project generation initiatives. Ben graduated from Memorial University of Newfoundland with a Bachelor of 
Commerce in 1991 and earned his Chartered Accountant designation in 1993.  

Ben will be providing services to ARR under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, which contains a non-disclosure 
provision in favour of ARR. Under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, Ben is expected to devote approximately 33% of his 
working time to the affairs of the Company. 

OWNERSHIP OF COMMON SHARES

Immediately following Closing, as a group the Directors and officers of the Company will not beneficially own, directly 
or indirectly, any of the Common Shares (assuming Directors and officers of the Company do not purchase any Common Shares 
under the Offering and do not participate in the Over-Allotment Option).  

TERMS OF DIRECTORSHIP

The Directors will hold office for a term expiring at the conclusion of the next annual meeting of shareholders of ARR, or 
until their successors are duly elected or appointed pursuant to the ABCA and such Directors will be eligible for re-election. Pursuant 
to the terms of the Investor Rights Agreement, the Board of ARR will be comprised of five individuals, two of whom shall be 
appointed by Altius Minerals. Following Closing and thereafter, Altius Minerals shall be entitled to nominate one of the directors 
of the Company for so long as the percentage of outstanding Common Shares beneficially owned directly or indirectly by Altius 
Minerals or its affiliates is not less than 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares and two of the directors of the Company 
for so long as the percentage of outstanding Common Shares beneficially owned directly or indirectly by Altius Minerals or its 
affiliates is not less than 40% of the outstanding Common Shares. Subject to any requirements of the ABCA, Altius Minerals shall 
be entitled to nominate for appointment or election to the Board a replacement director for any nominee director of Altius Minerals 
who ceases for any reason to be a director of the Board, provided Altius Minerals remains, at that time, entitled to appoint such 
director. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals – Investor Rights Agreement”.  

CEASE TRADE ORDERS, BANKRUPTCIES, PENALTIES OR SANCTIONS 

Cease trade orders 

Other than as set out below, to the knowledge of the Company, no Director or executive officer of the Company, nor any 
promoter of the Company (nor any personal holding company of any of such Persons) is, as of the date of this prospectus, or was 
within ten years before the date of this prospectus, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company 
(including the Company) that: (a) was subject to a cease trade order (including a management cease trade order), an order similar 
to a cease trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, in each 
case that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days (collectively, an “Order”), and that was issued while the 
Director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or (b) was 
subject to an Order that was issued after the Director or executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred while that Person was acting in the capacity as director, chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer. 

Brian Dalton, also serves as a director of Newfoundland and Labrador Refining Corporation (“NLRC”). In response to a 
bankruptcy petition initiated by a contractor, NLRC sought and was granted creditor protection under the Bankruptcy and Insolvency 
Act on June 24, 2008. This protection enabled NLRC, under the supervision of a trustee, to formulate a proposal for restructuring 
and to continue its efforts to attract financing and/or partners for the refinery project. No further proceedings have been taken by 
creditors to place NLRC into bankruptcy and NLRC is currently a dormant corporation. 

Bankruptcies 

To the knowledge of the Company, no Director or executive officer of the Company, nor any promoter of the Company 
or its shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company, as applicable, to affect materially the control of the 
Company (nor any personal holding company of any of such Persons): (a) is, as at the date of this prospectus, or has been within 
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the ten years before the date of this prospectus, a director or executive officer of any company (including the Company) that, while 
that Person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that Person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or (b) has, within the ten years 
before the date of this prospectus, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or 
become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the Director, executive officer or shareholder. 

Penalties or sanctions 

To the knowledge of the Company, no Director or executive officer of the Company, nor any promoter of the Company 
or their respective shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
Company (nor any personal holding company of any of such Persons), has been subject to: (a) any penalties or sanctions imposed 
by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a 
securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

Conflicts of interest 

Certain of the Directors and executive officers of the Company are engaged in, and may continue to be engaged in, other 
activities in the industries in which the Company operates from time to time. Certain Directors are nominees of Altius Minerals and 
also serve on its board of directors and all of the executive officers are also executive officers of Altius Minerals. The ABCA 
provides that in the event that an officer or director is a party to, or is a director or an officer of, or has a material interest in any 
Person who is a party to, a material contract or material transaction or proposed material contract or proposed material transaction, 
such officer or director shall disclose the nature and extent of his or her interest and shall refrain from voting to approve such 
contract or transaction, unless otherwise provided under the ABCA. To the extent that conflicts of interest arise, such conflicts will 
be resolved in accordance with the provisions of the ABCA. 

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this prospectus, as of the date hereof, the Company is not aware of any existing or 
potential material conflicts of interest between the Company and any Director or executive officer of the Company. 

Indebtedness  

The Company is not aware of any individuals who are either current or former executive officers, directors or employees 
of the Company and who have indebtedness outstanding as at the date hereof (whether entered into in connection with the purchase 
of securities of the Company or otherwise) that is owing to: (i) the Company, or (ii) another entity where such indebtedness is the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company. 

Indemnification and insurance  

Pursuant to its obligations under the GBR Services Agreement, Altius Minerals has acquired and maintains liability 
insurance for the Directors and officers of ARR as well as those of its subsidiaries, including GBR. The total coverage limit of 
Altius Minerals’ current insurance is retention of US$100,000 per claim and US$40 million in the annual aggregate. See 
“Agreements with Altius Minerals - GBR Services Agreement”.  

The Company anticipates entering into indemnification agreements with its Directors and officers. Indemnification 
agreements will generally require that the Company indemnify and hold the indemnitees harmless to the greatest extent permitted 
by law for liabilities arising out of the indemnitees’ service to the Company as directors and officers, if the indemnitees acted 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company and, with respect to criminal or administrative actions 
or proceedings that are enforced by monetary penalty, if the indemnitee had reasonable grounds to believe that his or her conduct 
was lawful. The indemnification agreements also provide for the advancement of defence expenses to the indemnitees by the 
Company. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

GENERAL

In connection with the Offering, the Board will adopt charters, position descriptions and corporate governance policies 
and practices that are intended to meet or exceed the independence and other governance standards and guidelines set out in 
NP 58-201. The corporate governance policies and principles address various topics, including: 

(a) nomination of directors;  

(b) responsibilities and duties of the Board, and Board assessments; 

(c) composition of the Board, including criteria for remaining a Director and Director independence; 

(d) compensation of the Board; 

(e) composition and responsibilities of the Audit Committee; 

(f) composition and responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee; 

(g) composition and responsibilities of the Compensation and Nominating Committee; 

(h) relationship of the Board to management;  

(i) Director orientation and continuing education; and 

(j) business conduct and ethics, including conflicts of interests, confidentiality, compliance with laws, and reporting 
of illegal or unethical behaviour. 

THE BOARD

The Board is comprised of five Directors: Earl Ludlow, Anna El-Erian, André Gaumond, David Bronicheski and Judy 
Cotte. The Board has determined that each of the members is independent in accordance with NI 52-110. Anna El-Erian and André 
Gaumond, the Altius Minerals nominees, are also independent directors of Altius Minerals. A Director is independent if he or she 
has no direct or indirect material relationship with the Company or its parent or subsidiaries. A “material relationship” is a 
relationship which could, in the view of the Board, be reasonably expected to interfere with the exercise of a Director’s independent 
judgment. Certain types of relationships are by their nature considered to be material relationships pursuant to NI 52-110.  

The Company will take steps to ensure that adequate structures and processes are in place to permit the Board to function 
independently of management of the Company and Altius Minerals. The Chair of the Board must be independent and the role of 
the Chair of the Board is to effectively manage and to provide leadership to the Board and to ensure that the policies and procedures 
adopted by the Board allow the Board to function independently of management and Altius Minerals (as detailed in Schedule A to 
B of this prospectus). Where matters arise at meetings of the Board which require decision making and evaluation that is independent 
of management and any interested Directors, the Company’s Directors shall hold an “in camera” session among the independent 
and disinterested Directors, without management present at such meeting. Certain of the Directors are also directors of other issuers 
that are reporting issuers (or the equivalent), as follows:  

Director Other Directorships Stock Exchange Listing 

David Bronicheski Badger Daylighting Ltd. TSX 

Judy Cotte Gibson Energy Inc.  TSX 

André Gaumond Altius Minerals, Harfang Exploration Inc.  TSX, TSXV 

Anna El-Erian Altius Minerals, Eco Oro Minerals Corp., 
Entrée Gold Inc., Sabina Gold & Silver 
Corp. 

TSX, CSE 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer will provide services to the Company under the Altius Minerals 
Services Agreement. See “Executive Compensation – Summary Compensation Table” and “Executive Compensation – Employment, 
Consulting and Management Agreements” below.  
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Altius Minerals is entitled to direct the Company to nominate up to two of the Directors of the Company for so long as the 
percentage of outstanding Common Shares beneficially owned directly or indirectly by Altius Minerals and its affiliates is not less 
than 40% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares. If the percentage of outstanding Common Shares beneficially owned 
directly or indirectly by Altius Minerals and its affiliates is less than 40% but greater than or equal to 10%, Altius Minerals shall be 
entitled to nominate one Director of the Company. The Altius Minerals appointees to the Board may be directors, officers or 
employees of Altius Minerals or its affiliates. The shareholders of the Company are entitled to elect the Directors of the Company. 

Given the recent appointment of the members of the Board, the Board has not yet established any mandatory age for the 
retirement of directors and there are currently no term limits nor any other mechanisms in place that operate to compel board 
turnover.   

CHARTER

The primary responsibility of the Board is to maximize returns to shareholders of the Company consistent with the Board’s 
fiduciary responsibility to the Company. The Board has absolute and exclusive power, control and authority over the property and 
affairs of the Company. Subject to the provisions of the ABCA, the Board may delegate certain of those powers and authority that 
the Directors, or independent Directors, as applicable, deem necessary or desirable to effect the actual administration of the duties 
of the Board. Nonetheless, the Directors retain certain responsibilities which are described in the Board of Directors Charter, a copy 
of which is attached to this prospectus as Appendix B (the “Charter”). See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to the Company’s 
Relationship with ARR”. See also “Directors and Executive Officers – Additional Information Regarding Directors and Officers – 
Conflicts of Interest”. 

ORIENTATION AND CONTINUING EDUCATION

The orientation and continuing education of the Directors will be the responsibility of the Board. The details of the 
orientation of new Directors will be tailored to their needs and areas of expertise and will include the delivery of written materials 
and participation in meetings with management and the Board. The focus of the orientation program will be on providing new 
Directors with (i) information about the duties and obligations of Directors, (ii) information about the Company’s business and 
operations, (iii) information about the expectations of Directors (including, in particular, expectations of time and energy), 
(iv) opportunities to meet with management of the Company, and (v) access to documents from recent meetings of the Board. 

The Directors have all been chosen for their specific level of knowledge and expertise. All Directors will be provided with 
materials relating to their duties, roles and responsibilities. In addition, the Directors will be kept informed as to matters impacting, 
or which may impact, the Company’s operations through reports and presentations by internal and external presenters at meetings 
of the Board and during periodic strategy sessions held by the Board. Where permitted by a facility developer or owner, Directors 
may periodically take part in site visits to facility locations in the field to observe for themselves the operations. 

ETHICAL BUSINESS CONDUCT

The Board expects to adopt a written code of conduct and ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) that encourages and promotes 
a culture of ethical business conduct that will be applicable to the Directors and management of the Company. The Code of Conduct 
will address conflicts of interest; the protection and proper use of the Company’s assets and opportunities; the confidentiality of 
information; fair dealing with various Company stakeholders; compliance with laws, rules and regulations; and the reporting of 
illegal or unethical behaviour. The Code of Conduct will be available for review after Closing on the Company’s website. 

DIVERSITY

The Company will adopt a formal board diversity policy which confirms the Company’s commitment to achieving and 
maintaining a diverse Board. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board that may draw on a 
variety of perspectives, skills, experience, and expertise to facilitate effective decision making. The Company also views diversity 
at the Board level as an important element of strong corporate governance. 

The Company recognizes that gender diversity is a significant aspect of diversity and acknowledges the important role that 
women with appropriate and relevant skills and experience can play in contributing to the diversity of perspective on the Board. 
The Company believes other aspects of diversity must also be considered, including race, ethnicity, geographical and cultural 
background, skills, experience, education, and age, in order to ensure that the Board, as a whole, reflects a range of viewpoints, 
background, skills, experience and expertise.  



95 

In identifying potential candidates, the Board generally identifies, evaluates and recommends candidates with the goal of 
creating a Board that, as a whole, consists of diverse individuals with various and relevant career experience, industry knowledge 
and experience, and financial and other specialized expertise. Candidates will be recommended for appointment or election as 
directors based on merit considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity. 

The Company’s formal diversity policy will aspire to attain and maintain Board composition in which at least 30% of the 
independent directors are women. Currently, of the five member Board, there are two women (40%). 

The Company recognizes that diversity is important for management and throughout the Company. As of the date of this 
prospectus, no women occupy executive officer positions within the Company. The Company will adopt a formal diversity policy 
which will not set numeric targets, given that the executive officer roles are currently provided by way of the Altius Minerals 
Services Agreement, however the Board has determined it to be important to adopt a formal diversity policy which seeks to 
recognize the importance of continuing to advance gender and other aspects of diversity in management and throughout the 
Company. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board’s Audit Committee will consist of not less than three Directors, being David Bronicheski (Chair), Earl Ludlow 
and Anna El-Erian, all of whom are independent and financially literate for the purposes of NI 52-110. The Company expects that 
each of the members of the Audit Committee will possess: (i) an understanding of the accounting principles used by the Company 
to prepare its financial statements; (ii) the ability to assess the general application of such accounting principles in connection with 
the accounting for estimates, accruals and reserves; (iii) experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements 
that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of 
issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements, or experience actively supervising one 
or more individuals engaged in such activities; and (iv) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. 
The Audit Committee will meet at least four times annually to fulfill its mandate. 

The Board will adopt a written Audit Committee Charter in the form set forth in Appendix C, setting forth the purpose, 
composition, authority and responsibility of the Audit Committee, consistent with NI 52-110. The Audit Committee will assist the 
Board in fulfilling its oversight of:  

the Company’s financial statements, financial reporting, risk management, and audit processes;  
the Company’s systems of internal accounting and financial controls;  
the annual independent audit of the Company’s financial statements;  
legal and regulatory compliance;  
reviewing any related party transactions; and  
public disclosure items such as quarterly press releases, investor relations materials and other public reporting 
requirements.  

The Audit Committee will also be responsible for establishing and maintaining satisfactory procedures for the receipt, 
retention and treatment of complaints and for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company regarding any 
questionable accounting or auditing matters.  

Pursuant to NI 52-110, the Audit Committee must approve in advance all non-audit services to be provided to the Company 
by the external auditor. The Audit Committee has not adopted any specific policies and procedures for the engagement of non-audit 
services except as contained in its charter. At no time since the Company’s incorporation has the Company retained its external 
auditor to provide any non-audit services to the Company. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

ARR’s Corporate Governance Committee will be comprised of Judy Cotte, (Chair), David Bronicheski and André 
Gaumond. The purpose of the Corporate Governance Committee is to assist the Board in developing, monitoring and evaluating its 
governance policies and procedures, including its oversight of the Company’s approach to environmental and social factors. 
Responsibility for monitoring and assessing the effectiveness of the Board, its committees and directors will be delegated by the 
Board to the Corporate Governance Committee. Each member of the Corporate Governance Committee meets the independence 
standards derived from the corporate governance guidelines established by NI 58-101 and ARR believes its Corporate Governance 
Committee members have the knowledge and experience required to perform their duties effectively and make compensation 
decisions in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 
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The Corporate Governance Committee shall be constituted to assist the Board in developing the Company’s approach to 
governance by: 

regularly updating and overseeing the Company’s corporate governance policies and making policy recommendations 
aimed at enhancing Board effectiveness; 
annually reviewing the Board and its directors in terms of their composition, structure, and size as well as 
effectiveness, knowledge and contribution to the governing of the Company; 
annually reviewing each director to determine whether he/she remains independent as that term is defined in NI 58-
101; 
ensuring Board members participate in appropriate continuing education programs; 
overseeing the succession planning for the Company’s CEO and other senior executive officers; and  
bi-annually reviewing the Board Mandate, all Committee Charters and Terms of Reference as to their applicability.  

COMPENSATION AND NOMINATING COMMITTEE

ARR’s Compensation and Nominating Committee will consist of Anna El-Erian (Chair), Earl Ludlow and Judy Cotte. The 
recommendations of the Compensation and Nominating Committee will be presented to the Board for approval. Each member of 
the Compensation and Nominating Committee will meet the independence standards derived from the corporate governance 
guidelines established by NI 58-101 and ARR believes its Compensation and Nominating Committee members have the knowledge 
and experience required to perform their duties effectively and make compensation decisions in the best interests of the Company 
and its shareholders. 

The purpose of the Compensation and Nominating Committee is to assist the Board in discharging its oversight 
responsibilities relating to the attraction, compensation, evaluation and retention of key senior management with the skills and 
expertise needed to enable the Company to achieve its goals and strategies at fair and competitive compensation and with 
appropriate performance incentives.  

The Compensation and Nominating Committee shall be responsible for, among other duties: 
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board with respect to ARR’s compensation policies and practices;  
reviewing and approving compensation of the Board members and Committee chairs, including the determination of 
the number of equity-based incentive awards to be granted;  
identifying and recommending individuals qualified to become members of the Board;  
overseeing and approving awards under the LTIP; 
reviewing and approving corporate and individual performance goals for senior executive officers; and  
assessing the achievement of corporate and individual performance goals by senior executive officers. 

The mandate of the Committee grants it sole authority to retain and terminate legal or other advisors to the Committee, 
including compensation consultants, as well as sole authority to approve the advisor’ fees and other retention terms. The 
Compensation Committee’s mandate also requires the Committee to evaluate the functioning of the Committee on an annual basis. 
The Board will determine and review the form and amount of compensation to Directors.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

This discussion contains forward-looking information that is based on the Company’s current plans, considerations, 
expectations and determinations regarding future compensation programs. The actual amount and form of compensation and the 
compensation programs that are ultimately adopted may differ materially from currently planned programs as summarized in this 
discussion. 

INTRODUCTION 

Other than with respect to the executive officers that will provide services under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement, 
the Company expects that its executive compensation program will consist of a combination of the following principal elements, 
namely: base salary, the payment of bonuses (where appropriate) and participation in the LTIP. These elements contain both short-
term incentives, comprised of cash payments, being those provided by way of base salaries and bonuses, as well as long-term 
incentives, comprised of equity-based incentives, being those provided under the LTIP. 

The Company has determined that as a private corporation without positive cash flow a one-time grant of options to 
Directors is appropriate compensation for the considerable efforts and strategic direction provided by the Directors to the Company 



97 

prior to the filing of this prospectus. The Directors of the Company have determined that as a public corporation, future Director 
compensation will be paid in a combination of cash or RSUs and DSUs. The Company has determined that it will not issue any 
further options to Directors.  

The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary will provide services to the Company under 
the Altius Minerals Services Agreement. See “Executive Compensation – Summary Compensation Table” and “Executive 
Compensation – Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements” below. The Board will administer the incentive 
compensation and benefit plans. Other than as set out above, Company has not adopted a formal compensation philosophy at the 
present time, and no formal objectives or benchmarking have been established to date.  

The Directors expect to undertake a thorough review of the level of compensation for Directors prior to the Company’s 
inaugural annual general meeting, and at regular intervals thereafter, in order to ensure that internal and external fairness and 
competitiveness exists in the compensation of all management and director compensation, including incentive-compensation plans 
and equity-based plans. 

EMPLOYMENT, CONSULTING AND MANAGEMENT AGREEMENTS

Messrs. Dalton and Lewis will provide services to ARR pursuant to the Altius Minerals Services Agreement. See 
“Directors and Executive Officers” for information on the relationships between Altius Minerals and the Named Executive Officers 
of ARR. The Named Executive Officers of ARR are currently not subject to any separate employment or consultation agreements 
and there are no severance arrangements in place for the Named Executive Officers which would be payable by ARR. 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

As ARR was a subsidiary of Altius Minerals the former officers of ARR did not receive any compensation for their 
services. The following table provides a summary of the compensation expected to be paid, accrued or otherwise expensed by ARR 
with respect to 2021 for the Named Executive Officers and Directors, excluding compensation securities. 

Name and 
position 

Year Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 
or 

commission
(C$) 

Bonus  
(C$) 

Committee 
or meeting 

fee 
(C$) 

Value of 
perquisites

(C$) 

Value of all 
other 

compensation
(C$) 

Total 
compensation

(C$) 

Brian Dalton, 
Chief Executive 
Officer  

2021 - (1) - - - - - (1)

Ben Lewis, 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

2021 - (1) - - - - - (1)

David 
Bronicheski, 
Director 

2021 40,000(2) - 21,000 - - 61,000 

Judy Cotte,  
Director 

2021 40,000 (2) - 18,000 - - 58,000 

André Gaumond, 
Director 

2021 40,000 (2) - 6,000 - - 46,000 

Earl Ludlow(3), 
Director 

2021 60,000(2) - 13,500 - - 73,500 

Anna El-Erian, 
Director 

2021 40,000 (2) - 19,500 - - 58,000 
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Notes:  
(1) Messrs. Dalton and Lewis will provide services to ARR pursuant to the Altius Minerals Services Agreement and ARR does not anticipate that any compensation 
will be paid or payable directly to them by ARR in 2021. The amounts expected to be payable by Altius Minerals that are attributable to their respective services to 
ARR during 2021 are currently unknown. Under the terms of the Altius Minerals Services Agreement ARR will pay Altius Minerals a flat monthly fee of C$50,000 
plus applicable tax and will reimburse Altius Minerals for any costs incurred by it directly on behalf of ARR during the term of the agreement.  
(2) Represents annual Director retainer fees. 
(3) Earl Ludlow, has been a director of ARR since February 2019 and received director fees of C$100,000 in 2019 and C$126,000 in 2020. 

STOCK OPTIONS AND OTHER COMPENSATION SECURITIES 

The following table sets forth all compensation securities granted or issued to the Directors by the Company prior to the 
date of this prospectus. No compensation securities have been granted to the Named Executive Officers of ARR.  

Name and 
position 

Type of 
compensation 

security 

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 

securities, and 
percentage of 

class 

Date of issue or 
grant 

Issue, conversion 
or exercise price  

Expiry date 

David 
Bronicheski, 
Director 

Options 49,027 (1) January 13, 2026 

Judy Cotte, 
Director 

Options 32,685 (1) January 13, 2026 

André Gaumond, 
Director 

Options 32,685 (1) January 13, 2026 

Earl Ludlow, 
Director 

Options 231,250 April 1, 2020 US$4.00 March 31, 2025 

Anna El-Erian, 
Director 

Options 32,685 (1) January 13, 2026 

Notes: (1) Exercise price will be equal to the Offering Price.  

No Options or other compensation securities were exercised by the Directors prior to the date of this prospectus. For more 
information on the LTIP, see “Executive Compensation – Long Term Incentive Plan”. The Board will determine and review the 
form and amount of compensation to Directors. 

LEGACY OPTION GRANTS

On April 1, 2020, the Company granted an aggregate of 1,000,000 options (“Options”) exercisable at a price of US$4.00 
per Common Share expiring March 31, 2025 (the “Expiry Date”) to certain directors and officers of GBR and Earl Ludlow, the 
Chairman of the Company. Each Option grant is governed under the terms of an option agreement entered into between the optionee 
and the Company (a “Legacy Option Agreement”) and will continue to be governed under the terms of such Legacy Option 
Agreement following the Closing. The Options granted under each respective Legacy Option Agreement will terminate on the 
earlier of (i) the Expiry Date, (ii) the time at which the optionee is terminated for cause from the Company or its affiliates, (iii) 5:00 
p.m. on the date that is 90 days after the optionee ceases to be a director, officer or employee of the Company or its affiliates for 
any reason other than for cause and (iv) 5:00 p.m. on the business day immediately preceding the date on which a change of control 
occurs.  
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LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Administration and Eligibility 

Under the LTIP the Board may, from time to time, grant Options, deferred share units (“DSUs”) and restricted share units 
(“RSUs”, and collectively with Options and DSUs, the “Awards” and each, an “Award”) to the directors, officers and employees 
of the Company and any of its affiliates (other than GBR Holdings and its subsidiaries), as applicable, as may be designated by the 
Board, from time to time, in its sole discretion (collectively, “Eligible Persons”), in accordance with the terms and provisions 
governing each such Award.  

In particular, RSUs may be granted to any Eligible Person, as designated by the Board in a resolution (the “RSU 
Participants”), upon the terms and conditions set forth in an RSU grant agreement. DSUs may be granted to directors (the “Director 
DSU Participants”) and to other Eligible Persons who are not directors of the Company and who have purchased Common Shares 
in the market within a prescribed period of time (the “Non-Director DSU Participants”, and together with the Director DSU 
Participants, the “DSU Participants”), upon the terms and conditions set forth in a DSU grant agreement. Options may be granted 
to Eligible Persons (the “Option Participants”). DSU Participants, RSU Participants and Option Participants, are collectively 
referred to herein as the “Participants”.  

The LTIP is administered by the Board however the Board may, in its discretion, delegate its administrative powers under 
the LTIP to the Compensation Committee of the Company. The Board is responsible for, among other things, (i) granting Options 
to Option Participants, RSUs to RSU Participants, and DSUs to DSU Participants, (ii) determining the terms and vesting of such 
grants, and (iii) interpreting the LTIP and all agreements entered into thereunder.  

Shares Subject to the LTIP and Participant Limits 

The maximum number of Common Shares issuable under the LTIP and pursuant to any other security based compensation 
arrangement of the Company cannot exceed 7.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares from time to time on a non-diluted 
basis (representing an aggregate of 1,671,988 Common Shares as of February 24, 2021, which number of Common Shares will 
increase as the capitalization of the Company changes).  

Common Shares that are subject to any grants of Awards (or portions thereof) that have vested and been settled, or have 
expired or been canceled, will automatically become available for new grants under the LTIP. In addition, the number of Common 
Shares subject to any Award (or portions thereof) that the Company settles in cash (in lieu of settlement in Common Shares) will 
automatically become available for new grants under the LTIP.  

The number of Common Shares that may be (i) issued to insiders of the Company within any one-year period, or (ii) 
issuable to insiders of the Company at any time, in each case, under the LTIP and any other security-based compensation 
arrangement of the Company, cannot exceed 10% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares from time to time 
(calculated on a non-diluted basis). Further, the aggregate number of Common Shares issuable to all non-employee directors of the 
Company shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares from time to time (calculated on a non-
diluted basis), and the total annual grant to any one non-employee director cannot exceed a grant value of C$100,000 of Options 
and C$150,000 in total equity, excluding any one-time initial equity grant upon a director joining the Board. 

Options  

The LTIP provides that the exercise price for Options will be determined by the Board at the time of each such grant, 
which may not be less than the fair market value of a Common Share (being the volume weighted average trading price of all 
Common Shares traded on the TSX for the five trading days immediately preceding the relevant date (“Market Value”)) on the 
date the Option is granted. Options will vest in accordance with the vesting schedule established by the Board on the grant date. No 
fractional Common Shares will be issued upon the exercise of any Option granted under the LTIP.  

Options must be exercised within a period fixed by the Board that may not exceed 10 years from the date of grant, provided 
that if the expiry date falls during or within nine business days immediately following a blackout period or other trading restriction 
imposed by the Company, the expiry date will be automatically extended until 10 business days after the end of such blackout 
period or trading restriction. The LTIP also provides for earlier expiration of the Options upon the occurrence of certain events, 
including: (i) the termination of a Participant’s employment for cause, (ii) the resignation, retirement or termination of a Participant’s 
employment other than for cause; and (iii) the death or disability of a Participant, in each case, as further described below.  
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A Participant may, instead of exercising an Option for cash, elect to exercise an Option in consideration for the issuance 
of that number of Common Shares equal to the amount by which (i) the aggregate Market Value of the Common Shares issuable 
under such Option on the exercise date, exceeds (ii) the aggregate exercise price for such Option (the “In-the-Money Amount”). 
The Company will satisfy payment of the In-the-Money Amount by: (i) remitting to the relevant taxation authority the amount the 
Company is required to withhold and remit on account of taxes in connection with such surrender under applicable law (the 
“Remittance Amount”), and (ii) delivering to the Participant, at the sole discretion of the Company, either (a) cash in an amount 
equal to the amount by which the In-the-Money Amount exceeds the Remittance Amount, or (b) such number of Common Shares 
(rounded down to the nearest whole number) having a Market Value equal to the amount by which the In-the-Money Amount 
exceeds the Remittance Amount.  

No fractional Common Shares will be issued to a Participant. If the number of Common Shares to be issued to the 
Participant would otherwise include a fractional Common Share, the Company will, within 10 business days after the applicable 
exercise date, pay a cash amount in lawful money of Canada to such Participant equal to: (i) the fractional Common Share otherwise 
issuable on the exercise date, multiplied by (ii) the Market Value of a Common Share, provided that the Company will not be 
required to make any payment that is less than C$10.00.  

Exercise of the Options (whether by way of cashless exercise or otherwise) may be subject to applicable withholding taxes.  

As noted above, following the initial grant of options to the Directors in connection with the initial public offering, the 
Company has determined that it will not issue any further options to Directors and future incentive security compensation will be 
paid in DSUs or RSUs. 

RSUs and DSUs  

Each RSU and DSU represents a right to acquire a Common Share, or a cash payment equal to the Market Value thereof, 
or a combination thereof, but that are subject to different vesting schedules. Pursuant to the LTIP, the number of RSUs or DSUs 
(including fractional RSUs or DSUs) granted at any particular time is calculated by dividing (i) the dollar amount of such grant by 
(ii) the Market Value of a Common Share on the grant date. The terms and conditions of grants of RSUs or DSUs, including, as 
applicable, the quantity, type of award, grant date, vesting conditions, vesting periods, settlement date and other terms and conditions 
with respect to such Awards, will be set out in the Participant’s grant agreement.  

With respect to RSUs, unless otherwise approved by the Board and except as otherwise provided in an RSU Participant’s 
grant agreement or any other provision of the LTIP, RSUs will vest as to one-third on June 30 in each on the first, second and third 
calendar years following the year in which the date of grant of such RSUs occurred, and will be settled on the vesting date provided 
that if such date falls during, or within nine business days immediately following a blackout period or other trading restriction 
imposed by the Company, the vesting date will be automatically extended until 10 business days after the end of such blackout 
period or trading restriction. Vested RSUs will be settled at the Company’s election through delivery of (i) in the case of settlement 
for Common Shares, a share certificate to the RSU Participant representing the relevant number of Common Shares issued from 
treasury (net of any applicable withholding taxes); or (ii) in the case of settlement for their cash equivalent, a cheque to the RSU 
Participant representing the cash equivalent (based on the market value of the Common Shares on the settlement date, net of any 
applicable withholding taxes); or (iii) in the case of settlement for a combination of Common Shares and the cash equivalent, a 
combination of (i) and (ii) above.  

DSUs granted to Directors vest on the last day of the Company’s fiscal year in which they are granted. In the event a DSU 
Participant’s termination from participation in the LTIP falls before the last day of such fiscal year, one-twelfth of the DSUs granted 
for such fiscal year will vest for each completed month in that fiscal year prior to the date of termination, and all remaining unvested 
DSUs will be forfeited. DSUs granted to Non-Director DSU Participants will vest to the extent of one-third on the first, second and 
third anniversaries following the calendar year in which the applicable grant date falls, provided that the Non-Director DSU 
Participant continues to be employed by the Company and at all times following the grant date beneficially owns, directly or 
indirectly, and controls at least the same number of Common Shares as he or she beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, and 
controlled on the applicable grant date. On the date of a Non-Director DSU Participant’s termination from participation in the LTIP, 
all remaining unvested DSUs will be forfeited. Vested DSUs will be settled on the first business day which falls 30 days following 
the DSU Participant’s termination date, at the election of the Company, through delivery of (i) in the case of settlement for Common 
Shares, a share certificate to the DSU Participant, a dependent or relation of the DSU Participant or the DSU Participant’s duly 
authorized legal representative, as the case may be, representing Common Shares issued from treasury (net of any applicable 
withholding taxes); or (ii) in the case of settlement for their cash equivalent, a cheque to the DSU Participant, a dependent or relation 
of the DSU Participant or the DSU Participant’s duly authorized legal representative, as the case may be, representing the cash 
equivalent (based on the market value if the Common Shares on the termination date, net of any applicable withholding taxes); or 



101 

in the case of settlement for a combination of Common Shares and the cash equivalent, a combination of (i) and (ii) above; provided 
that if such date falls during, or within nine business days immediately following a blackout period or other trading restriction 
imposed by the Company, the vesting date will be automatically extended until 10 business days after the end of such blackout 
period or trading restriction.  

Dividend Equivalents for RSUs and DSUs  

If a dividend becomes payable on the Common Shares, then on the payment date for such dividend, each RSU Participant’s 
or DSU Participant’s account shall, unless otherwise determined by the Board, be credited with additional DSUs or RSUs (including 
fractional DSUs or RSUs), as applicable. The calculation for additional RSUs or DSUs, as applicable, will be determined by 
dividing: (i) the amount determined by multiplying (a) the number of RSUs or DSUs, as applicable, in such Participant’s account 
(whether vested or unvested) on the record date for the payment of such dividend by (b) the dividend paid per Common Share, by 
(ii) the closing price of a Common Share on the applicable dividend payment date for such dividend. Any such additional RSUs or 
DSUs (including fractional RSUs or DSUs), as applicable, if credited, shall vest on the same basis as the underlying RSUs or DSUs. 
Dividend equivalents do not apply to Options.  

Compensation Clawback Policy  

All Awards granted under the LTIP to executive officers of the Company shall be subject to the Company’s Executive 
Compensation Clawback Policy (the “Clawback Policy”), whereby subject to the terms of such policy, all current and former 
(within the last two years) executive officers of the Company compensated through the Company’s short-term and long-term 
incentive plans, including the LTIP are subject to a clawback of their incentive compensation (including by way of reimbursement 
or cancellation) if the Board (or a committee delegated by the Board) determines that the Company’s financial statements are 
required to be restated for reasons other than changes in accounting policy, rules or interpretations, including due to material error, 
gross negligence, fraud, willful blindness, or intentional or egregious misconduct of such executive officer, and if the value of the 
incentive compensation paid to the executive officer would have been lower under the restated financials.  

Termination  

If an RSU Participant is terminated for cause or resigns without good reason, any unvested RSUs shall expire on the date 
of termination. If an RSU Participant retires, is terminated other than for cause or resigns with good reason any unvested RSUs 
which will vest as of the termination date will be subject to pro ration over the applicable vesting period. If an RSU Participant 
ceases to be an Eligible Person as a result of such RSU Participant’s death or disability, any unvested RSUs shall vest on the 
termination date.  

If a Non-Director DSU Participant is terminated for cause or resigns without good reason, any unvested DSUs shall expire 
on the date of termination. If a Non-Director DSU Participant retires, is terminated without cause or resigns with good reason, or 
as a result of such Non-Director DSU Participant’s death or disability, any unvested DSUs shall, at the discretion of the Board, 
either (i) vest and be settled on any date on or after the termination date or (ii) continue to vest and be settled in accordance with 
the grant agreement relating to such DSUs. For greater certainty, unless otherwise determined by the Board, the above termination 
provisions for DSU Participants shall only apply to Non-Director DSU Participants.  

In each case subject to the terms of an Option Participant’s employment agreement or Option agreement, and except as 
otherwise determined by the Board: (i) if an Option Participant is terminated for cause, all unexercised Options, whether vested or 
unvested, granted to such Option Participant shall terminate on the Option Participant’s termination date; (ii) if an Option Participant 
resigns, retires or is terminated without cause, unless the Board determines otherwise, (a) all vested Options shall terminate on the 
earlier of 90 days after the applicable termination date, and the expiry date of such Options, and (b) all unvested Options granted to 
such Option Participant shall terminate on the effective date of such resignation, retirement or termination, as applicable; and (iii) 
if the Option Participant dies or is disabled, unless the Board determines otherwise, all vested Options shall terminate on the earlier 
of (a) in respect of a death, twelve months after the effective date of such death, and the expiry date of such Options, and in respect 
of a disability, six months after the effective date of such disability, and the expiry date of such Options, and all unvested Options 
granted to such Option Participant shall terminate on the effective date of such death or disability.  

Assignability and Transferability  

In no event may the rights or interests of a Participant under the LTIP be assigned, encumbered, pledged, transferred or 
alienated in any way, except to the extent that certain rights may pass to a beneficiary or legal representative upon death of a 
Participant, by will or by the laws of succession and distribution. Except as otherwise provided in the LTIP, the Awards are not 
transferable, and may only be exercised by the Participant to whom the Awards were granted, upon the Participant’s death, by the 
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legal representative of the Participant’s estate, or upon the Participant’s incapacity, by the legal representative having authority to 
deal with the property of the Participant.  

Change of Control  

In the event of a change of control of the Company, all unvested Awards then outstanding will, as applicable, be substituted 
by or replaced with awards of the surviving corporation (or any affiliate thereof) or the potential successor (or any affiliate thereto), 
on the same economic terms and conditions as the original Awards, subject to appropriate adjustments that do not diminish the 
value of the original Awards. In the event of a potential change of control of the Company, the Board has the authority to modify 
the terms of the LTIP and/or the Awards to assist Participants in tendering to a take-over bid or other transaction leading to a change 
of control of the Company.  

Adjustments  

In the event of any merger, amalgamation, arrangement, rights offering, subdivision, consolidation, spinoff or 
reclassification of the Common Shares, or other relevant change in the capitalization of the Company, or stock dividend, stock split 
or other distribution (excluding dividends or distributions which may be paid in cash or in Common Shares at the option of the 
shareholder), or combination or exchange of the Common Shares for other securities or property or any other change in the Common 
Shares, subject to any required stock exchange or securities regulatory authority approvals, the Board will make appropriate 
adjustments, if any, as it deems appropriate to reflect such change with respect to the number or kind of securities reserved for 
issuance pursuant to the LTIP, the number or kind of securities subject to unexercised Awards previously granted and the exercise 
price of outstanding Options, in order to preserve the value of the Awards. 

Amendment or Discontinuance  

The Board may suspend or terminate the LTIP, or amend the terms and conditions of the LTIP, or any Award granted 
under the LTIP or any grant agreement relating thereto, subject to applicable law and stock exchange rules that requires the approval 
of shareholders or any regulatory body, provided that no such action may be taken that adversely alters or impairs any Award 
previously granted under the LTIP or any grant agreement relating thereto, except with the consent of such affected Participant(s) 
or as permitted by the Company’s Clawback Policy.  

Subject to the above and any applicable stock exchange rules, the Board may from time to time, in its absolute discretion 
and without the approval of shareholders, make the following amendments to the LTIP or to any Award outstanding thereunder: (i) 
housekeeping amendments; (ii) amendments to the vesting provisions of any Award; (iii) amendments to the effect of the 
termination provisions; (iv) amendments (including to grant agreements) necessary to comply with applicable law or stock exchange 
rules; (v) amendments regarding the administration of the LTIP; (vi) amendments necessary for the Awards to qualify for more 
favourable tax treatment under applicable tax laws; (vii) any modification to the expiry date of an Award that does not extend the 
expiry date beyond the original expiry date; and (viii) other amendments that do not expressly require shareholder approval under 
the LTIP.  

However, the following amendments will not be able to be made without obtaining shareholder approval: 

any increase to the maximum number of Common Shares that may be issuable from treasury under the LTIP pursuant to 
Awards granted under the LTIP;  
any extension to the expiry date of an Award beyond the original expiry date, except in case of an extension due to a 
blackout period;  
any amendment to remove or exceed the participation limits;  
any reduction in the Option price for an Option or exercise price of a DSU or RSU or cancellation and reissue of Awards 
except for adjustments permitted by the LTIP as described above under “Adjustments”;  
any amendment to the types of amendments that require Board approval (without shareholder approval) or that expressly 
require shareholder approval;  
any expansion to the definition of Eligible Persons; and  
any amendment that would permit Awards to be transferable or assignable other than for normal estate settlement purposes.  
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

The description of the share capital of the Company below discloses the attributes of the Common Shares that may be 
material to an investor in Common Shares but is a summary only. The articles of the Company will be filed on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such articles. 

Upon Closing, the Company’s authorized share capital will consist of an unlimited number of Common Shares. 

COMMON SHARES

Holders of Common Shares are entitled to one vote per Common Share at meetings of shareholders of the Company, 
except meetings at which only holders of another particular class or series shall have the right to vote.  

Subject to the rights of any other shares of the Company ranking senior to the Common Shares with respect to the payment 
of dividends, holders of the Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends, exclusive of any other shares of the Company, if, as 
and when declared by the Board. Holders of the Common Shares are also entitled to share equally in any distribution of the assets 
of the Company upon liquidation, dissolution, bankruptcy or winding-up of the Company or any other distribution of its assets 
among the shareholders of the Company for the purpose of winding-up its affairs (such event referred to herein as a “Distribution”). 
Such participation is subject to the preferences accorded to holders of other shares of the Company ranking senior to the Common 
Shares with respect to payment on a Distribution. The Common Shares are not convertible into any other class of shares. 

As at the date of this prospectus, there are 16,719,889 Common Shares issued and outstanding, of which 15,638,639 are 
held by Altius Royalty Corporation, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals, and 1,081,250 are held by third parties including 
GBR management.  

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, counsel to the Company, and, Stikeman Elliott LLP, counsel to the Underwriters, 
based on the provisions of the Tax Act the Common Shares would be qualified investments for trusts governed by a registered 
retirement savings plan, registered retirement income fund, registered education savings plan, registered disability savings plan and 
tax-free savings account, as those terms are defined in the Tax Act (collectively referred to as “Registered Plans”) or a deferred 
profit sharing plan (“DPSP”) (all as defined in the Tax Act), provided at that time the Common Shares are listed on a “designated 
stock exchange” as defined in the Tax Act (which currently includes the TSX) or the Company is a “public corporation” (as defined 
in the Tax Act). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the holder or subscriber of, or an annuitant under, a Registered Plan, as the case may be, (the 
“Controlling Individual”) will be subject to a penalty tax in respect of Common Shares in the Registered Plan if such securities are 
a “prohibited investment” (as defined in the Tax Act) for the particular Registered Plan. A Common Share will be a “prohibited 
investment” for a Registered Plan if the Controlling Individual does not deal at arm’s length with the Company for the purposes of 
the Tax Act or the Controlling Individual has a “significant interest” (as defined in subsection 207.01(4) of the Tax Act) in the 
Company. However, the Common Shares will not be a “prohibited investment” if the Common Shares are “excluded property”, as 
defined in the Tax Act, for a Registered Plan. Controlling Individuals should consult their own tax advisors as to whether the 
Common Shares will be a prohibited investment in their particular circumstances.  

Holders who intend to hold Common Shares in a Registered Plan or DPSP should consult their own tax advisors. 

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of McCarthy Tétrault LLP, counsel to the Company and Stikeman Elliott LLP, counsel to the Underwriters, 
the following is, as at the date hereof, a summary of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations generally applicable 
to an investor who acquires the Common Shares as beneficial owner pursuant to this prospectus and who, at all relevant times, for 
the purposes of the Tax Act (i) is or is deemed to be resident in Canada; (ii) acquires and holds such Common Shares as capital 
property; and (iii) deals at arm’s length with the Company and each of the Underwriters, and is not affiliated with the Company or 
any of the Underwriters (a “Holder”).  

Generally, Common Shares will be considered to be capital property to a Holder provided the Holder does not hold the 
Common Shares in the course of carrying on a business and has not acquired them in one or more transactions considered to be an 
adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Holders who might not otherwise be considered to hold their Common Shares 
as capital property may, in certain circumstances, be entitled to have them and all other “Canadian securities” owned or subsequently 
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owned by them treated as capital property by making an irrevocable election in accordance with the Tax Act. Holders should consult 
their own tax advisors as to whether an election under subsection 39(4) of the Tax Act is available and/or advisable in their particular 
circumstances.  

This summary is not applicable to a Holder: (a) that is a “financial institution” (as defined in the Tax Act) for the purposes 
of the mark-to-market rules contained in the Tax Act; (b) that is a “specified financial institution” (as defined in the Tax Act); (c) 
an interest in which would be a “tax shelter investment” (as defined in the Tax Act); (d) which is exempt from tax under Part I of 
the Tax Act; (e) has elected to report its “Canadian tax results” (as defined in the Tax Act) in a currency other than Canadian 
currency; or (f) that enters into, or has entered into, a “derivative forward agreement” (as defined in Tax Act) with respect to 
Common Shares. Additional considerations, not discussed herein, may be applicable to a Holder that is a corporation resident in 
Canada, and is, or becomes, or does not deal at arm’s length for purposes of the Tax Act with a corporation resident in Canada that 
is or becomes, as part of a transaction or event or series of transactions or events that includes the acquisition of the Common 
Shares, controlled by a non-resident person or, by a group of non-resident persons that do not deal with each other at arm’s length, 
for purposes of the “foreign affiliate dumping” rules in section 212.3 of the Tax Act.  

This summary is based upon the current provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof and counsel’s understanding 
of the current administrative policies and practices of the Canada Revenue Agency (the “CRA”) published by it in writing prior to 
the date hereof. This summary takes into account all specific proposals to amend the Tax Act publicly announced by or on behalf 
of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the “Tax Proposals”) and assumes that the Tax Proposals will be 
enacted substantially as proposed. However, no assurances can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted as proposed, or at 
all. This summary does not otherwise take into account or anticipate any changes in law or the CRA’s administrative policies or 
practices, whether by legislative, governmental, administrative or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into account any 
provincial, territorial or foreign income tax legislation or considerations, which considerations may differ significantly from the 
Canadian federal income tax considerations discussed in this summary. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax 
advice to any particular Holder or prospective holder of Common Shares, and no representations with respect to the income 
tax consequences to any Holder or holder are made. Consequently, Holders and prospective holders of Common Shares 
should consult their own tax advisors for advice with respect to the tax consequences to them of acquiring Common Shares 
pursuant to this Offering, having regard to their particular circumstances.  

Dividends on Common Shares  

A Holder will be required to include in computing its income for a taxation year any dividends received (or deemed to be 
received) on its Common Shares. In the case of a Holder that is an individual (other than certain trusts), such dividends will be 
subject to the gross-up and dividend tax credit rules applicable to taxable dividends received from “taxable Canadian corporations” 
(as defined in the Tax Act), including the enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit applicable to any dividends designated by the 
Company as eligible dividends in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Act. The Company may be subject to restrictions on 
its ability to make such designations under the Tax Act, and has made no commitment in this regard.  

Taxable dividends received by a Holder who is an individual (other than certain trusts) may result in such Holder being 
liable for alternative minimum tax under the Tax Act. Holders who are individuals should consult their own tax advisors in this 
regard.  

In the case of a Holder that is a corporation, the amount of any such taxable dividend that is included in its income for a 
taxation year will generally be deductible in computing its taxable income for that taxation year. In certain circumstances, subsection 
55(2) of the Tax Act will treat a taxable dividend received by a Holder that is a corporation as proceeds of disposition or a capital 
gain, to the extent and under the circumstances specified in the Tax Act. Holders that are corporations are urged to consult their 
own tax advisors having regard to their own particular circumstances. 

A Holder that is a “private corporation” or a “subject corporation”, as defined in the Tax Act, may be liable to pay a tax 
under Part IV of the Tax Act (which generally is refundable, subject to the detailed rules of the Tax Act) on dividends received or 
deemed to be received on the Common Shares to the extent such dividends are deductible in computing the Holder’s taxable income 
for the taxation year.  

Dispositions of Common Shares  

A Holder who disposes of or is deemed to have disposed of a Common Share (other than a disposition to the Company, 
unless purchased by the Company in the open market in the manner in which shares are normally purchased by any member of the 
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public in the open market) will generally realize a capital gain (or capital loss) in the taxation year of the disposition equal to the 
amount by which the proceeds of disposition, net of any reasonable costs of disposition, are greater (or are less) than the adjusted 
cost base to the Holder of the Common Share before the disposition or deemed disposition.  

For the purpose of determining the adjusted cost base to a Holder of each Common Share acquired pursuant to this 
prospectus, the cost of such Common Share will be averaged with the adjusted cost base of all Common Shares (if any) held by the 
Holder as capital property immediately prior to the acquisition.  

One-half of any capital gain (a “taxable capital gain”) realized by a Holder in a taxation year must be included in 
computing the Holder’s income for that taxation year. One-half of any capital loss (an “allowable capital loss”) must be deducted 
against taxable capital gains realized by the Holder in the year of disposition, in accordance with the detailed rules of the Tax Act. 
Allowable capital losses not deducted in the taxation year in which they are realized may be carried back and deducted in any of 
the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted in any following taxation year against net taxable capital gains 
realized in such taxation years, to the extent and under the circumstances as specified in the Tax Act.  

If a Holder is a corporation, the amount of any capital loss otherwise arising upon the disposition of a Common Share may 
be reduced by certain dividends previously received or deemed to have been received on the Common Share, all to the extent and 
under the circumstances prescribed by the Tax Act. Similar rules may apply where a corporation is a member of a partnership or a 
beneficiary of a trust that owns Common Shares, directly or indirectly, through a partnership or a trust.  

A Holder that is, throughout the relevant taxation year, a “Canadian-controlled private corporation”, as defined in the Tax 
Act, may be liable to pay the refundable tax on its “aggregate investment income”, which is defined in the Tax Act to include 
taxable capital gains.  

Capital gains realized by an individual (other than certain trusts) may give rise to liability for alternative minimum tax as 
calculated under the detailed rules set out in the Tax Act. Holders who are individuals should consult their own tax advisors in this 
regard. 

RESTRICTIONS ON SALE 

Notice to Prospective Investors in Hong Kong 

The Common Shares have not been offered or sold and will not be offered or sold in Hong Kong, by means of any document, other 
than (a) to “professional investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the 
“SFO“) of Hong Kong and any rules made thereunder; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a 
“prospectus“ as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the 
“CO“) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within 

the meaning of the CO. No advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Common Shares has been or may be issued or has 
been or may be in the possession of any person for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, which is directed at, 
or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the 
securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Common Shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to 
persons outside Hong Kong or only to ‘‘professional investors’’ as defined in the SFO and any rules made thereunder.  

Notice to Prospective Investors United  Kingdom 

In  relation  to  the  United  Kingdom,  no  Common Shares  have  been  offered  or  will  be offered except that offers of the 
Common Shares may be made to the public in the UK at any time under the following exemptions under the UK Prospectus 
Regulation:  

a. to  any  legal  entity  which  is  a  qualified  investor  as  defined  in  Article  2  of  the  UK Prospectus  Regulation; 

b. to  fewer  than  150  natural  or  legal  persons  (other  than  qualified  investors  as  defined  in the UK Prospectus 
Regulation) in the United Kingdom subject to obtaining the prior consent of the Underwriters; or  

c. at any time in any other circumstances falling within section 86 of the FSMA,  

provided that no such offer of Common Shares shall require the Company or any of the underwriters to public a prospectus pursuant 
to section 85 of FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to section 85 of the FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to the 
UK Prospectus Regulation.   
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For the purposes of this provision, the expression an offer of subordinate voting shares to the public in relation to any subordinate 
voting shares means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and the 
subordinate voting shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for the subordinate voting 
shares, and the expression UK Prospectus Regulation means Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue 
of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 in the United Kingdom.

In addition, this document is being distributed only to, and is directed only at, and any offer subsequently made may only be directed 
at persons: (i) who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) of the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the ‘‘Order’’), (ii) who are persons falling within 
Article 49(2)(a) to (d) (‘‘high net worth companies, unincorporated associations etc.’’) of the Order; (iii) are outside the United 
Kingdom; or (iv) are persons to whom an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 
21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) in connection with the issue or sale of any securities may otherwise lawfully 
be communicated or caused to be communicated (all such persons together being referred to as ‘‘relevant persons’’).

This document is directed only at relevant persons and must not be acted on or relied on by persons who are not relevant persons. 
Any investment or investment activity to which this document relates is available only to relevant persons and will be engaged in 
only with relevant persons. Each of the underwriters has represented, warranted and agreed as follows:

a. it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated 
an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of FSMA) in 
circumstances in which section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply to the company; and

b. it has complied with, and will comply with all applicable provisions of FSMA with respect to anything done by 
it in relation to the subordinate voting shares in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom. 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The following table sets forth the aggregate number of Options outstanding upon completion of the Offering:  

Class of Optionee 
Number of Options to 

acquire Common Shares Exercise Price Expiration Date 

Members of the Board 147,082(1) (2) January 13, 2025 
Chairman of the Board 231,250(3) US$4.00 March 31, 2025 
Management of GBR 768,750(3) US$4.00 March 31, 2025 

Notes: (1) Granted to four members of the board of directors of ARR pursuant to the LTIP.  
            (2) Exercise price will be equal to the Offering Price.  
            (3) Granted to four members of GBR management pursuant to a Legacy Option Agreement.  

For a description of the Company’s equity-based incentive compensation plans, see “Executive Compensation — Legacy Option 
Grants” and “Executive Compensation — Long Term Incentive Plan”. 

PRIOR SALES 

The following tables provide details regarding all Common Shares that have been issued by the Company during the 
12-month period prior to the date of this prospectus and includes options issued to management of GBR.  

Date of Issuance  Number of Common Shares Issue Price per Common Share 
January, 2020 875,000 US $4.00 
March, 2020 8,750,000 US $4.00 
April, 2020 750,000 US $4.00 
May 1, 2020 892,500 US $4.00 
June, 2020 500,000 US $4.00 
June, 2020 750,000 US $4.00 
July 9, 2020 138,614 US $4.00 

The following tables provide details regarding all securities that are convertible into Common Shares that have been issued 
by the Company during the 12-month period prior to the date of this prospectus. 
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Date of Issuance  Type of security Number of Common Shares Issue Price per Common Share 
April 1, 2020 Options 318,750 US $4.00 
April 1, 2020 Options 231,250 US $4.00 
April 1, 2020 Options 231,250 US $4.00 
April 1, 2020 Options 181,250 US $4.00 
April 1, 2020 Options 37,500 US $4.00 
July 31, 2020 Warrants 3,093,835 US $4.00 
January 13, 2021 Options 147,082 C $ (1)

Note: (1) Exercise price will be equal to the Offering Price.  

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDER 

To the knowledge of the Company, other than as set forth below: (i) as of the date of this prospectus, there is no other 
Person or company who beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the Common Shares; and 
(ii) following the completion of the Offering, there will not be any other Person or company who beneficially owns, or controls or 
directs, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the Common Shares then outstanding. 

Shareholder Name Type of Ownership 

Number and Percentage of Common Shares 
Owned, Controlled or Directed after giving 

effect to the Offering(1)(2)

Number and Percentage of Common Shares to 
be Owned, Controlled or Directed after giving 

effect to the Offering and exercise of the 
Over-Allotment Option in full(1)(3)

Altius Royalty 
Corporation(1)

Record and Beneficial 

Notes: 
(1) Other than pursuant to the Investor Rights Agreement, to the knowledge of the Company, none of the Common Shares are subject to any voting agreement. 

See “Agreements with Altius Minerals – Investor Rights Agreement”. Altius Royalty Corporation is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals. 
(2) Assumes that the Over-Allotment Option is not exercised and that Altius Royalty Corporation does not acquire any Common Shares pursuant to the Offering. 
(3) On a partially-diluted basis, assuming completion of the Offering, full exercise of the Over-Allotment Option and the exercise of all 3,093,835 Warrants held 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, each of the Underwriters has severally agreed to purchase the 

The obligations of the Underwriters are several and neither joint nor joint and several and may be terminated at their 
discretion on the basis of their assessment of the state of the financial markets and may also be terminated upon the occurrence of 
certain stated events. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the Underwriters must buy all of the Common Shares if they buy 
any of them. However, the Underwriters are not required to take or pay for the Common Shares covered by the Underwriters’ 
Over-Allotment Option described below. 

In connection with the Offering, certain of the Underwriters or securities dealers may distribute prospectuses electronically. 

The Offering is being made in each of the provinces and territories of Canada. The Common Shares will be offered in each 
of the provinces and territories of Canada through those Underwriters or their affiliates who are registered to offer the Common 
Shares for sale in such provinces and such other registered dealers as may be designated by the Underwriters. Subject to applicable 
law, the Underwriters may offer the Common Shares outside of Canada. 

The Company has applied and been granted conditional approval to list the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange via TSX Sandbox. TSX Sandbox is an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy the original 
listing requirements of TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX.  

As the Company does not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX as set out in Section 3.09(a) of the TSX 
Company Manual, the TSX has exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical pre-tax earnings and pre-tax cash 
flow in granting the Company conditional approval for listing pursuant to TSX Sandbox. Listing of the Common Shares is subject 
to (i) a minimum of 1,000,000 freely tradeable Common Shares having an aggregate market value of at least C$4 million, being 
held by at least 300 public holders each holding one board lot or more; (ii) compliance with the TSX security based compensation 
arrangements policies; (iii) completion of the Offering with the public raise resulting in minimum gross proceeds of C$75 million; 
(iv) the market capitalization of the Company being at least C$250 million upon completion of the Offering and listing on the TSX; 
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(v) receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Company to make certain enhanced disclosures; and (vi) the Company fulfilling 
all of the requirements of the TSX on or before May 11, 2021. The Company will remain listed pursuant to the TSX Sandbox until 
the later of (a) the time it has deployed 50% of the proceeds raised pursuant to the Offering, and (b) 12 months from its original 
listing date, provided the Company has one year without significant compliance issues and the Company is in compliance with the 
provisions of Part VI of the TSX Company Manual. In connection with listing the Company has reserved the stock symbol “ARR”. 

The Common Shares offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act, or any state 
securities laws, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as 
defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act) absent registration or pursuant to an applicable exemption from the 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. Accordingly, except to the extent permitted 
by the Underwriting Agreement and except for offers and sales made by the Company pursuant to an available exemption from 
registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, the Common Shares may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, 
or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons. Each Underwriter has agreed that it will not offer or sell Common Shares within the 
U.S. or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons except in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the 
U.S. Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. The Underwriting Agreement provides that the underwriters may re-offer 
and re-sell the Common Shares that they have acquired pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement to qualified institutional buyers in 
the United States in accordance with Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act and similar exemptions under applicable state 
securities laws. The Underwriting Agreement also provides that the Underwriters will offer and sell the Common Shares outside 
the United States (including in Canada) in accordance with Regulation S. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the 
Offering, an offer or sale of the Common Shares within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the Offering) 
may violate the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act, unless such offer is made pursuant to an exemption under the 
U.S. Securities Act. 

Prior to the Offering, there has been no public market for the Common Shares. The sale of a substantial amount of the 
Common Shares in the public market after the Offering, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the 
prevailing market price of the Common Shares. Furthermore, because some of the Common Shares will not be available for sale 
after the Offering due to the restrictions on resale described under “Lock Up” below, the sale of a substantial amount of Common 
Shares in the public market after these restrictions lapse could adversely affect the prevailing market price of the Common Shares 
and the Company’s ability to raise equity capital in the future. 

OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION

The Company has granted to the Underwriters the Over-Allotment Option, exercisable at the Underwriters’ sole discretion 
at any time, in whole or in part from time to time, for a period of 30 days after Closing, to purchase, at the Offering Price, up to an 

over-allotments, if any, and for market stabilization purposes. If the Over-Allotment Option is exercised in full, the Total Offering 
Price to the public will be C$115,000,000, the Underwriters’ Commission will be C$6,900,000 and the Net Proceeds to the Company 
will be C$108,100,000. This prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and the distribution of the Common 
Shares issuable upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. A purchaser who acquires Common Shares forming part of the 
Underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those Common Shares under this prospectus, regardless of whether the 
over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases. 

PRICE STABILIZATION, SHORT POSITIONS AND PASSIVE MARKET MAKING

In connection with the Offering, the Underwriters may over-allocate or effect transactions which stabilize, maintain or 
otherwise affect the market price of the Common Shares at levels other than those which otherwise might prevail on the open 
market, including: stabilizing transactions; short sales; purchases to cover positions created by short sales; imposition of penalty 
bids; and syndicate covering transactions. 

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the market 
price of the Common Shares while the underwritten Offering is in progress. These transactions may also include making short sales 
of the Common Shares, which involve the sale by the Underwriters of a greater number of Common Shares than they are required 
to purchase in the underwritten Offering. Short sales may be “covered short sales”, which are short positions in an amount not 
greater than the Over-Allotment Option, or may be “naked short sales”, which are short positions in excess of that amount. 

The Underwriters may close out any covered short position either by exercising the Over-Allotment Option, in whole or 
in part, or by purchasing Common Shares in the open market or as otherwise permitted by applicable law. In making this 
determination, the Underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of Common Shares available for purchase in the open 
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market compared with the price at which they may purchase Common Shares through the Over-Allotment Option. The Underwriters 
must close out any naked short position by purchasing Common Shares in the open market or as otherwise permitted by applicable 
law. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the Underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on 
the price of the Common Shares in the open market that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the Offering. Any naked 
short sales will be in addition to shares allocated pursuant to the Underwriters’ Over-Allotment position. A purchaser who acquires 
Common Shares under the allocation of the Over-Allotment option and or a naked short position will, in each case, acquire such 
Common Shares under this prospectus, regardless of whether the Over-Allotment position is ultimately filled through the exercise 
of the Over-Allotment Option or secondary market purchases or when the naked short position is covered by secondary market 
purchases.  

In addition, in accordance with rules and policy statements of certain Canadian securities regulators, the Underwriters may 
not, at any time during the period of distribution, bid for or purchase Common Shares. The foregoing restriction is, however, subject 
to exceptions where the bid or purchase is not made for the purpose of creating actual or apparent active trading in, or raising the 
price of, the Common Shares. These exceptions include a bid or purchase permitted under the by-laws and rules of applicable 
regulatory authorities and the TSX, including the Universal Market Integrity Rules for Canadian Marketplaces, relating to market 
stabilization and passive market making activities and a bid or purchase made for and on behalf of a customer where the order was 
not solicited during the period of distribution. 

As a result of these activities, the price of the Common Shares may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in 
the open market. If these activities are commenced, they may be discontinued by the Underwriters at any time. The Underwriters 
may carry out these transactions on any stock exchange on which the Common Shares are listed, in the over-the-counter market, or 
as otherwise permitted by applicable law. 

PRICING OF THE OFFERING

Prior to the Offering, there was no public market for the Common Shares. The Offering price will be determined by 
negotiations between the Company, Altius Minerals and the Bookrunners.  

The Underwriters propose to offer the Common Shares initially at the Offering price specified on the cover page of this 
prospectus. After the Underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the Common Shares at the price specified on the 
cover page, the Offering price may be decreased and may be further changed from time to time to an amount not greater than that 
set out on the cover page, and the compensation realized by the Underwriters will be decreased by the amount that the aggregate 
price paid by investors for the Common Shares is less than the gross price paid by the Underwriters to the Company. Any such 
reduction in price will not affect the proceeds received by the Company. 

COMMISSIONS

The Offering price for the Common Shares is payable in Canadian dollars. 

The following table shows the per Common Share and total underwriting commissions payable by the Company in 
connection with the Offering: 

Underwriting Commission 
Over-Allotment not Exercised Over-Allotment Fully Exercised 

Per Share .................................................................  
Total ........................................................................  C$6,000,000 C$6,900,000 

EXPENSES RELATED TO THE OFFERING

It is estimated that the total expenses of the Offering payable by the Company, not including the underwriting commissions, 
will be approximately C$1,500,000 million. 

LOCK-UP

The Company has agreed that it will not, without the prior consent of the Bookrunners, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, offer, issue or sell, or announce any intention to do so, Common Shares or any securities convertible or 
exchangeable into Shares, except (i) issuances of options or other incentive securities to the directors and officers of the Company; 
(ii) Common Shares issued in connection with any employee option or purchase plans, or (iii) Common Shares offered hereby, 
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including upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option, for a period of 180 days subsequent to the closing of the Offering. See 
“Plan of Distribution”. 

Each of the directors and officers of the Company, Altius Minerals and the other existing shareholders of the Company 
prior to the Offering have agreed that they will not, without the prior consent of the Bookrunners, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, sell, or announce any intention to do so, Common Shares or any securities convertible or exchangeable into 
Shares, for a period of 180 days subsequent to the closing of the Offering. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

BOOK ENTRY SYSTEM

Subscriptions will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the Underwriters reserve the right 
to close the subscription books at any time without notice. One or more certificates representing the Common Shares sold pursuant 
to the Offering in Canada will be issued in registered form to CDS, or to its nominee, and deposited with CDS on the date of Closing. 
Transfers of ownership of Common Shares in Canada will be effected through records maintained by participants in the CDS 
depository service (“CDS Participants”), which include securities brokers and dealers, banks and trust companies. Indirect access 
to the CDS book entry system is also available to other institutions that maintain custodial relationships with a CDS Participant, 
either directly or indirectly. Each purchaser of Common Shares in Canada will receive a customer confirmation of purchase from 
the CDS Participant from or through which such Common Shares are purchased in accordance with the practices and procedures of 
such CDS Participant. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Common Shares involves a substantial degree of risk and is highly speculative due to the 
nature of the Company’s business. As a result, investors should consider investing in the Common Shares only if they can 
afford to lose their entire investment. Investors should carefully consider the risks described below and the other 
information contained in this prospectus before making a decision to buy the Common Shares. If any of the following risks 
or other risks not listed below occur, the Company’s business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and future 
cash flows could be materially adversely impacted. In that case, the trading price of the Common Shares could decline and 
investors could lose part or all of their investment in the Common Shares. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS, INDUSTRY AND OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

Dependency on Renewable Power Generation Facility Owners for the Operation of Power Generation Facilities 

The operations of the power generation facilities in which the Company holds royalty interests will be dependent upon the 
facility owner or operator of the renewable power generation facility (collectively, the “Facility Owner”), and the Company has 
no input as to how these facilities are operated. As a result of the Company’s operating model, the Company’s future cash flow is 
dependent upon the activities of the Facility Owners. Such Facility Owners: (i) may have business interests or targets that are 
inconsistent with those of the Company; (ii) may take action contrary to the Company’s policies or objectives; (iii) may be unable 
or unwilling to fulfill their obligations under their agreements with the Company; (iv) may be unable or unwilling to comply with 
the underlying power or electricity purchase or sale agreement between the owner of a facility generating electricity and a third-
party acquirer of electricity (“PPA”); or, (v) may experience financial, operational or other difficulties, including insolvency, which 
could limit the Facility Owner’s ability to perform its obligations under the royalty agreement. Any such action could have a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s future profitability, results of operations and financial condition. 

Dependency on Renewable Power Generation Facility Owners for the Development of Power Generation Facilities 

The development of the power generation facilities that are not yet operational and in which the Company will hold royalty 
interests will be dependent upon the Facility Owner’s ability to complete the development, raise financing, complete construction 
and place the facility into operation at the name plate capacity, and the Company will have no input as to how these facilities will 
be developed, financed or constructed. The anticipated timing of the phases of development of power generation facilities may 
materially differ from the Company’s expectations. While the Company has made efforts to mitigate its exposure to risk over the 
longer term by structuring contracts based on a return threshold calculation, the failed development or a material delay in the 
development, financing, construction or start of operations at a power generation facility could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition over the short or medium term.  
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Dependency on Sale of Renewable Power Projects to Third Parties 

The Company, through its subsidiary GBR, has provided and will provide (based on the achievement of certain milestones, 
where applicable) a portion of the development capital to TGE and Apex to finance the advancement of each developer’s portfolio 
of development stage renewable power projects. In exchange for the Company’s investment, GBR will be entitled to a newly created 
contractual royalty on each project that is sold by such developer to a third-party or affiliate. While the Company’s ability to receive 
royalties for its investments is not tied to any particular project being successfully developed and sold and while the Company has 
conducted extensive due diligence concerning the financial viability of TGE and Apex, the Company’s ability to receive royalties 
is and will be contingent upon TGE and Apex’s overall ability to successfully sell projects to third-party operators or an affiliate, 
while also continuing to meet their own financial and liquidity requirements. The Company has negotiated contractual protections 
in an effort to mitigate risks associated with bankruptcy or insolvency, however, certain of the Company’s rights in this regard may 
be subordinated to senior lenders. Currently, the TGE and Apex relationships account for the vast majority of the Company’s 
expected future royalty revenue. Any failure or delay in the ability of TGE and Apex to sell any of their respective projects or any 
material decline in the financial viability of TGE or Apex could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, 
results of operations and financial condition. Historical project sales do not necessarily predict the likelihood of future project sales 
or future performance of the Shares. See “Business of the Company – TGE Investment” and “Business of the Company – Apex 
Investment”. 

Limited Access to Data and Disclosure Regarding the Operation of Power Generation Facilities 

As a royalty holder, the Company will be entitled to audit the books and records of the Facility Owners on a periodic basis 
and may have rights to access and inspect the power generation facilities. These rights will provide the Company with further insight 
into the operations from time to time and will assist in confirming compliance with the royalty agreements. However the Company 
is not, and will not be, the owner or operator of any of the power generation facilities underlying its current or future royalties. 
Consequently, unless otherwise provided for under contract, the Company will have limited periodic access to data on the underlying 
operations or to the underlying facilities themselves. This could affect its ability to assess the value of a royalty on a timely basis 
and performance of the royalty agreements with the Facility Owners. In addition, royalty agreements may be subject to 
confidentiality arrangements that govern the disclosure of information with regard to royalties and as a result the Company may not 
be in a position to publicly disclose non-public information with respect to certain royalties. The limited and potentially delayed 
access to data and disclosure regarding the operations of the properties in which the Company has an interest may restrict the 
Company’s ability to assess the value or enhance its performance, which may result in a material and adverse effect on the 
Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition and may limit the Company’s ability to allow investors to 
assess the value of the Company.  

Reliance on Facility Owner Reporting and Information 

The Company relies on public disclosure and other information regarding the power generation facilities it receives from 
the Facility Owners. The Company must rely on the accuracy and timeliness of the public disclosure and other information it 
receives from the Facility Owners of the power generation facilities, and use such information in its analyses, forecasts and 
assessments relating to its own business and to prepare its disclosure with respect to the royalties. Further, the Company relies on 
information provided by the Facility Owners to determine the fair market value and return thresholds for the royalty arrangements. 
If the information provided by the Facility Owners to the Company contains material inaccuracies or omissions or is not released 
in a timely manner, the Company’s revenues may be adversely affected, its financial disclosure and calculations may be inaccurate, 
and its ability to accurately forecast or achieve its stated financial forecasts and objectives may be materially impaired, which may 
have a material adverse effect on the Company.  

Dependency on Facility Owners for the Calculation of Royalty Amounts 

The amounts deliverable under the royalty agreements are calculated by the Facility Owners of the power generation 
facilities based on electricity produced and sold at the revenue meter, and renewable power credits sold. Each Facility Owner’s 
calculation of royalty amounts is subject to and dependent upon the adequacy and accuracy of its production and accounting 
functions, and errors may occur from time to time in the calculations made by a Facility Owner. In certain instances, the Company 
may not have the contractual right to receive production information for all of its royalties. As a result, the Company’s ability to 
detect errors in royalty amounts may be limited, and the possibility exists that the Company will need to make retroactive revenue 
adjustments in respect of royalties and if not detected may adversely affect receipt of proper entitlements. Some of the royalty 
agreements provide the right to audit the operational calculations and production data for the associated royalty amounts; however, 
such audits may not occur until many months following recognition of the royalty revenue and may require the Company to adjust 
revenue in later periods. 
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Delay or Failure of Royalty Payments 

The Company will be dependent to a large extent upon the financial viability and operational effectiveness of Facility 
Owners. Payments from production generally flow through the Facility Owner and there is a risk of delay in receiving such revenues 
or the reduction of such revenues from those anticipated by the Company. Payments may be delayed or reduced by a variety of 
causes including damage sustained to the power generation facilities, accidents at the power generation facilities, recovery by the 
operators of expenses incurred in the operation of the power generation facilities, or the insolvency of the operator. A material delay 
or failure to receive any royalty payments from the owners and operators may result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
profitability, results of operation and financial condition. Such delays or failures may also impact the Company’s ability to achieve 
its anticipated minimum return threshold.  

Subordinated or no Security Interest 

The Company’s rights to payment under the royalties must, in most cases, be enforced by contract, and may or may not 
include the protection of a security interest over property that the Company could readily liquidate, and if such security interest 
exists it may be further subordinated to other sources of financing. The Company’s rights under the royalties will not constitute an 
interest in land. This may affect the Company’s ability to collect outstanding royalties upon a default. In the event of a bankruptcy 
or insolvency of a Facility Owner, the Company may be treated like any other unsecured creditor or be subordinated to other 
creditors, and therefore have a limited prospect for full recovery of royalty revenue.  

Royalty and Other Interests May Not Be Honored by Facility Owners 

The Company’s royalty and other interests in renewable power projects are largely contractually based. Parties to contracts 
do not always honor contractual terms and contracts themselves may be subject to interpretation or technical defects. Non-
performance by grantors of royalty and other interests may occur if such counterparties find themselves unable to honor their 
contractual commitments due to financial distress or other reasons. In such circumstances, the Company may not be able to receive 
its contractual entitlements. No assurance can be given that the Company’s financial results will not be adversely affected by the 
failure of a grantor of royalty or similar interests to fulfill their contractual obligations in the future.  

To the extent grantors of royalty and other interests do not abide by their contractual obligations, the Company would be 
forced to take legal action to enforce its contractual rights, including any security interests. Such litigation may be time consuming 
and costly, and as with all litigation no guarantee of success can be made. Should any such decision be determined adversely to the 
Company, it may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future profitability, results of operations and financial condition. 

Rights in Favour of Third Parties 

royalty agreements may have the right of first refusal or first offer with respect to a proposed sale or assignment of a royalty to the 
Company. Holders of these rights may exercise them such that certain royalty interests would be lost, reduced or otherwise not be 
available to the Company. Any such exercise may result in the elimination of a royalty interest for compensation to the Company 
and it may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future profitability, results of operations and financial condition. 

The realized return from the Company’s investments may vary from the minimum return threshold  

                The Company is targeting a minimum return threshold of 8-12% on a pre-tax unlevered basis on investments in the 
portfolios of renewable energy developers. This return is based upon negotiated terms with respective developers that are reflective 
of the cost of competing sources of capital at the time of the investment as well as risk assessment factors determined by ARR that 
include the size of the investment relative to the overall size and quality of the developer’s project portfolio, historical track record 
of project sales and capital structure amongst other factors. The actual realized return over the duration of the investment may vary 
from the minimum return threshold. As an example, a material change in the expected operations at a power generation facility or 
the expected commodity pricing could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and 
financial condition over the short or medium term and result in a lower realized return than the minimum return threshold. 

Increased Competition for Royalty Interests 

In sourcing investment opportunities, the Company has to compete with other low cost debt and other incentives that may 
be available to developers on comparable or more favourable terms. Further, although the Company believes that, as a pioneer in 
providing royalty financing in the renewable power sector, it currently faces limited competition in providing such royalty financing, 
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the success of the Company’s business model may lead other companies to engage in a similar royalty financing model in the 
renewable power sector as there are low barriers to entry. If the Company has to compete with larger companies with substantial 
financial resources, operational capabilities or long earnings records, the Company may be at a competitive disadvantage in 
investing in and financing renewable power projects. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
compete successfully against other larger companies or alternative sources of financing in providing royalty financing in the 
renewable power sector at a viable cost, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of 
operation and financial condition.  

Risks Arising from Joint Venture  

The Company has entered into the A&R LLC Agreement to provide for the terms of the GBR Joint Venture among the 
Company and Apollo Fund, pursuant to which Apollo Fund expects to earn a 50% interest in the GBR Joint Venture. Pursuant to 
the A&R LLC Agreement, the board of directors of GBR Holdings, the joint venture entity, must approve any investment decisions. 
Such board of directors is jointly controlled by the Company and Apollo Fund and unless the Company can solely pursue and fund 
a sidecar structure in certain instances the Company cannot make independent investment decisions that it believes are beneficial 
for its operations, which may materially and adversely limit or otherwise impact the Company’s results, operations and financial 
condition, unless it is able to fund such investment solely through the sidecar investment mechanism. There is therefore no guarantee 
that the Company will be able to execute its preferred business or operational strategy as it does not have sole or majority control 
of the decisions to be undertaken by the GBR Joint Venture. Further, if the Company is not able to meet future capital calls in the 
GBR Joint Venture its ownership in the GBR Joint Venture may be diluted, which could result in ARR losing joint control of the 
GBR Joint Venture. Such loss of joint control would result in ARR having less input with respect to the future direction of GBR, 
and the royalty interests held by GBR. 

PPA Contract Risks 

The underlying power generation facilities are initially expected to operate under PPAs. Such contracts contain 
performance benchmarks that must be achieved and other obligations that must be complied with by the Facility Owner such as the 
deliver of specific amount of power on specific hours of specific days. There is no assurance that counterparties to PPAs will 
perform their obligations or make required or anticipated payments to the Facility Owner. Failure of the counterparties to PPAs to 
perform their obligations or make required or anticipated payments to the Facility Owner could limit the Facility Owner’s ability 
to perform its obligations under the royalty arrangements. In addition, PPAs may require settlement at a delivery point other than 
the facility itself and the risk of such delivery can be born by the Facility Owner and royalty holder. 

PPA Contract Expiration Risks 

Power generated from the underlying power generation facilities is, in the majority of cases, to be sold under PPAs that 
expire at various times. When a PPA expires, there can be no assurance that a subsequent PPA will be available or, if available, that 
any such subsequent PPA will be on terms, or at prices, acceptable to the Facility Owner or consistent with expiring PPAs or that 
the PPA will be replaced by another PPA. Failure by the Facility Owner to enter into a subsequent PPA on terms and at prices that 
permit the operation of a facility on a profitable basis could have a material adverse effect on the royalties received by the Company. 

Concentration Risk 

The business of the Company is to invest in royalty interests in the renewable power generation sector only. Given the 
concentration of the Company’s exposure to the renewable power generation sector, the Company’s investment portfolio will be 
more susceptible to adverse economic or regulatory occurrences affecting the renewable power generation sector than an investment 
fund that holds a diversified portfolio of securities.  

Further, the Company has currently partnered with two developers, TGE and Apex, which relationships account for the 
vast majority of the Company’s near term expected royalty revenue. Any adverse developments affecting the development of TGE 
or Apex’s renewable power projects, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Moreover, while the Company’s intention is to purchase a large number of royalties from different companies in different 
renewable power generation segments, it will take time to attain such diversification. Until diversification is achieved, the Company 
may have a significant portion of its assets dedicated to a small number of renewable power generation facilities or only a couple 
segments of the renewable power generation sector. In the event that any such business or renewable power generation segment is 
unsuccessful or experiences a downturn, a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial 
condition may result. 
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Limitation of Insurance 

The Company will maintain insurance policies, covering usual and customary risks associated with its business, with 

in the construction and operation of electricity generation facilities, such as breakdowns, manufacturing defects, labour disputes, 
accidents, natural disasters, theft, and sabotage. The Company relies on the Facility Owner’s insurance policies to cover certain of 
such losses, particularly those arising from force majeure, natural disasters, or sabotage, among other things. While the Company 
typically requires projects to carry insurance under its royalty agreements, a significant uninsured loss or a loss that significantly 
exceeds the limits of the Facility Owner’s insurance policies could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s royalty interests 
and its profitability, results of operation and financial condition. 

General Risks Involved in the Operations of a Power Generation Facility 

The revenue generated by the Company from a royalty interest is dependent on the amount of electricity generated by 
underlying power generation facilities. The ability of the power generation facilities to generate the amount of electricity expected 
is a primary determinant in the amount of revenues that will be received by the Company. A number of different factors, including 
but not limited to: equipment failure due to wear and tear, latent defect, design error, operator error, slow response to outages due 
to underperforming monitoring systems, changes in wind patterns, changes in solar irradiation patterns, reliance upon transmission 
systems and associated curtailment by off-takers provided under the terms of the PPA, and vandalism or theft could adversely affect 
the amount of electricity produced, and thus the revenues and cash flows of the Company. Extreme weather events, which may be 
more frequent due to climate change, may also impact the operations of power generation facilities. Unplanned outages or prolonged 
downtime for maintenance and repair may increase operating and maintenance expenses and reduce revenues as a result of selling 
less electricity. To the extent that a facility’s equipment requires longer than forecasted down times for maintenance and repair, or 
suffers disruptions of power generation for other reasons, the profitability, results of operation and financial condition of the 
Company could be adversely affected.  

Technological Advancements Could Impact the Company’s Future Operations and Financial Condition 

The Company’s future revenue and expectations regarding the continued increase in demand for renewable power in the 
U.S. are to some extent dependent on the advancement of technology in the renewable power industry and could be impacted by 
changes and advancements in technology, or lack there of, including the development of large scale energy storage. To the extent 
that technological advancements are delayed or fail to function as expected, the Company’s assumptions about its future revenue 
and operations could be adversely affected. There is also no assurance that the Company will be able to respond effectively to 
technological advancements in the renewable power industry, which could have an adverse impact on the Company’s revenue and 
operations.   

Demand for Energy may be Negatively Impacted by Changes in General Economic, Social and Market Conditions. 

The revenue derived by the Company from its royalty portfolio may be significantly affected by changes in energy prices 
and the demand for renewable sources of energy. The anticipated value of a royalty and performance of the royalty agreements with 
Facility Owners is based on assumptions relating to the demand for renewable sources of energy. That demand may change as a 
result of fluctuations in general economic conditions, energy prices, and social perception of renewable power generation facilities. 
On January 20, 2021, President Joe Biden announced that the U.S. had re-entered the Paris Climate Agreement, a nonbinding 
agreement signed among approximately 194 nations to reduce emissions and keep the increase in global temperatures well below 
3.6 degrees Fahrenheit compared with preindustrial levels. Entry into the Paris Climate Agreement requires the U.S. to set voluntary 
targets to reduce domestic emissions. As the U.S. is the world’s second-largest emitter of greenhouse gases, government action to 
limit the greenhouse gases may result in further acceleration of renewable power as a primary energy source.  

The emergence of initiatives designed to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and control or limit the effects of climate change 
has increased the incentive to increase energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption. In addition, significant technological 
advancements are taking place in the electric industry, including advancements related to self-generation and distributed energy 
technologies. 

Increased adoption of these practices, requirements and technologies could reduce demand for utility-scale electricity 
generation, which may adversely affect market prices at which the Facility Owners can sell electric power and consequently reduce 
the ability of ARR’s renewable power developer partners to successfully develop and sell projects.  
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Energy conservation, energy efficiency, distributed generation, community choice aggregation and other factors that 
reduce energy demand or changes in general economic or market conditions which have an adverse impact on energy prices could 
adversely affect the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition.  

Negative Public or Community Response to Renewable Power Generation Facilities 

Growth in the Company’s business depends in large part on the desire for renewable power facilities. Negative public or 
community response to renewable power facilities could adversely affect the development of and demand for wind or solar power 
energy. This type of negative response could lead to legal, public relations and other challenges for the developers in which the 
Company has made investments anticipating that such investments will yield future royalties. Such negative response could also 
lead to delays in development and construction, achieving commercial operations for a facility and generating revenues. Such delays 
or disruptions could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future profitability, results of operation and financial 
condition. 

Reputational Risks  

The Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition may be negatively impacted as a result of any 
negative public opinion towards the Company, or as a result of any negative sentiment toward, or in respect of, the Company’s 
reputation with stakeholders, special interest groups, political leadership, the media or other entities. Further, the Company’s return 
on royalty investments may be negatively impacted as a result of any negative public opinion towards any of the power generation 
facilities in the Company’s royalty investment portfolio, their Facility Owners, or any of its joint venture partners. Reputational 
damage can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events, and could include any negative publicity, 
whether true or not. Since the Company does not ultimately have direct control over how it, the assets in which it holds royalty or 
other investment interests, the Facility Owners, or the joint venture partners are perceived by others, reputational loss could occur 
and have a material adverse impact on the trading price of its securities. 

Permitting Risk 

The Company may invest in royalty interests in power generation facilities that will require various property rights, permits 
and licenses in order to commence commercial operations or conduct current and future operations, and delays or a failure to obtain 
such property rights, permits and licenses, or a failure to comply with the terms of any of such property rights, permits and licenses 
could result in interruption or closure of operations at the facility. Such interruptions or closures could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s future profitability, results of operation and financial condition. 

Changes in Legislation, Regulations, and Government Policies  

The business of the Company’s underlying royalty investments is subject to the applicable legislative, regulatory and 
policy regime in place for the renewable power generation sector. As such, the Company’s royalty portfolio and business generally 
is susceptible to significant delays, changes or anticipated changes or adverse regulatory occurrences affecting the renewable power 
generation sector or government incentives which may favour competitors or competitive sources of electrical generation. In most 
jurisdictions, once the government implements specific renewable power policies or incentives either supporting a specific 
renewable power generator or the renewable power generating sector as a whole, such policies or incentives are generally applicable 
for a specified period of time (such as for example the PTC and ITC tax incentive programs described above, which have ten year 
and five year availability windows, respectively, tied to the stage of the project). However, the government may modify its tax, 
tariff, or incentive regimes, and the future availability of any policies or incentives that increase demand for renewable power 
generation, either in current jurisdictions beyond the prescribed timeframes or in new jurisdictions, is uncertain. Any changes in the 
regulatory frameworks governing the renewable power generation sector could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
profitability, results of operation and financial condition. 

General Economic, Market Risks and Political Conditions  

The Company’s operations are affected by the condition and overall strength of the global economy and, in particular, the 
economies of Canada and the U.S. The occurrence of periods of poor economic conditions or low or negative economic growth 
could have an adverse impact on the Company’s results and restrict the Company’s ability to expand its royalty portfolio or pay 
dividends to its shareholders. The Company’s ability to invest in royalty interests in renewable power generation is, in part, 
dependent upon, and also correlated to, market risks and political conditions; in particular, adverse events in financial markets, 
which may have a profound effect on global or local economies. Some key impacts of general financial market turmoil include 
contraction in credit markets resulting in a widening of credit spreads, devaluations and enhanced volatility in global equity, 
commodity and foreign exchange markets and a general lack of market liquidity. A slowdown in the financial markets or other key 
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measures of the global economy or the local economies of the regions in which the Company operates (including, but not limited 
to, employment rates, business conditions, inflation, fuel and energy costs, commodity prices, lack of available credit, the state of 
the financial markets, interest rates and tax rates) may adversely affect the Company’s growth, profitability, results of operation 
and financial condition.

Natural Disasters and Other Catastrophic Events 

The power generation facilities and operations from which royalty revenue is derived could be exposed to potential 
interruption and damage (partial or full loss) resulting from extreme weather events such as environmental disasters (e.g. floods, 
high winds, fires, and earthquakes), severe weather conditions and equipment failures. Extreme weather events may become more 
frequent due to climate change. There can be no assurance that in the event of an earthquake, hurricane, tornado, act of war or other 
natural, manmade or technical catastrophe all or some parts of the generation facilities and infrastructure systems of the power 
generation facilities in which the Company holds a royalty interest will not be disrupted. The occurrence of a significant event 
which disrupts the ability of the renewable power generation facility to produce or sell electricity for an extended period could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company’s future profitability, results of operation and financial condition.  

Health, Safety and Environmental Risks 

The ownership, construction and operation of power generation facilities carries an inherent risk of liability related to 
worker health and safety and the environment, including the risk of government imposed orders to remedy unsafe conditions and/or 
to remediate or otherwise address environmental contamination, potential penalties for contravention of health, safety and 
environmental laws, licences, permits and other approvals, and potential civil liability. Compliance with health, safety and 
environmental laws (and any future changes to such laws) and the requirements of licences, permits and other approvals remain 
material to the Facility Owners’ businesses. These laws, regulations and permits, and the enforcement and interpretation thereof, 
change frequently and generally have become more stringent over time. The Facility Owners’ power generation facilities may 
become subject to government orders, investigations, reviews, inquiries or other proceedings (including civil claims) relating to 
health, safety and environmental matters. Failure to comply with environmental, health and safety requirements may expose Facility 
Owners’ to litigation, fines or other sanctions, including the revocation of permits and suspension of operations.  

The occurrence of any of these events or any changes, additions to, stricter interpretations of or more rigorous enforcement 
of, health, safety and environmental laws, licences, permits or other approvals could have a significant impact on operations and/or 
result in additional material expenditures, costly compliance requirements and ultimately affect the ability of facility owners to pay 
the Company royalties.  

and any future emergence and spread of similar pathogens, could have a material adverse effect on global and local economic and 
business conditions. In response to the outbreak, governmental authorities in Canada, the United States and internationally have 
introduced various recommendations and measures to try to limit the pandemic, including travel restrictions, border closures, 
nonessential business closures, quarantines, self-isolations, shelters-in-place and social distancing. The efforts to contain COVID-
19 have negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted manufacturing operations as well as global supply chains and created 
significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. Moreover, COVID-19 may result in a global recession. Businesses in many 
countries around the globe, including in Canada and the United States, have been required to close, or materially alter their day-to-
day operations, which may prevent many businesses from operating. These containment measures are subject to change and the 
respective government authorities may tighten the restrictions at any time. 

The Company has been closely monitoring developments related to COVID-19. In response to COVID-19, the Company 
is following all applicable rules and regulations as set out by the relevant health authorities. The extent to which the coronavirus 
impacts the Company’s operations, and the operations of the power generation facilities in which the Company invests, will depend 
on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including: actions that may be taken 
by governments and private businesses to attempt to contain COVID-19, the duration of the outbreak, and new information that 
may emerge concerning the severity of the coronavirus, among others. In particular, the impact of COVID-19 on the supply chain 
in the construction and development space is not yet fully understood. Any present or future impacts on the supply chain could 
influence the timing and cost of the renewable power projects under development and delay the development of future projects.  

The Company may take further actions as may be required by government authorities or as it determines are in the best 
interests of its business partners. There is no guarantee that the Company, or the power generation facilities in which the Company 
invests, will not experience significant disruptions in the future. For example, Facility Owners and their employees may be 
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prevented from conducting business activities for an indefinite period due to the transmission of the disease or due to emergency 
measures or restrictions that may be requested by governmental authorities. COVID-19 may affect the financial viability of 
renewable power developers and originators, impact their ability to develop and construct renewable power facilities and could 
cause them to exit certain business lines, or change the terms on which they are willing to provide royalties. Further, the economic 
and business contraction that may occur as a result of restrictions imposed by governments has and may continue to affect the 
demand for power generation. A reduction in energy demand or changes in general economic or market conditions which have an 
adverse impact on energy process could adversely affect the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial conditions.  

Moreover, the spread of the coronavirus globally is expected to have a material adverse effect on global and regional 
economies and to continue to negatively impact stock markets. These adverse effects on the economy, the stock market and 
potentially the Company’s share price could adversely impact the Company’s ability to raise capital. Any of these developments, 
and others, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition, could 
delay its business development plans and could heighten many of the known risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. 

Key Personnel Attraction and Retention 

The Company’s success depends in large measure on certain key personnel which the Company relies on for their 
knowledge of the renewable power generation industry, relationships within the industry and experience in identifying, evaluating 
and completing investments. The Company does not intend to have any key person insurance in effect for the Company on Closing.
As the Company’s business activity grows, additional key financial and administrative personnel, as well as additional staff, may 
be required. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to continue to attract and retain all personnel necessary for 
the development and operation of its business. The loss of the services of such key personnel, or failure to attract and retain such 
personnel, could adversely affect the Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition. 

Breach of Confidentiality  

When considering potential business relationships or other transactions with third parties the Company may disclose 
confidential information relating to the business, operations or affairs of the Company. Although confidentiality agreements are 
signed by third parties prior to the disclosure of any confidential information, a breach by a third-party could put the Company at 
competitive risk and may cause significant damage to its business. The harm to the Company’s business from a breach of 
confidentiality cannot presently be quantified, but may be material and may not be compensable in damages. There is no assurance 
that, in the event of a breach of confidentiality, the Company will be able to obtain equitable remedies, such as injunctive relief, 
from a court of competent jurisdiction in a timely manner, if at all, in order to prevent or mitigate any damage to its business that 
such a breach of confidentiality may cause. 

Legal Proceedings and Liability 

The Company may become party to legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business, including commercial, 
employment, and other litigation and claims, as well as governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Such 
matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause the Company to incur significant expenses. 
In addition, the Company’s insurance or indemnities may not cover all claims that may be asserted against it, and any claims asserted 
against it, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, may harm its reputation. Furthermore, because litigation is inherently 
unpredictable, the results of any such actions may have a material adverse effect on business operating results, cash flows or 
financial condition.  

In addition, potential litigation may arise on properties underlying the royalties (for example, litigation between joint 
venture partners or between Facility Owners and original property owners or neighbouring property owners). As a royalty holder, 
the Company will not generally have any influence on such litigation, nor will it generally have access to data. To the extent that 
litigation results in the cessation or reduction of operations by facility operators (whether temporary or permanent), it could have a 
material and adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operations and financial condition.  

Changes in Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

IFRS accounting principles and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines and interpretations with 
regard to a wide range of matters that are relevant to the Company’s business, including revenue recognition, impairment of 
goodwill and intangible assets, inventory, income taxes and litigation, are highly complex and involve many subjective assumptions, 
estimates and judgments. Changes in these rules or their interpretation or changes in underlying assumptions, estimates or judgments 
could significantly change the Company’s reported financial performance or financial condition in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. Further, the Company’s implementation of and compliance with changes in accounting rules, 
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including new accounting rules and interpretations, could adversely affect the Company’s reported financial position or operating 
results or cause unanticipated fluctuations in its reported operating results in future periods. 

Limited Operating History 

While many members of management have expertise and comparable operating experience, the Company itself has a 
limited history of operations and there can be no assurance that the Company’s business will be successful or profitable or that the 
Company will be able to successfully execute its business model and growth strategy. If the Company cannot execute its business 
model and growth strategy, it may result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and 
financial condition. Since the Company is an early stage company, there will be limited financial, operational and other information 
available to evaluate the Company’s prospects, and such information may not be a reliable basis for evaluating the Company’s 
business prospects or the future value of the Common Shares.  

The Company is a Holding Company 

The Company’s material assets are its direct and indirect equity interests in our subsidiaries, including subsidiaries. The 
Company is, therefore, dependent upon payments, dividends and distributions from its subsidiaries for funds to pay its operating 
and other expenses and to pay future cash dividends or distributions, if any, to holders of our Common Shares, and we may have 
tax costs in connection with any dividend or distribution. 

Investment Strategy 

As part of the Company’s business strategy, it has sought and will continue to seek to invest in royalty interests in the 
renewable power generation sector. In pursuit of such opportunities, the Company may fail to identify or select appropriate 
investment targets, or negotiate acceptable arrangements, including arrangements to finance the investments.  

The Company may be unable to identify or select appropriate investment targets in the numbers or at the pace it currently 
expects for a variety of reasons, including, among other things, the following: (i) the demand for renewable power systems failing 
to develop sufficiently or taking longer than expected to develop; (ii) issues related to identifying, engaging, contracting, 
compensating and maintaining relationships with Facility Owners, operators and developers, and the negotiation of royalty 
agreements; (iii) issues related to construction, permitting, the environment, and governmental approvals with respect to renewable 
power generation facilities; (iv) a reduction in government incentives or adverse changes in policy and laws for the development or 
use of renewable power, including tax credits; and (v) other government or regulatory actions that could impact the Company’s 
business model. 

If the challenges of identifying or selecting appropriate investments targets increase, the Company’s pool of available 
opportunities may be limited, which may result in a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability, results of operation and 
financial condition.  

Further, the Company cannot assure that it can complete any investment or business arrangement that it pursues, or is 
pursuing, on favourable terms, or that any investment or business arrangements completed will ultimately benefit the Company. In 
connection with any future investments or business arrangements, the Company may incur indebtedness or issue equity securities, 
resulting in increased interest expense or dilution of the percentage ownership of existing shareholders. Unprofitable investments 
or business arrangements, or additional indebtedness or issuances of securities in connection with such investments or business 
arrangements, may adversely affect the price of common stock and negatively affect the Company’s results of operations and 
financial condition. 

Inaccurate Estimates of Growth Strategy 

Market opportunity estimates and growth strategies are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions 
and estimates that may not prove to be accurate, and as such the estimates of growth included in this prospectus may prove to be 
inaccurate and may not be indicative of future growth. As the royalty financing model is relatively nascent in the renewable power 
industry, it may not gain acceptance, or experience widespread growth, as anticipated. While the Company’s estimate of the total 
addressable market included in this prospectus was made in good faith and is based on assumptions and estimates the Company 
believes to be reasonable, this estimate may not prove to be accurate. Further, even if the estimate of market opportunity and growth 
strategy does prove to be accurate, the Company could fail to capture a significant portion, or any portion, of the available market. 
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Ability to Fund and Manage Rapid Growth  

The Company has experienced, and expects to continue to experience, rapid growth which has placed, and will continue 
to place, significant demands on its financial capability. The Company expects that its growth strategy will require it to commit 
substantial financial resources in the future. As the Company’s operations grow in size, scope and complexity, it will need to 
improve and upgrade its systems and infrastructure, which will require significant expenditures and allocation of valuable 
management resources. The Company plans to obtain financing in the future primarily through further equity financing or debt 
financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will succeed in obtaining additional financing, now or in the future. Failure 
to adapt to the Company’s changing needs as it executes on its growth strategy may result in a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s profitability, results of operation and financial condition.  

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S RELATIONSHIP WITH ALTIUS MINERALS

Altius Minerals’ Substantial Influence over the Company 

Altius Minerals will be the majority shareholder of the Company and will be able to nominate two directors to the Board. 
As a result, Altius Minerals will be able to exercise substantial influence over the operations and administration of the Company. 
Altius Minerals personnel who will provide services to the Company under the Altius Minerals Services Agreement are not required 
to have as their primary responsibility the management and administration of the Company or to act exclusively for the Company. 

Uncertainty as a Result of Change in the Role and Ownership of Altius Minerals 

Following the expiry of any lock-up period or other contractual restrictions, Altius Minerals may transfer its interest in the 
Company to a third-party, including in a merger or consolidation or in a transfer of all or substantially all of its assets, without the 
consent of the Company’s shareholders. The Company cannot predict with any certainty the effect that any such transfer would 
have on the trading price of the Common Shares or the Company’s ability to raise capital or make investments in the future. As a 
result, the future of the Company would be uncertain and the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations 
may suffer. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Company’s ownership and management structure involves a number of relationships that may give rise to conflicts of 
interest between the Company and the shareholders, on the one hand, and Altius Minerals, on the other hand. Such conflicts of 
interest may not be resolved in a manner that is in the best interests of the Company or the best interests of its shareholders. In 
certain instances, the interests of Altius Minerals may differ from the interests of the Company and its shareholders. See 
“Agreements with Altius Minerals”. 

RISKS RELATED TO THE OFFERING AND COMMON SHARES

No Prior Public Market for the Common Shares 

Prior to the Offering, no public market existed for the Common Shares. An active and liquid market for the Common 
Shares may not develop following the completion of the Offering or, if developed, may not be maintained. If an active public market 
does not develop or is not maintained, investors may have difficulty selling their Common Shares. 

The Offering price of the Common Shares was determined by negotiation between the Company, Altius Minerals and the 
Underwriters and may not be indicative of the price at which the Common Shares will trade following the completion of the 
Offering. The market price of the Common Shares may materially decline below the Offering price. Consequently, investors may 
not be able to sell the Common Shares at prices equal to or greater than the price paid in this Offering.  

Volatility of Market Price for the Common Shares 

The market price for Common Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, 
many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following: (i) actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s 
results of operations; (ii) recommendations by securities research analysts; (iii) changes in the economic performance or market 
valuations of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Company; (iv) the loss or resignation of executive officers 
and other key personnel of the Company; (v) sales or perceived sales of additional Common Shares; (vi) significant acquisitions or 
business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors 
which prove to be ill considered; (vii) short sales, hedging and other derivative transactions in our Common Shares; (viii) investors’ 
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general perception of the Company and the public’s reaction to the Company’s press releases, other public announcements and 
filings with Canadian securities regulators; (ix) general political, economic, industry and market conditions, including fluctuations 
in commodity prices; and (x) trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and other related 
issues in the renewable power generation industry or the Company’s target markets.  

Financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations in recent years that have particularly affected 
the market prices of equity securities of companies and that have, in many cases, been unrelated to the operating performance, 
underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares may decline even if 
the Company’s operating revenue, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these factors, as well as 
other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values which may result in impairment losses. Certain institutional investors may 
base their investment decisions on consideration of the Company’s environmental, governance and social practices and performance 
against such institutions’ respective investment guidelines and criteria, and failure to meet such criteria may result in a limited or 
no investment in the Common Shares by those institutions, which could adversely affect the trading price of the Common Shares. 

Listing on the TSX or the TSXV is Subject to the Company Fulfilling All of the Listing Requirements of those Exchanges 

The Company has applied and been granted conditional approval to list the Common Shares on the TSX via TSX Sandbox. 
The TSX Sandbox is an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy the original listing requirements of 
TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on TSX.  

As the Company does not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX as set out in Section 3.09(a) of the TSX 
Company Manual, the TSX has exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical pre-tax earnings and pre-tax cash 
flow in granting the Company conditional approval for listing pursuant to TSX Sandbox. Listing of the Common Shares is subject 
to (i) a minimum of 1,000,000 freely tradeable Common Shares having an aggregate market value of at least $4,000,000, being at 
least 300 public holders each holding one board lot or more; (ii) compliance with the TSX security based compensation arrangement 
policies; (iii) Completion of the Offering with the public raise resulting in minimum gross proceeds of C$75 million; (iv) the market 
capitalization of the Company being at least C$250 million upon the completion of the Offering and listing on the TSX; (v) receipt 
of an undertaking by or on behalf of the Company to make certain enhanced disclosures; and (vi) the Company fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the TSX on or before May 11, 2021. 

The Company will remain listed pursuant to the TSX Sandbox until (a) the later of (i) the time it has deployed 50% of the 
proceeds raised pursuant to the Offering and (ii) 12 months from its original listing date; (b) one year without significant compliance 
issues; and (c) the Company being in compliance with the provisions of Part VI of the TSX Company Manual.  

The Company has a limited history of operations and there can be no assurance that the Company’s business will be 
successful or profitable or that the Company will be able to successfully execute its business model and growth strategy.  

Future Dividend Payments are not Guaranteed. 

The payment of dividends by the Company in the future is not guaranteed. The Board will have the discretion to determine 
the amount of any future dividends to be declared and paid to shareholders. The payment of any dividends by the Company in the 
future will depend on, among other things, results of operations; financial condition; expected future levels of earnings; future 
operating cash flow; liquidity requirements; market opportunities; income taxes; debt repayments; legal, regulatory and contractual 
constraints; working capital requirements; tax laws and any other factors the Board may deem relevant. The Company’s future short 
and long-term borrowings may prohibit the Company from paying dividends at any time at which a default or event of default 
would exist under such debt, or if a default or event of default would exist as a result of paying a dividend. 

Discretion in the Use of Proceeds 

The Company currently intends to allocate the net proceeds of the Offering as described under “Use of Proceeds”. 
However, management will have discretion concerning the use of proceeds of the Offering as well as the timing of their expenditures 
and may elect to allocate the net proceeds other than as described under “Use of Proceeds” if they believe it would be in the 
Company’s best interest to do so. As a result, investors will be relying on the judgment of management as to the application of the 
proceeds of the Offering. Management may use the net proceeds of the Offering in ways that an investor may not consider desirable. 
The results and effectiveness of the application of the proceeds are uncertain. The Company may not be able to deploy proceeds of 
the offering as intended if growth prospects do not materialize as anticipated. If the proceeds are not applied effectively, the 
Company’s results of operations and financial condition may suffer. See “Risk Factors – Risks Relating to TSX Listing Application”.  
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Future Sales of Common Stock by Insiders 

As described under the heading “Plan of Distribution — Lock-Up”, each of the Company and Altius Minerals have agreed 
that it will not issue, in the case of the Company, and sell, in the case of Altius Minerals, or offer, grant any option to purchase or 
agree to issue or sell, as applicable, any equity securities of the Company or other securities convertible into, or exchangeable or 
exercisable for, equity securities of the Company for a period of 180 days from the date of Closing, subject to certain exceptions. 
After the expiration of the 180-day lockup Altius Minerals will be able to sell such Common Shares in the public markets. Any 
such sales, or the perception that such sales might occur, could have a material adverse effect on the price of the Common Shares 
or could impair the ability of the Company to obtain capital through an offering of equity securities.

Equity Dilution  

The Board may issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without any vote or action by the Company’s shareholders, 
subject to the rules of any stock exchange on which the Company’s securities may be listed from time to time. The Company may 
make future acquisitions or enter into financings or other transactions involving the issuance of securities. If the Company issues 
any additional equity, the percentage ownership of existing shareholders will be reduced and diluted and the price of the Common 
Shares could decline. 

Unfavourable, Inaccurate or Lack of Research by Securities or Industry Analysts  

The trading market for the Company’s Common Shares will depend in part on the research and reports that securities or 
industry analysts publish about the business. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on 
the Company. If no securities or industry analysts commence covering the Company, the trading price for Common Shares may be 
negatively impacted. In the event securities or industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover the 
Company downgrade the Common Shares or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about the Company’s business, the price 
of the Common Shares may decline. In addition, if the Company’s operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts the price of 
its Common Shares may decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage or fail to publish reports on the Company generally, 
demand for the Common Shares could decrease, which could cause the trading price and volume to decline.  

Increased Expenses as a Result of Being a Public Company 

The Company will incur significant expenses and regulatory burden as a result of being a public company, which may 
negatively impact its performance and could cause its results of operations and financial condition to suffer. Compliance with 
applicable securities laws in Canada and the rules of the TSX substantially increase expenses, including legal and accounting costs, 
and make some activities more time consuming and costly. Canadian Securities Laws and the rules of the TSX require publicly 
listed companies to, among other things, adopt corporate governance policies and related practices and to continuously prepare and 
disclose material information, all of which will significantly increase costs. Reporting obligations as a public company and the 
Company’s anticipated growth may place a strain on financial and management systems, processes and controls. The Company 
also expects that these laws, rules and regulations will make it more expensive for it to obtain director and officer liability insurance, 
and it may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the same or similar 
coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the Company’s Board or as officers. 
As a result of the foregoing, the Company expects a substantial increase in legal, accounting, insurance and certain other expenses 
in the future, which will negatively impact its financial performance and its profitability, results of operation and financial condition.  

Risks Related to Forward-Looking Information 

The forward-looking information relating to, among other things, future results, performance, achievements, prospects or 
opportunities of the Company included in this prospectus (including, in particular, the information contained in the sections titled 
“Prospectus Summary”, “Industry”, “Business of the Company”, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Conditions and Result of Operations of the Company”) in this prospectus is based on opinions, assumptions and estimates made by 
the Company in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as 
well as other factors the Company believes are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances. However, there can be no assurance 
that such estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct. Actual results of the Company in the future may vary significantly 
from the historical and estimated results and those variations may be material. There is no representation by the Company that 
actual results achieved by the Company in the future will be the same, in whole or in part, as those included in this prospectus. See 
“Forward-Looking Information”. 
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SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTIONS ON TRANSFER 

Each of the Directors and officers of the Company, Altius Minerals and the other existing shareholders of the Company 
prior to the Offering have agreed that they will not, without the prior consent of the Bookrunners, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld, sell, or announce any intention to do so, any Common Shares or any securities convertible or exchangeable 
into Common Shares, for a period of 180 days subsequent to the closing of the Offering. See “Plan of Distribution”. 

Pursuant to the A&R LLC Agreement, ARC is restricted from selling or otherwise disposing of its Common Shares in 
ARR if such action would result in a change of control (as such term is defined in the A&R LLC Agreement). See “GBR Joint 
Venture”. 

PROMOTER 

Altius Minerals may be considered a promoter of the Company within the meaning of Canadian Securities Laws. To the 
knowledge of the Company, as of the date of this prospectus, Altius Minerals beneficially owns, controls or directs, directly or 
indirectly, 15,638,639 Common Shares representing 93.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares on a non-diluted basis 
and 3,093,835 Warrants (representing 94.5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares, on a partially diluted basis). 

Principal Securityholder”.   

Altius Minerals and the Company have entered into the Altius Minerals Services Agreement and will, concurrently or prior 
to the completion of the Offering, enter into the Investor Rights Agreement. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals”.  

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

There are no legal proceedings that the Company is or was a party to, or that any of the Company’s property is or was the 
subject of, since incorporation, that were or are material to the Company, and there are no such material legal proceedings that the 
Company knows to be contemplated. For the purposes of the foregoing, a legal proceeding is not considered to be “material” by the 
Company if it involves a claim for damages and the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not exceed 10% of the 
Company’s current assets, provided that if any proceeding presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues as other 
proceedings pending or known to be contemplated, the Company has included the amount involved in the other proceedings in 
computing the percentage. See “Risk Factors”. 

There were no: (i) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this prospectus; 
(ii) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body against the Company that the Company believes must be 
disclosed for this prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the Common Shares; or 
(iii) settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or 
with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this prospectus. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Except as otherwise set out herein, there were no material interests, direct or indirect, of any current or proposed Director 
or executive officer of the Company, nor any Person or company that beneficially owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, 
more than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares, or any associate or affiliate of any of such Persons or companies, in any 
transaction within the three years before the date of this prospectus that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to 
materially affect the Company. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals” and “Principal Securityholder”. 

EXPERTS 

There is no person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a report, valuation, statement or opinion 
made by such person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a report, valuation, statement or opinion in this 
prospectus, other than Stikeman Elliott LLP and McCarthy Tétrault LLP (collectively, the “Experts”) and Deloitte LLP. 

There were no registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect, in any securities or other property of the Company or of 
one of its associates or affiliates: (i) held by an Expert, when such Expert prepared the report, valuation, statement or opinion 
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referred to herein as having been prepared by such Expert; (ii) received by an Expert, after the time specified above; or (iii) to be 
received by an Expert; except in each case for the ownership of Common Shares, which in respect of each Expert, as a group, has 
at all relevant times represented less than 1% of the outstanding Common Shares. In addition, none of the Experts, and no director, 
officer or employee of any of the Experts, is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director, officer or employee 
of the Company or of any associate or affiliate of the Company. 

Deloitte LLP is independent of the Company and GBR within the meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the 
Chartered Professional Accountants of Newfoundland and Labrador. 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

Deloitte LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, 5 Springdale St., St. John’s, NL, A1E 0E4 are the auditors of the 
Company. 

It is anticipated that the Company’s registrar and transfer agent for its Common Shares will be TSX Trust Company located 
at 301-101 Adelaide Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 1S3.  

ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS 

Anna El-Erian, a director of the Company, currently resides outside of Canada. Accordingly, Ms. El-Erian has appointed 
Cartan Limited, Box 48, Suite 5300, Toronto Dominion Bank Tower, Toronto, Ontario M5K 1E6 as agent for service of process in 
Canada. Investors are advised that it may not be possible for them to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any person or 
company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, 
even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.

LIST OF EXEMPTIONS FROM INSTRUMENT 

Pursuant to an application made to the Ontario Securities Commission, as principal regulator, the Company applied for 
exemptive relief from Item 32.3(e) of Form 41-101F1 as prescribed under NI 41-101, with respect to certain historical financial 
statements, which may be considered to form part of the primary business of the Company pursuant to Item 32.1(1)(b) of Form 41-
101F1. In the Company’s application for relief, it requested an exemption from preparing the following:  

audited financial statements for GBR for the stub period of January 1, 2019 to February 4, 2019;  

audited financial statements for Neo Geothermal LLC for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017; and 

audited financial statements for the stub period from January 1, 2018 to July 3, 2018 for Neo Geothermal LLC.  

The exemptions requested will be evidenced by the issuance of a receipt for the Company’s final prospectus. In the 
application the Company made, among others, the following submissions: 

the exempt financial information is not material to the Company, either individually or in the aggregate, having regard to 
the overall size and value of the Company’s business and operations;  

the assets underlying the exemptions have generally been integrated into the operations of the Company and as a result, 
the historical financial statements proposed to be included in the prospectus, as set out in Appendix A, provide accurate, 
useful and appropriate financial information regarding the business of the Company that is of relevance to investors and 
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that allows investors to form a reasonable judgment regarding the Company and the securities offered under the prospectus; 
and 

the exempt financial information is not necessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material 
facts with respect to the shares of the Company to be offered thereunder.  

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The following are the only material contracts, other than those contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, 
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries has entered into since January 1, 2019, has entered into prior to January 1, 2019 but 
which contract is still in effect, or to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries will become a party on or prior to Closing:  

(a) the Underwriting Agreement; 

(b) the Altius Minerals Services Agreement; 

(c) the Investor Rights Agreement; and 

(d) the A&R LLC Agreement. 

Copies of these material contracts are or will be available for review at the website maintained by the Canadian Securities 
Administrators at www.sedar.com. See “Agreements with Altius Minerals”, “Plan of Distribution” and “GBR Joint Venture”. 

PURCHASERS’ STATUTORY RIGHTS 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides investors with the right to withdraw 
from an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two Business Days after receipt or deemed receipt of 
a prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser with remedies 
for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment contains a 
misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of the price or damages 
are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. The 
purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for the 
particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 



A-1 

APPENDIX A 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Index 

Page 

Audited consolidated financial statements of ARR for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the 49 day period 
ended December 31, 2018 

A – 2 

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of ARR for the three and nine months ended September 
30, 2020 and 2019 

A – 22 

Audited consolidated financial statements of GBR for the year ended December 31, 2018 and the 52 day period 
ended December 31, 2017 

A – 37 



 

                   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. - Consolidated Financial Statements 

For the year ended December 31, 2019 and 49 day period ended December 31, 2018 

 

 
 
 
 

 
  

A-2



A-3



Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors of  
Altius Renewables Royalties Corp.

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Altius Renewables Royalties Corp. (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and 

the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year ended December 31, 2019 and the 49 day period ended December 31, 2018, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as 
the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019 and the 49 day period ended December 31, 

2018 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards 
(“Canadian GAAS”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 

statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis.  

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based 

on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact in this auditor’s report. We 
have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

Deloitte LLP 

5 Springdale Street 

Suite 1000 

St John’s, NL A1E 0E4 

Canada 

Tel: +(709) 576 8480 
Fax: +(709) 576 8460 

www.deloitte.ca
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

/s/ Deloitte LLP 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 24, 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 196,100$                                      -$                                              
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 85,500                                          100                                               

281,600$                                      100$                                             
Non-current assets

Renew able royalty interests 7 2,472,200                                     -                                                
Investments 6 10,686,200                                   -                                                
Intangible asset 5 1,585,700                                     -                                                

14,744,100$                                 -$                                              
TOTAL ASSETS 15,025,700$                                 100$                                             

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 57,200                                          -                                                
Related party loan 10 290,700                                        -                                                

TOTAL LIABILITIES 347,900$                                      -$                                              
EQUITY

Shareholders' equity 14,677,800                                   100                                               
14,677,800$                                 100$                                             

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 15,025,700$                                 100$                                             
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
As at
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 

Year ended 49 day period ended
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Revenue and other income

Royalty 216,000$                                                           -$                                                                 

Management fee 22,000 -                                                                  

Interest 1,300 -                                                                  

239,300$                                                           -$                                                                 

Costs and Expenses

Salaries and wages 824,700 -                                                                  

Amortization of intangible asset 483,400 -                                                                  

Professional fees 224,400 -                                                                  

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 7 101,800 -                                                                  

Office and administrative 76,100 -                                                                  

Travel and accommodations 33,200 -                                                                  

Foreign exchange loss 6,600 -                                                                  

1,750,200$                                                        -$                                                                 

Loss before income taxes (1,510,900)                                                         -                                                                      

Income tax recovery 8 -                                                                    -                                                                  

Net loss and comprehensive loss (1,510,900)$                                                       -$                                                                 

Loss per share 

Basic and diluted 9 (0.49)$                                                               -$                                                                 
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

Year ended 49 day period ended
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Operating activities
Net loss and comprehensive loss (1,510,900)$                                                  -$                                                     

Adjustments for operating activities
Amortization of intangible asset 483,400                                                        -                                                       

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 7 101,800                                                        -                                                       
585,200                                                        -                                                       

Changes in non-cash operating working capital

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivables and prepaid expenses (44,800)                                                        -                                                       

Increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 57,200                                                         -                                                       
Changes in non-cash operating working capital 12,400$                                                        -$                                                     

(913,300)$                                                     -$                                                     

Financing activities

Proceeds on issuance of common shares (net of share issuance of costs of $66,400) 9 16,188,600                                                   -                                                       

Proceeds from related party loan 10 290,700                                                        -                                                       

16,479,300$                                                 -$                                                     

Investing activities

Investment in TGE 6 (10,686,200)                                                  -                                                       

Acquisition of Great Bay Renewables (net of cash assumed) 5 (4,683,700)                                                    -                                                       

(15,369,900)$                                                -$                                                     

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 196,100                                                        -                                                       

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year -                                                               -                                                       

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 196,100$                                                      -$                                                     

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. (“ARR” or the “Corporation”) is privately held subsidiary of Altius Royalty Corporation (“ARC” or “Parent”), a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals Corporation. ARR is a renewable energy royalty company whose business is to invest in renewable 

power developers, originators and projects. ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to revenue underlying renewable energy operations 

by acquiring and managing a portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties including acquiring royalties and other interests directly from 

project originators, developers, operators, and third-party holders of existing royalties. The Corporation was created on November 13, 2018 as 

Blue Sky Renewable Royalties Corp. and subsequently changed its name on February 7, 2019. The Corporation holds royalty investments 

related to a portfolio of more than 1,500 megawatts (MW) of development stage wind energy projects located in Texas, Nebraska, and Illinois, 

as well as a producing hydro-electric and solar energy royalty. 

 

ARR is incorporated and domiciled in Canada. The head office of the Corporation is located at 2nd Floor, 38 Duffy Place, St. John’s, 

Newfoundland and Labrador A1B 4M5. Its registered office is located at 4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 

5C5.  

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on February 22, 2021. 

 

2. NEW AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   

The Corporation’s significant accounting policies are as follows: 
Basis of presentation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis except for investments classified at fair value through 

other comprehensive income. All amounts are expressed in US dollars, unless otherwise stated. Tabular amounts are presented in US dollars, 

rounded to nearest hundred with the exception of per share amounts. 

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Corporation reported net loss and comprehensive 

loss of $1,510,900 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The ability to continue operations in the normal course of business is dependent 

on several factors, including the Corporation’s ability to secure funding.  

 

The Corporation has continued financial support from its Parent and management is exploring all available options to secure funding, including 

equity financing and strategic partnerships. Parent or outside investment is required to meet existing commitments (Notes 13 and 14) primarily 

for continued growth of the business. The ongoing operating expenses and working capital requirements, including corporate development, 

would be nominal if growth was not anticipated. Ultimately, the Corporation must raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate 

sufficient revenue based on project lead times from development stage investments into royalties. The Corporation believes it will have 

adequate liquidity to support its operations and meet its financial obligations for the next twelve months. The Corporation has negotiated a 

strategic relationship with certain funds (the “Apollo Funds”) which will have the right to solely fund the next $80 million in approved investment 

opportunities in GBR in exchange for a 50% ownership in GBR. Subsequent to year end, certain commitments were funded by the Apollo 

Funds and the Parent (Note 14). The Corporation has applied judgement in assessing funding to be provided by Apollo Funds and its Parent’s 

(from existing liquidity and cash flow from operations).   As at December 31, 2019, the Corporation has current assets of $ 281,600, including 

cash and cash equivalents of $196,100 (December 31, 2018 - $nil) and current liabilities of $347,900 (December 31, 2018 - $nil) including a 

balance payable to ARC of $290,700 (December 31, 2018 – $nil).  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Expressed in United States dollars, rounded to the nearest hundred, except per share amounts) 
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The financial statements do not include any additional adjustments to the recoverability and classification of certain recorded asset amounts, 

classification of certain liabilities and changes to net comprehensive loss that might be necessary if the Corporation was unable to continue as 

a going concern.  

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Corporation and the entities controlled by the Corporation (its 

subsidiaries). Control exists when the Corporation has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  

 

The Corporation reassesses whether or not it controls an investee at each reporting date if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.  

 

When the Corporation has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it is deemed to have power over the investee when the voting 

rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Corporation considers all relevant 

facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Corporation's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including the 

size of the Corporation's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; potential voting rights 

held by the Corporation, other vote holders or other parties; rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and any additional facts and 

circumstances that indicate that the Corporation has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 

decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings. 

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.  

 

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries in the accounts of the Corporation for the periods presented. Great Bay 

Renewables, Inc. (“Great Bay”) is a renewable royalty company 100% owned by ARR. Neo Geothermal, LLC, is a renewable royalty company 

100% owned by Great Bay.  

 

Changes in the Corporation's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Corporation losing control over the subsidiaries are 

accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Corporation's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 

reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity.  

 

When the Corporation loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) 

the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of 

the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognized in other 

comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Corporation had directly disposed of the related assets or 

liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable 

IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 

recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, and when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a 

joint venture. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts on deposit with banks and short-term investments in money market instruments that are readily 

convertible to cash with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.  
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Investments 

Under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, on initial recognition, the Corporation may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis) to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held 

for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI 

are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 

changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive earnings. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to the statement of earnings 

on disposal of the equity investments, instead, it is transferred to retained earnings. 

Impairment of renewable royalty interests 

At each reporting date the carrying amounts of the Corporation’s royalties are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those 

assets are impaired. If an impairment indicator exists, the Corporation then must determine its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 

is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which is the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from 

the asset.  

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not 

been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable 
amount. Impairment is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. If an impairment subsequently 

reverses, the carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount but only to the extent that this does not exceed the 

carrying value that would have been determined if no impairment had previously been recognized. A reversal is recognized as a reduction in 

impairment in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Revenue recognition 

Royalty income is recognized when the underlying renewable electricity is generated, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in 

respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. Interest and investment income is recognized on an accrual basis. Management fee 

revenue for office administration and support is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised services in an amount that reflects 

the consideration the Corporation expects to receive in exchange for those goods and services. The Corporation determined that royalty and 

interest income are not in scope of IFRS 15 as they do not meet the criteria for contract with a customer. Royalty and interest are in the scope 

of IFRS 9.  

Income taxes 

The Corporation follows the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income taxes are recognized based 

on the expected future tax consequences of unused tax losses, unused tax credits, and differences between the carrying amount of balance 

sheet items and their corresponding tax basis, using the substantively enacted income tax rates for the years in which the differences are 

expected to reverse. Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent it is probable they will be realized. 

Foreign currency translation 

The presentation currency and the functional currency of the Corporation and significant subsidiaries is the US dollar. Transactions in 

currencies other than the functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each financial 

statement reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the 

balance sheet date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated. Gains and 

losses on translation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the determination of net loss and comprehensive loss for the period. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Expressed in United States dollars, rounded to the nearest hundred, except per share amounts) 
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Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic and diluted net earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the respective 

periods. The diluted net earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the respective 

periods after giving effect to dilutive stock options and warrants. For loss periods, the diluted loss per share is calculated using weighted 

average number of common shares outstanding for the respective periods without giving effect to dilutive stock options and warrants since 

their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. 

 

Diluted earnings per share is calculated using the treasury stock method, whereby it is assumed that proceeds received on the exercise of in-

the-money stock options and warrants are used to repurchase the Corporation’s shares at the average market price during the period. 

Business combinations and goodwill 

Applying the acquisition method to business combinations requires each identifiable asset and liability to be measured at its acquisition-date 

fair value. The excess, if any, of the fair value of consideration over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recognized as 

goodwill. The determination of the acquisition-date fair values often requires management to make assumptions and estimates about future 

events. The assumptions and estimates with respect to determining the fair value of royalty interests and other intangible assets acquired 

generally require a high degree of judgment, and include estimates of expected production levels, future prices, useful lives and discount rates. 

Changes in any of the assumptions or estimates used in determining the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities could impact the amounts 

assigned to assets, liabilities and goodwill in the purchase price allocation. Acquisition related costs are recognized in the statements of loss 

and comprehensive loss in the year of acquisition. 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in 

the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the net of the acquisition-date fair value of 

the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at 

the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated goodwill impairment losses, if any. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill 

is allocated to each of the Corporation's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies 

of the combination.  

 

A cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an 

indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment 

loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro rata 

based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in net loss and comprehensive 

loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

Intangible assets – renewable royalty interests 

Royalty interests acquired are recognized separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights. These 

intangible assets are also recognized when acquired individually or with a group of other assets. Royalty interests are initially recorded at their 

estimated fair value. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives of 17-25 years as 

appropriate with the amortization expense included in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Intangible assets that are 

not yet ready for use are not amortized until available for use. All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment indicators at each reporting 

period. The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure no adjustments are needed. The Corporation has no identifiable 

intangible assets for which the expected useful life is indefinite. 

Intangible asset – other 

Other intangible assets are initially recorded at their estimated fair value based on consideration paid to acquire the asset or recognized 

separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights. These intangible assets have finite lives and are 

amortized over their useful economic lives on a straight-line basis over four years, the term of the non-competition agreement. The amortization 
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expense is included in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment indicators 

at each reporting period. The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure no adjustments are needed. 

Leases 

Applying IFRS 16 – Leases and applying practical expedients for short term leases and leases of low-value assets, the Corporation has 

evaluated and if applicable, (i) recognized ‘right-of-use’ assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, initially measured at the 

present value of future lease payments discounted at the incremental borrowing rate; (ii) recognize depreciation of right-of-use assets and 

interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated statements of earnings (loss); and (iii) separate the total amount of cash paid into a principal 

portion (presented within financing activities) and interest (presented within operating activities) in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and office furniture), the 

Corporation has opted to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by IFRS 16. The Corporation has taken the practical 

expedients related to short-term and low value asset leases.  

Segment reporting 

The Corporation manages its business under one operating segment consisting of the acquisition and management of renewable energy 

investments and royalties. The reportable segment is consistent with the internal reporting structure of the Corporation which is provided to 

the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) who fulfill the role of the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). 

The CODM are responsible for assessing performance of the Corporation’s operating segment. 

 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Corporation to make estimates, judgments, and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially 

from those estimates. These consolidated financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such 

estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future 

occurrences. 
 
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and 

other factors, including expectations of events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In preparing these consolidated 

financial statements, the significant judgments made by management in applying the Corporation's accounting policies, basis of consolidation 

and the key sources of estimation uncertainty include but are not limited to the following: 

Business combinations 

For business combinations, the Corporation must make assumptions and estimates to determine the fair value of consideration paid and the 

purchase price allocation of the business being acquired. To do so, the Corporation must determine the acquisition-date fair value of the 

identifiable assets acquired, including intangible assets and liabilities assumed. Among other things, the determination of these fair market 

values involves the use of discounted cash flow analyses including key judgements such as discount rates and timing of cash flows. Goodwill, 

if any, is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognized amount of any non-controlling 

interest in the acquiree over the net recognized amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured at the 

acquisition date. These assumptions and estimates have an impact on the asset and liability amounts recorded in the consolidated balance 

sheet on the acquisition date. In addition, the estimated useful lives of the acquired amortizable assets, the identification of intangible assets 

and the determination of the indefinite or finite useful lives of intangible assets acquired will have an impact on the Corporation’s future earnings. 

Income taxes 

The Corporation has available unused operating losses and temporary timing differences as disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated financial 

statements. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that all or part 

of the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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Royalty interests and other intangible assets 

The Corporation holds royalty interests on renewable energy projects as well as holding other intangible assets. The royalty interests and 

intangible assets are recorded using the estimated fair value assigned to the assets on acquisition and are being amortized using the estimated 

useful lives. These estimates affect amortization and the assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of the royalty interests and 

other intangible assets. 

Investments 

The Corporation holds investments in preferred shares convertible under certain conditions, into royalty interests on renewable energy projects 

at a future date. These investments are recorded and measured using fair value. Fair value is determined using estimates based on anticipated 

project milestones, expected future cash flows and hurdle rates, and assumptions on discount rates. Due to the high degree of estimation 

required, these estimates may affect the underlying valuation. If an income approach is not possible, the Corporation utilizes cost as a proxy 

for fair value.  

Fair value measurements and valuation processes  

Some of the Corporation’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair value and at each reporting date determines the appropriate valuation 

techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Corporation uses market-observable 

data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Corporation uses an income approach valuation methodology 

such as discounted cash flows and net present valuation calculations.  

 

The Corporation holds investments in preferred shares (Note 4) that will yield distributions in the form of royalty contracts on renewable energy 

projects at a future date. The Corporation has the right to receive a gross revenue royalty until the estimated value of such royalties at the time 

of commercial operations achieve a minimum return threshold on the investment. The number of royalties to be granted is dependent on 

pricing, timing of permits, and construction timing of commercial operations, technology, size of the project and expected energy rates. These 

investments are not traded in the active market and the fair value is determined using an income approach methodology and primarily using 

the discounted cash flow valuation of the expected portfolio of royalties to be granted. The valuations of these private equity investments can 

be sensitive to changes in one or more unobservable inputs which are considered reasonably possible within the next financial year. 

Further information on unobservable inputs and related qualitative analysis are provided in Note 11. 

 

4. FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

IFRS 3 – Business combinations 

An amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition of a business 

and provides guidance in determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or a combination of a group of assets. The amendment 

emphasizes that the output of a business is to provide goods and services to customers and provides supplementary guidance. The Corporation 

expects no material impact upon applying this amendment to future acquisitions. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements 

An amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for annual periods for on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition 

of “material” to align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework developed by the IASB and all other accounting standards. Under the 

amendment, information is defined as “material” if, “omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions 

that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 

information about a specific reporting entity”. The Corporation had no material impact upon applying the amendments. 
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5. ACQUISITION OF RENEWABLE ENERGY BUSINESS  

On February 5, 2019 the Corporation acquired all of the outstanding shares and obtained control of a private company, Great Bay from its 

shareholders for cash of $5,000,000. The Great Bay acquisition included a paying royalty on the 4.7 MW Clyde River hydroelectric/solar facility 

located in Vermont, geothermal wells and some working capital to the Corporation.  

 

The Corporation has accounted for the purchase of Great Bay in accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The purchase price of the 

acquisition, before acquisition costs, has been allocated based on the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired from Great Bay, including 

an intangible asset which consist of non-competition agreements. 

Allocation of net purchase price of Great Bay  

The fair value of the net purchase price has been allocated to the estimated fair values of the Great Bay assets and liabilities as at February 

5, 2019 in accordance with the purchase method, as follows:               
                                  

    

Net total

Assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents 316,300$                         
Accounts receivable 40,600                             
Total current assets 356,900$                         
Other intangible assets 2,069,100$                       
Renewable royalty interests 2,574,000                        
Fair value of net assets 5,000,000$                       
Fair value of consideration paid 5,000,000$                       
Fair value of net assets 5,000,000$                       
Goodwill acquired -$                                 

 

Acquisition related costs included in the consolidated statement of loss amounted to $165,600.  

 

From the acquisition date to December 31, 2019, royalty income of $238,000 and general and administrative expenses of $900,800 have been 

included in the Corporation’s financial results. Had the business combination occurred at the beginning of the annual reporting period any 

impact to the financial results would have been nominal. 

 

6. INVESTMENTS 

Tri Global Energy Total

Balance, December 31, 2018 -$                                          -$                                  
Additions 10,686,200                                10,686,200                        
Balance, December 31, 2019 10,686,200$                              10,686,200$                       

 

Tri Global Energy LLC 

On February 7, 2019, the Corporation announced its first renewable energy royalty transaction with leading Texas-based wind energy 

developer Tri Global Energy LLC (“TGE”). The Corporation will be granted a 3% Gross Revenue Royalty (“GRR”) on each individual pipeline 

project created until a target minimum total royalty valuation is achieved. The Corporation has committed to investing in tranches a total of 

$30,000,000 over the next three years as TGE achieves certain advancement milestones. The Corporation could be subject to penalties if 

future tranches are requested but not funded after milestones have been met.  
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An initial investment of $7,500,000 was made in TGE upon closing and classified as investments. In October 2019, TGE achieved certain 

milestones, making available to TGE a portion of the second tranche of funding and the Corporation funded $3,000,000. TGE had 12 months 

to request the remaining $3,500,000 of the second tranche which the Corporation is obligated to fund, per the agreement. This was funded by 

the Corporation in 2020 (Note 14). Included in the balance of this investment is $186,200 of acquisition related costs associated directly with 

this investment for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 
7.  RENEWABLE ROYALTY INTERESTS 

Note As at 
December 31, 2018

Additions As at 
December 31, 2019

Renewable royalty interests
Neo Geothermal - Thermal -$                                 389,000$                          389,000$                          
Clyde River - Hydro -                                   2,185,000                         2,185,000                         

Balance, end of period 5 -$                                 2,574,000$                       2,574,000$                       

Accumulated amortization
Neo Geothermal - Thermal -$                                 21,200$                            21,200$                            
Clyde River - Hydro -                                   80,600                             80,600                             

Balance, end of period -$                                 101,800$                          101,800$                          
Net book value -$                                 2,472,200$                       2,472,200$                        

8.   INCOME TAXES  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized for the following gross net deductible temporary differences.  
Year ended  December 31, 

2019
49 day period ended  
December 31, 2018

Non capital losses 1,191,300$                          -$                                   

Financing costs 66,400                                -                                     

Differences on royalty interests and other intangibles 361,500                              -                                     

Unrecognized gross net deductible temporary differences 1,619,200$                          -$                                   

 
A deferred tax asset was not recognized with respect to Canadian non-capital tax losses of $329,508 and US non capital tax losses of $861,810 

if not utilized, the Canadian losses expire in 2039. The US losses do not expire.   

 

Income tax expense differs from the amount that would result from applying the Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates of 26% to 

earnings before taxes. The differences are from the following items:                      
                

Year ended  December 31, 
2019

49 day period ended  
December 31, 2018

Expected tax expense (recovery) (392,800)$                               -$                                

Tax losses not recognized 392,800                                 -                                  

-$                                       -$                                

 

9.   SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 

Share capital  

The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of one class of shares, designated as common shares. 
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On January 15, 2021, the Corporation filed articles of amendment and consolidated its common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation 

common share for every four pre-consolidation common shares. The consolidation was effected on January 15, 2021.  The Corporation’s 

number of issued and outstanding shares are retrospectively presented to reflect the 4:1 share consolidation.  

 

Year ended December 31, 2019 

On February 9, 2019, the Corporation issued 3,313,750 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share for total share issuance proceeds of 

$13,255,000. Of this, 3,125,000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share were purchased and paid by ARC with the balance being 

purchased by minority shareholders. Share issue costs of $66,400 were recorded against equity.  

 

On October 9, 2019, the Corporation issued 750,000 common shares at a value of $4.00 per share to ARC for total share issuance of 

$3,000,000.  

Net earnings (loss) per share 

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share were calculated using the weighted average number of common shares for the respective 

periods. The weighted average number of outstanding common shares used in the net earnings (loss) per share calculations reflect the 4:1 

share consolidation of the Corporation’s issued common shares which became effective on January 15, 2021. 

 

 

Year ended 49 day period ended

December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

Weighted average number of shares:

   Basic and diluted 3,066,700                       25  
 
 
10.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Corporation received an advance of $290,700 (December 31, 2018 - $nil) from ARC. At 

December 31, 2019, this amount remains owing to ARC. 

 

During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Corporation paid compensation to key management personnel and directors of $231,400 

(December 31, 2018 - $nil) related to salaries and benefits. 

 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration 

established.  

 

11.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The following table sets forth the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair 

value hierarchy. The fair value of the other financial instruments of the Corporation approximates the carrying values due to their short term 

nature.  
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As at December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

Investments -                       -                 10,686,200     10,686,200      

FINANCIAL ASSETS -$                     -$               10,686,200$   10,686,200$    

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES -$                     -$               -$                -$                 

 
Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices 

used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 

data by correlation or other means; and estimates of expected volatility, expected life and expected risk-free rate of return, and; 

 

Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs. Amounts allocated to level 3 consist of acquisitions during the year. 

A reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of the Corporation’s financial instruments, specifically, TGE investments, is included in Note 

6.  

Valuation technique and key inputs  

The Corporation applies an income approach methodology primarily modelled with risk adjusted discounted cash flows to capture the present 

value of expected future economic benefits to be derived from the ownership of the royalty contracts to be granted in exchange for the 

investments. The total number and value of royalty contracts to be ultimately awarded is subject to a minimum return threshold, which has the 

effect of muting the potential value impact of several of the unobservable inputs. If an income approach is not possible or the investment is 

recent, the Corporation utilizes cost as a proxy for fair value. The Corporation works with valuation specialists to establish valuation 

methodologies and techniques for Level 3 assets including the valuation approach, assumptions using publicly available and internally available 
information, updates for changes to inputs to the model and reconciling any changes in the fair value of the assets for each reporting date 

within its financial models.  

At December 31, 2019, the investment in TGE was recorded at cost which approximates fair value.  

  

Risk Management 

The Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed to various risk factors that may affect the fair value presentation or the 

amount ultimately received or paid on settlement of its assets and liabilities. The Corporation manages these risks through prudent investment 

and business decisions and, where the exposure is deemed too high, the Corporation may enter into derivative contracts to reduce this 

exposure. The Corporation does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  

 

A summary of the major financial instrument risks and the Corporation’s approach to the management of these risks are highlighted as follows: 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. Credit risk arises 

from cash and cash equivalents and receivables. The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets, including the receivables from royalty 

operators who are responsible for remitting royalty income.  

 

The Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents are held in fully segregated accounts and include only Canadian and US dollar instruments. The 

Corporation does not expect any liquidity issues or credit losses on these instruments. 
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Foreign currency risk  

The Corporation has a portion of its cash denominated in Canadian dollars for certain working capital items and corporate costs. The 

Corporation does not enter into any derivative contracts to reduce this exposure and maintains limited balances in other currencies.  

Liquidity risk  

The Corporation receives continuing financial support from its Parent to ensure adequate working capital and future cash flows and continues 

to explore external funding options and believes that it is able to meet current and future obligations. This conclusion could change with a 

significant change in the operations of the Corporation or as a result of other developments.  

Other price risk  

The value of the Corporation’s investments is exposed to fluctuations in price depending on a number of factors, including general market 

conditions, company-specific operating performance and the success of the sale of projects. The Corporation does not utilize any derivative 

contracts to reduce this exposure.  

 

12.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Corporation defines its capital as its total equity attributable to shareholders. The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital is to 

maintain financial liquidity and flexibility to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and to ensure that sufficient capital and access to 

capital for potential growth and to pursue additional investment opportunities. 

 

The Corporation monitors and adjusts its capital structure, when necessary, in light of changes to economic conditions, the objectives of its 

shareholders, the cash requirements of its business and the condition and availability of external funding.  

 
The Corporation does not have any externally imposed restrictions. 
 

13.   COMMITMENTS  

Office lease 

The Corporation is committed under a short term lease on office space including operating costs for future minimum lease payments of $21,495 

per annum until the lease expires in March 2021. The Corporation has applied the exemptions from IFRS 16 in relation to this lease. On 

January 29, 2021 the Corporation extended the lease for a three year term, such that the termination date will be March 31, 2024.  

Tri Global Energy 

The Corporation has committed to investing, in tranches, a total of $19,500,000 over the next two years as TGE achieves certain advancement 

milestones (Note 6). 

Other commitments 

The Corporation is committed under a consulting agreement to remit the following payments until royalty funding has been completed or the 

agreement terminated: 

 $150,000 on each date that the Corporation signs definitive documentation in connection with a royalty investment 

 1.5% of the first $20 million in funded value; plus 

 1% of funded value greater than $20 million but less than $50 million; less 

 The aggregate amount of the above payments. 
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14.   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

COVID-19 

Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak that occurred during following the year ended 

December 31, 2019 may have a significant negative impact on the operations and profitability of the Corporation. The extent of the impact to 

the financial performance of the Corporation will depend on future developments, including (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the 

restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall. The impact of COVID-19 on 

the Corporation’s investments could be volatile as financial markets adjust accordingly.  

Apex Clean Energy 

On March 10, 2020, the Corporation entered into a $35,000,000 royalty investment agreement with Apex Clean Energy (“Apex”) to obtain 

future royalties related to a broad portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects located across North America until a certain targeted 

return threshold is met. The Corporation made the investment through preferred equity which will convert under certain conditions into royalty 

interests over time. Upon achieving certain milestones related to the vending of projects in Apex’s development pipeline, mutual options 

become exercisable to provide continuing $10,000,000 tranches of royalty investment. These investments were funded using proceeds from 

issuance of common shares.  

 

Apollo 

On October 11, 2020, the Corporation, through a newly created subsidiary Altius GBR Holdings, Inc.,  entered into a strategic relationship with 

Apollo Funds managed by affiliates of Apollo Global Management, Inc. (“Apollo”) to accelerate the growth of its innovative renewable energy 

royalty business. Under the agreement structure the Apollo Funds will have the right to solely fund the next $80 million in approved investment 

opportunities in GBR in exchange for a 50% ownership in the GBR joint venture, with opportunities thereafter funded equally by the Apollo 
Funds and ARR and with an equally shared governance structure.  

TGE 

Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Corporation funded additional investments in TGE in accordance with the terms of the agreement for 

a total of $20,500,000 in additional tranches which were based on milestone achievements. These investments were funded using proceeds 

from share issuances and using funds from the transaction with Apollo. To date, the Apollo Funds have invested $7,000,000 bringing the total 

investment in TGE to $31,000,000. 

 
On October 28, 2020, the first investment under the arrangement between ARR and Apollo was announced as GBR agreed to an additional 

$25 million royalty investment in TGE’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development project. The additional investment into TGE is an 

extension of the current $30 million royalty investment that GBR made in TGE in early 2019, bringing the total royalty capital commitment to 

$55 million. As TGE develops and sells individual projects, GBR receives a gross revenue royalty on each project for the full life of the project.   

Share issuance 

During the period from January 1 to April 30, 2020 the Corporation issued 10,375,000 shares to its Parent, ARC at $4 per common share for 

total share proceeds of $41,500,000. On April 30, the Corporation issued 4,482,500 warrants to ARC with a strike exercise price of $4 and an 

expiry date of April 2030 of which 1,388,600 were exercised resulting in cash proceeds of $5,000,000 and settlement of an outstanding related 

party loan to ARC of $554,500 (Note 10). Certain warrants, included in the 4,482,500, were issued for services provided by the Parent.  

 

On April 1,  2020 the Corporation issued 1,000,000 stock options to a director and employees of a subsidiary with an expiry date of March 

2025 and a strike exercise price of $4. On May 1,2020 the Corporation issued 892,500 common shares to an outside investor at $4 per 

common share for a total share proceeds of $3,570,000. On January 13, 2021 the Corporation approved the issuance of 147,082 stock options 

to directors with an expiry date of January 2026 and an exercise price to be equal to the offering price on closing of the Corporation’s initial 

public offering.  
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
UNAUDITED, EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2,840,000$                                   196,100$                                     
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 45,300                                         85,500                                         

2,885,300$                                   281,600$                                     
Non-current assets

Renewable royalty interests 5 2,388,900                                    2,472,200                                    
Investments 4 62,877,300                                   10,686,200                                   
Intangible asset 1,190,200                                    1,585,700                                    

66,456,400$                                 14,744,100$                                 
TOTAL ASSETS 69,341,700$                                 15,025,700$                                 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 72,300                                         57,200                                         
Related party loan 8 59,900                                         290,700                                       
Loan payable 10 92,300                                         -                                                  

224,500$                                     347,900$                                     

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability 6 796,400                                       -                                              

796,400$                                     -$                                            
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,020,900$                                   347,900$                                     

EQUITY
Shareholders' equity 68,320,800                                   14,677,800                                   

68,320,800$                                 14,677,800$                                 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 69,341,700$                                 15,025,700$                                 
See accompanying notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
As at
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS 

(LOSS) 
UNAUDITED, EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS 

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

Revenue and other income

Royalty 33,400$                              43,600$                              159,900$                            157,200$                            

Management fee 6,000                                 6,000 18,000                                16,000

Interest 800 100 2,300 100

40,200$                              49,700$                              180,200$                            173,300$                            

Costs and Expenses

Share based compensation 7 & 8 -                                        -                                     2,301,800                           -                                     

Salaries and wages 226,200 222,200 694,000 607,200

Amortization of intangible asset 131,800                              131,800 395,500                              351,600

Professional fees 88,100                                27,700 165,300                              121,500

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 5 27,800                                27,700 83,300                                74,000

Office and administrative 21,300 21,000 66,600 53,900

Travel and accommodations 300 5,400 26,400 24,000

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 800                                    -100 700                                    7,200

496,300$                            435,700$                            3,733,600$                         1,239,400$                         

Loss before income taxes (456,100)                             (386,000)                             (3,553,400)                          (1,066,100)                          

Income tax expense (recovery) 6 (106,400)                             -                                     (673,900)                             -                                     

Net loss (349,700)$                           (386,000)$                           (2,879,500)$                        (1,066,100)$                        

Other comprehensive earnings

To not be classifed subsequently to profit or loss
Unrealized gain on investments 4 400,300 - 5,066,500 -
Tax effect 4 (116,200)                             -                                     (1,470,300)                          -                                     

284,100$                            -$                                   3,596,200$                         -$                                   

Total comprehensive earnings (loss) (65,600)$                             (386,000)$                           716,700$                            (1,066,100)$                        

Net loss per share 

Basic and diluted 7 (0.02)$                                (0.12)$                                (0.23)$                                (0.39)$                                
See accompanying notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note

Total other comprehensive earnings

Nine months endedThree months ended
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CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 UNAUDITED, EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Operating activities
Net loss (2,879,500)$                                     (1,066,100)$                                      

Adjustments for operating activities
Share based compensation 7 2,301,800                                        -                                                  

Income tax recovery (673,900)                                          -                                                  

Amortization of intangible asset 395,500                                           351,600                                           

Amortization of renewable royalty interest 5 83,300                                             74,000                                             
2,106,700                                        425,600                                           

Changes in non-cash operating working capital

Decrease (increase) in receivables and prepaids 40,200                                             (14,900)                                            

Increase in payables and accrued liabilities 15,100                                             17,300                                             
Changes in non-cash operating working capital 55,300$                                           2,400$                                             

(717,500)$                                        (638,100)$                                        

Financing activities

Proceeds on issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs 7 50,070,000                                      13,188,600                                       

Proceeds from Paycheck Protection Program (PPP) loan 10 92,300                                             -                                                  

Proceeds from related party loan 8 323,700                                           227,700                                           

50,486,000$                                     13,416,300$                                     

Investing activities

Investment in TGE 4 (11,666,300)                                     (7,674,400)                                       

Investment in Apex Clean Energy 4 (35,458,300)                                     -                                                  

Acquisition of GBR (net of cash assumed) -                                                  (4,683,700)                                       

(47,124,600)$                                    (12,358,100)$                                    

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,643,900                                        420,100                                           

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 196,100                                           -                                                  

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 2,840,000$                                      420,100$                                         

See accompanying notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note Nine months ended
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. (“ARR” or the “Corporation”) is privately held subsidiary of Altius Royalty Corporation (“ARC” or “Parent”), a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Altius Minerals Corporation. ARR is a renewable energy royalty company whose business is to invest in renewable 

power developers, originators and projects. ARR’s long-term strategy is to gain exposure to revenue underlying renewable energy operations 

by acquiring and managing a portfolio of diversified renewable energy royalties including acquiring royalties and other interests directly from 

project originators, developers, operators, and third-party holders of existing royalties. The Corporation was created on November 13, 2018 as 

Blue Sky Renewable Royalties Corp. and subsequently changed its name on February 7, 2019. The Corporation holds royalty investments 

related to a portfolio of more than 1,500 megawatts (MW) of development stage wind energy projects located in Texas, Nebraska, and Illinois, 

as well as a producing hydro-electric and solar energy royalty. 

 

ARR is incorporated and domiciled in Canada. The head office of the Corporation is located at 2nd Floor, 38 Duffy Place, St. John’s, 

Newfoundland and Labrador A1B 4M5. Its registered office is located at 4300 Bankers Hall West, 888 – 3rd Street S.W., Calgary, Alberta, T2P 

5C5.  

 

These condensed consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors on February 22,   

2021. 

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION   

These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standard 34 Interim 

Financial Reporting (IAS 34).  

 

These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis except for investments which are measured 

at fair value through other comprehensive income. All amounts are expressed in United States dollars, unless otherwise stated. Tabular 

amounts are presented in United States dollars, rounded to the nearest hundred, with the exception of per share amounts. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ESTIMATES AND PRONOUNCEMENTS 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Corporation reported total comprehensive 

earnings $716,700 (December 31, 2019 – total comprehensive loss of $1,510,900). The ability to continue operations in the normal course of 

business is dependent on several factors, including the Corporation’s ability to secure funding.  

 

The Corporation has continued financial support from its Parent and management is exploring all available options to secure funding, including 

equity financing and strategic partnerships. Parent or outside investment is required to meet existing commitments primarily for continued 

growth of the business. The ongoing operating expenses and working capital requirements, including corporate development, would be nominal 

if growth was not anticipated. Ultimately, the Corporation must raise additional funds on favorable terms as well as generate sufficient revenue 

based on project lead times from development stage investments into royalties. The Corporation believes it will have adequate liquidity to 

support its operations and meet its financial obligations for the next twelve months. The Corporation has negotiated a strategic relationship 

with certain funds (the “Apollo Funds”) which will have the right to solely fund the next $80 million in approved investment opportunities in GBR 

in exchange for a 50% ownership in GBR.  Subsequent to the quarter, certain commitments were funded by the Apollo Funds and the Parent 

(Note 10).  The Corporation has applied judgement in assessing funding to be provided by Apollo Funds and its Parent’s (from existing liquidity 

and cash flow from operations). As at September 30, 2020 the Corporation has current assets of $2,885,300 (December 31, 2019 - $281,600), 

including cash and cash equivalents of $2,840,000 (December 31, 2019 - $196,100) and current liabilities of $224,500 (December 31, 2019 - 

$347,900) including a balance payable to ARC of $59,900 (December 31, 2019 – $290,700).  

 

The financial statements do not include any additional adjustments to the recoverability and classification of certain recorded asset amounts, 

classification of certain liabilities and changes to total comprehensive loss that might be necessary if the Corporation was unable to continue 

as a going concern.  
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These condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the same accounting policies and methods of computation as 

the annual consolidated financial statements of the Corporation as at and for the year ended December 31, 2019 with the exception of any 

changes and or amendments noted below with an initial application date of January 1, 2020. 

Share-based payments  

The compensation cost for options granted to employees and directors is determined based on the estimated fair value of those instruments 

at the time of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and is amortized over the vesting period with an offset to share-based 

payment reserve. When options are exercised, the corresponding share-based payment reserve and the proceeds received by the Corporation 

are credited to share capital. At each reporting date the Corporation revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest 

as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognized in the 

consolidated statement of earnings such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate with a corresponding adjustment to reserves.  

 

Warrants 

 

Warrants issued without consideration or for good and services provided are considered equity and not recorded until exercised by the holder 

and do not violate the fixed for fixed concept. The Corporation then recognizes the proceeds and issuance of shares. Warrants issued for 

goods or services received are measured at fair value at the date of issue using the Black-Scholes pricing model, which incorporates certain 

input assumptions including the warrant price, risk-free interest rate, expected warrant life and expected share price volatility. The fair value is 

included as a component of equity and is transferred from warrants to common shares on exercise. Warrants exercised for settlement of 
financial liabilities results in the extinguishment and derecognition of the liability and the issuance of common shares. 

 

IFRS 3 – Business combinations 

An amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, effective for annual periods for on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition of a 

business and provides guidance in determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or a combination of a group of assets. The 

amendment emphasizes that the output of a business is to provide goods and services to customers and provides supplementary guidance. 

The Corporation expects no material impact upon applying this amendment to future acquisitions. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements 

An amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for annual periods for on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition 

of “material” to align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework developed by the IASB and all other accounting standards. Under the 

amendment, information is defined as “material” if, “omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions 

that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 

information about a specific reporting entity”. The Corporation had no material impact upon applying the amendments. 

 

The Corporation has not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.  

 

The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements for 

the year ended December 31, 2019.  
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4. INVESTMENTS 

Tri Global Energy  Apex Clean Energy Total

Balance, December 31, 2018 -$                                         -$                                  -$                                  
Additions 10,686,200                               -                                    10,686,200                       
Balance, December 31, 2019 10,686,200$                             -$                                  10,686,200$                     
Additions 11,666,400                               35,458,300                       47,124,700                       
Revaluation gains (loss) through OCI 5,066,400                                 -                                        5,066,400                         
Balance, September 30, 2020 27,419,000$                             35,458,300$                     62,877,300$                     

 

Tri Global Energy LLC 

On February 7, 2019, the Corporation announced its first renewable energy royalty transaction with leading Texas-based wind energy 

developer Tri Global Energy LLC (“TGE”). The Corporation will be granted a 3% Gross Revenue Royalty (“GRR”) on each individual pipeline 

project created until a target minimum total royalty valuation is achieved. The Corporation has committed to investing in tranches a total of 

$30,000,000 over the next three years as TGE achieves certain advancement milestones. The Corporation could be subject to penalties if 

future tranches are requested but not funded after milestones have been met.  

 

An initial investment of $7,500,000 was made in TGE upon closing and classified as investments. In October 2019, TGE achieved certain 

milestones, making available to TGE a portion of the second tranche of funding and the Corporation funded $3,000,000. TGE had 12 months 

to request the remaining $3,500,000 of the second tranche which the Corporation is obligated to fund, per the agreement. This was funded by 

the Corporation in 2020. During the nine month period ended September 30, 2020 the Corporation funded additional investments in TGE in 

accordance with the terms of the agreement for a total of $11,500,000 (inclusive of the $3,500,000 noted above) in four additional tranches 

which were based on milestone achievements. These investments were funded using proceeds from share issuances (Note 8). Included in 

the balance of this investment is $352,500 of acquisition related costs associated directly with this investment as at September 30, 2020 

(December 31, 2019 - $186,200). An additional $2,000,000 was funded into TGE in early October. 

Apex Clean Energy 

On March 10, 2020, the Corporation entered into a $35,000,000 royalty investment agreement with Apex Clean Energy (“Apex”) to obtain 

future royalties related to a broad portfolio of wind and solar energy development projects located across North America until a certain targeted 

return threshold is met. The Corporation made the investment through preferred equity which will convert under certain conditions into royalty 

interests over time. Upon achieving certain milestones related to the vending of projects in Apex’s development pipeline, mutual options 

become exercisable to provide continuing $10,000,000 tranches of royalty investment. These investments were funded using proceeds from 

issuance of common shares (Note 7). Included in the balance are $458,300 of acquisition related costs associated directly with this investment 

for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.  
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5.  RENEWABLE ROYALTY INTERESTS 

Note As at 
December 31, 2019 Additions As at 

September 30, 2020

Renewable royalty interests
Neo Geothermal - Thermal 389,000$                           -$                                   389,000$                           
Clyde River - Hydro 2,185,000                          -                                     2,185,000                          

Balance, end of period 2,574,000$                        -$                                   2,574,000$                        

Accumulated amortization, depreciation
Neo Geothermal - Thermal 21,200$                             17,300$                             38,500$                             
Clyde River - Hydro 80,600                               66,000                               146,600                             

Balance, end of period 101,800$                           83,300$                             185,100$                           
Net book value 2,472,200$                        (83,300)$                            2,388,900$                        

Note As at 
December 31, 2018 Additions As at 

December 31, 2019

Renewable royalty interests
Neo Geothermal - Thermal -$                                   389,000$                           389,000$                           
Clyde River - Hydro -                                     2,185,000                          2,185,000                          

Balance, end of period -$                                   2,574,000$                        2,574,000$                        

Accumulated amortization, depreciation
Neo Geothermal - Thermal -$                                   21,200$                             21,200$                             
Clyde River - Hydro -                                     80,600                               80,600                               

Balance, end of period -$                                   101,800$                           101,800$                           
Net book value -$                                   2,472,200$                        2,472,200$                        

 

6.   INCOME TAXES  

Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
Nine months ended September 

30, 2020
Year ended                 

December 31, 2019

Non capital and net capital loss carryforw ards 485,200$                                    -$                                         

Carrying value of investments (1,470,300)                                 -                                           

Temporary differences related to royalty interests 188,700                                      -                                           

Other -                                             -                                           

Total deferred tax (796,400)$                                  -$                                         

Deferred tax assets 673,900                                      -                                           

Deferred tax liabilities (1,470,300)                                 -                                           

Total deferred tax (796,400)$                                  -$                                          
        
  

A-31



 

                                                              8                     

Components of income tax expense (recovery) are as follows: 
                                  

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019
Current tax -$                               -$                               -$                               -$                               
Deferred tax (106,400)                        -                                     (673,900)                        -                                 
Income tax (recovery) (106,400)$                      -$                               (673,900)$                      -$                               

Three months ended Nine months ended

 

7.   SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 

Share capital 

The Corporation is authorized to issue an unlimited number of one class of shares, designated as common shares. 

 

On January 15, 2021, the Corporation filed articles of amendment and consolidated its common shares on the basis of one post-consolidation 

common share for every four pre-consolidation common shares. The consolidation was effected on January 15, 2021.  The Corporation’s 

number of issued and outstanding shares are retrospectively presented to reflect the 4:1 share consolidation. 

  

During the period from January 1 to April 30, 2020 the Corporation issued 10,375,000 shares to its parent, ARC at $4 per common share for 

total share proceeds of $41,500,000. On April 30, the Corporation issued 4,482,500 warrants to ARC with a strike exercise price of $4 and an 

expiry date of April 2030 of which 1,388,614 were exercised between May 1 and September 30, 2020 resulting in cash proceeds of $5,000,000 

and settlement of an outstanding related party loan to ARC of $554,500 (Note 8). Certain warrants, included in the 4,482,500, were issued for 

services provided by the Parent. These were valued using an option pricing model and $955,300 was recorded as share based compensation 

during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.  

 

On April 1, 2020 the Corporation issued 1,000,000 stock options to a director and employees of a subsidiary with an expiry date of March 2025 

and a strike exercise price of $4. The options were valued using an option pricing model and $1,346,500 was recorded as share based 

compensation during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 (Note 10). There were no options issued during the three and nine months 

ended September 30, 2019.  

 

On May 1, 2020 the Corporation issued 892,500 common shares to an outside investor at $4 per common share for a total share proceeds of 

$3,570,000.  

Net earnings (loss) per share 

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share were calculated using the weighted average number of common shares for the respective 

periods. The weighted average number of outstanding common shares used in the net earnings (loss) per share calculations reflect the 4:1 

share consolidation of the Corporation’s issued common shares which became effective on January 15, 2021. 

 

 

September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

Weighted average number of shares:

   Basic and diluted 16,646,520                    3,313,775                      12,502,099                    2,755,414                      

Three months ended Nine months ended

 
 

Share based compensation 

The Corporation recognized the following share-based compensation: 
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September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019 September 30, 2020 September 30, 2019

Stock option expense -$                                  -$                                  1,346,500$                        -$                                  

Management services -                                    -                                    955,300                             -                                    

Total share-based compensation -$                                  -$                                  2,301,800$                        -$                                  

Nine months endedThree months ended

 
 

The Corporation’s number of outstanding and exercisable options and warrants are retrospectively presented to reflect the 4:1 share 

consolidation which became effective on January 15, 2021. 

 

A summary of the status of the Corporation’s stock option plan as of September 30, 2020, and changes during the period then ended, is as 

follows: 

Number of Options Weighted Average Exercise 
Price

Oustanding, beginning of period -                                          -$                                        

Granted 1,000,000                               4.00$                                      

Outstanding & exercisable, end of period 1,000,000                               4.00$                                      

Nine month period ended September 30, 2020

 
The weighted average remaining contractual life is 4.5 years. The weighted average fair value of stock options granted during the year ended 

September 30, 2020 was estimated on the dates of grant to be $1.36 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following 

assumptions: 

Expected life (years) 5.00                                

Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.25                                

Expected Volatility (%) 36.38                              
Expected dividend yield (%) -                                  

 
A summary of the status of the Corporation’s warrants as of September 30, 2020 is as follows: 

Nine month period ended September 30, 2020

Number of Warrants

Oustanding, beginning of period -                                                                        

Granted 4,482,449                                                             

Exercised (1,388,614)                                                            

Outstanding & exercisable, end of period 3,093,835                                                             
 

Included in the warrants granted were 736,400 for management services. The weighted average fair value of warrants issued for management 

services during the period ended September 30, 2020 was estimated on the dates of grant to be $1.28 using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model with the following assumptions:  
 

Expected life (years) 5.00                                

Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.31                                

Expected Volatility (%) 36.76                              
Expected dividend yield (%) -                                   
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8.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 the Corporation received an additional loan of $323,700 (December 31, 2019 - $290,700) 

from ARC. During the period, $554,500 was settled in common shares issued to ARC (Note 7) after the exercise of warrants. At September 

30, 2020, $59,900 remains owning to ARC. 

 

During the three months ended September 30, 2020 the Corporation paid compensation to key management personnel and directors of 

$60,900 (September 30, 2019 - $61,300) related to salaries and benefits. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 the Corporation 

paid compensation to key management personnel and directors of $202,800 (September 30, 2019 - $169,900) related to salaries and benefits 

and incurred $1,346,500 (September 30, 2019 - $nil) in share-based compensation costs. 

 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration 

established.  

 

9.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The following table sets forth the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within the fair 

value hierarchy. The fair value of the other financial instruments of the Corporation approximates the carrying value due to their short term 

nature.   

As at September 30, 2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

Investments -                       -                 62,877,300     62,877,300      

FINANCIAL ASSETS -$                     -$               62,877,300$   62,877,300$    

 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES -$                     -$               -$                -$                 

As at December 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 TOTAL

Investments -                       -                 10,686,200     10,686,200      

FINANCIAL ASSETS -$                     -$               10,686,200$   10,686,200$    

 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES -$                     -$               -$                -$                 
 

Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices 

used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 

data by correlation or other means; and estimates of expected volatility, expected life and expected risk-free rate of return, and; 

 

Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs. Amounts allocated to level 3 consist of acquisitions during the 

period. 

A reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement of the Corporation’s financial instruments, specifically, TGE and Apex investments, is 

included in Note 5.  

Valuation technique and key inputs  

The Corporation applies an income approach methodology primarily modelled with risk adjusted discounted cash flows to capture the present 

value of expected future economic benefits to be derived from the ownership of the royalty contracts to be granted in exchange for the 

investments. The total number and value of royalty contracts to be ultimately awarded is subject to a minimum return threshold, which has the 

effect of muting the potential value impact of several of the unobservable inputs. If an income approach is not possible or the investment is 

recent, the Corporation utilizes cost as a proxy for fair value. The Corporation works with valuation specialists to establish valuation 

methodologies and techniques for Level 3 assets including the valuation approach, assumptions using publicly available and internally available 
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information, updates for changes to inputs to the model and reconciling any changes in the fair value of the assets for each reporting date 

within its financial models.  

Significant unobservable inputs 

The Corporation uses publicly available information for power purchase agreement prices and merchant power pricing, as well as estimates 

related to timing of revenues and cash flows, discounts rates and timing of commercial operations all of which are key inputs into the valuation 

model.  

 

Relationship and sensitivity of unobservable inputs to fair value 

The following table gives information about how the fair value of these investments are determined and in particular, the significant 

unobservable inputs.  

 

Significant unobservable inputs Relationship and sensitivity of 
unobservable inputs to fair value 

Quantitative impact 

Discount rate The Corporation applies a range of risk 

adjusted discount rates to the expected 

project royalties based on the stage of 

development and an assessment of the 

likelihood of completion. 

 

 

The lower the discount rate the higher 

the value of an individual royalty. The 

higher the discount rate the lower the 

value of the individual royalty.  

 

A 1% change in discount rates results in 

a change of $3,100,000 to the valuation 

of these instruments. 

 

Timing of commercial operations There are a series of anticipated project 

development milestones that occur as a 

project approaches commercial 

operations. As each project development 

milestone nears completion or is met, the 

risk associated with the project reaching 

commercial operations decreases. The 

expected timing of the commercial 

operations date (the date upon which 

cash flows are expected to commence) 

will impact the fair value calculation. 

As the commercial operations date 

approach and the time to cashflow 

shortens, the value will increase based 

on the time value of money.  Impact is 

dependent on reduction in time and 

appropriate risk adjusted discount rate.  

Given the minimum return threshold it is 

expected that the impact of timing of 

commercial operations will be muted as 

delays will result in a higher number of 

royalties granted and thus a higher 

value. 

 

Nominal impact.  

 

 

 

Risk Management 

The Corporation’s financial assets and financial liabilities are exposed to various risk factors that may affect the fair value presentation or the 

amount ultimately received or paid on settlement of its assets and liabilities. The Corporation manages these risks through prudent investment 

and business decisions and, where the exposure is deemed too high, the Corporation may enter into derivative contracts to reduce this 

exposure. The Corporation does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Hedge accounting is applied 
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only when appropriate documentation and effectiveness criteria are met. A summary of the major financial instrument risks and the 

Corporation’s approach to the management of these risks are included in the December 31, 2019 annual consolidated financial statements 

excepted as noted below. 

COVID-19 

Certain impacts to public health conditions particular to the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak that occurred during the nine months ended 

September 30, 2020 may have a significant negative impact on the operations and profitability of the Corporation. The extent of the impact to 

the financial performance of the Corporation will depend on future developments, including (i) the duration and spread of the outbreak, (ii) the 

restrictions and advisories, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the effects on the economy overall. The impact of COVID-19 on 

the Corporation’s investments and royalty assets could be volatile as financial markets adjust accordingly.  

 

10.   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Apollo 

On October 11, 2020, the Corporation, through a newly created subsidiary Altius GBR Holdings, entered into a strategic relationship with 

certain funds (the “Apollo Funds”) managed by affiliates of Apollo Global Management, Inc. (“Apollo”) to accelerate the growth of its innovative 

renewable energy royalty business. Under the agreement structure the Apollo Funds will have the right to solely fund the next $80 million in 

approved investment opportunities in GBR in exchange for a 50% ownership in the GBR joint venture, with opportunities thereafter funded 

equally by the Apollo Funds and ARR and with an equally shared governance structure.  

 

TGE 

On October 28, 2020, the first investment under the arrangement between the Corporation and the Apollo Funds was announced as GBR 

agreed to an additional $25 million royalty investment in TGE’s portfolio of wind and solar energy development project. The additional 

investment into TGE is an extension of the current $30 million royalty investment that GBR made in TGE in early 2019, bringing the total royalty 

capital commitment to $55 million.  As TGE develops and sells individual projects, GBR receives a gross revenue royalty on each project for 

the full life of the project. To date, the Apollo Funds have invested $7,000,000 bringing the total investment in TGE to $31,000,000. 

  

Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan  

On October 10, 2020, the Corporation repaid its PPP loan of $92,300 related to federal funding received by its subsidiary in the US. The loan 

was part of COVID-19 relief offered to certain businesses to ensure that employees remain working throughout the COVID-19 pandemic.  

 

Stock options 

On January 13, 2021 the Corporation approved the issuance of 147,082 stock options to directors with an expiry date of January 2026 and an 

exercise price to be equal to the offering price on closing of the Corporation’s initial public offering.  
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian GAAS will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian GAAS, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.  

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

/s/ Deloitte LLP 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

February 24, 2021 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 385,000$                                     -$                                            
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 41,800                                        1,000                                          

426,800$                                     1,000$                                        
Non-current assets

Renewable royalty interests 6 1,714,200                                    1,600,000                                    
1,714,200$                                  1,600,000$                                  

TOTAL ASSETS 2,141,000$                                  1,601,000$                                  

EQUITY
Members equity 2,141,000                                    1,601,000                                    

2,141,000$                                  1,601,000$                                  
TOTAL EQUITY 2,141,000$                                  1,601,000$                                  
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
As at
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

Year ended 52 days ended
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Revenue and other income

Royalty 165,300$                                             -$                                       

165,300$                                             -$                                       

Costs and Expenses

General and administrative 8 178,800$                                             -$                                       

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 6 66,300 -                                         

245,100$                                             -$                                       

Loss before income taxes (79,800)                                                                                           

Income tax recovery -                                                         -                                         

Net loss and comprehensive loss (79,800)$                                              -$                                       
See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 EXPRESSED IN UNITED STATES DOLLARS, ROUNDED TO THE NEAREST HUNDRED 

Year ended 52 days ended
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Operating activities
Net loss and comprehensive loss (79,800)$                                                  -$                                                  

Adjustments for operating activities
Non cash member contributions 7 54,300                                                     -                                                    

Amortization of renewable royalty interests 6 66,300                                                     -                                                    
40,800$                                                   -$                                                  

Changes in non-cash operating working capital

(Increase) in accounts receivable and prepaid expenses (40,800)                                                    -                                                    
Changes in non-cash operating working capital (40,800)$                                                  -$                                                  

-$                                                        -$                                                  

Financing activities

Proceeds from member contributions 7 385,000                                                   -                                                    

385,000$                                                 -$                                                  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 385,000                                                   -                                                    

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year -                                                          -                                                    

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 385,000$                                                 -$                                                  

See accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Note
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Great Bay Renewables, LLC (“GBR” or the “Corporation”), a subsidiary of Baycorp Holdings Ltd. (“BCH”), is an entity with a strategic objective 

of adapting a royalty investment model traditionally used in the mining and fossil fuel industries.  The Corporation provides capital to the 

renewable energy sector in exchange for royalties in renewable energy generating facilities at all states in their life cycle.  

 

The Corporation was formed on November 9, 2017 and is a privately held company, incorporated and domiciled in Delaware, United States. 

The head office and registered office of the Corporation is located at Suite 22 - 953 Islington Street, Portsmouth, NH, 03801.  

 

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issuance by the Board of Directors February 22, 2021. 

 

2. NEW AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES   

The Corporation’s significant accounting policies are as follows: 
Basis of presentation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  

 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an historical cost basis. All amounts are expressed in US dollars, rounded to 

nearest hundred with the exception of per share amounts. 

Going concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Corporation reported a net loss and total 

comprehensive loss of $79,800 for the year ended December 31, 2018, and $nil for the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017. The ability 

to continue operations in the normal course of business is dependent on several factors, including its ability to secure funding as required.  

 

Management is exploring all available options to secure funding, including equity financing and strategic partnerships. Third party investment 

is required primarily for continued growth of the business. The ongoing operating expenses and working capital requirements including 

corporate development would be nominal if growth was not anticipated. The Corporation believes it will have adequate liquidity to support its 

operations and meet its financial obligations for the next twelve months.  In February 2019, GBR was acquired by Altius Renewable Royalties 

Corporation (“ARR”) thus allowing the Corporation to continue as a going concern (Note 11). As at December 31, 2018, the Corporation has 

cash and cash equivalents of $385,000 (December 31, 2017 - $nil) and current liabilities of $nil (December 31, 2017 - $nil).   

 

The financial statements do not include any additional adjustments to the recoverability and classification of certain recorded asset amounts, 

classification of certain liabilities and changes to consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss that might be necessary if the 

Corporation was unable to continue as a going concern.  

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Corporation and the entity controlled by the Corporation (its 

subsidiary). Control exists when the Corporation has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investee, and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.  

 

The Corporation reassesses whether or not it controls an investee at each reporting date if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.  

 

When the Corporation has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it is deemed to have power over the investee when the voting 

rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Corporation considers all relevant 

facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Corporation’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including the 
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size of the Corporation’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; potential voting rights 

held by the Corporation, other vote holders or other parties; rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and any additional facts and 

circumstances that indicate that the Corporation has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that 

decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the 

date that control ceases. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.  

 

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries in the accounts of the Corporation for the periods presented. NEO Geothermal, 

LLC (“NeoGeo”) is a 100% owned by the Corporation and hold an 100% interest in a geothermal wellfield.  

 

Changes in the Corporation’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Corporation losing control over the subsidiaries are 

accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 

reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity.  

 

When the Corporation loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive 

loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 

interests. All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Corporation 

had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to the consolidated statement of loss and 

comprehensive loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment 

retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting 

under IFRS 9, and when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts on deposit with banks and short-term investments in money market instruments that are readily 

convertible to cash with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase.  

Impairment of renewable royalty interests 

At each reporting date the carrying amounts of the Corporation’s royalties are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those 

assets are impaired. If an impairment indicator exists, the Corporation then must determine its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 

is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which is the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from 

the asset.  

 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value, using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which estimates of future cash flows have not 

been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable 

amount. Impairment is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. If an impairment subsequently 

reverses, the carrying amount is increased to the revised estimate of recoverable amount but only to the extent that this does not exceed the 

carrying value that would have been determined if no impairment had previously been recognized. A reversal is recognized as a reduction in 

impairment in the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
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Revenue recognition 

Royalty income is recognized when the underlying renewable electricity is generated, the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, it is 

probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Corporation, and the costs incurred or to be incurred in 

respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. The Corporation determined that royalty income is not in scope of IFRS 15 as it does not 

meet the criteria for contract with a customer. Royalty income is in the scope of IFRS 9.  

Income taxes 

The Corporation is considered a flow-through disregarded entity for corporate income tax purposes. Therefore, GBR was not subject to entity-

level federal or state income tax as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2018. Accordingly, no current nor deferred income tax income 

taxes balances are provided for by the Corporation. 

Intangible assets – renewable royalty interests 

Royalty interests acquired are recognized separately from goodwill if the asset is separable or arises from contractual or legal rights. These 

intangible assets are also recognized when acquired individually or with a group of other assets. Royalty interests are initially recorded at the 

exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established. Intangible assets with a finite life are amortized over their useful economic 

lives on a straight-line basis as appropriate with the amortization expense included in the statement of loss. Intangible assets that are not yet 

ready for use are not amortized until available for use. All intangible assets are reviewed for impairment indicators at each reporting period. 

The useful lives are reviewed at each reporting period to ensure no adjustments are needed. The Corporation has no identifiable intangible 

assets for which the expected useful life is indefinite. The Corporation amortizes its interest in Neo Geo over 17 years and its interest in Clyde 

River over 25 years.  

Segment reporting 

The Corporation manages its business under one operating segment consisting of the acquisition and management of renewable energy 

investments and royalties. The reportable segment is consistent with the internal reporting structure of the Corporation which is provided to 

the members who fulfill the role of the chief operating decision-maker (“CODM”). The CODM are responsible for assessing performance of the 

Corporation’s operating segment. 

 

Member contributions 

 

Membership interests of the Corporation consist of cash proceeds contributed, assets assigned and loans, in the form of working capital, 

provided.  

 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the Corporation to make estimates, judgments, and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated 

financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially 

from those estimates. These consolidated financial statements include estimates that, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such 

estimates are pervasive throughout the consolidated financial statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future 

occurrences. 
 
Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience, current and future economic conditions and 

other factors, including expectations of events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In preparing these consolidated 

financial statements, the significant judgments made by management in applying the Corporation’s accounting policies, basis of consolidation 

and the key sources of estimation uncertainty include but are not limited to the following: 
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Intangible assets – renewable royalty interests  

The Corporation holds royalty interests on renewable energy projects. The royalty interests and intangible assets are recorded at measured at 

the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and assigned to the assets on acquisition and are being amortized 

using the estimated useful lives.  These estimates affect amortization and the assessment of the recoverability of the carrying value of the 

royalty interests and other intangible assets. 

 

4. FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

IFRS 3 – Business combinations 

An amendment to IFRS 3, Business Combinations, effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition of a business 

and provides guidance in determining whether an acquisition is a business combination or a combination of a group of assets. The amendment 

emphasizes that the output of a business is to provide goods and services to customers and provides supplementary guidance. The Corporation 

expects no material impact upon applying this amendment to future acquisitions.  

IAS 1 – Presentation of financial statements 

An amendment to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, effective for annual periods for on or after January 1, 2020 clarifies the definition 

of “material” to align the definition used in the Conceptual Framework developed by the IASB and all other accounting standards. Under the 

amendment, information is defined as “material” if, “omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions 

that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 

information about a specific reporting entity”. The Corporation expects no material impact upon applying this amendment. 

 

5. ACQUISITIONS  

Pursuant to a royalty agreement dated December 1, 2017 the Corporation acquired a 10% gross revenue royalty (“GRR”) for $1,600,000 in 

Great Bay Hydro’s renewable assets, both the Corporation and Great Bay Hydro were then wholly owned subsidiaries of BCH. The terms of 

the agreement document that Great Bay Hydro shall pay the purchaser a royalty equal to 10% of the gross revenues on renewable electricity 

generation assets, including Clyde River hydro and solar projects. This acquisition was determined to be an asset acquisition and the value of 

the royalty was agreed upon between two related parties.  

 

On July 3, 2018, BCH assigned its 100% interest in NeoGeo to the Corporation. Pursuant to the transaction, the Corporation acquired NeoGeo’s 

interest in a geothermal wellfield in Portsmouth, New Hampshire, at its carrying value of $180,500. This acquisition was determined to be an 

asset acquisition and the value of the royalty was agreed upon between two related parties.  
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6. RENEWABLE ROYALTY INTERESTS 

Note As at 
December 31, 2017

Additions As at 
December 31, 2018

Renewable royalty interests
Clyde River - Hydro 5 1,600,000                         -                                   1,600,000                         
Neo Geothermal - Thermal 5 180,500                            180,500                            

Balance, end of year 1,600,000$                       180,500$                          1,780,500$                       

Accumulated amortization
Clyde River - Hydro -                                   61,500                             61,500                             
Neo Geothermal - Thermal -                                   4,800                               4,800                               

Balance, end of year -$                                 66,300$                            66,300$                            
Net book value 1,600,000$                       114,200$                          1,714,200$                       

Note As at 
November 9, 2017

Additions As at 
December 31, 2017

Renewable royalty interests
Clyde River - Hydro 5 -                                   1,600,000                         1,600,000                         

Balance, end of period -$                                 1,600,000$                       1,600,000$                       

Accumulated amortization
Clyde River - Hydro -                                   -                                   -                                   

Balance, end of period -$                                 -$                                 -$                                 
Net book value -$                                 1,600,000$                       1,600,000$                       

 

7. MEMBER CONTRIBUTIONS  

52 day period ended December 31, 2017 

On December 1, 2017, the Corporation acquired a renewable royalty interest from BCH valued at $1,600,000 (Note 5) in exchange for 

membership interests.  

Year ended December 31, 2018 

On July 3, 2018, the Corporation was assigned NeoGeo’s interest from BCH valued at $180,500 in exchange for membership interests. There 

were additional non-cash membership contributions of $54,300 during the year ended December 31, 2018.  

 

On November 28, 2018, there was $385,000 membership cash contributions.   

 
8.   RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Corporation acquired a 10% royalty during the 52 day period ended December 31, 2017 and a 100% ownership in NeoGeo from BCH 

during the year ended December 31, 2018 (Note 5).  

 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, BCH charged the Corporation $176,800 ($nil – 52 day period ended December 31, 2017) for 

general and administrative costs and office support. At December 31, 2018 there was no receivable or payable to BCH (2017- $nil).  

 

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration 

established.  

 

9.   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

The fair value of the Corporation’s financial instruments approximates the carrying values due to the short term nature. The Corporation does 

not have any financial assets or liabilities that are subject to the fair value hierarchy.  
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Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) observed in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

 

Level 2 – valuation techniques based on inputs that are quoted prices of similar instruments in active markets; inputs other than quoted prices 

used in a valuation model that are observable for that instrument; inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market 

data by correlation or other means; and estimates of expected volatility, expected life and expected risk-free rate of return, and; 

 

Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant unobservable market inputs.  

 
Risk Management 

The Corporation’s financial assets are exposed to various risk factors that may affect the fair value presentation or the amount ultimately 

received or paid on settlement of its assets and liabilities. The Corporation manages these risks through prudent investment and business 

decisions and, where the exposure is deemed too high, the Corporation may enter into derivative contracts to reduce this exposure. The 

Corporation does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. Hedge accounting is applied only when 

appropriate documentation and effectiveness criteria are met. 

 

A summary of the major financial instrument risks and the Corporation’s approach to the management of these risks are highlighted as follows: 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a third party might fail to fulfill its performance obligations under the terms of a financial instrument. Credit risk arises 

from cash and cash equivalents and receivables. The Corporation closely monitors its financial assets, including the receivables from royalty 

operators who are responsible for remitting royalty income.  

 

The Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents are held in fully segregated accounts and include only US dollar instruments. The Corporation 

does not expect any liquidity issues or credit losses on these instruments. 

Liquidity risk  

The Corporation received financial support from the parent corporation, BCH to ensure adequate working capital and future cash flows and 

continues to explore external funding options and believes that it is able to meet current and future obligations. This conclusion could change 

with a significant change in the operations of the Corporation or as a result of other developments.  

Other price risk  

The value of the Corporation’s investments is exposed to fluctuations in price depending on a number of factors, including general market 

conditions, company-specific operating performance and the success of the sale of projects. The Corporation does not utilize any derivative 

contracts to reduce this exposure.  

 

10.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

The Corporation defines its capital as its total equity attributable to members. The Corporation’s objectives when managing capital is to maintain 

financial liquidity and flexibility to preserve its ability to meet financial obligations and to ensure that sufficient capital and access to capital for 

potential growth and to pursue additional investment opportunities. 

 

The Corporation monitors and adjusts its capital structure, when necessary, in light of changes to economic conditions, the objectives of its 

shareholders, the cash requirements of its business and the condition and availability of external funding.  

 
The Corporation does not have any externally imposed restrictions. 
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11.   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

On February 5, 2019, ARR acquired 100% of GBR from its members for $5,000,000 cash consideration. The sale included the royalty on the 

4.7 MW Clyde River hydroelectric/solar facility located in Vermont, geothermal wells and some working capital.  

 

A-51



B-1 

APPENDIX B 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS CHARTER 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and management of Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. (the “Corporation”) are 
committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate accountability.  

2. The Board has responsibility for the overall stewardship of the Corporation and discharges such responsibility by 
reviewing, discussing and approving the Corporation’s strategic planning and organizational structure in the context of 
future expected growth and financing, as the Corporation is a holding corporation for its subsidiary, Great Bay Renewables, 
LLC (“Great Bay”).  

II. DEFINITIONS 

1. “Management” refers to the Officers and the other members of the senior management team of the Corporation as may 
be determined from time-to-time by the CEO and communicated to the Board. 

2. “Officers” refer to those employees or consultants who are appointed as officers by the Board. 

III. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. General Responsibilities 

a. Supervise the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation;  

b. Exercise, as appropriate, the powers vested in and exercisable by the Board pursuant to applicable laws and 
regulations; 

c. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, undertake the duties and responsibilities, which are described 
below that may be discharged either directly or indirectly through one or more Committees of the Board;  

d. Rely on the information, advice and recommendations provided to it by Management in fulfilling its duties and 
responsibilities, but to exercise independent and thoughtful judgment; and 

e. Adopt and periodically review policies and procedures designed to ensure that the Corporation and its Directors, 
officers and employees comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and conduct the Corporation’s 
business ethically and with honesty and integrity 

2. Strategic Planning.  

a. Approve strategic goals and objectives for the Corporation and in so doing review trends and opportunities for 
the Corporation’s business and the strengths and weaknesses of same;  

b. Review the risks associated with the Corporation’s  business;  

c. Consider and approve Management’s strategic plans and initiatives; and  

d. Ensure congruence among shareholder expectations, Corporation plans and Management performance. 

3. Review of Operations and Capitalization 

a. Monitor the implementation and maintenance by Management of appropriate systems, policies, procedures and 
controls to Management and the risks associated with the Corporation’s businesses and operations; 
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b. Approve significant acquisitions and dispositions, financings and other capital market transactions, capital 
management decisions, and other significant business and investment decisions and transactions;  

c. Ensure that legal requirements, documents and records have been properly prepared, approved and maintained; 
and 

d. Review and monitor those operational issues, including those of a regulatory nature, which in the view of 
Management or the Board may have a potential material impact on the Corporation’s ongoing business, affairs 
and/or reputation. 

4. Disclosure and Communication Policies   

a. Approve policies with respect to the accurate, timely and full public disclosure of material information while 
maintaining confidentiality where necessary and permitted and, where appropriate, review specific disclosure 
comments; 

b. Approve appropriate communication policies respecting the communication of information to and from the 
Corporation’s stakeholders and regulators; and 

c. Ensure that any director who responds to a shareholder or other interested party responds in a manner consistent 
with corporate policy and consults with members of the Corporation’s Corporate Governance Committee if 
necessary. 

5. Financial Control 

a. Monitor the integrity of the Corporation’s financial reporting systems and the effectiveness of the Corporation’s 
internal controls and management information systems; 

b. Oversee the establishment and maintenance by Management of appropriate internal and external audit and 
financial control systems; 

c. Review reports provided by Management on material deficiencies in, or material changes to, internal controls; 

d. Review and approve the Corporation’s annual and interim financial statements and management discussion and 
analysis, unless the Audit Committee and the Board deem it unnecessary in the case of the interim financial 
statements; the Corporation’s Annual Information Forms, and other public disclosure documents containing 
financial information; and 

e. Oversee compliance with applicable audit, accounting and reporting requirements. 

6. Risk Management 

a. Work with representatives of Great Bay and AIOF II Vanir Aggregator, L.P. to  ensure that appropriate procedures 
are in place to identify and manage the principal risks associated with the Corporation’s business and operations 
(“Risks”) as well as the tolerance for those Risks.   

b. Monitor the implementation and maintenance by management of appropriate policies, procedures and controls to 
manage Risks. 

7. Corporate Governance 

a. Oversee the development of the Corporation’s approach to corporate governance, including the development and 
approval of corporate governance policies, principles and guidelines; 

b. Support Management in maintaining a culture of integrity throughout the Corporation by adopting both a Code 
of Conduct for Directors, Officers and Employees (the “Code”) and a Policy on Corporate Disclosure, 
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Confidentiality and Insider Trading to promote integrity and deter wrongdoing and that address, among other 
things:  

i. Conflicts of interest (including procedures to identify and resolve conflicts and potential conflicts);  

ii. Protection and proper use of corporate assets and opportunities; 

iii. Confidentiality and use of confidential information;  

iv. Accounting complaints;  

v. Fair dealing with the Corporation’s security holders, customers, suppliers, competitors and employees;  

vi. Compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations and the reporting of illegal or unethical behavior; 
and 

vii. Requiring the Corporate Governance Committee to monitor compliance with the Code; 

c. Support Management in maintaining a culture of environmental and social responsibility by ensuring that each 
new investment is viewed through an environmental and social lens so as to minimize risks to both the Corporation 
and the region in which it invests. 

8. Senior Management and Board Leadership   

a. Review and approve the Terms of Reference for the CEO, the  Chair, and other officers  as recommended by the 
Corporate Governance Committee; 

b. Review and approve the appointment of the CEO and the Chair and their performance relative to corporate goals 
and objectives. As applicable, compensation will be reviewed and approved by the Compensation and Nominating 
Committee.  

c. Review and approve the succession planning processes of the Corporation with respect to senior management as 
recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee;  

d. Ensure that all directors have open access to the Corporation’s senior management for relevant information;  

e. Allow management discretion over expenses in the ordinary course of business; and  

f. Approve all decisions involving unbudgeted material operating, financing and investment expenditures in excess 
of $5,000,000. 

9. Board Organization and Membership 

a. Board Mandate 

Approve terms of reference for the Board as recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee. 

b. Chair of the Board 

Approve a position description for the Chair of the Board as recommended by the Corporate Governance 
Committee.

c. Board Committees   

i. Establish an Audit Committee, a Corporate Governance Committee and a Compensation and 
Nominating Committee and any other Committees as it deems advisable to assist in discharging its duties 
under this Charter;  
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ii. Review and approve Committee Charters as recommended by the Corporate Governance Committee and 
otherwise delegate to these Committees such duties and responsibilities as may be permitted by law and 
as it deems necessary or advisable. The Board will, however, retain its oversight function and ultimate 
responsibility for such matters and associated delegated responsibilities;  

iii. Ensure that a majority of members of the Corporate Governance and Compensation and Nominating 
Committees and all members of the Audit Committee are composed of “independent” directors in 
accordance with applicable law and that all members of the Audit Committee shall be “financially 
literate”; and 

iv. Ensure that the responsibilities of each Committee as laid out in their individual Charters are adhered to 
notwithstanding the fact that the Board is ultimately responsible for matters assigned to each Committee 
for its determination and understanding that the role of the Committee is to review and make 
recommendations to the Board with respect to the approval of matters considered by the Committee. 

d. Board Size and Independence 

i. Determine its size as defined by limits defined by the Corporation’s articles; 

ii. Ensure the Board is of sufficient size and is sufficiently diverse to provide a diversity of expertise and 
opinions and allow for effective committee organization, yet small enough to enable efficient meetings 
and decision making while maximizing full Board attendance; and 

iii. Ensure the Board consists of sufficient “independent” directors to provide independent input to each of 
the Committees and to the Board, and is notified through the Corporate Governance Committee of any 
change in circumstances that may affect any director’s “independence”. 

e. Retirement and Term Limits 

No retirement age requirement or term limits exist for directors.  However, value to the Board occurs if some 
turnover takes place that allows for new ideas, skills or diversity.  Therefore, the Corporate Governance 
Committee is mandated to periodically review and recommend changes to the composition of the Board. 

f. Criteria and Selection of New Board Members  

i. Mandate the Compensation and Nominating Committee to review annually the competencies, skills and 
personal qualities needed to best serve the interests of the Corporation; 

ii. Mandate the Compensation and Nominating Committee to recruit and consider candidates for director 
when the appropriate competitive, skills, personal qualities or diversity are deemed lacking; and 

iii. Recommend to the shareholders candidates for election to the Board. 

g. Director Orientation and Education   

i. Provide a comprehensive orientation to new Board members on the nature and operation of the business 
and affairs of the Corporation and as to the role and responsibilities of the Board, the Board Committees 
and of each director; and 

ii. Encourage all Directors to participate in education opportunities that will enhance their ability to fulfill 
their role and mandate as directors. 
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10. Director Responsibilities and Performance 

a.  Director Responsibilities 

i. Use individual skills and experience to provide oversight to the business of the Corporation;  

ii. Act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation; 

iii. Exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would in comparable 
circumstances; 

iv. Participate in all Board and Committee meetings in person or by conference call if attendance in person 
is not possible and, if attendance is not possible, notify the Chair of the Board, the Chair of the Committee 
or the Corporate Secretary; 

v. Review and be familiar with Board and Committee materials that have been provided for review prior 
to a meeting and advise the Board or Committee Chair of matters which they believe should be added to 
a meeting agenda; and 

vi. Obtain a “second opinion” or delegate a non-management advisor to assist on matters before the Board 
if needed and at the expense of the Corporation with authorization from the Board as a whole.

b. Assessment of Board and Committee Performance

i. Ensure that the Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for making an annual assessment of the 
overall performance and effectiveness of the Board and each Committee; and 

ii. Ensure that each Committee reports on such assessments to the Board with the objective of ensuring 
continued Board effectiveness in the execution of its responsibilities and to contribute to a process of 
continuing improvement. 

c. Board Compensation 

i. Ensure that directors receive reasonable compensation for their services as may be determined from time 
to time by the Board; and 

ii. Ensure that directors are reimbursed for expenses incurred on Corporation business or in attending Board 
or Committee meetings. 

d. Board Meetings and Materials 

i. Meeting Agendas 

The Chair and the CEO, in consultation with the Corporate Secretary, shall develop the agenda for each Board 
meeting. 

ii. Meeting Materials 

Meeting materials shall be provided to Directors before each Board  meeting in sufficient time to ensure 
adequate opportunity exists for  review, understanding that under certain circumstances, due to the  confidential 
nature of matters to be discussed at a meeting, it would not be  prudent or appropriate to distribute written materials in 
advance. 

iii. Non-Directors at Board Meetings 

The Board will allow certain members of Management, when appropriate, to attend each Board meeting to provide 
information and opinion to assist the Directors in their deliberations. Attendance by Management shall be 
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determined by the CEO with the concurrence of the Chair. Management attendees shall be excluded for any 
agenda items that are reserved for discussion among directors only. 

iv. Independent Director Meetings 

The independent Directors may meet without senior executives of the Company or any non-independent 
Directors, as required.  

IV. OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

In connection with the discharge of its duties and responsibilities, the Board shall observe the following procedures: 

1. Meetings 

The Board shall meet at least four times every year, and more often if necessary, to discharge its duties and responsibilities.  
The Board may meet at any place within or outside of Canada. 

2. Advisors 

The Board may, at the Corporation’s expense, engage such outside advisors as it determines necessary or advisable to 
permit the carrying out of its duties and responsibilities. 

3. Quorum 

A quorum at any meeting of the Board shall be 50% of the Board plus one. 

4. Secretary 

The Chair (or, in the absence of the Chair, the acting Chair) of the Board shall appoint a person to act as secretary of 
meetings of the Board. 

5. Notice of Meetings 

A meeting of the Board may be called by the Chair of the Board or by such other Directors as may from time to time be 
authorized by the Chair of the Board, or by a majority of the Directors, on not less than 24 hours’ notice to the members 
of the Board specifying the place, date and time of the meeting.  Meetings may be held at any time without notice if all 
members of the Board waive notice.  If a meeting of the Board is called by anyone other than the Chair, the person(s) 
calling such a meeting shall so advise the Chair. 

6. Board Meeting Following Annual Meeting 

As soon as practicable after each annual meeting of shareholders, a meeting shall be held without notice of such of the 
newly elected Directors as are then present, provided that they constitute a quorum, at which meeting the Directors may 
appoint officers, may appoint the Chair of the Board, may appoint members to and the Chair of each Board Committee, 
and may transact such other business as comes before the meeting. 

V.  REVIEW 

The Corporate Governance Committee, with input by the Chair of the Board, will review these terms of reference at least every 
two years or, where circumstance warrants, at such shorter interval as is necessary, to determine if further additions, deletions 
or amendments are required and make a recommendation to the Board as to their approval.  

.  

VI. HISTORY

These Terms of Reference were initially adopted by the Board on February 4, 2021. 
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APPENDIX C 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

I. INTRODUCTION

1. The purpose of the Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is to assist the Board of   Directors (the “Board”) of 
Altius Renewable Royalties Corp. (the “Corporation”) in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities of the 
Corporation’s Financial Reporting, which will be provided to shareholders of the Corporation and others, the 
systems of corporate financial controls which Management (as defined below) and the Board have established.  

2. The Committee will oversee the Corporation’s External Audit processes including oversight of the Corporation’s 
External Auditor.   

3. While the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this mandate, it is not the duty of the 
Committee to plan or conduct audits or to solely determine that the Corporation’s financial statements are 
complete and accurate and are in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
Management is responsible for preparing the Corporation’s financial statements and the independent auditors are 
ultimately accountable to the Board and the Committee, as representatives of the Corporation’s shareholders. 

II. DEFINITIONS 

1. “Management” refers to the Officers of the Corporation, and the other members of the senior management team 
of the Corporation as may be determined from time-to-time by the Chief Executive Officer and communicated to 
the Board. 

2. “Officers” refer to those employees and consultants who are appointed as officers by the Corporation. 

3. “Reports” refers to all documents publicly filed on SEDAR, including but not limited to Audited Annual 
Financial Statements, Interim Financial Statements, Managements’ Discussion and Analysis for the respective 
periods, News Releases relating to the release of financial information, Annual Information Form, Compliance 
Certificates, and Material Change Reports.  

III. DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

1. Financial Reporting 

(a) Review with Management and with the independent auditor as applicable the  
Reports prior to their public filing.   

(i) Include in this review, discussions regarding their judgment on the quality, not just the acceptability, 
of significant accounting principles, the reasonableness of significant judgments, and the clarity of the 
disclosures in the financial statements;  

(ii) Discuss the results of the review and any other matters required to be communicated to the Committee 
by the independent auditor under IFRS if a review engagement of the interim financial statements is 
requested by the Committee; and  

(iii) Ensure the Corporation’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements relating to financial 
disclosure. 

(b) Review any new financial appointments to senior positions of the Corporation; 

(c) Review reports from senior officers of the Corporation outlining any significant changes in financial risks 
facing the Corporation; 

(d) Review all risk assessment reports prepared from time to time by Management to determine if risk 
assessments have been properly managed and if any issues need to be reported to the Board.  
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(e) Review any management letter or report of the external auditor and the Corporation’s responses to 
suggestions made;  

(f) Review interim and annual financial statements, interim and annual management discussions and analyses, 
all financial news releases, other documents containing audited or unaudited financial information, at its 
discretion, and report thereon to the Board before such documents are approved by the Board and disclosed 
to the public; 

(g) Submit quarterly and annual financial statements to the Board for approval unless, in the case of any quarterly 
financial statements, the Board is unavailable or approval by them is impractical, all quarterly issues have 
been satisfactorily resolved and the Committee has approved them;  

(h) Be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Corporation’s public disclosure of 
financial information extracted or derived from the Corporation’s financial statements, other than the 
discourse provided in this section 1(e); 

(i) Review quarterly the expense reports of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chair; 

(j) Review and approve of any related party transactions;  

(k) Prepare and/or approve any report that is required by law or regulation to be included in any of the 
Corporation’s public disclosure documents relating to the Committee; and 

(l) any other matters defined or delegated by the Board.  

2. External Audit 

(a) Recommend to the Board the external auditor, subject to the shareholders’ approval, to be appointed for 
purposes of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit reviews or attestation services; 

(b) Ensure the external auditors report directly to the Committee on a regular basis;  

(c) Review the terms of the external auditor’s engagement, the appropriateness and reasonableness of proposed 
audit fees, and any issues relating to the payment of audit fees, and make a recommendation to the Board 
with respect to the compensation of the external auditor; 

(d) Oversee the work of the external auditors of the Corporation with respect to preparing and issuing an audit 
report or performing other audit or review services for the Corporation, including the resolution of issues 
between senior executives of the Corporation and the external auditors 

(e) Review the independence of the external auditor including the quarterly and annual reports prepared by the 
external auditor regarding its independence; 

(f) Review any material written communications between senior executives of the Corporation and the external 
auditors and any significant disagreements between the senior executives and the external auditors;  

(g) Discuss with the external auditors their perception of the Corporation’s identification and management of 
risks, including the adequacy or effectiveness of policies and procedures implemented to mitigate such risks; 

(h) Review the audit plan with the external auditor and discuss the overall scope and plans for the audit, including 
the adequacy of staffing and compensation; 

(i) Review with the external auditor and Management any changes in IFRS that may be material to the 
Corporation’s financial reporting; and 

(j) Meet separately with the external auditor, with and without Management present, to discuss the results of the 
examinations and provide sufficient opportunity for the auditor to meet privately with members of the 
Committee. 
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3. Internal Procedures Review 

(a) Annually review with the external auditor and Management any internal procedures and control deficiencies 
identified for the past year; and 

(b) Annually review with the external auditor and Management any proposed internal procedures and control 
modifications for the coming year. 

(c) Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control and management information 
systems through discussions with senior executives of the Corporation and the external auditor relating to 
the maintenance of: (i) necessary books, records and accounts in sufficient detail to accurately and fairly 
reflect the Corporation’s transactions; (ii) effective internal control over financial reporting; and (iii) 
adequate processes for assessing the risk of material misstatements in the financial statements and for 
detecting control weaknesses or fraud.  From time to time the Committee shall assess any requirements or 
changes with respect to the establishment or operations of the internal audit function having regard to the 
size and stage of development of the Corporation at any particular time.  

(d) Review and discuss the Corporation’s major financial risk exposures and the steps taken to monitor and 
control such exposures, including the use of any financial derivatives and hedging activities. 

(e) Review and make recommendations to the Board regarding, the adequacy of the Corporation’s risk 
management policies and procedures with regard to identification of the Corporation’s principal risks and 
implementation of appropriate systems and controls to manage such risks including an assessment of the 
adequacy of insurance coverage maintained by the Corporation.  

(f) Periodically review the Corporation’s policies and procedures for reviewing and approving or ratifying 
related- party transactions. 

4. Risk Oversight

In performing its duties and exercising its powers, the Committee shall consider and address the risks related to 
the establishment, maintenance and implementation of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control 
over financial reporting in relation to disclosure by the Corporation in accordance with applicable law. The 
Committee shall also provide oversight as to the risks assessed with each new investment according to the Board-
approved risk criteria. The Committee shall review Management’s procedures to assess compliance by the 
Corporation with its loan covenants and restrictions, if any. 

5.  Financial Complaints Handling Procedures

The Committee shall establish procedures for: 

(a) The receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding accounting, 
internal accounting controls or auditing matters; and 

(b) The confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Corporation of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting or auditing matters. 

6. Non-Audit Services

Pre-approve all non-audit services to be provided to the Corporation or any subsidiary entities by its external 
auditors or by the external auditors of such subsidiary entities. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its 
Members the authority to pre-approve non-audit services but pre-approval by such Member or Members so 
delegated shall be presented to the full Committee at its first scheduled meeting following such pre-approval. 

7. Miscellaneous
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(a) Review and approve the Corporation’s hiring policies regarding employees and partners, and former 
employees and partners, of the present and former external auditors of the Corporation. 

(b) Perform any other matters referred to the Committee or delegated to it by the Board 

  8. Director Responsibilities and Performance 

(a) Committee Duties 

(i) Act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation and to exercise the 
care, diligence and skill that a reasonable and prudent person would exercise in comparable 
circumstances. 

(b) Committee Values 

(i) Assist the Corporation to operate in compliance with all corporate policies and codes, and all laws and 
regulations governing the Corporation; and 

(ii) Maintain strong financial reporting and control processes 

(c) Reliance on Experts 

(i) Place appropriate reliance in good faith on reports that the financial statements of the Corporation 
represented to each member of the Committee by an Officer of the Corporation or in a written report 
of the external auditor present fairly the financial position of the Corporation in accordance with IFRS; 
and on any report of a lawyer, accountant, engineer, appraiser or other person whose profession lends 
credibility to a statement made by any such person. 

          9.  Access to Information and Authority to Retain Independent Advisors 

(a) The Committee shall be granted unrestricted access to all information regarding the Corporation that is 
necessary or desirable to fulfill its duties and all directors of the Corporation, officers and employees will be 
directed to cooperate as requested by Members.  The Committee has the authority to retain, at the 
Corporation’s expense, independent legal, financial, and other advisors, consultants and experts to assist the 
Committee in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, including sole authority to retain and to approve their 
fees.  The Committee shall select such advisors, consultants and experts after taking into consideration 
factors relevant to their independence from management and other relevant considerations.  

(b) The Committee shall discharge its responsibilities and shall assess the information provided by the 
Corporation’s management and the external advisers, in accordance with its business judgment.  Members 
are entitled to rely, absent knowledge to the contrary, on the integrity of the persons and organizations from 
whom they receive information, and on the accuracy and completeness of the information provided.  Nothing 
in this Charter is intended or may be construed as imposing on any member of the Committee or the Board 
a standard of care or diligence that is in any way more onerous or extensive than the standard to which the 
directors are subject under applicable law.  

(c) The Committee also has the authority to communicate directly with internal and external auditors.  While 
the Committee has the responsibilities and powers set forth in this Charter, it is not the duty of the Committee 
to plan or conduct audits or to determine that the Corporation’s financial statements are complete and 
accurate or comply with IFRS and other applicable requirements.  These are the responsibilities of the senior 
executives of the Corporation responsible for such matters and the external auditors.  The Committee, the 
Chair and any Members identified as having accounting or related financial expertise are members of the 
Board, appointed to the Committee to provide broad oversight of the financial, risk and control related 
activities of the Corporation, and are specifically not accountable or responsible for the day to day operation 
or performance of such activities.  Although the designation of a Member as having accounting or related 
financial expertise for disclosure purposes is based on that individual’s education and experience, which that 
individual will bring to bear in carrying out his or her duties on the Committee, such designation does not 
impose on such person any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than the duties, obligations and 
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liability imposed on such person as a member of the Committee and Board in the absence of such designation.  
Rather, the role of a Member who is identified as having accounting or related financial expertise, like the 
role of all Members, is to oversee the process, not to certify or guarantee the internal or external audit of the 
Corporation’s financial information or public disclosure.  This Charter is not intended to change or interpret 
the constating documents of the Corporation or applicable law or stock exchange rule to which the 
Corporation is subject, and this Charter should be interpreted in a manner consistent with all such applicable 
laws and rules.  Certain of the provisions of this Charter may be modified or superseded by the provisions 
of the investor rights agreement (the “Investor Rights Agreement”).  In the event of a conflict between this 
charter and the Investor Rights Agreement, the Investor Rights Agreement shall prevail.  

(d) The Board may, from time to time, permit departures from the terms of this Charter, either prospectively or 
retrospectively.  This Charter is not intended to give rise to civil liability on the part of the Corporation or its 
Directors or officers to shareholders, security holders, customers, suppliers, partners, competitors, employees 
or other persons, or to any other liability whatsoever on their part, subject to applicable law. 

IV. OPERATION OF THE COMMITTEE 

1. Reporting  

The Committee shall report to the Board. 

2. Composition of Committee 

The Committee shall consist of not less than three directors; all Committee members shall be a director of the 
Corporation; no Committee member shall be an officer or employee of the Corporation or any of the Corporation’s 
subsidiary entities or affiliates; and all shall qualify as “independent” as defined in National Instrument 52-110 - 
Audit Committees and all shall satisfy the financial literacy requirements applicable to members of audit 
committees under NI 52-110 and other applicable laws and regulations. 

3. Appointment of Committee Members 

Members of the Committee shall be appointed at a meeting of the Board, typically held immediately after the 
annual shareholders’ meeting, provided that any member may be removed or replaced at any time by the Board 
and shall in any event cease to be a member of the Committee upon ceasing to be a member of the Board. 

4. Vacancies 

Where a vacancy occurs at any time in the membership of the Committee, it may be filled by the Board. 

5. Chair of the Committee 

The Board shall designate the Chair of the Committee.  The Chair shall have responsibility for overseeing that 
the Committee fulfills its mandate and its duties effectively.  In the absence of the Chair of the Committee, the 
members will appoint an acting Chair. 

6. Secretary 

Unless the Committee otherwise specifies, the secretary of the Corporation will act as secretary of all meetings 
of the Committee. 

7. Committee Meeting 

(a)  The Committee will meet at least quarterly (or more frequently as circumstances dictate)and meetings of the 
Committee shall be convened whenever requested by the external auditors or any member of the Committee in 
accordance with the Business Corporations Act (Alberta). 



C-6 

(b) Committee meetings may be held in person, by video-conference, by means of telephone or by any 
combination of the foregoing. 

8. Notice of Meeting 

(a)  Notice of the time and place of every meeting may be given orally, in writing, by facsimile or by e-mail to 
each member of the Committee at least 48 hours prior to the time fixed for such meeting. 

(b) A member may in any manner waive notice of the meeting.  Attendance of a   member at the meeting shall 
constitute waiver of notice of the meeting except where a member attends a meeting for the express purpose 
of objecting to the transaction of any business on the grounds that the meeting was not lawfully called. 

9. Quorum

A quorum will be a majority of the members of the Committee present in person, by video-conference, by 
telephone or by a combination thereof. 

10. Attendance at Meetings 

(a) The Chief Financial Officer is expected to be available to attend meetings, but a portion of every meeting 
can be reserved for in camera discussion without the Chief Financial Officer or any other member of 
Management, being present. 

(b) The Committee may by specific invitation have any officers or employees of the Corporation, legal counsel, 
advisors or other resource persons in attendance. 

(c) The Committee shall have the right to determine who shall and who shall not be present at any time during a 
meeting of the Committee. 

(d) The external auditors are entitled to receive notice of every regular quarterly Committee meeting and to be 
heard and attend thereat at the Corporation’s expense. 

11. Meeting Agenda

Committee meeting agendas shall be set by the Chair of the Committee in consultation with Committee members, 
Management if appropriate, and the external auditor if appropriate. 

12. Minutes

The Committee shall keep regular minutes of proceedings and shall cause them to be recorded in books kept for 
that purpose. 

13. Outside Advisors

The Committee is empowered to engage and compensate any outside advisors as it deems advisable to permit it 
to carry out its duties, at the expense of the Corporation. 

14. In Camera Meetings

As part of each meeting of the Committee at which it approves, or if applicable, recommends that the Board 
approve, the annual audited financial statements of the Corporation or at which the Committee reviews the interim 
financial statements of the Corporation, and at such other times as the Committee deems appropriate, the 
Committee shall hold in camera meetings, and shall also meet separately with each of the persons set forth below 
to discuss and review specific issues as appropriate: 

(a) representatives of Management; 
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(b) the external auditor; and 

(c) the internal audit personnel. 

15. Reporting to the Board

The Committee, through its Chair, will report regularly to the Board, and in any event no less frequently than on 
a quarterly basis. 

V. COMMITTEE AUTHORITY AND RESOURCES 

1. Direct Channels of Communication  

The Committee shall have direct channels of communication with the Corporation’s internal and external auditors 
to discuss and review specific issues as appropriate. 

2. Retaining and Compensating Advisors 

The Committee, or any member of the Committee with the approval of the Committee, may retain at the expense 
of the Corporation such outside legal, accounting (other than the external auditor) or other advisors on such terms 
as the Committee may consider appropriate and shall not be required to obtain any other approval in order to 
retain or compensate any such advisors. 

3. Funding 

The Corporation shall provide for appropriate funding, as determined by the Committee, for payment of 
compensation of the external auditor and any advisor retained by the Committee under Section V. 2 of this 
Charter. 

4. Investigations 

The Committee shall have unrestricted access to the personnel and documents of the Corporation and the 
Corporation’s subsidiary entities and shall be provided with the resources necessary to carry out its 
responsibilities. 

VI. REMUNERAITON OF COMMITTEE MEMBERS 

1. Director Fees Only 

No member of the Committee may accept, directly or indirectly, fees from the Corporation or any of its subsidiary 
entities other than remuneration for acting as a director or member of the Committee or any other committee of 
the Board.  

2. Other Payments  

For greater certainty, no member of the Committee shall accept any consulting, advisory or other compensatory 
fee from the Corporation. For purposes of Section VI. 1, the indirect acceptance by a member of the Committee 
of any fee includes acceptance of a fee by an immediate family member or a partner, member or executive officer 
of, or a person who occupies a similar position with, an entity that provides accounting, consulting, legal, 
investment banking or financial advisory services to the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries. 

VII. REVIEW AND EVALUATION OF COMMITTEE PERFORMANCE 

It is the intention that this Charter shall reflect, at all times, all legislative and regulatory requirements applicable to the 
Committee. Accordingly, this mandate shall be deemed to have been updated to reflect any amendments to such legislative 
and regulatory requirements.  The Committee shall review this Charter at least every two years to determine if further 
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additions, deletions or amendments are required, and make recommendations to the Board for their approval.  The 
Committee shall periodically assess its performance. 

VIII. HISTORY 

This Charter was initially adopted by the Board on February 4, 2021.  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY 

February 24, 2021 

This prospectus (which includes the marketing materials included or incorporated by reference), together with the 
documents and information incorporated by reference, will, as of the date of the supplemented prospectus providing the information 
permitted to be omitted from this prospectus, constitute, full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
offered by this prospectus as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces and territories of Canada. 

ALTIUS RENEWABLE ROYALTIES CORP. 

(Signed) Brian Dalton (Signed) Ben Lewis 
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

(Signed) Earl Ludlow (Signed) David Bronicheski 
Director Director 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE PROMOTER 

February 24, 2021 

This prospectus (which includes the marketing materials included or incorporated by reference), together with the 
documents and information incorporated by reference, will, as of the date of the supplemented prospectus providing the information 
permitted to be omitted from this prospectus, constitute, full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
offered by this prospectus as required by the securities legislation of each of the provinces and territories of Canada. 

ALTIUS MINERALS CORPORATION 

(Signed) Brian Dalton 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
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CERTIFICATE OF THE UNDERWRITERS 

February 24, 2021 

To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this prospectus (which includes the marketing materials included or 
incorporated by reference), together with the documents and information incorporated by reference, will, as of the date of the 
supplemented prospectus providing the information permitted to be omitted from this amended and restated prospectus, constitute, 
full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus as required by the securities 
legislation of each of the provinces and territories of Canada.  

TD SECURITIES INC. SCOTIA CAPITAL INC.  

(Signed) Sajid Rizvi (Signed) Elian Terner

RAYMOND JAMES LTD. 

(Signed) John Willett

CORMARK SECURITIES INC. 

(Signed) Tyron Breytenbach 

CANACCORD GENUITY CORP. 

(Signed) Andrew D. Birkby

LAURENTIAN BANK SECURITIES INC. 

(Signed) Joseph Gallucci 

NATIONAL BANK FINANCIAL INC. 

(Signed) Brendan Costigan 

HAYWOOD SECURITIES INC. 

(Signed) Kevin Campbell 


